MARIN COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board of Supervisors Chambers, Room 330
3501 Civic Center Drive, San Rafael, CA 94903
AGENDA
Monday, March 5, 2018

10:00 a.m. Convene as the Marin County Transit District Board of Directors

1. Open Time for Public Expression (limited to three minutes per
speaker on items not on the Transit District’'s agenda)

2. Board of Directors’ Matters

3. General Manager’s Report
a. General Manager’s Oral Report
b. Monthly Monitoring Report for January

4. Consent Calendar
a. Marin Transit Drug and Alcohol Policy Update

Recommended Action: Approve.

5. Contract with Marin Airporter for Operation and Maintenance of
Marin Transit Fixed Route Package 1 Services

Recommended Action: Award contract for operation
and maintenance of Marin Transit Fixed Route
Package 1 service to Marin Airporter for an initial
three-year term beginning on July 1, 2018 with two
additional option years, and authorize Board
President to execute agreement.

(continued)



6. Award of Contract for Operations and Maintenance of Fixed
Route Package 2 Services to MV Transportation
Recommended Action: Award contract for operation and
maintenance of Marin Transit Fixed Route Package 2
service to MV Transportation for an initial three-year term
beginning on July 1, 2018 with two additional option
years, and direct General Manager to negotiate final
contract terms for service beginning on July 1, 2018.

7. The Greening of the Marin Transit Fleet
Recommended Action: Information only.

8. Demonstration of Marin Transit’'s New Website
Recommended Action: Discussion only.

9. Agreement with Golden Gate Bridge Highway and Transportation
District and Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District for sharing
State Transit Assistance Population-based Funds
Recommended Action: Approve.

Adjourn

AREEEEE

All Marin Transit public meetings are conducted in accessible locations. Copies of
documents are available in accessible formats upon request. If you require
Translation Assistance, American Sign Language Interpreters, Assistive Listening
Devices or other accommodations to participate in this meeting, you may request
them by calling (415) 226-0855 (voice) or contact the California Relay Service by
dialing 711 to connect to the telephone listed above. Requests must be received
no less than five working days prior to the meeting to help ensure
availability. For additional information, visit our website at

http://www.marintransit.org

Late agenda material can be inspected in the office of Marin Transit,
between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday. The
office is located at 711 Grand Avenue, Suite 110, San Rafael, CA 94901.



http://www.marintransit.org/

Todas las reuniones publicas de Marin Transit se llevan a cabo en lugares
accesibles. Estan disponibles copias de los documentos en formatos accesibles, a
solicitud. Si usted requiere ayuda con la traduccion, intérpretes de Lenguaje
Americano de Sefias, dispositivos de ayuda auditiva, u otras adaptaciones para
participar en esta reunién, puede solicitarlas llamando al (415) 226-0855 (voz) o
comunicarse con el Servicio California Relay marcando al 711 para conectarse al
numero de teléfono mencionado. Las solicitudes deben recibirse a mas tardar
cinco dias laborables antes de la reunidn para ayudar a asegurar la
disponibilidad. Para obtener informacién adicional, visite nuestro sitio web en
http://www.marintransit.org

Material de agenda de ultima hora puede ser inspeccionado en la oficina de
Marin Transit, entre las horas de 8:00 am y 5:00 pm. La oficina esta
ubicada en 711 Grand Avenue, Suite 110, San Rafael, CA 94901.



http://www.marintransit.org/

transit

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

board of directors

stephanie moulton-peters
president
city of mill valley

damon connolly
vice president
supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni
2nd vice president
supervisor district 4

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin
director
city of san rafael

kathrin sears
director
supervisor district 3

katie rice
director
supervisor district 2

March 5, 2018

Honorable Board of Directors
Marin County Transit District
3501 Civic Center Drive

San Rafael, CA 94903

SUBJECT: General Manager Report — Monthly Report
Dear Board Members:
RECOMMENDATION: This is a recurring information item.

SUMMARY: The attached monthly report provides an overview of
Marin Transit operations for the period ending January 31, 2018.
The monthly reports summarize statistics on the performance of
Marin Transit services, customer comments, and training activities
under the District's Mobility Management program.

Ridership in January 2018 increased compared to November 2016
(+9.4%). Ridership on fixed-route services increased 10% compared
to the same month last year. Ridership on Marin Access services
had an increase of 4.6%, primarily on paratransit and dial-a-ride
services.

Additional detailed analyses of system performance and trends are
provided in separate quarterly and annual reports, including route-
level statistics and financials. These reports are available on the
District’s website at http://marintransit.org/monitoringreports.html.

FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT: None associated with this report.

Respectfully submitted,

%é.m\

Nancy Whelan
General Manager

Attachments

Iltem 3b


http://marintransit.org/monitoringreports.html

FISCAL YEAR
2018

Year-to-Date Ridership Trends

Fixed-Route Passengers (incl. Yellow Bus) by Month

320,000
296,637
282,441 283,298
271284 276,853
260,056 AN
252,173 TS
244,200 238010 240,954
240,000 ~—
219,681
160,000
80,000
0
July August September  October November December January
@ Prior Fiscal Year Passengers 8 Current Fiscal Year Passengers
Demand Response Passengers by Month
16,000
13,564 13035 J3.228
- ,O;,,\,lég‘}l, - 13,279
aE— T 12,684
5~ ~5 N
12,000
8,000
4,000
0
July August September October November December January

B Prior Fiscal Year Passengers B Current Fiscal Year Passengers

284,816
277,644
/
\\\ //
240,773
200,705
February March April May
13,646 13,593
12600
/ T—o0-
11,810
February March April May

Iltem 3b

\

249,351

June

12,950

June


https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/executionContexts/tmp5a949aa1e4b0c31c8c791cb3&request_id=uixaf612c0286c6_115%3AyI3Iu67Z5Ytui2GQ%3AQYkXE3FBw5YGMx2j&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/50133
https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/executionContexts/tmp5a949aa1e4b0c31c8c791cb3&request_id=uixaf612c0286c6_115%3AyI3Iu67Z5Ytui2GQ%3AQYkXE3FBw5YGMx2j&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/64518

Monthly Statistics

MONTH

January

Average Systemwide Daily Passengers

12,000
9,537
9,000
6,000
4,387 4,162
3,000
0
Weekday Saturday Sunday
Prior Fiscal Year Average Daily Passengers @8 Current Fiscal Year Average Daily Passengers
Productivity (pax/hr) by Typology
23.9
24.0 Route Typologies

22.4

21.5 .
1. Local Trunkline:

Routes 35, 36, 71X

2. Local Basic:
Routes 17, 22, 23, 23X, 29, 49

3. Local Connector:
Routes 219, 228, 233, 245, 251, 257

19.9
13.9
13.0

12.0 5. Rural:

Routes 61, 68
76 8.8 8. Recreational:
: 7.0 Routes 66/66F

6.0 5.4 9. Demand Response:
Local Paratransit, Novato Dial-A-Ride,
Rural Dial-A-Ride

21 21

0.0

1. Local Trunkline
2. Local Basic

5. Rural

8. Recreational

3. Local Connector
9. Demand Response

Prior Fiscal Year Productivity B Current Fiscal Year Productivity

Iltem 3b


https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/executionContexts/tmp5a949aa1e4b0c31c8c791cb3&request_id=uixaf612c0286c6_115%3AyI3Iu67Z5Ytui2GQ%3AQYkXE3FBw5YGMx2j&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/51565
https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/executionContexts/tmp5a949aa1e4b0c31c8c791cb3&request_id=uixaf612c0286c6_115%3AyI3Iu67Z5Ytui2GQ%3AQYkXE3FBw5YGMx2j&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/64580

4

Monthly Customer Feedback Report

January 2018
Month: January 2018
Program
Fixed-Route Fixed-Route  Stagecoach & Supplemental & Demand Mobility
Category Local Shuttle Muir Woods Yellow Bus Response Management Systemwide Total
Commendation 2 2 0 0 5 1 0 10
Service Delivery Complaint 20 17 4 1 3 0 0 45
Accessibility 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
Driver Conduct Complaint 5 4 0 0 0 0 0 9
Driving Complaint 8 1 1 1 0 0 0 11
Early Trip 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 3
Equipment Issue 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
Farebox 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
Late Trip 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 3
Missed Connection 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
Missed Trip 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1
No-Show 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
Off-Route 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Pass-Up Complaint 5 5 2 0 0 0 0 12
Service Structure Complaint 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 4
Bus Stop Improvement Request 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Fares 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1
Other Complaint 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1
Scheduling Complaint 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1
Service Improvement Suggestion 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
Safety Complaint 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Service Hours 9,395 3,643 1,396 573 4,985 21,498 21,498
Commendations per 1,000 Hours 0.2 0.5 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.5
Complaints per 1,000 Hours 2.1 4.9 2.9 0.6 0.0 2.3
Total Passengers 168,382 31,884 11,631 29,057 10,392 2,292 253,638 253,638
Commendations per 1,000 Passenger: 0.0 0.1 0.0 - 0.5 0.4 0.0 0.0
Complaints per 1,000 Passengers 0.1 0.6 0.3 0.3 1.3 0.0 0.2
Page 1 of 1

Iltem 3b



FY 2017/18 Marin Access Outreach and Travel Training

Events Completed Year to Date: December 2017

Date Event Description Audience
7/11/2017  Marin Mental Health Board Meeting Staff presentation on Marin Access and Marin Transit. 10
7/12/2017  Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Pickleweed (Albert ~ “Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural 35
J. Boro Community Center) senior event. Individual counseling and group Q&A
available in English, Spanish, and Vietnamese.
7/18/2017  Travel Navigator Satellite Hours in Marin City “Office hours” during regularly scheduled social event. 12
7/20/2017  Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at West Marin Senior ~ “Office hours” during a congregate lunch. 40
Services — Point Reyes.
7/27/2017  Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Margaret Todd Office hours in main lobby. 40
Senior Center — Novato.
8/9/2017 Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Pickleweed (Albert  “Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural 25
J. Boro Community Center) senior event. Individual counseling and group Q&A
available in English, Spanish, and Vietnamese.
8/11/2017  Novato Vision Support Group Presentation Group travel presentation. 12
8/17/2017  Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at West Marin Senior ~ “Office hours” during a congregate lunch. 40
Services — Point Reyes.
8/17/2017  Smith Ranch Homes Presentation Group travel presentation. 28
8/31/2017  Marin General Hospital Braden Diabetes Center - In-service presentation. 8
Outpatient Resource Navigators
9/13/2017  Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Pickleweed (Albert ~ “Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural 30
J. Boro Community Center) senior event. Individual counseling and group Q&A
available in English, Spanish, and Vietnamese.
9/20/2017  Travel Navigator Satellite Hours in Marin City — Senior ~ “Office hours” during regularly scheduled social event. 1
Center
9/22/2017  Group Presentation at Age Friendly Fairfax Forum Presentation and group discussion focusing on 14

available programs and community needs.

Iltem 3b



FY 2017/18 Marin Access Outreach and Travel Training

9/28/2017

9/28/2017

10/11/2017

10/11/2017

10/19/2017

10/25/2017

11/8/2017

11/9/2017

11/14/2017

11/16/2017

11/16/2017

11/30/2017

11/30/2017

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Margaret Todd
Senior Center - Novato.

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at West Marin Senior
Services - Point Reyes.

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Pickleweed (Albert
J. Boro Community Center)

Group Presentation at Novato Villages

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at West Marin Senior
Services — Point Reyes.

Marin Senior Information Fair

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Pickleweed (Albert
J. Boro Community Center)

In-service presentation to Kaiser San Rafael social
workers.

Redwoods presentation.

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at West Marin Senior
Services - Point Reyes.

Drake Terrace presentation

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Margaret Todd
Senior Center - Novato.

Grant Grover School

Office hours in main lobby.

“Office hours” during a congregate lunch.

“Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural
senior event. Individual counseling and group Q&A
available in English, Spanish, and Vietnamese.

Focus presentation on Senior Clipper Cards.

“Office hours” during a congregate lunch.

Annual senior information fair. Marin Access booth in
the main hall with giveaways and information.

“Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural
senior event. Individual counseling and group Q&A
available in English, Spanish, and Vietnamese.

Group presentation on Marin Transit and Marin Access
services.

Group presentation on Marin Transit and Marin Access
services.

“Office hours” during a congregate lunch.

Group presentation on Marin Transit and Marin Access
services.

Office hours in main lobby.

Group presentation focused on students with
developmental disabilities

40

30

35

12
32

500+

25

25

20

18

25

15

Iltem 3b



FY 2017/18 Marin Access Outreach and Travel Training

12/13/2017 Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Pickleweed (Albert ~ “Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural 40
J. Boro Community Center) senior event. Individual counseling and group Q&A
available in English, Spanish, and Vietnamese.
1/10/2018  Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Pickleweed (Albert  “Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural 25
J. Boro Community Center) senior event. Individual counseling and group Q&A
available in English, Spanish, and Vietnamese.
1/10/2018 Novato Villages @ Novato Row 3 Presentation Group presentation on Marin Transit and Marin Access 10
services
1/11/2018  Alma Via Presentation Group presentation on Marin Transit and Marin Access 15
services
1/18/2018  Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at West Marin Senior ~ “Office hours” during a congregate lunch. 38

Services — Point Reyes.

Upcoming Events

Date Event Description Audience

2/14/2018  Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at “Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural senior event. 25
Pickleweed (Albert J. Boro Community  Individual counseling and group Q&A available in English, Spanish,
Center) and Vietnamese.

2/15/2018  Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at West ~ “Office hours” during a congregate lunch. 40
Marin Senior Services — Point Reyes.

3/14/2018 Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at “Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural senior event. 25
Pickleweed (Albert J. Boro Community  Individual counseling and group Q&A available in English, Spanish,
Center) and Vietnamese.

3/15/2018  Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at West ~ “Office hours” during a congregate lunch. 40

Marin Senior Services — Point Reyes.

Iltem 3b



FY 2017/18 Marin Access Outreach and Travel Training

4/11/2018

4/19/2018

5/9/2018

5/17/2018

6/13/2018

6/21/2018

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at
Pickleweed (Albert J. Boro Community
Center)

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at West
Marin Senior Services — Point Reyes.

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at
Pickleweed (Albert J. Boro Community
Center)

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at West
Marin Senior Services — Point Reyes.

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at
Pickleweed (Albert J. Boro Community
Center)

Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at West
Marin Senior Services — Point Reyes.

“Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural senior event.

Individual counseling and group Q&A available in English, Spanish,
and Vietnamese.

“Office hours” during a congregate lunch.

“Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural senior event.

Individual counseling and group Q&A available in English, Spanish,
and Vietnamese.

“Office hours” during a congregate lunch.

“Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural senior event.

Individual counseling and group Q&A available in English, Spanish,
and Vietnamese.

“Office hours” during a congregate lunch.

25

40

25

40

25

40

Iltem 3b



transit

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

board of directors

stephanie moulton-peters
president
city of mill valley

damon connolly
vice president
supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni
2nd vice president
supervisor district 4

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin
director
city of san rafael

kathrin sears
director
supervisor district 3

katie rice
director
supervisor district 2

March 5, 2018

Honorable Board of Directors
Marin County Transit District
3501 Civic Center Drive
San Rafael, CA 94903

SUBJECT: Marin Transit Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy
Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATION: Adopt an updated Marin Transit Drug and
Alcohol Testing Policy to reflect federal guidelines regarding opioids.

SUMMARY: Staff recommends that your Board adopt an updated
Marin Transit Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy. The attached policy
meets current federal requirements that all grantees maintain a drug-
free workplace and have a drug and alcohol testing policy for safety-
sensitive employees. This policy will replace the Drug and Alcohol
Testing Policy revision adopted by your Board in November 2014.

BACKGROUND: Federal grant recipients are required to maintain a
drug-free workplace for all employees and to have an ongoing drug-
free awareness program (Drug Free Workplace Act of 1988). Grant
recipients are also required to have a drug and alcohol testing
program in place for all safety sensitive employees (Omnibus
Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991). In general, safety
sensitive employees are those employees that drive, dispatch or
maintain a bus, or are required to hold a Commercial Driver’s License
or carry a firearm for security purposes. Marin Transit does not
directly employ safety sensitive employees. However, the District is
responsible for ensuring that its purchased transportation contractors
comply with these same testing requirements.

Primary Revisions to the Policy
The required changes in the policy are underlined, below.

Under C. DEFINITIONS

Evidential Breath Testing Device (EBT): A Device approved by the
National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) for the
evidential testing of breath at the 0.02 and the 0.04 alcohol
concentrations, and appears on the Office of Drug and Alcohol Policy
and Compliance (ODAPC) web page for “Approved Evidential Breath

ltem 4a



10

Measurement Devices” because it conforms with the model specifications available from
NHTSA.

Prohibited drug: Identified as marijuana, cocaine, opioids (including codeine, morphine, 6-
acetylmophine/heroin, hydrocodone, hydromorphone, oxycodone, and oxymorphone),
amphetamines (including ecstasy), or phencyclidine (PCP) at levels above the minimum
thresholds specified in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended.

Under E. PROHIBITED SUBSTANCES
All references to “opiates” have been changed to “opioids.”

Under I. DRUG TESTING PROCEDURES
Item 2 below exchanges opiates for opioids and lists specific types of opioids

2) The drugs that will be tested for include marijuana, cocaine, opioids (including herain,
codeine, morphine, 6-acetylmophine/heroin, hydrocodone, hydromorphone, oxycodone,
and oxymorphone), amphetamines (including methamphetamine and ecstasy), and
phencyclidine (PCP). After the identity of the donor is checked using picture
identification, a urine specimen will be collected using the split specimen collection
method described in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended. Each specimen will be accompanied
by a DOT Chain of Custody and Control Form and identified using a unique identification
number that attributes the specimen to the correct individual. The specimen analysis will
be conducted at a HHS-certified laboratory. An initial drug screen and validity test will
be conducted on the primary urine specimen. For those specimens that are not
negative, a confirmatory Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS) test will be
performed. The test will be considered positive if the amounts of the drug(s) and/or its
metabolites identified by the GC/MS test are above the minimum thresholds established
in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended.

Item 3 is a new requirement.

3) If the drug test comes up positive for amphetamines/methamphetamines or THC
(marijuana metabolite), the Medical Review Officer will have the authority, to request
laboratories perform the additional testing for d & | isomer amphetamine and
methamphetamine and THC-V (a metabolite specific to marijuana and not found in
Marinol (pharmaceutical THC).

Item 4 details additional procedures that the Medical Review Officer (MRO) will take to
determine if the positively tested substance is a legally valid prescription. It requires the MRO to
contact the employee’s physician to determine if the medication can be changed.

4) The test results from the HHS certified laboratory will be reported to a Medical Review
Officer. A Medical Review Officer (MRO) is a licensed physician with detailed
knowledge of substance abuse disorders and drug testing. The MRO will review the test
results to ensure the scientific validity of the test and to determine whether there is a
legitimate medical explanation for a confirmed positive, substitute, or adulterated test
result. The MRO will attempt to contact the employee to notify the employee of the non-
negative laboratory result and provide the employee with an opportunity to explain the
confirmed laboratory test result. The MRO will subsequently review the employee’s
medical history/medical records as appropriate to determine whether there is a
legitimate medical explanation for a non-negative laboratory result. If no legitimate

ltem 4a



11

medical explanation is found, the test will be verified positive or refusal to test and
reported to the Marin Transit Drug and Alcohol Program Manager (DAPM). If a
legitimate explanation is found, the MRO will report the test result as negative to the
DAPM. The MRO will advise the employee before informing any third party about any
medication the employee is using pursuant to a legally valid prescription consistent with
the Controlled Substances Act. The MRO will allow 5 business days from the date of
reporting the verified negative result for the employee to have the physician contact the
MRO to determine if the medication can be changed to one that does not make the
employee medically unqualified or does not impose a significant safety risk.

Under J. ALCOHOL TESTING PROCEDURES

1) Tests for breath alcohol concentration will be conducted utilizing a National Highway
Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA)-approved Evidential Breath Testing device (EBT)
operated by a trained Breath Alcohol Technician (BAT). _Additional EBTs may be used
only if they are listed on ODAPC'’s web page for “Approved Evidential Breath
Measurement Devices.” If the initial test indicates an alcohol concentration of 0.02 or
greater, a second test will be performed to confirm the results of the initial test. The
confirmatory test must occur on an EBT. The confirmatory test will be conducted no
sooner than fifteen minutes after the completion of the initial test. The confirmatory test
will be performed using a NHTSA-approved EBT operated by a trained BAT. The EBT
will identify each test by a unique sequential identification number. This number, time,
and unit identifier will be provided on each EBT printout. The EBT printout, along with
an approved alcohol testing form, will be used to document the test, the subsequent
results, and to attribute the test to the correct employee. The test will be performed in a
private, confidential manner as required by 49 CFR Part 40, as amended. The
procedure will be followed as prescribed to protect the employee and to maintain the
integrity of the alcohol testing procedures and validity of the test result.

Marin Transit's Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy sets the procedures that purchased
transportation contractors must follow and guidelines for District staff to monitor compliance.
After your Board adopts the updated policy, staff will distribute the revisions to Marin Transit’s
contractors with highlighted text noting the required changes.

FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT: There is no fiscal impact associated with adopting this Drug and
Alcohol Testing Policy.

Respectfully submitted,

Amy Van Doren
Director of Policy and Legislative Programs

Attachment

ltem 4a



MARIN TRANSIT

DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY

12

Policy #:
Subject:
Effective Date:
Revision Date:

HR-01

Drug and Alcohol
October 15, 2012
March 5, 2018

ltem 4a



PREAMBLE

A. PURPOSE

B. APPLICABILITY

C. DEFINITIONS

D. EDUCATION AND TRAINING

E. PROHIBITED SUBSTANCES

F. PROHIBITED CONDUCT

G. DRUG STATUTE CONVICTION

H. TESTING REQUIREMENTS

I.  DRUG TESTING PROCEDURES

J. ALCOHOL TESTING PROCEDURES
K. PRE-EMPLOYMENT TESTING

L. REASONABLE SUSPICION TESTING
M. POST-ACCIDENT TESTING

N. RANDOM TESTING

O. RETURN-TO-DUTY TESTING

P. FOLLOW-UP TESTING

Q. RESULT OF DRUG/ALCOHOL TEST
R. GRIEVANCE AND APPEAL

S. PROPER APPLICATION OF THE POLICY
T. INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

ATTACHMENT A - STAFFING PLAN FOR IMPLEMENTING MARIN TRANSIT’S DRUG &

ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAMS

13

10

11

11

12

15

16

18

19

21

22

22

23

26

26

27

ltem 4a



14

ATTACHMENT B — MARIN TRANSIT DRUG & ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM CONTACTS

ltem 4a



15

PREAMBLE

Marin County Transit District (Marin Transit) adopts this policy to provide a safe
workplace and ensure compliance with all mandated drug and alcohol programs and a
standard with respect to Drug and Alcohol testing for all contractors providing service
on behalf of the District. Marin Transit will include the following requirements in all the
District’s contracts for purchased transportation services:

The Contractor agrees to establish and implement a drug and alcohol testing
program that complies with 49 CFR Parts 653 and 654, produce any documentation
necessary to establish its compliance with Parts 653 and 654, and permit any
authorized representative of the United States Department of Transportation or its
operating administrations, the State Oversight Agency of California, or Marin Transit,
to inspect the facilities and records associated with the implementation of the drug
and alcohol testing program as required under 49 CFR Parts 653 and 654 and review
the testing process. The Contractor agrees further to certify annually its compliance
with Parts 653 and 654 before March 1 and to submit the Management Information
System (MIS) reports before March 1 to Marin Transit’s General Manager. To certify
compliance the Contractor shall use the "Substance Abuse Certifications" in the
"Annual List of Certifications and Assurances for Federal Transit Administration
Grants and Cooperative Agreements," which is published annually in the Federal
Register. The Contractor agrees further to submit before contract implementation a
copy of the Policy Statement developed to implement its drug and alcohol testing
program.

Further, Marin Transit will conduct ongoing oversight of contractors to ensure that their
programs remain in compliance and will take whatever actions are necessary and
appropriate to ensure contractor compliance. If a contractor is unwilling or unable to
comply with the regulations, Marin Transit will discontinue using this contractor for
safety-sensitive duties, so as not to jeopardize federal funding. Contractors that bid on
safety-sensitive work will be considered non-responsive if they do not have or are not
able to establish a Federal Transit Administration-compliant drug and alcohol testing
program.

This policy meets Federal Transit Administration (FTA) requirements and will be used as
a model for Marin Transit’s purchased transportation service providers. To ensure
compliance with Federal standards, only underlined passages can be eliminated or
revised.

ltem 4a



16

A. PURPOSE

1)

2)

3)

Marin Transit provides public transit and paratransit services for the residents of
Marin County. Part of our mission is to ensure that this service is delivered
safely, efficiently, and effectively by establishing a drug and alcohol-free work
environment, and to ensure that the workplace remains free from the effects of
drugs and alcohol to promote the health and safety of employees and the
general public. In keeping with this mission, Marin Transit declares that the
unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of controlled
substances or misuse of alcohol is prohibited for all employees.

Additionally, the purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines to maintain a
drug and alcohol-free workplace in compliance with the Drug-Free Workplace
Act of 1988, and the Omnibus Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991.
This policy is intended to comply with all applicable Federal regulations
governing workplace anti-drug and alcohol programs in the transit industry.
Specifically, the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) of the U.S. Department of
Transportation has published 49 CFR Part 655, as amended, that mandates urine
drug testing and breath alcohol testing for safety-sensitive positions and
prohibits performance of safety-sensitive functions when there is a positive test
result. The U. S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) has also published 49
CFR Part 40, as amended, that sets standards for the collection and testing of
urine and breath specimens.

Any provisions set forth in this policy that are included under the sole authority
of Marin Transit and are not provided under the authority of the above named
Federal regulations are underlined. Tests conducted under the sole authority of
Marin Transit will be performed on non-USDOT forms and will be separate from
USDOT testing in all respects.

B. APPLICABILITY

This Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy applies to all safety-sensitive employees (full- or
part-time) when performing safety sensitive duties. Marin Transit employees that do
not perform safety-sensitive functions are also covered under this policy under the sole
authority of Marin Transit. See Attachment A for a list of employees and the authority
under which they are included.

ltem 4a



17

A safety-sensitive function is operation of public transit service including the operation
of a revenue service vehicle (whether or not the vehicle is in revenue service),
maintenance of a revenue service vehicle or equipment used in revenue service,
security personnel who carry firearms, dispatchers or person controlling the movement
of revenue service vehicles and any transit employee who operates a vehicle that
requires a Commercial Driver’s License to operate. Maintenance functions include the
repair, overhaul, and rebuild of engines, vehicles and/or equipment used in revenue
service. A list of safety-sensitive positions that perform one or more of the above-
mentioned duties is provided in Attachment A. Supervisors are only safety sensitive if
they perform one of the above functions. Volunteers are considered safety sensitive
and subject to testing if they are required to hold a CDL or receive remuneration for
service in excess of actual expense.

C. DEFINITIONS

Accident: An occurrence associated with the operation of a vehicle even when not in
revenue service, if as a result:

a) Anindividual dies;

b) Anindividual suffers a bodily injury and immediately receives medical treatment
away from the scene of the accident; or,

c) One or more vehicles incur disabling damage as the result of the occurrence and
is transported away from the scene by a tow truck or other vehicle. For
purposes of this definition, disabling damage means damage which precludes
departure of any vehicle from the scene of the occurrence in its usual manner in
daylight after simple repairs. Disabling damage includes damage to vehicles
that could have been operated but would have been further damaged if so
operated. It does not include damage that can be remedied temporarily at the
scene of the occurrence without special tools or parts, tire disablement without
other damage even if no spare tire is available, or damage to headlights,
taillights, turn signals, horn, mirrors or windshield wipers that makes them
inoperative.

Adulterated specimen: A specimen that has been altered, as evidence by test results
showing either a substance that is not a normal constituent for that type of specimen or
showing an abnormal concentration of an endogenous substance.

Alcohol: The intoxicating agent in beverage alcohol, ethyl alcohol, or other low

molecular weight alcohols contained in any beverage, mixture, mouthwash, candy, food,
preparation or medication.

ltem 4a



18

Alcohol Concentration: Expressed in terms of grams of alcohol per 210 liters of breath as
indicated by a breath test under 49 CFR Part 40.

Aliguot: A fractional part of a specimen used for testing; it is taken as a sample
representing the whole specimen.

Canceled Test: A drug or alcohol test that has a problem identified that cannot be or has
not been corrected or which is canceled. A canceled test is neither positive nor negative.

Confirmatory Drug Test: A second analytical procedure performed on a different aliquot
of the original specimen to identify and quantify the presence of a specific drug or
metabolite.

Confirmatory Validity Test: A second test performed on a different aliquot of the original
urine specimen to further support a validity test result.

Covered Employee Under FTA Authority: An employee who performs a safety-sensitive
function including an applicant or transferee who is being considered for hire into a
safety-sensitive function (See Attachment A for a list of covered employees).

Covered Employee Under Company Authority: An employee, applicant, or transferee
that will not perform a safety-sensitive function as defined by FTA but is included under
the company’s own authority. (See Attachment A).

Designated Employer Representative (DER): An employee authorized by the employer to
take immediate action to remove employees from safety-sensitive duties and to make
required decisions in testing. The DER also receives test results and other
communications for the employer, consistent with the requirements of 49 CFR Parts 40
and 655.

Department of Transportation (DOT): For the purposes of Drug and Alcohol regulatory
oversight, DOT is the department of the federal government that includes the Federal
Transit Administration, Federal Railroad Administration, Federal Aviation
Administration, Federal Motor Carriers’ Safety Administration, Pipeline & Hazardous
Materials Safety Administration, United States Coast Guard, and the Office of the
Secretary of Transportation.

Dilute specimen: A urine specimen with creatinine and specific gravity values that are
lower than expected for human urine.

ltem 4a



19

Disabling damage: Damage which precludes departure of any vehicle from the scene of
the occurrence in its usual manner in daylight after simple repairs. Disabling damage
includes damage to vehicles that could have been operated but would have been
further damaged if so operated. It does not include damage that can be remedied
temporarily at the scene of the occurrence without special tools or parts, tire
disablement without other damage even if no spare tire is available, or damage to
headlights, taillights, turn signals, horn, or windshield wipers that makes them
inoperative.

Evidential Breath Testing Device (EBT): A Device approved by the National Highway
Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) for the evidential testing of breath at the 0.02 and
the 0.04 alcohol concentrations, and appears on the Office of Drug and Alcohol Policy
and Compliance (ODAPC) web page for “Approved Evidential Breath Measurement
Devices” because it conforms with the model specifications available from NHTSA.

Initial Drug Test: (Screening Drug Test) The test used to differentiate a negative
specimen from one that requires further testing for drugs or drug metabolites.

Initial Specimen Validity Test: The first test used to determine if a urine specimen is
adulterated, diluted, substituted, or invalid

Invalid Result: The result reported by a Department of Health & Human Services (HHS)-
certified laboratory in accordance with the criteria established by the HHS Mandatory
Guidelines when a positive, negative, adulterated, or substituted results cannot be
established for a specific drug or specimen validity test.

Laboratory: Any U.S. laboratory certified by HHS under the National Laboratory
Certification program as meeting standards of Subpart C of the HHS Mandatory
Guidelines for Federal Workplace Drug Testing Programs; or, in the case of foreign
laboratories, a laboratory approved for participation by DOT under this part.

Limit of Detection (LOD): The lowest concentration at which a measurand can be
identified, but (for quantitative assays) the concentration cannot be accurately

calculated.

Limit of Quantitation: For quantitative assays, the lowest concentration at which the
identity and concentration of the measurand can be accurately established.

ltem 4a



20

Medical Review Officer (MRO): A licensed physician (medical doctor or doctor of
osteopathy) responsible for receiving laboratory results generated by the drug testing
program who has knowledge of substance abuse disorders and has appropriate medical
training to interpret and evaluate an individual's confirmed positive test result, together
with his/her medical history, and any other relevant bio-medical information.

Negative Dilute: A drug test result which is negative for the five drug/drug metabolites
but has a specific gravity value lower than expected for human urine.

Negative result: The result reported by an HHS-certified laboratory to an MRO when a
specimen contains no drug, or the concentration of the drug is less than the cutoff
concentration for the drug or drug class and the specimen is a valid specimen.

Non-negative test result: A urine specimen that is reported as adulterated, substituted,
invalid, or positive for drug/drug metabolites.

Oxidizing Adulterant: A substance that acts alone or in combination with other
substances to oxidize drugs or drug metabolites to prevent the detection of the drug or
metabolites or affects the reagents in either the initial or confirmatory drug test.

Performing (a safety-sensitive function): A covered employee is considered to be
performing a safety-sensitive function and includes any period in which he or she is
actually performing, ready to perform, or immediately available to perform such
functions.

Positive result: The result reported by an HHS- Certified laboratory when a specimen
contains a drug or drug metabolite equal or greater to the cutoff concentrations.

Prohibited drug: |dentified as marijuana, cocaine, opioids (including codeine, morphine,
6-acetylmophine/heroin, hydrocodone, hydromorphone, oxycodone, and
oxymorphone), amphetamines (including ecstasy), or phencyclidine (PCP) at levels
above the minimum thresholds specified in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended.

Reconfirmed: The result reported for a split specimen when the second laboratory is
able to corroborate the original result reported for the primary specimen.

Rejected for Testing: The result reported by an HHS- Certified laboratory when no tests

are performed for s specimen because of a fatal flaw or a correctable flaw that has not
been corrected.

ltem 4a



21

Revenue Service Vehicles: All transit vehicles that are used for passenger transportation
service.

Safety-sensitive functions: Employee duties identified as:

(2) The operation of a transit revenue service vehicle even when the vehicle is
not in revenue service.

(2) The operation of a non-revenue service vehicle by an employee when the
operation of such a vehicle requires the driver to hold a Commercial Driver’s
License (CDL).

(3) Maintaining a revenue service vehicle or equipment used in revenue service.

(4) Controlling the movement of a revenue service vehicle and

(5) Carrying a firearm for security purposes.

Split Specimen Collection: A collection in which the urine collected is divided into two
separate bottles, the primary specimen (Bottle A) and the split specimen (Bottle B).

Substance Abuse Professional (SAP): A licensed physician (medical doctor or doctor of
osteopathy) or licensed or certified psychologist, social worker, employee assistance
professional, state-licensed marriage and family therapist, or drug and alcohol counselor
(certified by the National Association of Alcoholism and Drug Abuse Counselors
Certification Commission or by the International Certification Reciprocity
Consortium/Alcohol and other Drug Abuse (ICRC) or by the National Board for Certified
Counselors, Inc. and Affiliates/Master Addictions Counselor (NBCC)) with knowledge of
and clinical experience in the diagnosis and treatment of drug and alcohol related
disorders.

Substituted specimen: A urine specimen with creatinine and specific gravity values that
are so diminished or so divergent that they are not consistent with normal human urine.

Test Refusal: The following are considered a refusal to test if the employee:
(2) Fails to appear for any test (excluding pre-employment) within a
reasonable time, as determined by the employer, after being directed to
do so by the employer

(2) Fails to remain at the testing site until the testing process is complete

(3) Fails to provide a urine or breath specimen for any drug or alcohol test
required by Part 40 or DOT agency regulations

(4) In the case of a directly observed or monitored collection in a drug test,
fails to permit the observation or monitoring of your provision of a
specimen

ltem 4a



22

(5) Fails to provide a sufficient amount of urine or breath when directed, and
it has been determined, through a required medical evaluation, that
there was no adequate medical explanation for the failure

(6) Fails or declines to take a second test the employer or collector has
directed you to take
(7) Fails to undergo a medical examination or evaluation, as directed by the

MRO as part of the verification process, or as directed by the DER as part
of the ““shy bladder" or “shy lung” procedures

(8) Fails to cooperate with any part of the testing process (e.g., refuse to
empty pockets when so directed by the collector, behave in a
confrontational way that disrupts the collection process)

(9) If the MRO reports that there is verified adulterated or substituted test
result

(10)  Failure or refusal to sign Step 2 of the alcohol testing form

(11)  Failure to follow the observer’s instructions during an observed collection
including instructions to raise your clothing above the waist, lower
clothing and underpants, and to turn around to permit the observer to
determine if you have any type of prosthetic or other device that could
be used to interfere with the collection process.

(12) Possess or wear a prosthetic or other device that could be used to
interfere with the collection process

(13) Admit to the collector or MRO that you adulterated or substituted the
specimen.

Vehicle: A bus, electric bus, van, automobile, rail car, trolley car, trolley bus, or vessel. A
public transit vehicle is a vehicle used for public transportation or for ancillary services.

Verified negative test: A drug test result reviewed by a medical review officer and
determined to have no evidence of prohibited drug use above the minimum cutoff
levels established by the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS).

Verified positive test: A drug test result reviewed by a medical review officer and
determined to have evidence of prohibited drug use above the minimum cutoff levels
specified in 49 CFR Part 40 as revised.

Validity testing: The evaluation of the specimen to determine if it is consistent with
normal human urine. Specimen validity testing will be conducted on all urine specimens
provided for testing under DOT authority. The purpose of validity testing is to
determine whether certain adulterants or foreign substances were added to the urine, if
the urine was diluted, or if the specimen was substituted.

ltem 4a



23

D. EDUCATION AND TRAINING

E.

1)

2)

Every covered employee will receive a copy of this policy and will have ready
access to the corresponding federal regulations including 49 CFR Parts 655 and
40, as amended. In addition, all covered employees will undergo a minimum of
60 minutes of training on the signs and symptoms of drug use including the
effects and consequences of drug use on personal health, safety, and the work
environment. The training also includes manifestations and behavioral cues that
may indicate prohibited drug use.

All supervisory personnel or company officials who are in a position to determine
employee fitness for duty will receive 60 minutes of reasonable suspicion
training on the physical, behavioral, and performance indicators of probable
drug use and 60 minutes of additional reasonable suspicion training on the
physical, behavioral, speech, and performance indicators of probable alcohol
misuse.

PROHIBITED SUBSTANCES

1)

Prohibited substances addressed by this policy include the following.

a. lllegally Used Controlled Substance or Drugs Under the Drug-Free Workplace
Act of 1988 any drug or any substance identified in Schedule | through V of
Section 202 of the Controlled Substance Act (21 U.S.C. 812), and as further
defined by 21 CFR 1300.11 through 1300.15 is prohibited at all times in the
workplace unless a legal prescription has been written for the substance.
This includes, but is not limited to: marijuana, amphetamines (including
methamphetamine and ecstasy), opioids (including heroin), phencyclidine
(PCP), and cocaine, as well as any drug not approved for medical use by the
U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration or the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration. lllegal use includes use of any illegal drug, misuse of legally
prescribed drugs, and use of illegally obtained prescription drugs. Also, the
medical use of marijuana, or the use of hemp related products, which cause
drug or drug metabolites to be present in the body above the minimum
thresholds is a violation of this policy

Federal Transit Administration drug testing regulations (49 CFR Part 655)
require that all employees covered under FTA Authority be tested for

ltem 4a



24

marijuana, cocaine, amphetamines (including methamphetamine and
ecstasy), opioids (including heroin), and phencyclidine (PCP) as described in
Section H of this policy. Employees covered under company authority will
also be tested for these same substances. lllegal use of these five drugs is
prohibited at all times and thus, covered employees may be tested for these
drugs anytime that they are on duty.

b. Legal Drugs: The appropriate use of legally prescribed drugs and non-
prescription medications is not prohibited. However, the use of any
substance which carries a warning label that indicates that mental
functioning, motor skills, or judgment may be adversely affected must be
reported to a Marin Transit supervisor and the employee is required to
provide a written release from his/her doctor or pharmacist indicating that
the employee can perform his/her safety-sensitive functions.

c. Alcohol: The use of beverages containing alcohol (including any mouthwash,
medication, food, candy) or any other substances such that alcohol is present
in the body while performing safety-sensitive job functions is prohibited. A
random or reasonable suspicion alcohol test can only be performed on a
covered employee under 49 CFR Part 655 just before, during, or just after the
performance of safety-sensitive job functions. Under Marin Transit
authority, a non-DOT alcohol test can be performed any time an employee is

on duty.

F. PROHIBITED CONDUCT

1) All covered employees are prohibited from reporting for duty or remaining on
duty any time there is a quantifiable presence of a prohibited drug in the body
above the minimum thresholds defined in 49 CFR PART 40, as amended.

2) Each covered employee is prohibited from consuming alcohol while performing
safety-sensitive job functions or while on-call to perform safety-sensitive job
functions. If an on-call employee has consumed alcohol, they must acknowledge
the use of alcohol at the time that they are called to report for duty. The
covered employee will subsequently be relieved of his/her on-call
responsibilities and subject to discipline.

10

ltem 4a



25

3) The Transit Department shall not permit any covered employee to perform or
continue to perform safety-sensitive functions if it has actual knowledge that the
employee is using alcohol

4) Each covered employee is prohibited from reporting to work or remaining on
duty requiring the performance of safety-sensitive functions while having an
alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater regardless of when the alcohol was
consumed.

5) No covered employee shall consume alcohol for eight (8) hours following
involvement in an accident or until he/she submits to the post-accident
drug/alcohol test, whichever occurs first.

6) No covered employee shall consume alcohol within four (4) hours prior to the
performance of safety-sensitive job functions.

7) Marin Transit under its own authority also prohibits the consumption of alcohol
all times employee is on duty, or anytime the employee is in uniform.

8) Consistent with the Drug-free Workplace Act of 1988, all Marin Transit
employees are prohibited from engaging in the unlawful manufacture,
distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of prohibited substances in the work
place including transit system premises and transit vehicles.

G. DRUG STATUTE CONVICTION

Consistent with the Drug Free Workplace Act of 1998, all employees are required to
notify the Marin Transit management of any criminal drug statute conviction for a
violation occurring in the workplace within five days after such conviction. Failure to
comply with this provision shall result in disciplinary action as defined in Section Q.10 of
this policy.

H. TESTING REQUIREMENTS
1) Analytical urine drug testing and breath testing for alcohol will be conducted
using the testing methodologies and thresholds defined in 49CFR part 40 as

11

ltem 4a



2)

3)

26

amended. All employees covered under FTA authority shall be subject to testing
prior to performing safety-sensitive duty, for reasonable suspicion, following an
accident, and random as defined in Section K, L, M, and N of this policy, and
return to duty/follow-up. All employees covered under company authority will
also be subject to testing for reasonable suspicion, post-accident, random and
return to duty/follow up using non-DOT testing forms

A drug test can be performed any time a covered employee is on duty. A
reasonable suspicion and random alcohol test can be performed just before,
during, or after the performance of a safety-sensitive job function. Under
Marin Transit authority, a non-DOT alcohol test can be performed any time an
employee is on duty.

All employees will be subject to urine drug testing and breath alcohol testing as a
condition of ongoing employment with Marin Transit. Any safety-sensitive
employee who refuses to comply with a request for testing shall be removed
from duty and subject to discipline as defined in Section Q of this policy.

I. DRUG TESTING PROCEDURES

1)

2)

Testing shall be conducted in a manner to assure a high degree of accuracy and
reliability and using techniques, equipment, and laboratory facilities which have
been approved by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Service (HHS). All
testing will be conducted consistent with the procedures set forth in 49 CFR
Part 40, as amended. The procedures will be performed in a private,
confidential manner and every effort will be made to protect the employee, the
integrity of the drug testing procedure, and the validity of the test result.

The drugs that will be tested for include marijuana, cocaine, opioids (including
heroin, codeine, morphine, 6-acetylmophine/heroin, hydrocodone,
hydromorphone, oxycodone, and oxymorphone), amphetamines (including
methamphetamine and ecstasy), and phencyclidine (PCP). After the identity of
the donor is checked using picture identification, a urine specimen will be
collected using the split specimen collection method described in 49 CFR Part
40, as amended. Each specimen will be accompanied by a DOT Chain of
Custody and Control Form and identified using a unique identification number
that attributes the specimen to the correct individual. The specimen analysis
will be conducted at a HHS-certified laboratory. An initial drug screen and

12

ltem 4a



3)

4)

5)

27

validity test will be conducted on the primary urine specimen. For those
specimens that are not negative, a confirmatory Gas Chromatography/Mass
Spectrometry (GC/MS) test will be performed. The test will be considered
positive if the amounts of the drug(s) and/or its metabolites identified by the
GC/MS test are above the minimum thresholds established in 49 CFR Part 40, as
amended.

If the drug test comes up positive for amphetamines/methamphetamines or
THC (marijuana metabolite), the Medical Review Officer will have the authority,
to request laboratories perform the additional testing for d & | isomer
amphetamine and methamphetamine and THC-V (a metabolite specific to
marijuana and not found in Marinol (pharmaceutical THC).

The test results from the HHS certified laboratory will be reported to a Medical
Review Officer. A Medical Review Officer (MRO) is a licensed physician with
detailed knowledge of substance abuse disorders and drug testing. The MRO
will review the test results to ensure the scientific validity of the test and to
determine whether there is a legitimate medical explanation for a confirmed
positive, substitute, or adulterated test result. The MRO will attempt to contact
the employee to notify the employee of the non-negative laboratory result and
provide the employee with an opportunity to explain the confirmed laboratory
test result. The MRO will subsequently review the employee’s medical
history/medical records as appropriate to determine whether there is a
legitimate medical explanation for a non-negative laboratory result. If no
legitimate medical explanation is found, the test will be verified positive or
refusal to test and reported to the Marin Transit Drug and Alcohol Program
Manager (DAPM). If a legitimate explanation is found, the MRO will report the
test result as negative to the DAPM. The MRO will advise the employee before
informing any third party about any medication the employee is using pursuant
to a legally valid prescription consistent with the Controlled Substances Act. The
MRO will allow 5 business days from the date of reporting the verified negative
result for the employee to have the physician contact the MRO to determine if
the medication can be changed to one that does not make the employee
medically unqualified or does not impose a significant safety risk.

If the test is invalid without a medical explanation, a retest will be conducted
under direct observation. Employees do not have access to a test of their split
specimen following an invalid result.

13

ltem 4a



28

6) Any covered employee who questions the results of a required drug test under
paragraphs L through P of this policy may request that the split sample be
tested. The split sample test must be conducted at a second HHS-certified
laboratory. The test must be conducted on the split sample that was provided
by the employee at the same time as the primary sample. The method of
collecting, storing, and testing the split sample will be consistent with the
procedures set forth in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended. The employee's request for
a split sample test must be made to the Medical Review Officer within 72 hours
of notice of the original sample verified test result. Requests after 72 hours will
only be accepted at the discretion of the MRO if the delay was due to
documentable facts that were beyond the control of the employee. Marin
Transit will ensure that the cost for the split specimen are covered in order for a
timely analysis of the sample, however Marin Transit will seek reimbursement
for the split sample test from the employee.

7) If the analysis of the split specimen fails to confirm the presence of the drug(s)
detected in the primary specimen, if the split specimen is not able to be
analyzed, or if the results of the split specimen are not scientifically adequate,
the MRO will declare the original test to be canceled. If the split specimen is
not available to analyze the MRO will direct Marin Transit to retest the
employee under direct observation.

8) The split specimen will be stored at the initial laboratory until the analysis of the
primary specimen is completed. If the primary specimen is negative, the split
will be discarded. If the primary specimen is positive, it will be retained in
frozen storage for one year and the split specimen will also be retained for one
year. If the primary is positive, the primary and the split will be retained for
longer than one year for testing if so requested by the employee through the
Medical Review Officer, or by the employer, by the MRO, or by the relevant
DOT agency.

9) Observed collections

a. Consistent with 49 CFR part 40, as amended, collection under direct
observation (by a person of the same gender) with no advance notice will
occur if:

i. The laboratory reports to the MRO that a specimen is invalid, and
the MRO reports to Marin Transit that there was not an adequate
medical explanation for the result;

14

ltem 4a



29

ii. The MRO reports to Marin Transit that the original positive,
adulterated, or substituted test result had to be cancelled
because the test of the split specimen could not be performed;

iii. The laboratory reported to the MRO that the specimen was
negative-dilute with a creatinine concentration greater than or
equal to 2 mg/dL but less than or equal to 5 mg/dL, and the MRO
reported the specimen to you as negative-dilute and that a
second collection must take place under direct observation (see
§40.197(b)(1)).

iv. The collector observes materials brought to the collection site or
the employee's conduct clearly indicates an attempt to tamper
with a specimen;

v. The temperature on the original specimen was out of range;

vi. Anytime the employee is directed to provide another specimen
because the original specimen appeared to have been tampered
with.

vii. All follow-up-tests; or

viii. All return-to-duty tests

J. ALCOHOL TESTING PROCEDURES

1) Tests for breath alcohol concentration will be conducted utilizing a National
Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA)-approved Evidential Breath
Testing device (EBT) operated by a trained Breath Alcohol Technician (BAT).
Additional EBTs may be used only if they are listed on ODAPC’s web page for
“Approved Evidential Breath Measurement Devices.” If the initial test indicates
an alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater, a second test will be performed to
confirm the results of the initial test. The confirmatory test must occur on an
EBT. The confirmatory test will be conducted no sooner than fifteen minutes
after the completion of the initial test. The confirmatory test will be performed
using a NHTSA-approved EBT operated by a trained BAT. The EBT will identify

15

ltem 4a



30

each test by a unique sequential identification number. This number, time, and
unit identifier will be provided on each EBT printout. The EBT printout, along
with an approved alcohol testing form, will be used to document the test, the
subsequent results, and to attribute the test to the correct employee. The test
will be performed in a private, confidential manner as required by 49 CFR Part
40, as amended. The procedure will be followed as prescribed to protect the
employee and to maintain the integrity of the alcohol testing procedures and
validity of the test result.

2) An employee who has a confirmed alcohol concentration of 0.04 or greater will
be considered a positive alcohol test and in violation of this policy. The
consequences of a positive alcohol test are described in Section Q of this policy.
Even though an employee who has a confirmed alcohol concentration of 0.02 to
0.039 is not considered positive, the employee shall still be removed from duty
for at least eight hours or for the duration of the work day whichever is longer
and will be subject to the consequences described in Section Q of this policy. An
alcohol concentration of less than 0.02 will be considered a negative test.

3) Marin Transit affirms the need to protect individual dignity, privacy, and
confidentiality throughout the testing process. If at any time the integrity of the
testing procedures or the validity of the test results is compromised, the test will
be canceled. Minor inconsistencies or procedural flaws that do not impact the
test result will not result in a cancelled test.

4) The alcohol testing form (ATF) required by 49 CFR Part 40 as amended, shall be

used for all FTA required testing. Failure of an employee to sign step 2 of the
ATF will be considered a refusal to submit to testing.

K. PRE-EMPLOYMENT TESTING

1) All applicants for covered transit positions shall undergo urine drug testing prior
to performance of a safety-sensitive function.

b. All offers of employment for covered positions shall be extended
conditional upon the applicant passing a drug test. An applicant will not

be allowed to perform safety-sensitive functions unless the applicant
takes a drug test with verified negative results.

16

ltem 4a



31

An employee shall not be placed, transferred or promoted into a position
covered under FTA or company authority until the employee takes a drug
test with verified negative results.

If an applicant fails a pre-employment drug test, the conditional offer of
employment shall be rescinded, and the applicant will be referred to a
SAP. Failure of a pre-employment drug test will disqualify an applicant
for employment for a period of at least one year. Before being
considered for future employment the applicant must provide the
employer proof of having successfully completed a referral, evaluation
and treatment plan as described in section 655.62 of subpart G. The cost
for the assessment and any subsequent treatment will be the sole
responsibility of the applicant.

When an employee being placed, transferred, or promoted from a non-
covered position to a position covered under FTA or company authority
submits a drug test with a verified positive result, the employee shall be
subject to disciplinary action in accordance with Section Q herein.

If a pre-employment test is canceled, Marin Transit will require the
applicant to take and pass another pre-employment drug test.

In instances where an FTA-covered employee does not perform a safety-
sensitive function for a period of 90 consecutive days or more regardless
of reason and during that period is not in the random testing pool, the
employee will be required to take a pre-employment drug test under 49
CFR Part 655 and have negative test results prior to the conduct of
safety-sensitive job functions.

Following a negative dilute the employee will be required to undergo

another test. Should this second test result in a negative dilute result,
the test will be considered a negative and no additional testing will be
required unless directed to do so by the MRO.

Applicants are required (even if ultimately not hired) to provide Marin
Transit with signed written releases requesting FTA drug and alcohol
records from all previous, DOT-covered, employers that the applicant has
worked for within the last two years. Failure to do so will result in the
employment offer being rescinded. Marin Transit is required to ask all
applicants (even if ultimately not hired) if they have tested positive or

17

ltem 4a



refused to test on a pre-employment test for a DOT covered employer
within the last two years. If the applicant has tested positive or refused to
test on a pre-employment test for a DOT covered employer, the applicant
must provide Marin Transit proof of having successfully completed a
referral, evaluation and treatment plan as described in section 655.62 of
subpart G.

L. REASONABLE SUSPICION TESTING

1) All Marin Transit FTA covered employees will be subject to a reasonable

2)

suspicion drug and/or alcohol test when the employer has reasonable suspicion
to believe that the covered employee has used a prohibited drug and/or
engaged in alcohol misuse. Reasonable suspicion shall mean that there is
objective evidence, based upon specific, contemporaneous, articulable
observations of the employee's appearance, behavior, speech or body odor that
are consistent with possible drug use and/or alcohol misuse. Reasonable
suspicion referrals must be made by one or more supervisors who are trained to
detect the signs and symptoms of drug and alcohol use, and who reasonably
concludes that an employee may be adversely affected or impaired in his/her
work performance due to possible prohibited substance abuse or alcohol misuse.
A reasonable suspicion alcohol test can only be conducted just before, during, or
just after the performance of a safety-sensitive job function. However, under
Marin Transit’s authority, a non-DOT reasonable suspicion alcohol test may be
performed any time the covered employee is on duty. A reasonable suspicion
drug test can be performed any time the covered employee is on duty. All
employees covered under the sole authority of Marin Transit will also be subject
to non-USDOT reasonable suspicion testing procedures modeled off the
provisions in 49 CFR Part 40.

Marin Transit shall be responsible for transporting the employee to the testing
site. Supervisors should avoid placing themselves and/or others into a situation
that might endanger the physical safety of those present. The employee shall be
placed on administrative leave pending disciplinary action described in Section Q
of this policy. An employee who refuses an instruction to submit to a
drug/alcohol test shall not be permitted to finish his or her shift and shall
immediately be placed on administrative leave pending disciplinary action as
specified in Section Q of this policy.

18

ltem 4a



33

3) A written record of the observations which led to a drug/alcohol test based on
reasonable suspicion shall be prepared and signed by the supervisor making the
observation. This written record shall be submitted to the Marin Transit

4) When there are no specific, contemporaneous, articulable objective facts that
indicate current drug or alcohol use, but the employee (who is not already a
participant in a treatment program) admits the abuse of alcohol or other
substances to a supervisor in his/her chain of command, the employee shall be
referred for assessment and treatment consistent with Section Q of this policy.
Marin Transit shall place the employee on administrative leave in accordance
with the provisions set forth under Section Q of this policy. Testing in this
circumstance would be performed under the direct authority of the Marin
Transit. Since the employee self-referred to management, testing under this
circumstance would not be considered a violation of this policy or a positive
test result under Federal authority. However, self-referral does not exempt the
covered employee from testing under Federal authority as specified in Sections L
through N of this policy or the associated consequences as specified in Section Q.

M. POST-ACCIDENT TESTING

1) FATAL ACCIDENTS - All employees covered under FTA authority will be required
to undergo urine and breath testing if they are involved in an accident with a
transit vehicle regardless of whether or not the vehicle is in revenue service that
results in a fatality. This includes all surviving covered employees that are
operating the vehicle at the time of the accident and any other whose
performance could have contributed to the accident.

2) NON-FATAL ACCIDENTS - A post-accident test of the operator will be conducted
if an accident results in injuries requiring immediate transportation to a medical
treatment facility; or one or more vehicles incurs disabling damage, unless the
operator’s performance can be completely discounted as a contributing factor to
the accident.

a. Assoon as practicable following an accident, as defined in this policy, the
transit supervisor investigating the accident will notify the transit

employee operating the transit vehicle and all other covered employees
whose performance could have contributed to the accident of the need

19

ltem 4a



34

for the test. The supervisor will make the determination using the best
information available at the time of the decision.

The appropriate transit supervisor shall ensure that an employee,
required to be tested under this section, is tested as soon as practicable,
but no longer than eight (8) hours of the accident for alcohol, and no
longer than 32 hours for drugs. If an alcohol test is not performed within
two hours of the accident, the Supervisor will document the reason(s) for
the delay. If the alcohol test is not conducted within (8) eight hours, or
the drug test within 32 hours, attempts to conduct the test must cease
and the reasons for the failure to test documented.

Any covered employee involved in an accident must refrain from alcohol
use for eight (8) hours following the accident or until he/she undergoes a
post-accident alcohol test.

An employee who is subject to post-accident testing who fails to remain
readily available for such testing, including notifying a supervisor of his or
her location if he or she leaves the scene of the accident prior to
submission to such test, may be deemed to have refused to submit to
testing.

Nothing in this section shall be construed to require the delay of
necessary medical attention for the injured following an accident, or to
prohibit an employee from leaving the scene of an accident for the
period necessary to obtain assistance in responding to the accident, or to
obtain necessary emergency medical care.

In the rare event that Marin Transit is unable to perform an FTA drug and
alcohol test (i.e., employee is unconscious, employee is detained by law
enforcement agency), Marin Transit may use drug and alcohol post-
accident test results administered by local law enforcement officials in
lieu of the FTA test. The local law enforcement officials must have
independent authority for the test and the employer must obtain the
results in conformance with local law.

20

ltem 4a



35

N. RANDOM TESTING

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

All covered employees will be subjected to random, unannounced testing.
Employees covered under FTA authority will be selected from a pool of DOT-
covered safety-sensitive employees. Employees covered under company
authority will be selected from a pool of non-DOT-covered employees. The
selection of employees shall be made by a scientifically valid method of
randomly generating an employee identifier from the appropriate pool of
employees.

The dates for administering unannounced testing of randomly selected
employees shall be spread reasonably throughout the calendar year, day of the
week and hours of the day.

The number of employees randomly selected for drug/alcohol testing during the
calendar year shall be not less than the percentage rates established by Federal
regulations for those safety-sensitive employees subject to random testing by
Federal regulations. The current random testing rate for drugs established by
FTA equals twenty-five percent of the number of covered employees in the pool
and the random testing rate for alcohol established by FTA equals ten percent of
the number of covered employees in the pool.

Each covered employee shall be in a pool from which the random selection is
made. Each covered employee in the pool shall have an equal chance of
selection each time the selections are made. Employees will remain in the pool
and subject to selection, whether or not the employee has been previously
tested. There is no discretion on the part of management in the selection.

Covered transit employees that fall under the Federal Transit Administration
regulations will be included in one random pool maintained separately from the
testing pool of non-safety-sensitive employees that are included solely under
Marin Transit authority.

Random tests can be conducted at any time during an employee’s shift for drug
testing. Alcohol random tests can be performed just before, during, or just after
the performance of a safety sensitive duty. However, under Marin Transit’s
authority, a non-DOT random alcohol test may be performed any time the
employee is on duty. Testing can occur during the beginning, middle, or end of
an employee’s shift.

21

ltem 4a



36

7) Employees are required to proceed immediately to the collection site upon
notification of their random selection.

O. RETURN-TO-DUTY TESTING

All covered employees who previously tested positive on a drug or alcohol test or
refused a test, must test negative for drugs, alcohol (below 0.02 for alcohol), or both
and be evaluated and released by the Substance Abuse Professional before returning to
work. For an initial positive drug test, a Return-to-Duty drug test is required, and an
alcohol test is allowed. For an initial positive alcohol test a Return-to-Duty alcohol test
is required and a drug test is allowed. Following the initial assessment, the SAP will
recommend a course of rehabilitation unique to the individual. The SAP will
recommend the return-to-duty test only when the employee has successfully completed
the treatment requirement and is known to be drug and alcohol-free and there are no
undo concerns for public safety.

P. FOLLOW-UP TESTING

Covered employees will be required to undergo frequent, unannounced drug and/or
alcohol testing following their return-to-duty. The follow-up testing will be performed
for a period of one to five years with a minimum of six tests to be performed the first
year. The frequency and duration of the follow-up tests (beyond the minimums) will be
determined by the SAP reflecting the SAP’s assessment of the employee’s unique
situation and recovery progress. Follow-up testing should be frequent enough to deter
and/or detect a relapse. Follow-up testing is separate and in addition to the random,
post-accident, reasonable suspicion and return-to-duty testing.

In the instance of a self-referral or a management referral, the employee will be subject
to non-USDOT follow-up tests and follow-up testing plans modeled using the process
described in 49 CFR Part 40. However, all non-USDOT follow-up tests and all paperwork
associated with an employee’s return-to-work agreement that was not precipitated by a
positive test result (or refusal to test) does not constitute a violation of the Federal
regulations will be conducted under company authority and will be performed using
non-DOT testing forms.

22

ltem 4a



37

Q. RESULT OF DRUG/ALCOHOL TEST

a. Any covered employee that has a verified positive drug or alcohol test, or test
refusal, will be removed from his/her safety-sensitive position, informed of
educational and rehabilitation programs available, and referred to a Substance
Abuse Professional (SAP) for assessment. No employee will be allowed to return
to duty requiring the performance of safety-sensitive job functions without the
approval of the SAP and the employer.

b. Following a negative dilute the employee will be required to undergo another
test. Should this second test result in a negative dilute result, the test will be
considered a negative and no additional testing will be required unless directed
to do so by the MRO.

Q.1 Marin Transit

c. Refusal to submit to a drug/alcohol test shall be considered a positive test result
and a direct act of insubordination and shall result in termination and referral to
an SAP. A test refusal includes the following circumstances:

a.

Fails to appear for any test (excluding pre-employment) within a
reasonable time, as determined by the employer, after being directed to
do so by the employer

Fails to remain at the testing site until the testing process is complete
Fails to provide a urine or breath specimen for any drug or alcohol test
required by Part 40 or DOT agency regulations

In the case of a directly observed or monitored collection in a drug test,
fails to permit the observation or monitoring of your provision of a
specimen

Fails to provide a sufficient amount of urine or breath when directed, and
it has been determined, through a required medical evaluation, that
there was no adequate medical explanation for the failure

Fails or declines to take a second test the employer or collector has
directed you to take

Fails to undergo a medical examination or evaluation, as directed by the
MRO as part of the verification process, or as directed by the DER as part
of the ““shy bladder" or “shy lung” procedures

Fails to cooperate with any part of the testing process (e.g., refuse to
empty pockets when so directed by the collector, behave in a
confrontational way that disrupts the collection process)

23

ltem 4a



38

If the MRO reports that there is verified adulterated or substituted test
result

Failure or refusal to sign Step 2 of the alcohol testing form

Failure to follow the observer’s instructions during an observed collection
including instructions to raise your clothing above the waist, lower
clothing and underpants, and to turn around to permit the observer to
determine if you have any type of prosthetic or other device that could
be used to interfere with the collection process.

Possess or wear a prosthetic or other device that could be used to
interfere with the collection process

Admit to the collector or MRO that you adulterated or substituted the
specimen

d. For the first instance of a verified positive test from a sample submitted as the
result of a random, drug/alcohol test (> 0.04 BAC), disciplinary action against the
employee shall include:

a.

Mandatory referral to Substance Abuse Professional for assessment,
formulation of a treatment plan, and execution of a return to duty
agreement;

Failure to execute or remain compliant with the return-to-duty
agreement shall result in termination from Marin Transit employment.

i. Compliance with the return-to-duty agreement means that the
employee has submitted to a drug/alcohol test immediately prior
to returning to work; the result of that test is negative; in the
judgment of the SAP the employee is cooperating with his/her
SAP recommended treatment program; and, the employee has
agreed to periodic unannounced follow-up testing as defined in
Section P of this policy.

Refusal to submit to a periodic unannounced follow-up drug/alcohol test
shall be considered a direct act of insubordination and shall result in
termination.

A periodic unannounced follow-up drug/alcohol test which results in a
verified positive shall result in termination from Marin Transit
employment.

e. The second instance of a verified positive drug or alcohol (= 0.04 BAC) test result
including a sample submitted under the random, reasonable suspicion, return-
to-duty, or follow-up drug/alcohol test provisions herein shall result in
termination from Marin Transit employment.

24

ltem 4a



h.

39

A verified positive post-accident, or reasonable suspicion drug and/or alcohol (>
0.04) test shall result in termination.

An alcohol test result of >0.02 to < 0.039 BAC shall result in the removal of the
employee from duty for eight hours or the remainder or the work day whichever
is longer. The employee will not be allowed to return to safety-sensitive duty for
his/her next shift until he/she submits to an alcohol test with a result of less than
0.02 BAC

The cost of any treatment or rehabilitation services will be paid directly by the
employee or their insurance provider. The employee will be permitted to take
accrued sick leave or administrative leave to participate in the prescribed
treatment program. If the employee has insufficient accrued leave, the
employee shall be placed on leave without pay until the employee has
successfully completed the required treatment program and has been released
to return-to-duty. Any leave taken, either paid or unpaid, shall be considered
leave taken under the Family and Medical Leave Act.

In the instance of a self-referral or a management referral, disciplinary action
against the employee shall include:

a. Mandatory referral for an assessment by an employer approved
counseling professional, formulation of a treatment plan, and execution
of a return to work agreement;

b. Failure to execute or remain compliant with the return-to-work
agreement shall result in termination from Marin Transit _employment.

i. Compliance with the return-to-work agreement means that the
employee has submitted to a drug/alcohol test immediately prior
to returning to work; the result of that test is negative; the
employee is cooperating with his/her recommended treatment
program; and, the employee has agreed to periodic unannounced
follow-up testing as described in Section P of this policy; however,
all follow-up testing performed as part of a return-to-work
agreement required under section Q of this policy is under the
sole authority of Marin Transit and will be performed using non-
DOT testing forms.

c. Refusal to submit to a periodic unannounced follow-up drug/alcohol test
shall be considered a direct act of insubordination and shall result in
termination. All tests conducted as part of the return to work

25

ltem 4a



40

agreement will be conducted under company authority and will be
performed using non-DOT testing forms.

d. A self-referral or management referral to the employer's approved
counseling professional that was not precipitated by a positive test
result does not constitute a violation of the Federal regulations and will
not be considered as a positive test result in relation to the progressive
discipline defined in Section Q of this policy.

e. Periodic unannounced follow-up drug/alcohol test conducted as a result
of a self-referral or management referral which results in a verified
positive shall be considered a positive test result in relation to the
progressive discipline defined in Section Q of this policy.

f. A Voluntary Referral does not shield an employee from disciplinary action
or guarantee employment with Marin Transit.

g. AVoluntary Referral does not shield an employee from the requirement
to comply with drug and alcohol testing.

10) Failure of an employee to report within five days a criminal drug statute

conviction for a violation occurring in the workplace shall result in termination.

R. GRIEVANCE AND APPEAL

The consequences specified by 49 CFR Part 40.149 (c) for a positive test or test refusal is
not subject to arbitration.

S. PROPER APPLICATION OF THE POLICY

Marin Transit is dedicated to assuring fair and equitable application of this substance
abuse policy. Therefore, supervisors/managers are required to use and apply all aspects
of this policy in an unbiased and impartial manner. Any supervisor/manager who
knowingly disregards the requirements of this policy, or who is found to deliberately
misuse the policy in regard to subordinates, shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to
and including termination.

26

ltem 4a



41

T. INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

8)

Drug/alcohol testing records shall be maintained by the Marin Transit Drug and
Alcohol Program Manager and, except as provided below or by law, the results
of any drug/alcohol test shall not be disclosed without express written consent
of the tested employee.

The employee, upon written request, is entitled to obtain copies of any records
pertaining to their use of prohibited drugs or misuse of alcohol including any
drug or alcohol testing records. Covered employees have the right to gain access
to any pertinent records such as equipment calibration records, and records of
laboratory certifications. Employees may not have access to SAP follow-up
testing plans.

Records of a verified positive drug/alcohol test result shall be released to the
Drug and Alcohol Program Manager, and other transit system management
personnel on a need to know basis.

Records will be released to a subsequent employer only upon receipt of a
written request from the employee.

Records of an employee's drug/alcohol tests shall be released to the adjudicator
in a grievance, lawsuit, or other proceeding initiated by or on behalf of the
tested individual arising from the results of the drug/alcohol test. The records
will be released to the decision maker in the preceding.

Records will be released to the National Transportation Safety Board during an
accident investigation.

Information will be released in a criminal or civil action resulting from an
employee’s performance of safety-sensitive duties, in which a court of
competent jurisdiction determines that the drug or alcohol test information is
relevant to the case and issues an order to the employer to release the
information. The employer will release the information to the decision maker in
the proceeding with a binding stipulation that it will only be released to parties
of the proceeding.

Records will be released to the DOT or any DOT agency with regulatory authority
over the employer or any of its employees.

27

ltem 4a



42

9) Records will be released if requested by a Federal, state, or local safety agency
with regulatory authority over Marin Transit or the employee.

10) If a party seeks a court order to release a specimen or part of a specimen

contrary to any provision of Part 40 as amended, necessary legal steps to contest
the issuance of the order will be taken.

11) In cases of a contractor or sub-recipient of a state department of transportation,
records will be released when requested by such agencies that must certify
compliance with the regulation to the FTA.

This Policy was adopted by the Marin Transit Board of Directors on March 5, 2018.

Stephanie Moulton-Peters
President, Board of Directors
Marin Transit

28

ltem 4a



43

Attachment A - Staffing Plan for Implementing Marin Transit’s Drug &
Alcohol Testing Programs

Marin Transit does not directly employ safety sensitive employees who are subject to
drug and alcohol testing. Instead, it will monitor the implementation of purchased
transportation contractor programs

This form will be filled out and maintained as a component of Marin Transit required
policies for its purchased transportation service contractors.

Job Title Job Duties Testing Authority

ltem 4a



Attachment B — Marin Transit Drug & Alcohol Testing Program Contacts

Any questions regarding this policy or any other aspect of the substance abuse policy
should be directed to the following individual(s)

Marin Transit’s Drug and Alcohol Program Manager

Name: Amy Van Doren
Title: Director of Policy & Legislative Programs
Address: 711 Grand Avenue, Suite 110

San Rafael, CA 94901
Telephone Number: 415-226-0859

Marin Transit’s purchased transportation service contractors will fill out and maintain
this staffing plan as a component of Marin Transit’s requirements for their Drug and
Alcohol Test Programs.

Purchased Transportation Contractor Contacts (required under each contract)

Drug and Alcohol Program Manager
Name:

Title:

Address:

Telephone Number:

Medical Review Officer
Name:

Title:

Address:

Telephone Number:

Substance Abuse Professional
Name:

Title:

Address:

Telephone Number:

HHS Certified Laboratory Primary Specimen
Name:

Address:

Telephone Number:

HHS Certified Laboratory Split Specimen
Name:

Address:

Telephone Number:

44

ltem 4a



transit

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

board of directors

stephanie moulton-peters
president
city of mill valley

damon connolly
vice president
supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni
2nd vice president
supervisor district 4

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin
director
city of san rafael

kathrin sears
director
supervisor district 3

katie rice
director
supervisor district 2

45

March 5, 2018

Honorable Board of Directors
Marin County Transit District
3501 Civic Center Drive

San Rafael, CA 94903

SUBJECT: Contract with Marin Airporter for Operations and
Maintenance of Fixed Route Package 1 Services

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATION: Award contract for operation and
maintenance of Marin Transit Fixed Route Package 1 service to
Marin Airporter for an initial three-year term beginning on July 1,
2018, with two additional option years, and authorize Board President
to execute agreement.

SUMMARY: On November 17, 2017, Marin Transit issued a Request
for Proposal (RFP) for the operation and maintenance of Package 1
and 2 services. The RFP provided an option to propose a
consolidated single contract, Package 3, that would include all the
services under Packages 1 and 2. The Package 1 services consist of
eight Marin Transit Local Connector and Local Basic routes (22, 49,
219, 228, 233, 245, 251, and 257) and an estimated 74,950 revenue
hours annually. Package 2 services consist of 13 of Marin Transit’s
Rural, Supplemental School, Recreational, and Partnership Routes
(61, 66, 68, 113, 115, 117, 119, 122, 125, 139, 145, 151, and 154)
and an estimated 30,000 revenue hours annually.

Marin Transit currently provides Package 1 services, under contract
with Marin Airporter except for Route 49. As part of the RFP design,
the Route 49 was shifted from Package 2 to Package 1 for continuity
of service and equipment utilization. The Package 2 services and
Route 49 are currently provided under contract with MV
Transportation.

The Package 1 and 2 contracts will end on June 30, 2018. Marin
Transit is required to competitively procure goods and services under
the District’'s Procurement Policy and as a recipient of federal funds.

Through the RFP solicitation, three proposals were received by the
deadline of January 12, 2018. However, one proposal was deemed
non-responsive. The two responsive proposers and their submittals
are as follows:

ltem 5



46

= Marin Airporter - Proposed Package 1
= MV Transportation - Proposed Packages 1, 2, and 3

Each proposal was thoroughly reviewed, and both responsive firms were invited to interview
with a technical panel made up of Marin Transit staff and outside agency staff. The technical
panel scored the proposals based on the following criteria identified in the RFP:

Criteria Pts.
Cover Letter 0
Project Understanding 5
Corporate Capabilities, Experience, Past Performance 14
Key Personnel Qualifications and Experience 13
Organization, Workforce and Staffing 13
Mobilization Plan 5
Facility 5
Vehicle Maintenance 10
Customer Service 5
Intelligent Transportation Technology Plan 5
Field Operations/Road Supervision Plan 5
Reporting Plan 5
Employee Training 5
Safety and Security Plan 5
Cost p_roposal (in a separate envelope) _ _ 50
(Must include completed Cost Proposal Forms, provided in Attachment A)

Preference for complying with Labor Code 1072 10% Bonus
Required Forms 0

To ensure that the technical evaluation was independent of cost considerations, the technical
panel was not provided with the proposal pricing sheets. Price points were awarded separately
based on the total proposal costs over the possible five-year term. The lowest priced proposal
received the maximum points and the other proposals received points based on their price
relative to the low price.

Based on the proposals submitted and the proposer interviews, the technical panel qualitatively
reviewed and ranked the proposals under the only two possible award scenarios:

ltem 5



47

= Scenario One: an award to MV Transportation for Package 2 and Marin Airporter for
Package 1
= Scenario Two: an award to MV Transportation for Package 3

Based on the results of the technical panel’s initial review, Marin Transit issued a request for a
best and final offer from MV Transportation on February 5, 2018. The request letter identified
areas of discrepancy, requested further information, and asked for reconsideration of specific
items. Below is a summary of the final scoring of the Best and Final offer for Scenario One
(Package 1 and 2) and Scenario Two (Package 3 only).

Scenario One Scenario Two
Package 1 Marin Airporter MV Transportation
Package 2 MV Transportation MV Transportation
Technical Score 82.67 67.67
Price Score 44.40 50.00
Overall Score 127.07 117.67

Based on the above technical and price scoring, Scenario 1 was ranked higher than Scenario 2,
and staff recommends Marin Airporter for the award of the Package 1 service contract.

This contract provides an opportunity for continued success with a valued incumbent contractor
and community partner, and positions the agency to take advantage of service improvements
planned in the Short Range Transit Plan.

FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT:

The Marin Airporter Package 1 summary pricing proposal is shown below:

Cost per Revenue Hour - Package 1 Service

Base Years Option Years

FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 FY 21/22 FY 22/23

Hourly Rate $49.84 $51.34 $52.89 $54.49 $56.13

Fixed Monthly Fee $167,366 $172,387 $177,558 $182,885 $188,372

Start-up $10,000

The total cost of this contract over the possible five-year time frame is $30,511,327 for Package
1 service. This is based on the RFP Package 1 forecast of 74,950 revenue hours annually. The
contract allows Marin Transit to increase or decrease the forecast revenue hours by 20 percent

ltem 5



48

without renegotiating. Option years and expanded revenue hours will be authorized as needed,
subject to approval of the Board and available funding.

The effective contract hourly rate for these services in FY18/19 is $76.77 per revenue hour. This
rate a less than a one percent change from the current contract rate. In the District’'s 10-year
financial plan for the recent Short Range Transit Plan (SRTP), the contract rates for the services
in Package 1 and Package 2 included 10 percent and 20 percent escalations, respectively, to
account for potential price increases in the new contracts. While the costs of Package 1 are
below the SRTP projections, the cost for Package 2 are above the SRTP projections.
Combined, both packages are within 1 percent of the SRTP projections and provide for 700
additional service hours.

Respectfully submitted,

Nancy Whelan

General Manager

ltem 5



49

FIXED ROUTE SERVICE
PACKAGE 1
OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE CONTRACT

Between

MARIN COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT

And

MARIN AIRPORTER

ltem 5



50

TABLE OF CONTENTS
ARTICLE 1—DEFINITIONS AND INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS........ccccuviiiiriiiinineniiinnininnneeesinnneennneaenee. 5
SEC. 101 DEFINITIONS ......oooiiiiiii bbb st 5
SEC. 102 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES..........cccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiici e 8
SEC. 103 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND STANDARD OF PERFORMANCE ..................cueunee. 14
SEC. 104 NOTICES AND TERM OF CONTRACT .......coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 15
SEC. 105 TRANSITION AND START-UP..........coooiiiiiiii s 16
ARTICLE 2—PERSONNEL REQUIREMENTS.........ciiiiiiiimmiiiiiniiiiiiinetiiinniienssassiisisseeesssssssssssseeessssssssaes 18
SEC. 201 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTOR PERSONNEL...........ccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicci 18
SEC. 202 PERSONNEL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS ..........ccccoociiiiiiiniiiiiine, 20
SEC. 203 VEHICLE OPERATORS ...ttt s 25
SEC. 204 DISPATCHERS .........coiiiiiiiiii bbb 28
SEC. 206 ROAD SUPERVISORS .........cooiiiiiiiiiiiii it 29
SEC. 207 MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL ..........coocoiiiiiiiiiiii s 29
ARTICLE 3 -- OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES ......ccocettmmueniiiiiirieinnnnnniiiinneeennnnnanen 32
SEC. BOL VEHICLES.........oooiiiiiiiiiic s bbb 32
SEC. 302 OPERATING PERFORMANCE STANDARDS............cocciiiiiiiiiiiiiiii s 33
SEC. 303 SCHEDULES ..........ooiiiiiiiiitic bbb 34
SEC. 304 ALLOWABLE SERVICE CHANGES ...........ccccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii s 34
SEC. 306 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE ........cooiiiiiiiii s 36
SEC. 307 VEHICLES — CLEANING AND APPEARANCE ..........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiict e 41
SEC. 309 EQUIPMENT .......coiiiiiiiii bbb 42
SEC. 310 VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT INVENTORY ......ccooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiniii s 42
SEC. 311 FAREBOXES AND FAREBOX MAINTENANCE...........cccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 43
SEC. 312 INTELLIGENT TRANSPORTATION TECHNOLOGY .........cccooviiiiiiiiiiiiiin e 43
SEC. 313 FARE STRUCTURE ..........oooiiiiiiiii e 44
SEC. 314 FARE COLLECTION ........coiiiiiiiiiiiie s 45
SEC. 315 FUEL ...ttt e 45
SEC. 316 SAFETY, SECURITY, AND EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM...........cccovviviiiniiniininen, 45
SEC. 317 ADVERTISING.........ociiiiiiiiiii i e aa s 48
ARTICLE 4—COMPENSATION AND COMMERCIAL TERMS ......coirieueiiiiiiiiiiiineniiiiiniinnissnsiiissnsesesssasssenes 48
SEC. 401 COMPENSATION TO CONTRACTOR..........oooiiiiiiiiiiiiicic s 49
SEC. Q02 INVOICES .........ooouiiiiiiiii bbb s b s aa s s 50
2

ltem 5



SEC. 403 LIQUIDATED DAMAGES...........ccciiiiiiiiiiiiii s s 51
SEC. 404 RISK OF LOSS OR DAMAGE .........cccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiii it 54
SEC. 405 INSURANCE...........ooiiiiiiiiiiiicc s s s 54
SEC. 406 INDEMNIFICATION ........ooiiiiiiiiiiii s 56
SEC. 407 DISCLAIMER OF LIABILITY ....cccuiiiiiiiiiiiiii ittt 56
SEC. 408 TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE ...........cocccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiic e 57
SEC. 409 TERMINATION BY MUTUAL AGREEMENT ........cccooiiiiiiiiiiiii 57
SEC. 410 TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT ..........ooiiiiiiiiiii it 58
SEC. 411 CANCELLATION OF CONTRACT .......oooiiiiiiiiiii ittt 59
SEC. 412 SECTION 13(c) OBLIGATIONS ........oooiiiiiieierieeten ettt ettt ettt s s re st b e sre e ne e 59
ARTICLE 5—ADMINISTRATIVE AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ......c.cceimmmenniiiiiiiniimnnnniiiinieenennnnnen 59
SEC. 501 REPORTING.........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiic s 59
SEC. 502 COMPLAINT RESOLUTION.........coociiiiiiiiiiiiii it 62
SEC. 503 ACCIDENT AND INCIDENT REPORTING...........ccccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiic s 63
SEC. 504 AUDIT AND INSPECTION OF RECORDS ...........cocouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii s 63
SEC. 505 OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS ........cociiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniincii s 63
SEC. 506 REPLACEMENT SERVICES ...........oociiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 64
SEC. 507 CONTINUITY OF SERVICES..........ccccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii s e 64
SEC. 508 EMERGENCIES ...........ooiiiiiiiiiiii s e 65
SEC. S09 DISPUTES ......ooiiiiiiiiiiiii s st aa e b 65
SEC. 510 INSPECTION OF WORK .........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccii s 66
SEC. 511 SUBCONTRACTING OF CONTRACT WORK AND TRANSFER OF INTERESTS.............cccoeueennne. 67
SEC. 512 INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR ........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiii s 67
SEC. 513 LICENSING, PERMITS, AND TAXES ........cccoiiiiiiiiiiiiii s s 67
SEC. 514 LACK OF FUNDS ........ooiiiiiiiiiii ittt 68
SEC. 515 CONFLICT OF INTEREST .......ocoiiiiiiiiiiiiiii it 68
SEC. 516 DEBARRED ..........oooiiiiiiiiiiici e s 68
SEC. 517 ANTIDISCRIMINATION AND EEO REQUIREMENTS............ccccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccce 68
SEC. 518 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS ...........ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicn e 69
SEC. 519 WAIVER OF TERMS OR CONDITIONS...........ccceoiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 69
SEC. 520 INTERPRETATION, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE ...........ccccoooiiiniiiiiiiiiiiicnrec e 69
SEC. 521 CONSTRUCTION.........oiiiiiiiiiiii it 69
SEC. 522 OFFICIAL RECEIPT ......coiiiiiiiiiii i 69
SEC. 523 RESTRICTIONS ON ASSIGNIMENT ..........ooooiiiiiiiiiiiii e 70
SEC. 524 SEVERABILITY .....ooiiiiiiiiiiii s s 70
3

ltem 5



SEC. 525 ENTIRE AGREEMENT; AMENDMENT REQUIRED ............oooovuvereceeeeneecessessesseessessesssesssesenn. 70
ATTACHMENT A COMPENSATION...........oovmoereieeeneeeesssesesesessssesseessssesesssssssesssssssssasssssssssassssssesenns 72
ATTACHMENT B MCTD PROVIDED EQUIPMENT .............ovurmrreneeeeereeseneeessssessessssessssssessssssessessenns 73
ATTACHMENT € FACILITIES.........ovviveeeeeeeeeeeeseesessessesssssessssssssssssssssssassssssssssnssssssssssssssssssssssssesenns 75
ATTACHMENT D VEHICLES............ooocveveeerceeereeeeesesseseeesessaessesssssessessssass s s sssssssssssasssessasssss s ssnsans 76
ATTACHMENT E  TRANSITION AND START-UP PLAN...........covmumrmrrrrereeeeecssseeseesssseessessssses s sssans. 78
ATTACHMENT F  STAFFING AND PERSONNEL PLAN ............ooorvrvereeceeereeceeeieseeseesssseessessssees s seesenns 79
ATTACHMENT G EMPLOYEE TRAINING PROGRAM ............coovmmoeeeerereeeeessesseesaessessesssessssass s sssan. 80
ATTACHMENT H  VEHICLE MAINTENANCE PROGRAM ...........o.oovmemeeereeeecesseeseessesseeseessessess s snsan, 81
ATTACHMENT |  SAFETY, SECURITY, AND EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PLAN ........cc.cocvvvrrurrcnnns 82
ATTACHMENTJ  FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION REQUIRED CLAUSES ...........cc.covorverrerercnnns 83
ATTACHMENT K DRUG AND ALCOHOL POLICY PROGRAM.............oorvuerereeresreeseresessesssessessssensanes 99
ATTACHMENT L SAFETY PROGRAM............ooueimeeiceeereceeisseessessssessses s sasssessssassssssssasssessssasssensan 122
ATTACHMENT M EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS PLAN .............ccoomvmirmrenrecesreseessesssseessessssessseneas 123

4

ltem 5



53
CONTRACT FOR THE OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF RURAL AND SEASONAL SERVICE

This Contract (CONTRACT) is made and entered into by and between the Marin County Transit District
(MCTD) and Marin Airporter (CONTRACTOR).

ARTICLE 1—DEFINITIONS AND INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS

SEC. 101 DEFINITIONS
As used in this Contract:

1. Adequate, Appropriate, Proper, Sufficient. The terms “Adequate, Appropriate, Proper,
Sufficient”, or variations thereof as used throughout this Contract, mean performing work or
duties under the Contract in accordance with the standards and requirements of the Contract
Documents and in accordance with the standards and requirements generally accepted as
standards in the transit industry.

2. Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA). The terms “Americans with Disabilities Act of
1990” or “ADA” mean the statute enacted by the United States Congress as Public Law Number
101-336.

3. Assumed Annual Revenue Hours. The term “Assumed Annual Revenue Hours” means the range
of revenue hours (with an identified floor and ceiling) on an annual basis that is anticipated by
the MCTD to meet the service requirements of this Contract. The Assumed Annual Revenue
Hours for each base and option year of the Contract are set out in Section 304, below.

4. Automated Passenger Counting System. The term “Automated Passenger Counting System” or
“APC” means the on-board automated passenger counting system (Syncromatics) used by MCTD
in support of counting passengers.

5. Automatic Vehicle Location/Automated Voice Annunciation System. The term “Automatic
Vehicle Location System” and “Automated Voice Annunciation System” or “AVL” and AVAS
means the automatic vehicle locations system/ Automated Voice Annunciation System
(Syncromatics) used by the MTCD in support of vehicle tracking and monitoring.

6. Block. The term “Block” means a work assignment for a revenue vehicle.

7. Clipper. The term “Clipper” refers to the San Francisco Bay Area’s regional electronic fare
system. MCTD is a participating transit agency in the program and accepts Clipper fare media as
fare payment from other participating transit agencies with equipment provided by the
program’s sponsor the Metropolitan Transportation Commission.

8. Commencement Date. The term “Commencement Date” means the date on which
CONTRACTOR assumes responsibility for Revenue Service under this Contract.

9. Contract. The term “Contract” means this Contract between the MTCD and the CONTRACTOR
for the operation and maintenance of Package 1 services described in MTCD Request for
Proposals (RFP).

10. Contract Documents. The term “Contract Documents” means the following documents which

collectively constitute the obligations of CONTRACTOR. In the event of an inconsistency or
conflict among Contract Documents, the documents shall control in the following order of

ltem 5



11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

54

precedence: (1) any Contract Amendments; (2) this Contract and the Attachments hereto; (3)
CONTRACTOR's Proposal in response to the RFP; and (4) the RFP and any addenda thereto.

CONTRACTOR. The term “CONTRACTOR” means the entity entering into this Contract with the
MCTD to provide the services described in the Contract Documents.

Days. The term “Days” means regular business days of the MCTD (Monday-Friday), unless
otherwise specifically indicated as “calendar days”.

Mobile Digital Surveillance System. The term “Mobile Digital Surveillance System” means the
on-board camera system currently in use by the MCTD for recording video and audio events.
The MCTD currently uses the Mobile Digital Surveillance system manufactured by Seon Design,
Inc.

Equipment. The term “Equipment” means the equipment provided by the MCTD for use by
CONTRACTOR in providing operations and maintenance services under the Contract, as listed in
Attachment B.

Facilities. The term “Facilities” means the (CONTRACTOR or MCTD) provided buildings,
structures, and grounds listed in Attachment C to be used by CONTRACTOR in providing services
under this Contract.

Fixed Monthly Fee. The term “Fixed Monthly Fee” means the fixed amount to be paid to the
CONTRACTOR by the MTCD on a monthly basis during the Contract Term, set forth in
Attachment A hereto, as compensation for the CONTRACTOR’s fixed cost of providing the
services covered by this Contract.

Federal Transit Administration (FTA). The term “Federal Transit Administration” or “FTA” refers
to the Federal Transit Administration of the United States Department of Transportation or its
successor entity.

Governing Body of the Marin County Transit District. The term “Governing Body of the Marin
County Transit District” or “MCTD Governing Body” means the Marin County Transit District
Board of Directors.

Holiday Schedule. The term “Holiday Schedule” means a modified schedule to provide a
different level of transit service on designated days.

Key Personnel. The term “Key Personnel” means the following CONTRACTOR personnel: The
General Manager, Operations Manager, Maintenance Manager, and Safety and Security
Manager.

National Transit Database. The term “National Transit Database” or “NTD” means the uniform
reporting system that the U.S. Secretary of Transportation is required to maintain, and to which
FTA grant recipients, including the MCTD, is required to report pursuant to Section 5335 of Title
49 of the U.S. Code.

Normal Wear and Tear. The term “Normal Wear and Tear” means damage or loss to a Revenue
Vehicle, Facility or item of Equipment resulting from ordinary use and demand over time. The
age of the Revenue Vehicle, Facility or item of Equipment, and the miles accumulated on a
Revenue Vehicle, are among the factors the MCTD uses to distinguish Normal Wear and Tear
from wear and tear that is the result of abuse or improper use.

ltem 5



23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

55

On-Time Performance. The term “On-Time Performance” means the level of success in schedule
adherence (avoiding Late and Early Trips).

Proposal. The term “Proposal” means the written documents submitted by CONTRACTOR in
response to MCTD Request for Proposals (RFP).

Revenue Vehicle. The term “Revenue Vehicle” means the vehicles utilized to provide revenue in
accordance with this Contract, as identified in Attachment D.

MCTD General Manager. The term “MCTD General Manager” means the General Manager of
the MCTD or the person designated in writing by the MCTD General Manager to carry out his or
her duties under this Contract.

MCTD Project Manager. The term “MCTD Project Manager” means the individual designated by
the MCTD General Manager to administer the MCTD’s responsibilities under this Contract or the
person designated by the MCTD Project Manager to carry out his or her responsibilities under
the Contract.

MERA. The term “MERA” means the Marin Emergency Radio Authority, which is a Joint Powers
Authority in Marin County that plans, implements and manages a countywide public safety and
emergency radio system for the use of all member agencies. MCTD is a member agency and
provides MERA radios to contractors.

Radio System. The term “Radio System” means the communication systems provided by MCTD
or CONTRACTOR for voice communications with operators.

Revenue Hour Rate. The term “Revenue Hour Rate” means the rate to be paid to CONTRACTOR
by the MCTD on a monthly basis during the Contract Term, set forth in Attachment A hereto, as
compensation for CONTRACTOR's variable costs of providing the services covered by this
Contract.

Special Services. The term “Special Services” means additional transportation requirements
above the existing schedule in support of community events that may occur annually or on a
one-time basis.

Support Vehicle. The term “Support Vehicle” means any CONTRACTOR-provided vehicle needed
to support the operation and maintenance of services provided under this Contract, including,
but not limited to, cars, vans, tow trucks, lifted-equipped vans, and service trucks.

System. The term “System” means a complete and organized sum of integral parts that make up
a working unit such as hardware, software, mechanical, electrical and structural systems.
Examples include but are not limited to bus washes, building structures, flooring, fire/life safety,
plumbing, mechanical, electrical, pneumatic, HVAC, and lighting systems.

TransTrack. The term “TransTrack” refers to MCTD’s centralized Data Management System
provided by TransTrack Systems, Inc.®.

Vehicle Trip. The term “Vehicle Trip” means the operation of a Revenue Vehicle in scheduled
service from the first geographic timepoint to the last geographic timepoint on a route or
pattern servicing all applicable bus stops along the route or pattern and adhering to the
published departure times.

ltem 5



56

All references to transit terminology in this document not defined above will be as defined in the
Federal Transit Administration National Transit Database (NTD) Glossary. The NTD glossary can be found
at http://www.ntdprogram.gov/ntdprogram/Glossary.htm.

SEC. 102 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES

A. In General. CONTRACTOR shall manage and operate (fixed route or paratransit) services;
appropriately maintain a fleet of Revenue Vehicles and Equipment provided by the MCTD;
CONTRACTOR in compliance with vendors’ specifications and standards; and provide, operate,
and maintain all Support Vehicles necessary to accomplish its obligations under this Contract.
CONTRACTOR shall also provide an appropriately trained workforce, and provide equipment and
materials (except those items provided by the MCTD in accordance with this Contract) needed
to operate the Revenue Vehicles over the routes and in accordance with the Revenue Hours
established by the MCTD.

B. Project Management. CONTRACTOR shall manage the Contract activities, (i.e., the “Project”)
according to the terms of this contract and CONTRACTORS defined operating procedures
provided to the MCTD. The MCTD shall have the right to establish additional requirements
which are reasonable for the operation of this service, pursuant to a Contract Amendment or
the service change process set forth in this Contract.

C. CONTRACTOR’s Responsibilities. CONTRACTOR’s performance shall be in accordance with the
obligations of this Contract and the Attachments and forms attached hereto. CONTRACTOR'’s
responsibilities shall include the following:

a. Administration

i. Maintain written and verbal communications with the MCTD to the satisfaction
of the MCTD Project Manager or his or her designee.

ii. Comply with and/or assist with the MCTD’s monitoring and auditing programs,
including Title VI submittals and Section 5335(a) reports for National Transit
Database (NTD) submittals. Assist with the MCTD’s ongoing programs, including
customer satisfaction surveys that may be periodically undertaken.

iii. Respond promptly and precisely to the MCTD’s requests for information
according to the schedule set by the MCTD.

iv. File all operating, financial, and performance reports and invoices in accordance
with this Contract in order to allow the MCTD to review their content in a timely
manner.

v. Provide insurance coverage and indemnification as required in this Contract.

vi. Refer all MCTD-related media inquiries to the designated MCTD representative,
and cooperate in providing public information through the MCTD.

vii. Provide any office equipment (including computers, hardware, software, and
copiers) that CONTRACTOR determines will be needed for operation of the
MCTD’s Services, to supplement the Equipment provided by the MCTD as listed
in Attachment B.

ltem 5


http://www.ntdprogram.gov/ntdprogram/Glossary.htm

viii.

Xii.

xiii.

Xiv.

57

Notify the MCTD Project Manager in writing of any issues or concerns in
proposed MCTD services or service area expansions, alterations, and/or
reductions in service in a timely manner.

Notify the MCTD in writing, of any issues or concerns in proposed vehicle or
other capital purchases.

Identify, develop, and propose to the MCTD new or revised services or service
performance ideas intended to create cost savings for the MCTD; provided that
the decision to implement any such proposal shall be at the sole discretion of
the MCTD.

Comply with all FTA drug and alcohol testing requirements and assist the MCTD
in auditing and monitoring compliance with those requirements.

Comply with the Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Program and with FTA's
EEO Program Guidelines.

Comply with all applicable Federal, State, and local laws and regulations.

Assist in the administration of the MTCD’s Vehicle Advertising Program (if
relevant).

b. Facilities

The CONTRACTOR will provide a facility for the operation and maintenance of
bus services provided under this contract. The facility will include (but not be
limited to) an asphalted parking lot, the ability to access the undercarriage of all
vehicle inside the garage, maintenance area, parts storage area, revenue vehicle
cleaning and servicing area, administrative offices, sufficient space to allow for
operator training and relief, revenue vehicle parking lot, and a dispatch area.
The maintenance area will be fully equipped with all materials required to
maintain all vehicles in accordance with the specifications, manufacturer's
warranty, and preventative maintenance programs. The maintenance area will
be kept clean and safe at all times throughout the term of the contract. The
CONTRACTOR will be responsible for obtaining and complying with all required
building, occupancy, or other governmental permits and must abide by OSHA
safety standards. MCTD will approve maintenance and storage locations.

Any leased property for the operation and maintenance of MCTD service will
require the lease, to the extent possible under existing lease agreements or for
new lease agreements, to be assigned to MCTD as a lessee on such property
agreement upon execution of this Contract. MCTD must approve multiple
facilities be acquired to be used for services

The Facility will be equipped with a computer and sufficient internet data
communications to support, at a minimum, access to MCTD’s web based data
management system licensed through TransTrack. MCTD will determine
whether and where a wireless communication system (e.g. antennae, router,
computer connection, etc.). to download and upload Clipper data is to be
located.

iv. During the term of the Contract, the CONTRACTOR will be responsible for the

proper handling, use, storage, and disposal of all waste oil and hazardous

ltem 5



58

materials produced at the Facility, and will comply with all applicable Federal,
State, and local laws, regulations, and requirements. The term “hazardous
materials” includes flammable, explosive, or radioactive materials, chemicals,
hazardous waste, toxic wastes or materials, or other similar substances, and any
petroleum products or derivatives deemed hazardous by Federal, State, or local
law.

c. Operations

Vi.

Vii.

viii.

Xi.

Meet all operations, equipment, and maintenance requirements established by
this Contract.

Operate and maintain all Revenue Vehicles provided by the MCTD, including
new Revenue Vehicles purchased during the Contract Term (except those that
the MCTD determines, in its sole discretion, should be operated and/or
maintained by another CONTRACTOR).

Provide transit service in accordance with the fixed route schedules established
by MCTD.

Meet performance and safety standards, as set forth in this Contract and the
Attachments hereto.

Provide for the acquisition (by purchase or lease) of the Support Vehicles
needed to support the service, and provide for the registration, insurance,
maintenance, fueling, repair, and all other associated costs relating to the
Support Vehicles.

Meet employee hiring standards, training standards, and staffing levels as
specified in this Contract.

Provide properly trained, qualified personnel having management, operation,
and vehicle maintenance expertise necessary to operate the MCTD’s services,
and administer personnel matters regarding CONTRACTOR’s employees.

Provide properly trained and qualified personnel in sufficient quantities to fully
support the service.

Provide appropriately trained and qualified safety personnel to investigate
accidents and unsafe practices in a timely manner, and provide reports of those
investigations to the MCTD in accordance with this Contract.

Immediately report to the MCTD any accidents, including passenger accidents,
or any other non-routine event or operational deviation, in accordance with this
Contract.

Provide safe operation of the Revenue Vehicles and the Support Vehicles,
cooperate with law enforcement agencies regarding security activities on board
vehicles and elsewhere, provide safe workplace practices and safe working
conditions for vehicle and Equipment maintenance, and meet safety and
security requirements at the Facilities in accordance with Section 316.

10

ltem 5



Xii.

xiii.

Xiv.

XV.

XVi.

XVii.

XViii.

XiX.

XX.

XXi.

XXil.

XXiil.

XXiV.

59

Provide appropriate Facilities in accordance with this Contract, and provide,
through contract or otherwise, for the maintenance and cleaning of the
Facilities, for all landscaping at the Facilities, and for safety and security of the
Facilities, including appropriate procedures for Facilities access and control.

Provide for and manage all Radio System equipment, and coordinate with the
MCTD for the timely maintenance of radios in vehicles and in the Facilities.

Promptly notify the MCTD Project Manager of any deficiencies or defects in any
Equipment or vehicles furnished by the MCTD, in accordance with this Contract.

Ensure compliance and enforcement of all MCTD passenger rules, policies and
procedures as provided to CONTRACTOR by the MCTD

Assist MCTD in marketing in accordance with its marketing plan and perform
other marketing activities as determined by MCTD.

Provide on road emergency farebox service, such as clearing jammed fareboxes.
Provide for vehicle scheduling, run cutting, and operator deployment.

Conduct all National Transit Database (NTD) on-board passenger data trip
surveys in the manner prescribed by the MCTD.

Manage and implement the posting and timely removal of Rider Alerts, Transit
Guides and Schedules, and other MCTD publications and announcements.

Probe all fareboxes in revenue service regularly. Maintain all fareboxes in
accordance with MCTD and Original Equipment Manufacturer (Genfare)
requirements.

Ensure Clipper units download/upload data at Facilities. Maintain Clipper
equipment in accordance with MCTD, Metropolitan Transportation Commission
(MTC), and Cubic requirements. Review weekly recurring reports sent by Cubic
to ensure that all Clipper units are working properly.

Provide a complete customer service information phone line, including
customer voice phone.

Develop and implement methods to maximize service delivery.

d. Maintenance

Maintain all Equipment and Revenue Vehicles and Support Vehicles in
accordance with this Contract and provide qualified personnel who can assist
the MCTD in troubleshooting defects and working with manufacturers to
resolve problems.

Maintain, preserve, and protect all MCTD-provided Equipment, tools, and
materials in good working order and in accordance with the vendors’
specifications.

11

ltem 5



Vi.

Vii.

viii.

Xi.

Xii.

Xiii.

e. Fares

60

Notify MCTD in the event that any MCTD provided Equipment becomes
damaged or is otherwise inoperable.

Provide tires and replacement tires in sufficient quantities and of sufficient
quality to assure that Revenue Vehicles will be available to maintain the MCTD
service and satisfy other contractual requirements.

Provide all of the appropriate tools needed for the maintenance of Revenue
Vehicles.

Identify, acquire, and maintain a sufficient parts inventory to properly maintain
the various types and number of Revenue Vehicles in the MCTD fleet.

Properly dispose of all hazardous materials including, waste oil, grease, and
automatic transmission fluid, in accordance with all applicable local, State, and
Federal laws and regulations.

As requested, process the disposal or donation of any Revenue Vehicles,
identified by the MCTD for disposal or donation, in accordance with procedures
provided by the MCTD.

Procure and furnish fuel and track and report fuel usage for the Revenue
Vehicles. Pass through actual cost of fuel to MCTD.

Fuel vehicles at Marin County Civic Center Facility and track and report fuel
usage.

Track and report Revenue Vehicle fuel usage at Commercial fueling locations or
at Contractor’s facility in accordance with MCTD policy for fuel cost
reimbursement.

Work with vehicle manufacturers, dealerships and local warranty shops during
the initial warranty period.

Work with the OEM on all vehicle warranty campaigns. Make repairs to,
adjustments to, updates to and programming of AVL systems, APC systems,
radio communications systems, destination signs, fare collection equipment,
Clipper equipment, and mobile digital surveillance systems.

Collect fares and sell MCTD passes in a manner that complies with the MCTD’s
established and published fare policy.

Probe and empty fareboxes, collect and deposit and report actual revenues.

Maintain region-wide Clipper equipment and provide for clear reporting of
MCTD revenues collected through this program.

MCTD’s Responsibilities.

The MCTD’s responsibilities include the following:

12

ltem 5



61

a. Administration

Vi.

Vii.

viii.

Xi.

Xii.

Identify, develop, and plan for new and revised services, and develop service
scopes for competitive procurement within the Transportation Improvement
Program/Short Range Transit Plan.

Establish and periodically evaluate all policies regarding the operation and
performance of the MCTD’s fixed route and paratransit system.

Provide continuing service planning and capital planning (short and long range).
Coordinate informational reports and manage appropriate information systems.
Establish routes and schedule services and define service areas.

Communicate with CONTRACTOR, the media, and the public.

Carry out marketing activities, including publication of timetables and route
maps, and materials that increase accessibility for visually and hearing impaired
persons in accordance with the ADA.

Administer and monitor this Contract, audit CONTRACTOR’s books, records, and
accounts, and evaluate and inspect CONTRACTOR’s work and procedures for
contract compliance.

Comply with Federal, State and local laws and regulations.

Prepare for and provide official notice of all meetings, including those for which
CONTRACTOR is responsible for the presentation of informational items.

Collaborate in the administration of the vehicle advertising program for MCTD-
owned vehicles.

Audit CONTRACTOR's invoices prior to reimbursement.

b. Operations

Establish operations and maintenance requirements and performance
standards for CONTRACTOR.

Determine compliance with Contract requirements and assess liquated
damages, as appropriate.

Investigate unsafe practices as MCTD deems appropriate.

Provide sufficient Revenue Vehicles for use in the service described in this
Contract, and determine the paint schemes and logos for Revenue Vehicles,
including those vehicles provided by CONTRACTOR.

Provide the Equipment, tools, and materials which are specifically designated as
MCTD’s responsibility in this Contract.

13

ltem 5



62

vi. Communicate information concerning deficiencies in service to CONTRACTOR in
a timely manner.

vii. Pay CONTRACTOR for services rendered as provided in this Contract.
viii. Locate, establish, and maintain all bus stops and transit centers.
c. Maintenance

i. Inspect, monitor and audit vehicle maintenance practices and activities for all
MCTD-provided vehicles.

d. Fares

i. Establish and evaluate fare policies and fare structure, and review and evaluate
ridership trends.

SEC. 103 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND STANDARD OF PERFORMANCE

A. CONTRACTOR Representations and Warranties. CONTRACTOR represents, warrants, and
covenants as follows:

a. Maintenance of Licenses and Permits. CONTRACTOR has, and through the Contract
Term shall maintain, all required licenses, permits, status, professional ability, skills and
capacity to perform the Work in accordance with the requirements of the Contract
Documents, other than permits and licenses pertaining to the Facilities obtained by the
MCTD.

b. Laws, Regulations, and Governmental Approvals. CONTRACTOR has familiarized itself
with the requirements of all applicable Federal, State, and local laws and regulations
and the condition of any required governmental approvals, prior to entering into this
Contract. CONTRACTOR acknowledges and agrees that it is responsible for complying
with such laws and regulations, and, except as otherwise provided in the Contract
Documents, for obtaining governmental approvals at its sole cost and without any
increase in compensation on account of such compliance, regardless of whether such
compliance would require additional time for performance or additional labor,
equipment and/or materials not expressly provided for in the Contract Documents.

c. Legal Proceedings. There are no existing or threatened legal proceedings against
CONTRACTOR, as of the date of execution of this Contract that would have an adverse
effect on its ability to perform its obligations under the Contract, its financial condition,
or its operations.

d. Status and Authority. (a) CONTRACTOR is a corporation, joint venture, or partnership
duly organized and licensed to do business in the State of California, with all requisite
power to own its properties and assets and carry on its business as now conducted or
proposed to be conducted; (b) if a joint venture or partnership, each member of
CONTRACTOR is duly qualified to do business, and is in good standing, and will remain in
good standing throughout the term of the Contract and for as long thereafter as any
obligations remain outstanding under the Contract Documents; and (c) the execution
and performance of this Contract will not result in a breach or default under the
organizational documents of any such Person or under the terms of any indenture, loan,

14

ltem 5



63

credit agreement, or related instrument to which such Person is a party or by which it is
otherwise bound.

e. Variety of Vehicles. CONTRACTOR acknowledges that the MCTD has a variety of
Revenue Vehicles in its fleet and may purchase an additional variety of Revenue
Vehicles during the Contract Term, and agrees that the compensation to be paid to
CONTRACTOR (as described in Section 401 and Attachment A) covers the full cost of
operating and maintaining a variety of Revenue Vehicle types and providing the services
required under this Contract, subject to any possible adjustments under Section 305F
hereof.

B. Standard of Performance. CONTRACTOR shall perform the work diligently, carefully, and in a
timely and professional manner, in accordance with the standards and requirements in the
Contract Documents and in accordance with standards and practices generally accepted as
standards of the industry; and shall have and maintain all required authority, licenses,
professional ability, skills, personnel, and capacity to perform its obligations under this Contract.
CONTRACTOR shall perform all work as an independent CONTRACTOR.

SEC. 104 NOTICES AND TERM OF CONTRACT

A. Notice of Award. Within seven (7) Days after the date this Contract is approved by the MCTD
Governing Body, the CONTRACTOR will submit the following to the MCTD: (1) the insurance
policies as specified in Section 405 (or a declaration page indicating coverages specified in
Section 405, so long as the full insurance policy is submitted to the MCTD within twenty-one
(21) calendar days of the Award); (2) the list of CONTRACTOR’s Key Personnel (as identified in
CONTRACTOR’s Proposal in response to the RFP); and (3) CONTRACTOR’s complete
organizational chart.

B. Submittals.

a. 45 Day Submittals. Within forty-five (45) calendar days after Contract approval,
CONTRACTOR shall submit to the MCTD, for its review and approval pursuant to Section
105F, the following plans and programs: (1) the Transition and Start-up Plan; (2) the
Employee Training Program; (3) the Vehicle Maintenance Plan, and the Preventative
Maintenance Program, (4) and the Safety Program.

b. 90 Day Submittals. Within ninety (90) calendar days after Contract approval,
CONTRACTOR shall submit to the MCTD for its review and approval pursuant to Section
105F, the following plans and programs specific to the MCTD contract: (1) the Drug and
Alcohol Policy Program; (2) and the Safety, Security, and Emergency Management
Program, (3) Emergency Preparedness Plan.

c. Maintenance of Effort. All CONTRACTOR plans and programs shall be consistent with the
plans and programs submitted with CONTRACTOR’s proposal in response to the RFP,
and shall contain at least the same level of effort (e.g., the required activities during
transition and start-up; the hours of specific training, etc.) as set forth in CONTRACTOR’s
proposal.

C. Contract Term. The term of this Contract is for three (3) years (the Base Contract Term),
beginning on the Commencement Date, with two (2) one (1) year options, for a total possible
Contract term of five (5) years. The Contract Term will commence July 1, 2018 (the
Commencement Date).

15

ltem 5



64

Assumption of Responsibility. CONTRACTOR shall assume responsibility for the provision of
Revenue Service and all other obligations under this Contract on the Commencement Date, at
the conclusion of the Transition and Start-up period.

Options.

e. Exercise by the MCTD. At least ninety (90) calendar days prior to the end of the last year
of the Base Contract Term, the MCTD shall notify CONTRACTOR whether it intends to
exercise the option(s). This notification shall specify whether one or more than one
option is being exercised. If only the first option is exercised at that time, the MCTD shall
provide notice in writing at least ninety (90) calendar days prior to the end of that
option term whether the MCTD intends to exercise the remaining option. Upon receipt
of said notice, the contractor shall respond in writing to MCTD of its interest to proceed
with the option(s). The decisions as to whether to exercise the option(s) shall be in the
MCTD'’s sole discretion. In addition, the MCTD also reserves the right to extend the Base
Contract Term, or an option term, on a month-to-month basis, for a period of not-to-
exceed six months at then-current Fixed Monthly Fee and Service Hour Rate.
Performance during any such extension shall be subject to all terms and conditions of
this Contract.

f.  Nature of Option and Calculation of Option Prices. The option(s) provided under this
Contract is the unilateral right of the MCTD to obtain transit services from CONTRACTOR
for the option term. The Revenue Hour Rate for each option year shall be as set forth for
that year in Attachment A. CONTRACTOR acknowledges and agrees that it is
contractually obligated, upon exercise of the option by the MCTD, to provide the
services described hereunder at the fees and rates established for the applicable option
year.

SEC. 105 TRANSITION AND START-UP

A. Timing and General Obligation. Transition and Start-up activities of CONTRACTOR shall begin

B.

C.

immediately upon Contract award. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for carrying out an
effective and smooth transition and start-up process, in accordance with its Transition and Start-
up Plan, which will assure that it is capable of hiring necessary employees (consistent with the
preference-in-hiring requirements), conducting required training, and assuming responsibility
for all required operations by the date of commencement of services. The Transition and Start-
up Plan, as provided to the MCTD, shall be binding on CONTRACTOR.

Vehicles and Facilities. The MCTD will provide CONTRACTOR a minimum of three (3) Revenue
vehicles for purposes of training employees during the transition period. Revenue Vehicles
assigned to CONTRACTOR for training become the responsibility of CONTRACTOR and
CONTRACTOR shall maintain those Revenue Vehicles in accordance with Section 306.

Training.

a. Refresher and other Training. CONTRACTOR shall assure that all existing vehicle
operators who remain in service under this Contract have at least eight (8) hours of
training, which shall include refresher courses on safety and defensive driving as well as
any other training included in CONTRACTOR’s Training Program. Such refresher training
shall accommodate the work schedule of the existing employees. All employees shall be
trained in accordance with CONTRACTOR’s Training Program, including refresher

16

ltem 5



65

courses identified in that Program or otherwise deemed to be reasonably necessary by
CONTRACTOR, within ninety (90) calendar days after the commencement of service.

b. Post Training Review. CONTRACTOR shall review training objectives after training new
employees (including employees of the prior operator) to ensure the information
provided during training was understood and absorbed so that the employees can
complete their assigned tasks properly.

Compensation. MCTD, at its discretion, shall determine whether CONTRACTOR’s Transition and
Start-up activities are significant, identified in the Contract’s proposal as such, and warrant
compensation. If deemed as such, CONTRACTOR shall submit invoices to the MCTD per MCTD
reimbursement policy for the identified Transition and Start-up activities, such as staff or
administrative costs of participating in the initial Revenue Vehicle and Equipment inspection
under subsection E of this Section. Each invoice shall be paid within ten (10) Days after receipt,
subject to MCTD review to assure that invoiced amounts are necessary and reasonable
transition costs.

Initial Vehicle, Facility, and Equipment Inspection.

a. General Requirements. During the Transition period, CONTRACTOR shall actively
participate with the MCTD in a detailed acceptance inspection, in accordance with this
subsection, of all MCTD-provided Revenue Vehicles, Facilities, and Equipment for
purposes of establishing the overall condition of the Revenue Vehicles, Facilities, and
Equipment as of the time CONTRACTOR commences work under this Contract.
Following the commencement of services under this Contract, CONTRACTOR shall
assume responsibility, as specifically set forth in this Contract, for maintenance and
repair of the MCTD-provided Revenue Vehicles, Facilities, and Equipment. In its
discretion, the MCTD may coordinate this inspection with the turnover audit and
inspection process for the prior Services CONTRACTOR. The MCTD may also provide
CONTRACTOR access to the Facilities following the Contract award for purposes of
participating in the inspection process.

b. Third Party Inspector. The inspection under this subsection shall be performed by an
independent third party, selected by the MCTD, who is experienced in transit operations
and maintenance and vehicle, facility, and equipment inspections. The MCTD shall be
responsible for the expenses of such inspection.

c. Purpose of Inspection. As the owner of certain assets, the MCTD is committed to
protecting those assets and ensuring that the MCTD’s contractors maintain the assets in
good repair. This inspection process is one means used by the MCTD to so protect those
assets. The purpose of the inspections under this subsection shall be to establish the
condition of each vehicle in the Revenue Vehicle fleet, the Facilities, and the Equipment,
as of the inspection date, and to determine the specific repairs and maintenance that
need to be performed in order to assure that the Revenue Vehicles, Facilities, and
Equipment are in a safe and sound mechanical condition, properly serviced, and in good
repair, Normal Wear and Tear excluded. The inspection process will be an on-going
process that may include re-inspections. Once the independent third party inspector has
completed each inspection or reinspection, the MCTD will release the results of the
inspection report to Vehicle Verification Inspection Team, a team that includes
representatives of the MCTD, CONTRACTOR, the MCTD’s prior Services CONTRACTOR,
and the independent third party inspector.

17

ltem 5



66

d. Repairs. Any repairs indicated on the inspection report shall be addressed on an item-
by-item basis and, at the MCTD’s sole discretion, may be performed by the MCTD’s prior
Services CONTRACTOR or another entity subject to the MCTD’s approval. The current
Services CONTRACTOR shall be solely responsible for the cost of all repairs to the
Revenue Vehicles, Facilities, and Equipment until those assets are all in good repair, and
ready to turn over to CONTRACTOR (i.e., Revenue ready). Following the completion of
repairs indicated on the initial inspection report, the MCTD may require the
independent third party inspector to conduct an item-by-item re-inspection of the
Revenue Vehicles, Facilities and Equipment to verify whether satisfactory repair of the
MCTD assets has been completed. Any re-inspection report will include the third party
inspector’s cost estimate for outstanding repairs, parts, materials and labor (at fair
market rates) for work not completed. Following receipt of the re-inspection report, the
MCTD will release that report to all interested parties. Any repair identified on a re-
inspection report shall be addressed, subject to verification and sign off by the MCTD (or
the MCTD’s designee), on an item-by-item basis and, at the MCTD’s sole discretion, may
be performed by the MCTD’s prior Services CONTRACTOR or another entity subject to
the MCTD’s approval. The process of inspection, re-inspection, repair of the Revenue
Vehicles, Facilities and Equipment, and the MCTD’s verification of those repairs shall
continue until the date that CONTRACTOR assumes responsibility for Revenue Service
under this Contract. Nothing in this Section shall be interpreted to relieve the MCTD’s
prior CONTRACTOR of its obligation to maintain the MCTD-provided assets during the
transition period. The MCTD will take all reasonable steps to assure that all repairs and
necessary maintenance are completed by the date CONTRACTOR assumes responsibility
for Revenue Service under this Contract. If any repairs have not been completed by such
Revenue Service date, the MCTD will have such repairs completed by a third party, or by
CONTRACTOR.

e. Turnover Audit and Inspection. Prior to the termination of this Contract, the existing
Revenue Vehicles and the Equipment shall be subject to the turnover audit and
inspection process set forth in Section 306G.

Review of CONTRACTOR Plans. The MCTD shall review each of CONTRACTOR’s plans and
programs submitted under Section 104C and shall either (1) approve such plan or program as
submitted; or (2) require CONTRACTOR to make reasonable revisions to such plan or program,
in which event CONTRACTOR shall promptly make such revisions (after any necessary
discussions with the MCTD) and resubmit the plan or program involved to the MCTD for its
approval. After approval under this subsection, a plan or program may not be modified without
prior written consent of the MCTD.

ARTICLE 2—PERSONNEL REQUIREMENTS

SEC. 201 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTOR PERSONNEL

A.

In General. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for providing qualified personnel capable of
performing all of CONTRACTOR's responsibilities and obligations under this Contract. The total
number and qualifications of personnel necessary for operations, maintenance, and other
service requirements shall be in accordance with this Contract and with CONTRACTOR's Staffing
and Personnel Plan, set forth in Attachment F. CONTRACTOR shall file and maintain a current list
of all employees, by number and by function (i.e., operators, dispatchers, schedulers,
mechanics, supervisors, etc.) working under this Contract every fiscal quarter. Such written
update shall specifically identify all new employees, their positions, and where applicable, their
training status.

18

ltem 5



67

A. Key Personnel.

a. Key Personnel List. In order to manage and perform the service required by this
Contract, the CONTRACTOR will provide and maintain throughout the Contract Term,
the following Key Personnel:

i. General Manager

ii. Operations Manager

iii. Maintenance Manager

iii. Safety and Training Manager

b. Dedication to Project. Unless otherwise specifically authorized in writing by the MTCD:
(a) the Key Personnel providing services under this Contract shall be the same
individuals identified in the CONTRACTOR’s response to the RFP and in the Staffing and
Personnel Plan in Attachment F; (b) all Key Personnel shall be full time to the project
under this Contract; and (c) the CONTRACTOR shall provide a separate individual for
each Key Personnel position.

c. Changes and Vacancies. CONTRACTOR shall provide the MTCD at least thirty (30) Days
advance notice prior to any contemplated change to Key Personnel, and the MTCD must
provide written approval of such change prior to the action being taken. CONTRACTOR
shall fill any vacancy in a Key Personnel position, within sixty (60) calendar days of the
date of the vacancy, with an individual whose qualifications and experience meet the
requirements of the position. Subject to the MTCD’s approval, a vacancy may be
temporarily filled by a qualified individual on an interim basis while a more extensive
search for a replacement is conducted. Failure to provide a satisfactory replacement for
a Key Personnel position within sixty (60) calendar days shall result in a deduction of the
amount of the salary and benefits of the individual, during the full period of the vacancy,
from the MTCD’s monthly payments to the CONTRACTOR.

d. MTCD Right to Remove. The MTCD reserves the right to direct the removal of any Key
Personnel during the term of the Contract if the MTCD determines such removal is in
the best interest of the MTCD or the Project.

B. General Manager. CONTRACTOR’s General Manager shall supervise the day-to-day operation of
the service, as well as the management of the project’s accounts and operating records. The
General Manager or individuals designated under subsection C of this Section shall be available
by telephone or in person during all hours of operations to make decisions as necessary at the
request of the MCTD. The General Manager shall have an office onsite at the CONTRACTOR's
facility.

C. Operations Manager. CONTRACTOR’s Operations Manager shall provide supervision and
management of the project’s accounts and operating records. The Operations Manager shall be
located onsite at the CONTRACTOR's facility.

D. Maintenance Manager. CONTRACTOR'’s Maintenance Manager shall manage and supervise
maintenance staff in the repair, preventive maintenance, servicing and cleaning of MCTD owned
and CONTRACTOR owned vehicles. The Maintenance Manager shall be located onsite at the
CONTRACTOR's facility.

19

ltem 5



68

E. Additional Management. In addition to the General Manager, CONTRACTOR shall designate two
(2) members of management with the authority and responsibility to (1) make binding decisions,
acting as agent for CONTRACTOR; and (2) respond in person to any emergency or accident
involving extensive property damage or injuries. CONTRACTOR shall provide the names, titles,
and telephone numbers of those individuals to the MCTD.

F. Corporate Support. CONTRACTOR shall not include in its personnel costs or corporate support
expenses charged to the MCTD any time spent by Key Personnel on matters other than the
performance of services for the MCTD under this Contract. CONTRACTOR may not use any
Revenue Vehicles or Equipment provided by the MCTD, for any work not directly related to the
performance of services for the MCTD under this Contract. The MCTD reserves the right to
review and audit CONTRACTOR’s compliance with these prohibitions at any time during the
Contract term. If and to the extent that the MCTD determines that CONTRACTOR has engaged in
any such prohibited use, the MCTD reserves the right, in its discretion, to bill CONTRACTOR for
the fair market value of such use, or to deduct the fair market value of such use from
CONTRACTOR’s monthly invoice.

G. MCTD Project Manager. All notices and communications required to be submitted by
CONTRACTOR under this Contract shall be submitted to the MCTD Project Manager.

SEC. 202 PERSONNEL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS

A. Personnel Standards. CONTRACTOR shall require that all personnel providing any services for
the MCTD under this Contract maintain a professional, courteous attitude toward MCTD
customers, including answering to the best of their abilities all passenger questions (including
questions about schedules) and performing other tasks as directed. CONTRACTOR shall use
appropriate employee screening and selection criteria (including the hiring standards set forth in
this Section) to assure the employment of the best qualified applicants available, emphasizing
competence, reliability, and good customer service skills. Promptly upon the MCTD’s request,
CONTRACTOR shall remove from any work under this Contract any employee who the MCTD
considers unsuitable for such work or who has displayed any act of discourtesy, rudeness, use of
profanity, or any other act deemed unacceptable by the MCTD (including any act inconsistent
with CONTRACTOR’s Standards of Conduct).

B. Personnel Policies.

a. General Requirement. CONTRACTOR shall follow its personnel program and policies in
carrying out recruitment, hiring, training, and performance reviews, as set forth in its
Staffing and Personnel Plan. CONTRACTOR shall comply with its Staffing and Personnel
Plan throughout the term of this Contract. CONTRACTOR shall give written notice to the
MCTD of any material changes in its personnel program and policies.

b. Compliance with Applicable Law. CONTRACTOR'’s personnel policies and personnel
wages and work hours shall be in accordance with applicable local, State, and Federal
laws and regulations.

c. Standard of Conduct. CONTRACTOR shall apply its standards of conduct, which are
subject to MCTD-approval. All of CONTRACTOR’s employees performing work under this
Contract shall strictly adhere to CONTRACTOR’s standards of conduct. Material changes
in these standards shall require prior written approval by the MCTD. Any deviation from
the MCTD-approved standard of conduct by any of CONTRACTOR’s employees shall be
grounds for removal of the employee from MCTD project services. Failure of

20

ltem 5



69

CONTRACTOR to enforce these standards shall be grounds for termination of this
Contract for default under Section 410.

d. Background Checks and Hiring Standards.

i. CONTRACTOR shall make all reasonable efforts to ensure that employees having
contact with the public in the course of their assigned duties are of good moral
character. CONTRACTOR, prior to hiring, shall conduct employee candidate
background checks of all positions, especially those positions to be considered
safety-sensitive in nature. The MCTD considers all positions to be safety-
sensitive unless they are administrative in function only.

ii. The background checks conducted by CONTRACTOR shall be in accordance with
MCTD standards and applicable Federal and State law, and shall include the use
of a licensed background check vendor to carry out criminal background checks.
Criminal background checks must include arrest and conviction records (county,
state, and nationwide) for all jurisdictions in which the applicant has resided in
the previous ten (10) years.

iii. Any decision regarding whether or not to hire an individual on the basis of a
prior felony or misdemeanor conviction record shall be made by CONTRACTOR
on a case-by-case basis, taking into account the nature and gravity of the
criminal offense committed by such individual, the relationship of such offense
to the nature and requirements of the job involved, considerations of business
necessity, the time elapsed since the commission of the offense and/or the
completion of the sentence, and other relevant considerations set forth in
applicable EEOC guidance.

iv. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that employees are tested in accordance with the
FTA Alcohol and Drug Testing Regulations, including: pre-employment,
reasonable cause, return to duty, post-accident, and random testing in
accordance with 49 CFR Part 655. CONTRACTOR shall adjust annual random
testing rates to comply with any future amendments to the Federal
requirements.

v. CONTRACTOR shall maintain all records relating to background checks
conducted on all employees providing services under this Contract. For
purposes of audit and oversight by the MCTD, and unless prohibited by law,
CONTRACTOR shall make all background check records and drug and alcohol
reporting available to MCTD representatives for the periods and at the location
specified in Section 504 of this Contract.

C. Staffing Levels. CONTRACTOR shall employ and provide, throughout the Contract Term, no less
than the number of personnel by position as specified in its Staffing and Personnel Plan. Any
changes to the level of staffing must be approved by the MCTD and may, in the MCTD’s
discretion, require the negotiation of a reduction in the applicable Fixed Monthly Payment or
Service Hour Rate. CONTRACTOR shall provide the MCTD written notification of any variance to
the staffing levels that could impact service, immediately upon the occurrence of such variance.
CONTRACTOR shall accompany any such notification with a “recovery plan” that addresses
personnel shortages. Should any key position be vacant for more than 60 days, the salary for
that position for the time in which it remained vacant will be credited back to Marin Transit.

21

ltem 5



70

D. Training.

a. General Requirement. CONTRACTOR shall require that all employees of CONTRACTOR
complete its Training Program, as set forth in Attachment G. CONTRACTOR shall be
responsible for implementing all aspects of its Training Program throughout the term of
the Contract. Training shall include courses and instruction in all aspects of the
operation and maintenance of services under this Contract. Any material changes to
CONTRACTOR's Training Program shall require prior written approval by the MCTD.

b. ADA Sensitivity Training. CONTRACTOR shall require vehicle operators, dispatch
personnel, schedulers, public contact personnel, and supervisory employees to
complete ADA sensitivity training to better prepare those employees to address
situations relating to the physical and cognitive disabilities of passengers. This training
should give particular emphasis to situations that may arise in working with passengers
who experience cognitive or psychiatric impairments.

c. Drug and Alcohol. CONTRACTOR shall require that all safety-sensitive employees, as
defined by the FTA, complete drug and alcohol training in accordance with 49 CFR Part
655. In addition, CONTRACTOR shall provide a Drug and Alcohol Program Manager who
has been trained, through a FTA-approved Drug and Alcohol Program Management
course, within ninety (90) Days after Contract award, or as soon thereafter as practical,
based on course availability.

d. Required Safety and Security Training. CONTRACTOR shall provide the following safety
and security training, including annual refresher training, maintained in a separate
employee file:

a. Emergency Response training for all employees.

b. National Incident Management System (NIMS) training and Incident Command
System (ICS) training for CONTRACTOR operations and safety managers as
specified in Section 316B(a).

c. Training in MCTD and CONTRACTOR policies, procedures, and protocols,
including safety, security and incident response plans for all employees, position
appropriate.

d. OSHA-required training (i.e., Occupational Safety and Health Training, Personal
Protective Equipment, Drug-Free Workplace, Lock Out Tag Out, Confined
Spaces, Hazardous Communications, etc.).

e. Timing of Training. CONTRACTOR shall implement its Training Program in a way that will
assure that vehicle operator training is not conducted during peak service hour periods
at the expense of providing on-time Revenue Service.

f. Costs of Training. CONTRACTOR acknowledges and agrees that all costs of training
required for this Contract are included in its Service Hour Rate, including the cost of
training associated with any new Revenue Vehicles.

g. Post Training Testing Program. CONTRACTOR shall, on a regular basis throughout the
term of the Contract, conduct the post-training testing program developed by
CONTRACTOR to ensure that the information provided during training was understood

22

ltem 5



71

and absorbed by the employees. Any employee who receives a failing grade will be
required to receive additional training and testing until that employee receives a passing
grade. Until the employee receives a passing grade, CONTRACTOR shall not permit that
employee to perform any function that could jeopardize the safety of the MCTD or the
MCTD’s customers.

E. Uniforms.

a. General Requirement. CONTRACTOR shall cause all vehicle operators, dispatchers and
personnel available to the public to be attired in such uniforms or clothing as specified
by CONTRACTOR and approved by the MCTD. The cost of such uniforms shall be borne
by CONTRACTOR and is included in the Service Hour Rate. CONTRACTOR shall submit a
sample of the uniform to the MCTD for approval within forty-five (45) calendar days of
Contract award.

b. Cost of Uniform Changes. Any cost associated with a change in uniforms proposed by
CONTRACTOR shall be borne by CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall submit to the MCTD
for its approval a sample of any proposed change in uniform to be worn by each
uniformed job category. Any cost associated with a change in uniform required by the
MCTD shall be the responsibility of the MCTD.

F. Labor Productivity. CONTRACTOR shall promote productivity and efficiency in carrying out this
Contract by implementing strategies that serve to maximize efficiency of the employee
workforce.

G. Passenger Comments. CONTRACTOR shall assure that all project personnel report all passenger
complaints, comments, vehicle issues and any operational problems to MCTD in accordance
with the process set forth in Section 502A of this Contract. Passenger complaints, comments,
vehicle issues and any other operational problems shall be entered in TransTrack Daily Customer
Module at the time of receipt. CONTRACTOR shall enter information regarding follow-up
response and corrective actions taken to address initial issue in TransTrack Daily Customer
Module. CONTRACTOR shall provide information requested by the MCTD and otherwise
cooperate with the MCTD in the resolution of any comments.

H. Compliance with California Labor Code Sections 1070 et seq. CONTRACTOR and any
Subcontractors will be responsible for full compliance with California Labor Code Section 1070,
et seq. The law establishes incentives to those submitting proposals for public transit service
contracts that will retain qualified employees of the prior Contractor or its subcontractor to
perform the same or similar work for a period of at least 90 days. Pursuant to the law, the
CONTRACTOR must have declared in its RFP proposal whether or not it and its subcontractor(s)
will retain the employees (as defined by California Labor Code Section 1071(d)) of the prior
Contractor or subcontractor(s), except for reasonable and substantiated cause, for a period of at
least 90 days. The CONTRACTOR that declares it will retain such employees will be responsible
for the duties and obligations provided in California Labor Code Section 1072, including making a
written offer of employment to each employee to be retained and in the event fewer employees
are necessary under the new contract, retaining qualified employees by seniority within the job
classification. Nothing in California Labor Code Section 1070 et seq. requires CONTRACTOR to
pay the same wages or offer the same level of benefits provided by the prior Contractor. The
CONTRACTOR will also be subject to the enforcement provisions of California Labor Code
Section 1073 for any violations of this law.

23

ltem 5



72

Within three working days after the Contract has been awarded, the prior Contractor and its
subcontractor(s) will provide to CONTRACTOR the name, address, date of hire, wage, benefit
level and job classification of each employee employed at the locations covered by the prior
Contractor’s contract. The MCTD will notify the prior Contractor and its subcontractor(s) of the
identity of CONTRACTOR as soon as practicable to facilitate the transfer of this information.

In order to facilitate the provisions of the law, the MCTD requires that upon the commencement
of the Contract and throughout the full term of the Contract, that CONTRACTOR maintain a list
of all employees providing the services required under the Contract, which includes the
information above and must indicate which employees were employed by the prior Contractor
and its subcontractor(s), if any. CONTRACTOR must also maintain a list of all employees of the
prior Contractor that were not retained by CONTRACTOR, and such list must indicate the
reasons why such employees were not retained.

Upon request from the MCTD, CONTRACTOR must provide such lists to the MCTD within 10 days
of such request. MCTD has the ability to request such lists throughout the term of the Contract.

CONTRACTOR will be responsible for defending, and will hold MCTD harmless from, any claims
or controversies alleging any violation or breach of Labor Code Section 1070 et seq., whether
made by CONTRACTOR’s own employees or employees of the prior Contractor or its
subcontractor(s), arising from or related to the terms and conditions of employment of
employees hired to work for CONTRACTOR as of the effective date of this Contract.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Contract, no cost of liability for which CONTRACTOR
is responsible under this paragraph will be deemed an allowable cost payable to CONTRACTOR
or claim or liability for which CONTRACTOR is entitled to indemnification or reimbursement
from the MCTD. CONTRACTOR will be exclusively responsible for satisfaction of all obligations
that may be owed to its employees of the prior Contractor, pursuant to Labor Code Section
1070 et seq., both during and subsequent to the term of the Contract.

At least six months prior to the end of the Contract, CONTRACTOR will be required to provide
the MCTD a complete list of employees who have participated in providing the MCTD services.
This list of employees will indicate the length of service of each employee, their job title and
description, and their current salary. This information may be distributed by MCTD to future
bidders for a new contract that will commence whenever the current contract term ends.
CONTRACTOR must provide updates on a monthly basis of the employee lists after the original
employee list has been submitted. CONTRACTOR’s obligation to provide monthly updates of the
employee lists will last until the end of the Contract term. If a new contract is awarded to a
different Contractor at the end of CONTRACTOR’s Contract, CONTRACTOR must provide to the
new Contractor the name, address, date of hire, wages, benefit level, and job classification of
each employee employed at CONTRACTOR’s locations covered by CONTRACTOR’s Contract
within three working days after CONTRACTOR has been notified by the MCTD of the identity of
the new Contractor.

Collective Bargaining Agreements.

a. CONTRACTOR Collective Bargaining Agreement Negotiations. CONTRACTOR shall
negotiate a collective bargaining agreement with any labor organization that is
designated or selected, in accordance with applicable law, as the collective bargaining
representative of CONTRACTOR’s employees. Any such collective bargaining agreement
shall include provisions addressing health benefits, retirement, grievance procedures,
recognition of seniority, and related matters that are normally the subject of collective
bargaining between management and labor in the private sector transportation
industry.

24

ltem 5



73

b. Limitations on Term. CONTRACTOR shall not enter into a collective bargaining
agreement or other labor contract with labor organization representing its workforce
for a longer term than the Base Term of this Contract with the MCTD, or if any option is
exercised, for longer than the term of that option.

c. No Assumption. Nothing in this Contract, including this subsection hereof, shall be
construed as requiring CONTRACTOR to assume or otherwise be bound by the terms
and conditions of the collective bargaining agreement or other labor contract of the
prior operator of Services for the MCTD.

J.  Responsibility for Accrued Paid Time Off. CONTRACTOR shall pay out to employees any accrued
vacation, sick time, or other paid time off prior to the termination of this Contract or any option
years exercised. Such payments are the sole expense of CONTRACTOR and no additional
compensation shall be provided by the MCTD for this CONTRACTOR expense.

K. Retirement Obligations. CONTRACTOR shall also be solely liable and responsible for any
retirement obligations or liabilities to its employees, under any 401(k) or other retirement plan.
The responsibility for any such obligations and liabilities shall survive the termination of this
Contract.

SEC. 203 VEHICLE OPERATORS

A. General Requirement. CONTRACTOR shall employ and maintain, throughout the Contract Term,
a level of vehicle operators sufficient to meet the daily operator shift requirement, as well as
sufficient extra-board and stand-by operators to allow for the expected call-outs, vacations, no-
shows, etc., typically experienced in a transit system of the MCTD’s size. All operators shall be
fully trained and qualified to operate the vehicles for the services provided under this Contract.

B. Requirements for Operators. CONTRACTOR shall have rules and requirements in place, and
shall provide such rules and requirements to each vehicle operator, to ensure that each
operator employed by CONTRACTOR satisfies the following minimum requirements:

a. Each vehicle operator shall have a valid California Commercial Driver’s License, Class B
or above with passenger endorsement, as well as any other licenses required by
applicable local, State, and Federal laws and regulations.

b. Each vehicle operator shall be subject to periodic as well as random testing related to
drug and alcohol use conducted by CONTRACTOR in accordance with applicable Federal
laws and regulations. A summary report of drug testing results (exclusive of individual
test results) will be provided to the MCTD upon request. Any vehicle operator who does
not pass the medical examination or whose drug/alcohol screening tests do not comply
with applicable standards for alcohol or drug use shall not be permitted to operate any
vehicle used to provide service under this Contract.

c. Each vehicle operator shall be alert, careful, and competent in terms of driving ability
and habits.

d. Each vehicle operator shall be courteous to all passengers.

e. Each vehicle operator shall be neat and clean in appearance, and shall wear a regulation
uniform and identification badge at all times while in revenue service.

25

ltem 5



74

Vehicle operators shall have completed CONTRACTOR’s Training Program and shall be
fully trained in defensive driving and vehicle handling in accordance with a defined
defensive driving program, prior to operating any vehicle in Revenue Service.
CONTRACTOR shall also maintain ongoing training for vehicle operators.

Adequate numbers of fully-qualified vehicle operators shall be available as back-up
operators during all operating hours to ensure consistent and reliable service.

Vehicle operators shall be trained in, and be cognizant of, all operational procedures
relating to the MCTD’s Services, including a thorough knowledge of the routes and
schedules.

Vehicle operators shall be trained in, and be cognizant of, the technology (including on-
board technology) of the vehicles they operate.

Vehicle operators shall, pursuant to requests by the MCTD, hand out notices to
passengers or otherwise render assistance in MCTD’s monitoring and supervising
operations.

Vehicle operators shall honor passes, sell specific MCTD passes on board, and collect all
other fare media authorized by the MCTD.

Vehicle operators must immediately report to CONTRACTOR any traffic accidents,
passenger accidents, or other non-routine events.

. Vehicle operators are not permitted to use personal cell phones or other electronic
devices (including entertainment games but excluding global positioning systems), or to
use MCTD-provided or CONTRACTOR-provided cell phones or electronic devices for
personal purposes while operating in Revenue Service.

Tobacco products may not be used inside any MCTD vehicle, in proximity to any MCTD
vehicle, and their use is prohibited at or near fuel tanks or pumps, and in any restricted
areas.

Vehicle operators must have in their possession at all times while on duty, a valid
California CDL, and shall wear and display identification badges at all times while on
duty. All such licenses, cards and badges shall be subject to inspection by the MCTD at
any time.

Vehicle operators, prior to beginning Revenue Service, shall inspect their assigned
vehicles daily in a timely manner before pulling out of the yard in accordance with
Federal, State, and MCTD requirements and CONTRACTOR procedures. If there are any
defects, the vehicle operator must enter the defect on a CONTRACTOR-provided pre-
trip/post trip inspection form and immediately report the defect to a designated
CONTRACTOR operations staff member for determination of usability of the vehicle. All
reported defects shall also be validated by CONTRACTOR maintenance staff. The vehicle
operator must sign and date the pre-trip/post trip inspection form prior to leaving the
bus yard. The pre-trip/post trip inspection form shall remain with the vehicle during that
day and shall be replaced on a daily basis.

Vehicle operators shall immediately report mechanical breakdowns and/or in-service
failures of Revenue Vehicles by radio or via the operators’ MDTs to Dispatch. Upon

26

ltem 5



75

receipt of such report, CONTRACTOR shall immediately document the service
interruption log and notify vehicle maintenance staff of the occurrence.

r. All vehicle operators shall demonstrate, through examination, an ability to speak, read,
and write Standard English.

C. Hiring Principles.

a. Satisfactory Driving Record. CONTRACTOR shall not employ any person as a vehicle
operator whose driving record is not acceptable as provided in CONTRACTOR's Staffing
and Personnel Plan. This information should be compiled and verified in conjunction
with Section 202B(d) and paragraph (3) of this subsection.

b. Employment Experience. Prior to offering employment to any person as a vehicle
operator, CONTRACTOR shall obtain from each such person detailed information
concerning such person’s employment experience, driving record, professional driving
experience, motor vehicle violations and accidents, criminal history, personal and
character references, and complaints filed against such person in the course of any
employment as a professional driver, whether by any bus service provider or otherwise.
CONTRACTOR shall investigate and verify the accuracy of the information obtained from
all job applicants.

c. Background Checks and Re-Checks. CONTRACTOR shall perform the background checks
described in Section 202B(d) prior to offering employment to any person as a vehicle
operator. The background check will include, at a minimum, a Motor Vehicle Record
(MVR) report and a report from a licensed background check vendor. CONTRACTOR
shall perform a MVR re-check every year for all vehicle operators and other employees
in safety sensitive positions, within thirty (30) Days of the anniversary of their individual
hiring dates. CONTRACTOR will provide the MCTD a summary report for all background
checks and re-checks on request.

D. Training Requirements. CONTRACTOR shall conduct training for vehicle operators in accordance
with its stated Training Program, which must include both classroom and behind-the-wheel
training for newly hired employees and experienced drivers (e.g., employees of the prior
operator). The MCTD may monitor any training provided. The vehicle operator training program
shall contain, at a minimum, the following components:

a. California Commercial Driver’s License, Class B or above, driving and testing preparation;
b. MCTD Services policy and procedures;

c. ADA Sensitivity;

d. Proper on-board ADA passenger securement;

e. Passenger Empathy and Sensitivity;

f. Passenger Assistance Training;

g. Map reading and interpretation;

h. Customer courtesy, problem resolution, and instruction in dealing with difficult
customers and situations;

27

ltem 5



76

i. Safety, bus maneuvering, defensive driving and accident procedures;
j.  Transit safety, security and incident command system procedures;

k. Effects and consequences of prohibited drug use on personal health, safety, and the
work environment, including addressing signs and symptoms that may indicate drug
use;

I.  Correct operation of the farebox, destination signage, MDT, and Clipper equipment;

m. Correct operation and system status indications of the Mobile Digital Surveillance
System.

SEC. 204 DISPATCHERS

A. General Requirement. CONTRACTOR shall employ and maintain, throughout the Contract Term,
properly trained dispatch personnel in sufficient numbers and with an adequate mix of skills, to
assign vehicles and operators, facilitate the daily planned deployment of service, assist road
supervisors and vehicle operators with in-service problem resolution, and to operate the
Communication System.

B. Requirements. All dispatch personnel shall demonstrate, through examination, an ability to
speak, read, and write Standard English.

C. Assignment. Contractor shall ensure that dispatch personnel are on duty during MCTD Revenue
Service, weekdays, weekends, holidays, with sufficient coverage during morning and evening
work shifts.

D. Components of Dispatcher Training. All dispatch personnel are required to complete
CONTRACTOR’s Training Program. CONTRACTOR shall also maintain ongoing training

requirements for dispatchers. Training programs shall contain, at a minimum, the following
components:

a. Communications System and use of related Services software and technology tools;
b. Local geography familiarization;

c. MCTD Services policies and procedures;

d. DOT and MCTD emergency action plan implementation strategies;

e. Customer relations, empathy, and problem resolution;

f. Accident/incident procedures;

g. Transit safety, security, and incident command system procedures;

h. Mapping and schedule familiarization;

i. Vehicle change procedures and dynamic scheduling (methods and practices);

j-  Vehicle operator training; and

28

ltem 5



E.

77

k. Reporting and troubleshooting vehicle maintenance problems;
I.  Familiarization with farebox, MDT, Clipper, and other on-board equipment.

Drug and Alcohol Testing. All dispatchers shall be subject to drug and alcohol testing in
accordance with applicable Federal laws and regulations.

SEC. 206 ROAD SUPERVISORS

A.

General Requirement. At a minimum, CONTRACTOR shall have on duty, throughout the
Contract Term, sufficient road supervisors necessary to properly manage operations and
Revenue Vehicles in service and to respond to incidents within sixty (60) minutes or prior to the
next scheduled trip, during all hours of operations. Road supervisors shall be deployed in a
manner consistent with CONTRACTOR’s Proposal responding to the RFP, and shall be equipped
with the appropriate communication and safety equipment, and assigned to a designated
CONTRACTOR-provided accessible or lift/ramp equipped road supervision vehicle suitable for
response to emergencies, in-service problems, and other events.

Responsibilities and Requirements. Road supervisors shall be responsible for coordinating runs,
ensuring adherence to Manifest schedules, assisting passengers, accident investigation,
communicating with the dispatch personnel at Facilities and with vehicle operators, assisting in
the implementation of CONTRACTOR'’s Operations Management Plan, and carrying out such
other responsibilities as CONTRACTOR may establish. CONTRACTOR shall assure that all road
supervisory personnel are fully trained in all aspects of the MCTD’s Services, including rules and
regulations, routes, mapping and schedules, emergency procedures, safety, ADA requirements,
reporting protocols, and other requirements. CONTRACTOR shall assure that sufficient
supervisors are present during peak hour, pull-out periods to coordinate the timely and orderly
assignment and departure of vehicles.

Training Requirements. All supervisors employed by CONTRACTOR shall fully meet all training
requirements for both vehicle operators and dispatchers, as required by the terms of this
Contract and the CONTRACTOR's Training Program, prior to being placed into service as a
supervisor.

Drug and Alcohol Testing. All supervisors shall be subject to drug and alcohol testing in
accordance with applicable Federal laws and regulations.

SEC. 207 MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL

A.

General Requirement. CONTRACTOR shall employ and maintain, throughout the Contract Term,
maintenance personnel in sufficient numbers, and with the appropriate mix of skills, to maintain
and service the assigned mix of Revenue Vehicles. At a minimum, one “A” level mechanic will be
available at any given time during scheduled revenue hours throughout the day. The
maintenance workforce must include a complement of mechanics collectively capable of
repairing and maintaining all systems of the Revenue Vehicles, including air conditioners,
heating units, engines and transmissions, differentials, suspension systems, brakes, electrical
systems, wheelchair lifts and ramps and other passenger assist mechanisms, and all other
related systems consistent with light, medium, and heavy duty transit fleet maintenance
functions. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that the complement of mechanics assigned to this
Contract collectively have, at a minimum, knowledge of and the ability to:

a. Complete reliable and safe preventive maintenance inspections;

29

ltem 5



78
b. Independently diagnose and repair defects on systems as necessary;

c. Use automotive, truck, and heavy duty transit test equipment and specialized tools
effectively;

d. Obtain precision measurements as required;

e. Diagnose and perform repairs on systems related to automotive, light, medium, and
heavy duty transit vehicles;

f. Diagnose, repair, and maintain vehicle drivetrains, including engines, transmissions,
driveshaft, differentials and exhaust systems, including after treatment;

g. Diagnose, repair, and maintain vehicle brake systems, suspension/steering,
electrical/electronic systems, and related sub components;

h. Diagnose, repair, and maintain air conditioning, heating and ventilation systems;

i. Adjust, repair, or replace damaged body parts, window glass, window inset film, and
perform structural repairs;

j. Diagnose, repair, and maintain wheelchair lifts and ramps;

k. Read and understand parts and repair manuals, and electrical/vacuum schematics;

I.  Properly understanding and utilizing a Materials Safety Data Sheet (MSDS) book.
B. Skills and Availability.

a. Regquirements. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that the skills, capability, and availability of
sufficient vehicle maintenance personnel who are adequately matched to the type of
maintenance and repairs needed for the all Services at the time they are needed. This
level of staffing shall be identified in CONTRACTOR’s Vehicle Maintenance Plan. (VMP).

b. Scheduling of Maintenance. CONTRACTOR’s VMP shall ensure that all maintenance
activities are carried out at times that do not interfere with scheduling of Revenue
Vehicles to meet peak period service demands.

c. Availability of Mechanics. CONTRACTOR’s VMP shall ensure sufficient fully qualified,
experienced vehicle mechanics shall be available during all hours of service to respond
to any in-service failures or Revenue Vehicle or equipment problems that arise in the
yard during the pre-trip and post trip vehicle inspections.

C. Training. Training for all maintenance personnel shall be in accordance with the CONTRACTOR’s
Training Program and shall include Automotive Service Excellence (“ASE”) certification training,
vendor-provided training, maintenance safety training and security and emergency
preparedness training.

a. Components of Maintenance Training. Training programs must contain, at a minimum,
the following components:

a. Wheelchair lift and ramp manufacturers’ training;

30

ltem 5



79

b. Hazmat and storm water training;

c. OSHA and DOT compliance, health and safety training;

d. Hazardous waste operations and emergency response training;

e. Lockout/tagout training;

f. Material handling and storage requirements training;

g. Forklift or loading equipment training (if applicable);

h. Vehicle Fire Suppression Training; and

b. New Vehicle Training. CONTRACTOR will cooperate with the MCTD to provide space for

and schedule all vehicle mechanics for new vehicle service training, as needed with the
receipt of either expansion or replacement vehicles. The MCTD, CONTRACTOR, and the

supplier of the new vehicles will work together to develop an appropriate vehicle
maintenance training plan.

D. Fueling and Cleaning.

a. General Requirement. CONTRACTOR shall have on duty qualified personnel to fuel and
clean the required number of Revenue Vehicles for daily pull-outs.

b. Knowledge Required. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all personnel shall have full
knowledge of vehicle fueling procedures and vehicle cleaning/detailing programs as
required by the Contract.

c. Ability Required. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all personnel are required to have the
training, skills and ability to:

a. Operate vehicles to facilitate a safety brake inspection procedure;

b. Maintain up-to-date, accurate records of vehicle fueling and vehicle cleanliness
requirements; and

c. Properly clean the interior and exterior of all MCTD vehicle types.

E. License Requirements. CONTRACTOR shall require all vehicle mechanics to maintain a valid
California CDL, Class B or above.

F. Skill Level. CONTRACTOR shall maintain the full staffing levels, by skill level category and
number, as identified in CONTRACTOR's Staffing and Personnel Plan. In addition, all
maintenance personnel performing mechanical repairs shall be ASE certified in the category in
which they are performing repairs. In addition, every technician who performs air conditioning
repairs is required to hold a Clean Air Act, Section 609 certification. If the total number of
Revenue Vehicles assigned by the MCTD to CONTRACTOR changes, CONTRACTOR shall maintain
the proposed ratio of maintenance personnel, by skill level category, to Revenue Vehicles, as
detailed in CONTRACTOR's Staffing and Personnel Plan. The skill levels required for
CONTRACTOR’s maintenance personnel are as follows:

31

ltem 5



80

a. A-Level maintenance technician or mechanic job duties are defined as performing
preventive maintenance, diagnosis, service and repair of steering, suspension, brakes,
engines, transmissions, differentials, electrical, wheelchair lifts, and air conditioning
systems. This level technician or mechanic shall have the ability to perform part analysis
on damaged parts and assist with inventory control. A-Level maintenance technicians or
mechanics must have three (3) years or more of automotive/diesel repair experience or
have graduated from an automotive technology course at an accredited trade school or
college and have two (2) years or more experience.

b. B-Level maintenance technician or mechanic job duties are defined as performing
preventive maintenance, diagnosis, service and repair of steering, suspension, brakes,
engines, transmissions, differentials, electrical, wheelchair lifts, and air conditioning
systems. This level technician or mechanic shall have the ability to perform part analysis
on damaged parts and assist with inventory control. B-Level maintenance technicians or
mechanics must have a minimum of two (2) years or more of automotive/diesel repair
experience or have graduated from an automotive technology course at an accredited
trade school or college and have one (1) year or more experience.

c. C-Level maintenance technician or mechanic job duties are defined as performing
general preventive maintenance including tire repair and replacement, lube/oil/filter
servicing, brake jobs and general minor maintenance repairs. This position may also
include fueling responsibilities and assisting with inventory control. C-Level maintenance
technicians or mechanics must have a minimum of one (1) year experience of
automotive/diesel repair and or a combination of training and experience or have
graduated from an automotive technology course at an accredited trade school or
college.

d. ASE Master Certification - At least twenty-five (25%) of all mechanics must be ASE
master certified on medium or heavy duty trucks or possess comparable certification.
This requirement must be achieved by the end of the first year of the Base Contract
Term. Certifications must be kept current throughout the duration of the Contract.

G. Drug and Alcohol Testing. All maintenance personnel shall be subject to drug and alcohol
testing in accordance with applicable Federal laws and regulations.

ARTICLE 3 -- OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES
SEC. 301 VEHICLES

A. MTCD Responsibility. The MTCD will provide the CONTRACTOR with sufficient Revenue Vehicles
for operation of the Fixed Route Services required to be provided under this Contract. The
MTCD may, in its sole discretion, change the mix of Revenue Vehicles and/or add Revenue
Vehicles to the fleet during the Contract Term, and such actions shall not be the basis for any
increase in the CONTRACTOR'’s Fixed Monthly Fee or Service Hour Rate, except as may be
provided under Section 305F.

B. Use of Vehicles. The Revenue Vehicles provided by the MCTD under this Contract shall be used
by CONTRACTOR only for the Services covered by this Contract, except as otherwise authorized
or directed by the MCTD in writing.

C. Inspection of New Vehicles. Upon taking possession of any new Revenue Vehicles furnished by
the MCTD during the Contract Term, CONTRACTOR shall inspect such Revenue Vehicles and

32

ltem 5



81

notify the MCTD in writing within seventy-two (72) hours if any such Revenue Vehicles have
defects, unless more than three (3) vehicles are under inspection at one time, in which event the
notice period shall be within five (5) Days after taking possession. If CONTRACTOR subsequently
discovers latent defects, including excessive wear to tires, in any new MCTD-provided Revenue
Vehicles which could not have been discovered by a reasonable inspection at the time of
receipt, CONTRACTOR shall notify the MCTD in writing within seventy-two (72) hours after it
determines that such latent defects exist.

D. CONTRACTOR Responsibility.

a. Support Vehicles. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for providing sufficient Support
Vehicles to support the Services provided under this Contract. Such Support Vehicles
shall include vehicles for road supervision, inspection, and maintenance functions,
including tow trucks, forklifts, and maintenance service vehicles. The number of Support
Vehicles provided shall be at the discretion of CONTRACTOR, based on its determination
of what is required to meet the requirements of this Contract. The Contractor should
provide appropriate service vehicles to support road calls and be able to make quick
fixes to vehicles and onboard equipment to support service needs.

b. Spare Parts and Tires. CONTRACTOR shall also be responsible for providing and
maintaining (a) an adequate inventory of spare parts to assure proper maintenance and
operation of Revenue Vehicles, taking into account the lead time required for shipping
and other transportation and delivery requirements; and (b) tires in sufficient quantity
for the Revenue Vehicles, in compliance with all requirements set forth in Section 306E
hereof.

E. Vehicle Acquisition Plan.

a. CONTRACTOR Obligations. CONTRACTOR shall operate and maintain all of the various
types of Revenue Vehicles that are provided by the MCTD at the start of services under
this Contract, or that are purchased by the MCTD during the Contract Term, in
compliance with the intervals, specifications, and procedures in the manufacturers’
operations and maintenance manuals. The full cost of such operation and maintenance
is fully compensated for by the Fixed Monthly Fee and Service Hour Rate.

b. Substantial Deviations from Plan. In the event of any substantial deviation from the
Vehicle Acquisition Plan set forth in this Section, CONTRACTOR may request a re-
negotiation of the then-applicable Fixed Monthly Fee and/or Service Hour Rate, in
accordance with Section 305F hereof. As used in this subsection, the term “substantial
deviation” means that (1) the actual timing of vehicle acquisition by the MCTD is twelve
(18) months or longer than the timing set forth or assumed in the vehicle replacement
plans of MCTD, or (2) more than twenty percent (20%) of the vehicles actually acquired
by the MCTD are different in type, and have different maintenance requirements, than
the vehicles presented in the RFP.

SEC. 302 OPERATING PERFORMANCE STANDARDS
A. Operation of Vehicles. CONTRACTOR shall operate all MCTD-provided and CONTRACTOR-
provided vehicles in accordance with all applicable local, State, and Federal laws and regulations

with regard to safety, comfort, and convenience of passengers and the general public,
emphasizing accident prevention strategies and techniques.

33

ltem 5



82

B. Service Characteristics. CONTRACTOR shall provide all Revenue Service according to hours
established by the MTCD. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that the direction, loading, departure, and
general performance of vehicles are coordinated to ensure adherence to On-Time Performance
standards.

C. Excessive Idling. CONTRACTOR shall not leave a Revenue Vehicle running at a pickup location
(unless passengers are already on board) or in the bus yard for more than fifteen (15) minutes
(or for such other time period as the MTCD may establish in its discretion upon notice to the
CONTRACTOR).

SEC. 303 SCHEDULES

A. CONTRACTOR shall operate the MTCD’s Fixed Route Services in accordance with the budgeted
and approved Service Hours established by the MTCD.

B. On Going Review. The MTCD shall evaluate schedules to address changes in ridership and
demand, review feedback and assessments provided by CONTRACTOR, and review system
parameters to reflect current operating conditions. All permanent schedule changes requested
by the MTCD shall be implemented by the CONTRACTOR (following any necessary public
hearings and MTCD action); provided that the MTCD, prior to directing any schedule change,
shall give due consideration, pursuant to the service change process in Section 305 of this
Contract, to the views of the CONTRACTOR regarding the feasibility and operating impact of
such change. The MTCD shall have sole discretion to determine Service Hours, and to direct
schedule changes pursuant to the service change process set forth in this Contract.

C. Holiday Schedules and Other Closures. The MTCD reserves the right to require the
CONTRACTOR to operate modified schedules on holidays as the MTCD deems appropriate.
Notice of such modified schedules will be provided by the MTCD in writing.

a. Changes to such holiday schedules shall be in writing and delivered not less than two (2)
weeks before the scheduled change.

b. The MTCD also reserves the right to require the CONTRACTOR to operate modified
service schedules due to MTCD and/or Facilities closures even though such closures may
not be pre-scheduled.

SEC. 304 ALLOWABLE SERVICE CHANGES
A. Description of Services Changes.

a. Authority of MCTD. The MCTD may modify or adjust the services provided under this
Contract at any time in accordance with the procedures in this Section. Service changes
shall be set forth in a written notice from the MCTD, following any public hearing
required and any necessary MCTD approval. The MCTD anticipates conducting service
changes throughout the term of the Contract to make routing and scheduling
modifications to existing Services or to add new services. Based upon the bi-annual
review process described in Section 303B, the MCTD may implement additional service
changes.

b. Allowable Service Changes. Allowable modifications and adjustments may include:
extending, deleting from, or adding to Services service area and a corresponding
revision of Services; temporarily increasing routes when the MCTD deems those routes

34

ltem 5



83

necessary to avoid or address a capacity constraint in violation of Section 37.131(f)(3) of
the Code of Federal Regulations; reallocating, decreasing or increasing Revenue Hours
or the frequency of service; or modifying requirements or scope relating to the
maintenance of vehicles or Facilities (hereafter collectively referred to as “Service
Changes”). Except as provided in subsection F of this Section, changes in Revenue
Vehicle fleet mix do not constitute a Service Change for purposes of this Section.

B. Process for Service Changes.

a. Proposed Changes. During the ongoing review process described in Section 303B, the
MCTD and CONTRACTOR will evaluate ridership changes, changes in hours of service
demand, passenger Trips Per Service Hour, capacity constraints and On-Time
Performance to determine if a service change is appropriate. If the current level of
service no longer attains the MCTD service standards, and if sufficient funding is
identified, public review conducted (if necessary), and authority received by the MCTD
Board of Directors (if necessary), MCTD shall request in writing that CONTRACTOR
prepare for the provision of the service changes. The written request will outline
elements to be followed such as any change in fixed monthly rate or Revenue Service
Hourly Rate costs, vehicle deployment requirements, and other resources necessary to
accommodate service change.

b. CONTRACTOR Response. CONTRACTOR shall, within twelve (12) Days after receipt of a
request for a Service Change, provide the MCTD, in writing, with (a) a timeline for
implementation of the Service Change; (b) an estimate of the cost or savings of the
proposed change; (c) the anticipated impact of such change on existing operations,
maintenance activities, schedules, routes, and existing capital equipment usage; (d) the
necessity for any additional capital equipment to implement such change; and (e) the
feasibility of such change. CONTRACTOR may also propose Service Changes, and may
suggest alternatives or modifications to the Service Change criteria proposed by the
MCTD.

c. Implementation. MCTD will review information provided by CONTRACTOR pursuant to
paragraph (2), and may either (a) direct that CONTRACTOR proceed with the
development and implementation timeline proposal for the Service Change as originally
described; (b) direct that the proposed Service Change be implemented with
modifications; or (c) notify CONTRACTOR the proposed Service Change will not be
implemented. CONTRACTOR shall proceed to implement the proposed Service Change
(with any modifications specified by the MCTD) in accordance with the schedule or
timetable approved by the MCTD. Only those Service Changes directed or approved by
the MCTD, in writing, shall be implemented by CONTRACTOR.

C. Temporary Modifications. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Section, the MCTD
may direct CONTRACTOR to make temporary modifications in the services provided or the
schedules in order to address short term operating problems or issues.

D. Other Service. If the MCTD determines that other services should be added to its Services
system, the MCTD reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to implement those other services
through the Service Change process set forth in subsection B, or to separately procure and
contract for those other services from an alternate provider.

E. Special Services. If the MCTD determines that Special Services are needed to meet a particular
transit need within the scope of this Contract, the MCTD shall provide notice to CONTRACTOR of

35

ltem 5



84

the Special Services to be provided and the date on which the provision of such services shall
commence. Given the very nature of Special Services, the MCTD may itself be provided limited
advanced information and notice of requests. However, the MCTD will endeavor to provide
CONTRACTOR with as much advance notice as feasible. CONTRACTOR shall be compensated for
Special Services on the basis of the then applicable Service Hour Rate.

CONTRACTOR shall implement Special Services in accordance with the schedule established by
the MCTD.

F. Possible Rate Adjustments.

a. Categories. In the event of the following Service Changes, and no others, the
CONTRACTOR may request a re-negotiation of the then-applicable Fixed Monthly Fee
and/or Variable Service Hourly Rate:

i. If there is a cumulative increase or decrease in Service Hours of more than
twenty percent (20%) over a Contract Year, of the Annual Service Hours set out
for the Contract in Section 304.

ii. If there is a “substantial deviation” from the Vehicle Acquisition Plan as defined
in Section 301E(b).

b. Procedure. Any request for a rate change under this subsection shall be in writing and
shall provide quantitative documentation that the Service Change in question has
resulted, or will result, in additional costs to the Contractor in the operation or
maintenance of Revenue Vehicles under this Contract. The MTCD is not obligated to
agree to such a request, but will review, discuss, and consider any such request in good
faith.

SEC. 306 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE

A. Vehicle Safety. CONTRACTOR shall maintain all Revenue Vehicles and Support Vehicles in
accordance with the manufacturers’ specifications and standards and all local, State, and
Federal requirements for safety and in accordance with the CONTRACTOR Vehicle Maintenance
Plan in Attachment I.

B. Revenue Vehicle Maintenance. CONTRACTOR shall complete, from bumper to bumper, all
maintenance and repair of the Revenue Vehicles, including the routine replacement of
components, within the Contract price, and in accordance with all manufacturers’ specifications
and standards, preventive maintenance manuals and Vehicle Maintenance Plan in Attachment
H. CONTRACTOR shall use all OEM or OEM-approved equivalent components, parts and fluids.
CONTRACTOR may not use any non-OEM equivalent products, components, or fluids without
prior written approval of the MCTD and the OEM manufacturer.

a. Availability of Equipment. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that a minimum of eighty-five
percent (85%) of all Revenue Vehicles are in operable condition and available for
Revenue Service at all times. The total number of Revenue Vehicles out of service shall
not exceed fifteen percent (15%) of the peak requirement for Services. All Revenue
Vehicles shall, to the maximum extent feasible or as otherwise agreed, be used and
maintained by classification on an equal and uniform basis so that miles are accrued
evenly amongst vehicles initially placed into service during comparable periods, and
maintenance activities shall be scheduled to assure that the maximum numbers of

36

ltem 5



85

Revenue Vehicles are available for Revenue Service during peak periods. CONTRACTOR
shall ensure that an adequate supply of spare parts is available in order to maintain the
Revenue Vehicles on a timely basis in accordance with this Section, taking into account
the lead time required for shipping, customs clearance, and other transportation and
delivery requirements.

MCTD Inspection. The MCTD reserves the right, in its sole discretion at any time, and
either directly or through a CONTRACTOR, to review CONTRACTOR’s maintenance
records and inspect and reject temporarily or permanently, by notice to CONTRACTOR,
any vehicle CONTRACTOR proposes to use or subsequently utilizes which the MCTD
deems unacceptable due to uncleanliness, appearance, mechanical failure, or safety
concerns.

i. Pre-trip and Post-trip Inspections. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all vehicle
operators conduct a daily vehicle pre-trip inspection prior to being placed in
service and a post-trip inspection at the end of service. Vehicle operators shall
immediately report defects identified during the pre-trip inspection to a
designated CONTRACTOR operations staff member. In addition, all defects
reported on CONTRACTOR-provided pre-trip/post-trip inspection form shall be
validated by CONTRACTOR maintenance staff.

The MCTD may, without prior notice, perform random inspections of the daily pre-
trip/post-trip inspection forms, as well as monitor vehicle operators during their
inspections. CONTRACTOR shall make necessary repairs, adjustments, or additions, at
CONTRACTOR's sole expense, prior to placing any Revenue Vehicle in service.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain inspection forms as required by Department of
Transportation regulations and the California Highway Patrol and the MCTD may review
such inspection forms during the Contract Term.

Defects. Any defects noted by the vehicle operator inspector shall be noted on a pre-
trip/post trip inspection form. Appropriate action shall be taken by CONTRACTOR to
correct defective items noted in a defect report prior to the operation of the Revenue
Vehicle.

Records. A written record of all inspections and repairs shall be kept by CONTRACTOR.
As requested, CONTRACTOR shall provide inspection and repair reports to the MCTD.

Unsafe Vehicles. Revenue Vehicles shall not be operated with defects or other required
repairs that make them unsafe to operate.

Repair Standards. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all repair work is performed by
maintenance personnel who have demonstrated experience and documented training
in the work to be done. Maintenance personnel shall have the necessary equipment and
tools to perform any authorized work.

Major Engine and Transmission Overhauls. When CONTRACTOR determines that a major
engine or transmission overhaul is required, CONTRACTOR shall notify the MCTD. The
MCTD may, in its discretion, retire the vehicle, have the overhaul performed by a third
party, or direct CONTRACTOR to perform such work. If CONTRACTOR performs the
work, the payment to CONTRACTOR will be for replacement engines or transmissions
(as the case may be). CONTRACTOR shall use all OEM or OEM-approved components
during routine maintenance and overhauls. CONTRACTOR may not use any non-OEM

37

ltem 5



j-

86

equivalent products, components, or fluids without prior written approval of the MCTD
and the OEM manufacturer. MCTD shall not pay for Major Engine and Transmission
overhauls on CONTRACTOR owned vehicles.

Preventive Maintenance Program. CONTRACTOR shall perform preventive maintenance
in accordance with the intervals, specifications, and procedures set forth in the
manufacturers’ operations and maintenance manuals, including staffing, level of
expertise, and reporting forms. Preventive maintenance should, to the maximum extent
feasible, be conducted during off peak periods, and should be conducted in an
expeditious manner to minimize the amount of time vehicles are out of Revenue
Service. CONTRACTOR shall perform all required weekly, monthly, and yearly preventive
maintenance as identified by OEM.

Graffiti. CONTRACTOR shall remove or cover graffiti as specified in CONTRACTOR’s
Vehicle Maintenance Plan.

Fueling. Revenue Vehicle fueling is to be performed in accordance with the Fueling
provision found in Section 315.

Specific Maintenance Items. CONTRACTOR shall maintain the vehicle operators’ First Aid
kits, fire extinguishers and other required safety equipment.

Fire Suppression. CONTRACTOR shall perform an annual Fire Suppression and portable
extinguisher PMI and certification on all Revenue Vehicles and shall be responsible for
the annual charging of the fire suppression bottles on all Revenue Vehicles.
CONTRACTOR shall follow all Federal, State and local guidelines in conducting these
inspections, and shall use a certified technician to perform any inspections or repairs.

Electrical repairs. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all electrical work is performed in
accordance with the vehicle manufacturers’ specifications and standards. Branching of
wires, direct wiring, or circumventing safety systems by by-passing circuit protection
devices is prohibited. When necessary to re-wire a particular system or systems
differently than what is shown in the electrical schematic, CONTRACTOR must obtain
prior approval from the OEM manufacturer.

Heating and Air Conditioning. CONTRACTOR shall perform an annual heating and air
conditioning preventive maintenance inspection on all Revenue Vehicles.

Electronic Vehicle Maintenance Program. MCTD will be granted access to the
CONTRACTOR's electronic vehicle maintenance program tracking system. If the
CONTRACTOR does not have an electronic tool to track vehicle maintenance work, then
MCTD will work with the CONTRACTOR to utilize TransTrack’s Vehicle Maintenance
module(s).

Warranties. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for managing all Revenue Vehicle-related
warranty repairs.

Inventory. CONTRACTOR shall maintain an adequate inventory of spare parts, supplies, tools,
and other equipment to conduct maintenance and repairs on vehicles and other equipment in a
timely manner in order to assure the capability of providing full Revenue Service at all times as
required by this Contract.

38

ltem 5



87
E. Tires.

a. CONTRACTOR Obligation. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for providing tires for the
performance of the Contract.

b. Tire Replacement

i. CONTRACTOR is also responsible assuring that vehicles are equipped with safe
and functional tires and that there is an adequate stock of tires on hand at all
times, including at the end of the Contract Term. All replacement tires shall be
properly sized and load-rated for vehicle weight and duty type, and only new
(non-recap or grooved) tires may be utilized on the vehicle steering axle.

ii. At the completion or termination of the Contract, CONTRACTOR shall return all
Revenue Vehicles with useable tires free and clear of any lien. Any tire lease
entered into by CONTRACTOR shall not exceed the base Contract Term and the
period of any option term exercised by the MCTD.

c. Obligation to Recycle. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for recycling all worn out and
replaced tires.

F. California Highway Patrol (CHP) Terminal Inspection. The CONTRACTOR will maintain a record
of satisfactory California Highway Patrol (CHP) terminal inspections throughout the life of the
contract. Upon completion of a CHP terminal inspection, the CONTRACTOR will immediately
notify MCTD in writing as to whether the CONTRACTOR's facility received a satisfactory or
unsatisfactory rating from the CHP; the CONTRACTOR will provide a copy of the CHP report to
MCTD and indicate what action is being pursued if an unsatisfactory rating was received. These
reports will be submitted to MCTD within 10 working days subsequent to the CHP inspection.

If the CONTRACTOR receives an unsatisfactory rating from the CHP, the CONTRACTOR will notify
MCTD immediately and state what is being done to correct the deficiency. MCTD reserves the
right to terminate the contract with cause with a 30-day notice if the CONTRACTOR receives an
unsatisfactory rating from the CHP.

G. Condition Upon Return. Upon termination of this Contract (for whatever reason), CONTRACTOR
shall be responsible for ensuring, and shall warrant to the MCTD, that the Revenue Vehicles
have been properly serviced and maintained, and are in good repair, in accordance with this
Contract, and shall return such Vehicles to the MCTD in sound mechanical condition, Normal
Wear and Tear excluded. The inspection process for this assessment is described in subsection G
of this Section.

H. Turnover Inspection and Audit Process.

a. General Requirements. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for return of all Revenue
Vehicles and Equipment to the MCTD in the condition in which CONTRACTOR received
those Revenue Vehicles and Equipment (with the exception of Normal Wear and Tear)
including body condition, system condition and function, all ancillary equipment (intact
and functional), and overall vehicle operation and performance. This requirement
extends to fare boxes and any other MCTD-provided equipment. No later than ninety
(90) calendar days prior to the termination of this Contract, the MCTD, CONTRACTOR,
and the new CONTRACTOR (if any) taking over operations and maintenance

39

ltem 5



88

responsibility for the MCTD, shall participate in the Revenue Vehicle and Equipment
turnover inspection and audit process set forth in this subsection.

Third Party Inspections. The detailed turnover inspection and audit will be performed by
an independent third party, selected by the MCTD that is experienced in fixed route
operations and maintenance and vehicle, facilities, and equipment inspections. The
MCTD shall be responsible for the expenses of the audit. The third party inspector will
conduct individual inspections on each Revenue Vehicle prior to the return of each
Revenue Vehicle to the MCTD. Such inspections will be timed to ensure that any
necessary repairs are completed and will require that CONTRACTOR conduct any
needed repairs.

Purpose. As the owner of certain assets, the MCTD is committed to protecting those
assets and ensuring that the MCTD’s contractors maintain the assets in good repair. This
inspection process is one means used by the MCTD to so protect those assets. The
purpose of the inspection and audit will be to establish the condition of the Revenue
Vehicle fleet, the Facilities (if applicable) and the Equipment, as of the audit date, to
determine if the Revenue Vehicles, Facilities, and Equipment have been maintained in
accordance with the standards required under this Contract, and to determine the
specific repairs and maintenance that needs to be performed, by Revenue Vehicle,
Facility or Equipment item, in order to assure that all Revenue Vehicles, Facilities, and
Equipment will meet the requirements set forth in this Section and the other Contract
Documents.

Process. Once the independent third party inspector has completed its inspection, the
MCTD will release the results of the inspection report the outgoing CONTRACTOR and
the MCTD’s in-coming Services CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for
promptly completing all repairs and/or maintenance identified during the inspection
and audit as necessary to meet such condition requirements by the Contract
termination date, and shall also be responsible for the cost of all such repairs and
maintenance.

Following the completion of repairs indicated on the initial inspection report, the MCTD
may require the independent third party inspector to conduct an item-by-item re-
inspection of the Revenue Vehicles and Equipment to verify whether satisfactory repair
of the MCTD assets has been completed.

Any repair identified on a re-inspection report shall be addressed at CONTRACTOR's
cost, subject to verification and sign off by the MCTD (or the MCTD’s designee), on an
item-by-item basis and, at the MCTD’s sole discretion, may be performed by
CONTRACTOR or another entity subject to the MCTD’s approval. The process of
inspection and re-inspection and repair of the Revenue Vehicles and Equipment shall
continue until the date that the incoming contractor assumes responsibility for Revenue
Service under a subsequent contract. Nothing in this Section shall be interpreted to
relieve CONTRACTOR of its obligation to maintain the MCTD-provided assets during the
transition period. Further, the cost of any repairs identified on a re-inspection report
that are not completed by the initiation of Services under a contract immediately
subsequent to this Contract shall be withheld by the MCTD from CONTRACTOR'’s final
invoice under this Contract. The amount of the funds withheld will be sufficient to
effectuate the identified repairs that have not been completed by CONTRACTOR to the
MCTD’s satisfaction.

40

ltem 5



89

e. Final Day of Transition. During the twenty-four (24) hours prior to the Commencement
Date of the new contract (as set out in the transition schedule established by the
MCTD), the new contractor assuming responsibility for Revenue Service will conduct a
final quick inspection of the Revenue Vehicle fleet and note any safety items or body
damage. The MCTD, the outgoing CONTRACTOR and the incoming contractor shall also
be on hand for that inspection to verify the incoming contractor’s findings. The
independent third party, selected by the MCTD may also be present at the final
inspection and will facilitate the final turnover process. Any items identified in this final
inspection in addition to items previously identified by the third party inspector may
serve as a basis for the MCTD to withhold amounts from CONTRACTOR's final invoice in
accordance.

f. Disputes. If any dispute arises in the turnover inspection and audit process, the MCTD
shall first attempt to facilitate the resolution of such dispute through meetings and
conferences with CONTRACTOR and the new contractor. If the dispute remains
unresolved for thirty (30) calendar days, the MCTD may invoke an expedited mandatory
arbitration process, using an outside neutral arbitrator selected by the MCTD with the
concurrence of CONTRACTOR and the new contractor, for a final and binding decision
on all matters in dispute. In the absence of concurrence, the MCTD shall obtain a list of
potential arbitrators from the American Arbitration Association, and shall select the
neutral arbitrator from that list after consultation with the parties. Prior to binding
arbitration, the MCTD shall require the parties to participate in a mediation process
conducted by a neutral third party selected jointly by the parties. CONTRACTOR and the
new contractor shall participate in the mandatory arbitration process and the mediation
process. In addition, the MCTD may choose, in its discretion, to participate in the
arbitration and mediation processes. During the disputes process, the MCTD may, in its
discretion, direct CONTRACTOR to continue the process of repairing Revenue Vehicles,
Facilities and Equipment. If appropriate, the arbitration may address cost allocation for
repairs if that allocation is in dispute.

g. Consent of Parties. By execution of this Contract, the MCTD and CONTRACTOR hereby
consent to the mediation and arbitration process described in paragraph (6) and further
agree to comply fully with any resulting arbitration decision, subject to any rights to
contest such decision in accordance with applicable State law.

h. Costs. The costs of any mediation or arbitration under this subsection shall be borne
equally by CONTRACTOR and the new contractor.

i. Documentation. If CONTRACTOR claims any Equipment as its property at the end of the
Contract Term, it shall support that claim with invoices and other appropriate evidence
of ownership.

SEC. 307 VEHICLES — CLEANING AND APPEARANCE

A. General Obligation. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the appearance of all Revenue
Vehicles and Support Vehicles and shall maintain the cleanliness of vehicles in accordance with
the performance standards set forth in this Section and CONTRACTOR'’s Vehicle Maintenance
Plan.

B. Standards. CONTRACTOR shall clean and maintain all Revenue and Support Vehicles used by
CONTRACTOR in carrying out services under this Contract in accordance with the following
standards: Vehicle interiors shall be swept or vacuumed, gum shall be removed from the floors

41

ltem 5



90

and all passenger seats, windows shall be cleaned on the interior, and vehicles shall be mopped
daily to remove all dirt and debris.

a. Vehicles shall be cleaned using only fragrance free cleaning chemicals that are
recommend by the OEM and that are not offensive or injurious to individuals with a
heightened sensitivity to environmental toxins and fragrances.

b. Vehicle exteriors and wheels shall be washed and scrubbed as needed, but no less
than twice weekly.

c. The complete undercarriage and engine of each Revenue Vehicle shall be steam
cleaned as needed but no less than annually.

d. All components of the vehicle body, appurtenances, and frame shall be sound and
undamaged while in revenue service.

e. All vehicles shall undergo insect extermination as necessary to eliminate the
presence of insects. The extermination process shall be conducted while vehicles
are out of service. CONTRACTOR is expressly prohibited from using any vermin
control product or application for such a product that would be hazardous, when a
vehicle is in operation, to the health and well-being of the passengers, service
animals or the vehicle operator.

f.  Each Revenue Vehicle shall be fully detailed inside and out every one hundred-
twenty (120) calendar days.

g. All seat cushions that are tethered, faded, worn or torn shall be replaced.

SEC. 309 EQUIPMENT

A.

MCTD Responsibility. The MCTD shall provide CONTRACTOR with the Equipment necessary to
support the operation and maintenance of Services under this Contract. The Equipment
provided by the MCTD is listed in Attachment B.

CONTRACTOR Responsibilities. CONTRACTOR shall provide all Equipment necessary to support
the operation and maintenance of Contract services, with the exception of 1) any equipment
and spare parts purchased with the existing MCTD-provided Revenue Vehicles; 2) capital
equipment and spare parts purchased by MTCD for any new MCTD-purchased vehicles; 3) MCTD
supplied MERA Radio equipment.

SEC. 310 VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT INVENTORY

A.

Initial Equipment Inventory. The MCTD shall provide CONTRACTOR with an initial inventory and
list of all Equipment to be provided. The existing Equipment owned or leased by the MCTD may
be utilized only for the provision of Services by CONTRACTOR during the term of the Contract,
without additional consideration to the MCTD.

Obligation to Return Equipment. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for returning to the MCTD,
at the termination of this Contract Equipment that is of equivalent type, value (as of the date
acquired), and condition as the Vehicles and Equipment identified in the initial inventory and
Equipment list, Normal Wear and Tear excluded in accordance with the return of vehicles
provisions found in Section 408.

42

ltem 5



91

C. Final Equipment Inventory. The MCTD shall conduct a final inventory prior to the conclusion of
the Contract Term. If any Equipment or other property is determined, on the basis of a
comparison to the initial inventory, to be missing, damaged, otherwise unavailable for use, or in
a condition that is in excess of Normal Wear and Tear, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for
either replacing such Equipment, tools, or other property, or compensating the MCTD for its
replacement value. The MCTD may deduct any amounts due to the MCTD for the replacement
of Equipment or property from the final monthly payment due to CONTRACTOR.

D. Sales of Surplus Property. CONTRACTOR shall, in consultation with the MCTD, identify any
MCTD Equipment or other property that it believes to be obsolete or no longer needed for
Services. The MCTD may sell or otherwise dispose of such property in accordance with State and
Federal law. The proceeds of any such sale shall be the property of the MCTD.

SEC. 311 FAREBOXES AND FAREBOX MAINTENANCE

A. MCTD Obligations. The MCTD shall provide fareboxes and Clipper equipment to CONTRACTOR
on all new vehicles. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for farebox and Clipper maintenance.
Farebox and Clipper maintenance shall include the ongoing maintenance of the equipment and
any post-maintenance set-up. Such maintenance shall be performed in such a manner so as to
cause minimal disruption in CONTRACTOR’s operations. The MCTD shall also provide farebox
keys to CONTRACTOR so it can perform on-road emergency services such as gaining access for
clearing jammed fareboxes.

The Contractor will store spare farebox units, spare parts, diagnostic units, Clipper units and
spare parts, and maintain an adequate inventory of card stock. Card stock must be stored in a
temperature-controlled environment.

B. CONTRACTOR Obligations. CONTRACTOR will ensure functionality, provide ongoing training to
personnel on proper use of, provide ongoing maintenance, and OEM recommended
preventative maintenance on the fareboxes (GFl) and Clipper units (Cubic). CONTRACTOR’s
vehicle operators shall record and maintain all data necessary for the satisfactory operation of
the farebox and Clipper.

C. Farebox Key Controls. The MCTD shall issue CONTRACTOR farebox keys to enable CONTRACTOR
staff to access MCTD fare boxes. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for adhering to the following
procedures and requirements: (1) maintaining a written log of all personnel issued farebox keys,
which shall be made available to MCTD upon request; (2) implementing safeguards to inspect
key inventory quarterly; (3) collecting keys from personnel who are no-longer employed by
CONTRACTOR; and (4) reporting in the log all keys acquired to replace lost, stolen, or otherwise
unaccounted for keys. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the cost of replacing any lost or
stolen keys it is issued, and shall be responsible for the cost of re-keying all fare boxes in the
event that any key has been lost, stolen, or otherwise cannot be accounted for.

D. Clipper Revenue Data Responsibility. The Contractor will ensure that all Clipper units are fully
operational and responsible for Clipper data downloading and uploading from each bus at least
every two days. The Contractor will be responsible for reviewing weekly recurring reports sent
by Cubic to ensure that all Clipper units are working properly. If vehicles have uploaded data to
the system within a week, contractor will be responsible for making special accommodation to
either established communication using the vehicle or by swapping out the onboard equipment
and docking to an active vehicle or test console to upload the data.

SEC. 312 INTELLIGENT TRANSPORTATION TECHNOLOGY
43

ltem 5



92

A. MCTD Obligations. The MCTD shall provide Intelligent Transportation (IT) technology to
CONTRACTOR on all new vehicles.

B. CONTRACTOR Obligations — AVL/AVAS System. CONTRACTOR will ensure functionality, provide
ongoing training to personnel on proper use of, provide ongoing maintenance, and OEM
recommended preventative maintenance on the AVL (Syncromatics) system. The Contractor will
monitor service via Syncromatics’ Tracking/Live Dispatch modules and ensure that every
operator is signed into the correct vehicle assignment before leaving the yard. CONTRACTOR will
establish and maintain direct contact with Syncromatics for ongoing support. MCTD, at its
discretion during the term of the Contract, reserves the right to establish a 3™ party
maintenance agreement directly with the OEM for the AVL system.

C. CONTRACTOR Obligations - APC System. CONTRACTOR will ensure functionality, provide
ongoing training to personnel on proper use of, provide ongoing maintenance, and OEM
recommended preventative maintenance on the APC (Syncromatics) system. The CONTRACTOR
will, on a quarterly basis, recalibrate the APC sensors on all vehicles. CONTRACTOR will establish
and maintain direct contact with OEM for ongoing support. MCTD, at its discretion, during the
term of the Contract, reserves the right to establish a 3™ party ongoing maintenance agreement
directly with the OEM for the APC system.

D. CONTRACTOR Obligations Mobile Digital Video Surveillance. CONTRACTOR will ensure
functionality, provide ongoing training to personnel on proper use of, provide ongoing
maintenance, and OEM recommended preventative maintenance on the (Seon) Mobile Video
Surveillance system. CONTRACTOR will establish and maintain direct contact with OEM for
ongoing support needs. MCTD reserves the right to establish a 3™ party ongoing maintenance
agreement directly with the OEM.

The onboard camera systems record audio and video for an average of up to a month depending
on hours of actual bus operation. The Contractor will be responsible for retrieving requested
data on occasion and conducting preventive maintenance activities during PM cycles.

Marin Transit is exploring integrating their onboard camera system with WiFi during the term of
this contract. Marin Transit will work with the Contractor to coordinate equipment installations
and provide training support to maintain any associated equipment with the Camera-WiFI
integration.

E. CONTRACTOR shall house networking equipment, provide necessary server rack space and
cooling for the IT technology, and have sufficient internet data communications to support a
minimum access to Marin Transit’s web based data management system. CONTRACTOR shall
provide all desktop computers to be used by dispatchers, supervisors, and data clerks to interact
with TransTrack, Clipper, and GFl. CONTRACTOR is required to use any IT software package or
hardware as directed by MCTD and for coordinating with MCTD on the proper staff training for
use of said software/hardware.

SEC. 313 FARE STRUCTURE

A. MCTD and CONTRACTOR Responsibilities. The MCTD shall determine the fare rate and fare
structure for Services. The MCTD reserves the right, in its discretion, to implement any fare
adjustments deemed appropriate, subject to any required public hearing process. CONTRACTOR
shall be responsible for implementing and complying with the MCTD’s fare policy and structure.

B. Methods of Payment. CONTRACTOR shall accept all means of payment and onboard MCTD pass
sales approved from time to time by the MCTD, including, but not limited to, cash, passes,
tickets, Clipper cards, and other electronic transit fare media. All methods of payment by

44

ltem 5



93

passengers shall be recorded by each vehicle operator. The MCTD shall notify CONTRACTOR of
all acceptable methods of payment. CONTRACTOR shall not accept methods of payment that
have expired or are otherwise invalid, and shall compensate the MCTD for an inappropriate
method of payment accepted. CONTRACTOR shall insure that passengers are required to show
proper identification.

SEC. 314 FARE COLLECTION
A. CONTRACTOR Obligations.

a. Fare Recording. CONTRACTOR'’s vehicle operators shall receive all fare payment into the
MCTD supplied farebox or Clipper equipment and must verify that each passenger by
boarding type (youth, senior, transfer, etc.) is accounted for. CONTRACTOR shall maintain
the operation of the farebox and Clipper equipment to the satisfaction of the MTCD. Failure
to pay a fare is considered a violation of MTCD policy and shall be reported by the vehicle
operator.

b. Revenue Collection and Deposit. CONTRACTOR will use the MCTD provided audit unit to
receive and store farebox revenue. The Contractor will be responsible for emptying the vault
weekly into a locking bag or other tamper-proof container (provided by MCTD) and taking
the cash bag directly to the San Rafael Bank of Marin branch to be deposited into the MCTD
designated account. The Bank of Marin is located at 999 Andersen Drive, Suite 190 in San
Rafael. Revenue is to be counted by the bank. If Marin Transit finds a revenue discrepancy,
the CONTRACTOR will be responsible for assisting in identifying and addressing the issue
related to the source of the discrepancy.

B. Changes. The MCTD may make changes to the fare collection and recording process.
CONTRACTOR shall cooperate in implementing any such changes and shall implement
appropriate procedures consistent with all such changes.

SEC. 315 FUEL

A. CONTRACTOR Obligation. The MCTD will provide CONTRACTOR with access to the fueling
facilities at the Marin County Civic Center Fleet facility. CONTRACTOR is responsible for
managing fuel cards and working within the County of Marin fueling guidelines with respect to
fueling times and access to fuel islands. Contractor may choose to fuel vehicles on-site at their
facility or off-site at a commercial facility.

In the event that CONTRACTOR chooses to fuel at locations other than the Marin County Civic
Center and MCTD has approved the CONTRACTOR's Vehicle Fueling Plan to do so, the
CONTRACTOR be paid directly by Marin Transit.

B. Usage and Reporting. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for verifying fuel deliveries and usage
to adequately measure amounts of fuel received and dispensed and reported to MCTD. If
CONTRACTOR fuels at locations other than the Marin County Civic Center, they shall submit
delivery slips or invoices as proof of usage, per approval by MCTD, when seeking fuel
reimbursement. CONTRACTOR shall also provide daily fueling records including mileage and fuel
dispensed in TransTrack or another format designated by MCTD.

SEC. 316 SAFETY, SECURITY, AND EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM

A. CONTRACTOR Obligations. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the safety and security of the
passengers and the Vehicles, Systems, and Equipment provided by the MTCD for the

45

ltem 5



94

CONTRACTOR's use, and for providing a safe workplace for its employees in the performance of
Vehicle and Equipment maintenance responsibilities. CONTRACTOR shall work cooperatively
with MTCD staff, other contractors, and local, State and Federal representatives in developing
and implementing safety and security procedures. CONTRACTOR shall provide MCTD with a
copy of its Safety, Security, and Emergency Management Program (to be made part of this
document as Attachment J). CONTRACTOR's Safety, Security, and Emergency Management
Program will be complementary to any MTCD Emergency Response, Safety and Communications
Plans.

Emergency Preparedness Plan

MCTD will work with the Contractor to develop, implement, and maintain an Emergency
Preparedness Plan. The Emergency Preparedness Plan will be updated as necessary and
submitted to Marin Transit on an annual basis. See Section 508 in this contract. The Plan, at a
minimum, shall address prioritizing requests for service during an emergency, Intra-agency and
interagency communication and backup capabilities, staffing plan including essential personnel
and staffing capable of multiple roles, a vehicle inventory, documentation procedures,
communication protocols, and after-action evaluation. Contractor shall provide Marin Transit
with a copy of its Emergency Preparedness Plan to be made part of this document as
Attachment M.

CONTRACTOR Personnel.

a. Responsible Staff. CONTRACTOR, as part of its Management Plan, shall designate its
operations and safety/training managers to direct the CONTRACTOR's safety, system
security and emergency preparedness programs. This staff person shall have sufficient
training and experience to assist the MTCD in the coordination of emergency preparedness
activities. The designated managers will complete the following National Incident
Management System (NIMS) training courses within the first three months of the contract:
IS-700-National Incident Management System, An Introduction and ICS100 — Introduction to
the Incident Command System. Both courses are available through an interactive web-
based program. Information on NIMS training is available at:
https://www.fema.gov/pdf/emergency/nims/nims_training_program.pdf

MCTD will work with CONTRACTOR to identify appropriate emergency management training
for staff and certification programs for designated managers.

b. Attendance at Meetings. CONTRACTOR shall require its operations manager to participate,
on behalf of CONTRACTOR, in regular meetings and special meetings with the MCTD as
requested.

c. Activities. CONTRACTOR shall be required to participate in activities in support of the
MTCD’s efforts to meet and prepare for emergencies. As directed by MCTD staff,
CONTRACTOR's operations manager shall participate in select exercises and training
opportunities under the Marin County Emergency Operations Center. CONTRACTOR’s
managers assigned to system security and emergency preparedness shall coordinate these
events with the designated MCTD staff and additional CONTRACTOR staff if required, and
shall arrange for the use of appropriate MCTD assets if needed.

d. Training. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that training of all Managers, Supervisors and Front Line
employees follows Federal, local, state recommendations, and includes:

46

ltem 5


https://www.fema.gov/pdf/emergency/nims/nims_training_program.pdf

95

i. Training in emergency and incident response and personal security training
(e.g., Drug Free Work Place Initiatives, Amber Alert and Community Safe
House Programs, Employee Assistance Programs, and Workplace Violence
Prevention and Awareness Programs); and

ii. Safety/OSHA related training (e.g., first aid, personal protective equipment,
etc.).

e. CONTRACTOR shall conduct refresher and/or re-training on an annual basis. CONTRACTOR
shall maintain documentation of training and shall provide it to the MTCD upon request.

D. Emergencies.

a. Response by CONTRACTOR. Upon verbal or written authorization from the MCTD Project
Manager, CONTRACTOR shall respond to emergency situations within Marin County with
CONTRACTOR personnel and MCTD-owned vehicles. In the event of a major emergency or
natural disaster, such as a fire, flood, or man-made catastrophe, CONTRACTOR shall make
labor, management, transportation, and communications resources available to the extent
feasible for emergency assistance. Contractor will deploy vehicles as directed by MCTD or
the Marin County Emergency Operations Center.

b. Record keeping. MCTD will be obligated to compensate CONTRACTOR for emergency service
that significantly exceeds the normal expense of operating the service. MCTD will provide
CONTRACTOR with systems to document costs for paratransit staff hours, vehicle operating
hours, and miles over and above the baseline cost of maintaining normal service.

c. Safety. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the safety of its personnel and for any
worker’s compensation claims that might result from performance of emergency service.

E. Audits. CONTRACTOR shall conduct a self-audit on safety, security, and emergency
preparedness on an annual basis. CONTRACTOR shall also participate in periodic MTCD audits
and monitoring. These audits/monitoring will be based upon Federal; State, and local programs
and guidelines, audit results, and MTCD-established policies and procedures. The MTCD may
conduct site visits of the Facilities at any time during the Contract Term for purposes of audits
and monitoring. CONTRACTOR shall make available any and all records, files, logs and associated
documentation to the MTCD’s designated representatives as requested. CONTRACTOR shall also
assist the MTCD during any local, State, or Federal safety or security audits.

F. Reporting. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for regular reporting of information to the MTCD
relating to system safety and security. The following is a reference list of required reports and
the timing of the report.

a. Monthly.
i. Security and Emergency Incident Report.
ii. NTD Safety and Security Report.
iii. Training sessions completed related to system safety and emergency.

(Training should be classified as either CONTRACTOR-required or a Federal
or State requirement.)

47

ltem 5



96

b. Quarterly. Safety meeting agenda and minutes, including corrective actions taken as a
result of items identified through the safety committee.

c. Semi-Annually.

i OSHA Hazard Analysis.

d. Annually.

i. Results of annual self-audit.

ii. Year End Trend Analysis, to be included in Monthly Safety/Security incident
Trend Analysis.

As other reports are required by local, State or Federal agencies, the CONTRACTOR will be
notified of its responsibility to provide those reports and information.

G. Workplace Safety. CONTRACTOR shall provide a safe workplace and safe working environment
for all staff and all operations/maintenance activities, in accordance with required Federal,
State, and local requirements. CONTRACTOR shall exercise reasonable care in discovering and
preventing violations and in correcting identified hazards.

SEC. 317 ADVERTISING

A. MCTD Rights and Responsibilities. The MTCD shall be responsible for marketing, public
relations, and advertising services, and its decisions on all such matters shall be final. The MTCD
shall establish the terms and conditions of any interior or exterior advertising, including the
selection of advertising contractors. Proceeds of any advertisement shall be the sole property of
the MTCD.

B. CONTRACTOR Obligations.

a. Cooperation. CONTRACTOR shall cooperate with the MCTD in the implementation of the
MCTD’s marketing and advertising activities.

b. Rider Alerts. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for posting, or otherwise making available
on board, passenger information provided by the MCTD.

c. Facilitation. CONTRACTOR shall make requested vehicles available at the assigned
maintenance facilities for installation, repair and maintenance of advertising, upon a
minimum of twenty-four (24) hour notice, unless it notifies the MCTD in advance that it
cannot comply due to operational requirements. CONTRACTOR shall permit access to any
Revenue Vehicles available in the yard for advertising activities so long as it does not impact
service requirements.

SEC. 318 COOPERATION WITH OTHER CONTRACTORS.

CONTRACTOR acknowledges that one or more other contractors of the MCTD have certain
responsibilities regarding the provision of transit or paratransit services in Marin County. CONTRACTOR
agrees to cooperate and coordinate fully with such other contractors when appropriate, and further
agrees not to interfere with such other contractors in the performance of their respective duties.

ARTICLE 4—COMPENSATION AND COMMERCIAL TERMS
48

ltem 5



97

SEC. 401 COMPENSATION TO CONTRACTOR

A. Basis for Compensation. All compensation to the CONTRACTOR for services under this Contract
shall be in accordance with the Fixed Monthly Fee and the Revenue Hour Rate for each year of
the Base Contract Term and for each option year, as set forth in Attachment A to this Contract.

B. Compensation for Fixed and Variable Costs. CONTRACTOR’s fixed costs shall be compensated
monthly on the basis of a Fixed Monthly Fee in accordance with Attachment A. CONTRACTOR's
variable costs for the operation of services and maintenance of the Revenue and Support
Vehicles and Equipment, and associated services provided under this Contract, shall be
compensated monthly on the basis of a Revenue Hour Rate in accordance with Attachment A.

C. Monthly Amount Payable. The amount due to the CONTRACTOR each month for its services
under this Contract will equal the sum of (1) the Fixed Monthly Fee; plus (2) the number of
Revenue Hours actually operated in that month, multiplied by the applicable Revenue Hour
Rate. Any Special Services provided by the CONTRACTOR shall be compensated using the
Revenue Hour Rate in effect at the time those services are provided. CONTRACTOR shall not
invoice the MTCD for work not performed.

D. Scope of Compensation.

a. Inclusion in Rates. Except as provided in paragraph (2) of this subsection, the compensation
provided to the CONTRACTOR as described in this Section shall cover all costs of services
provided and Work performed under this Contract, including (a) all costs of operating,
maintaining, and repairing the Revenue Vehicles and replacing vehicle components and
parts as necessary; (b) all costs of operating and maintaining and repairing the Support
Vehicles (whether supplied by the MTCD or the Contractor) and replacing vehicle
components and parts as necessary; (c) all costs of maintaining and repairing the Equipment
provided by the MTCD; (d) the costs of purchasing or otherwise obtaining any Equipment,
materials, and supplies (including spare parts and tires) necessary for the performance of
services (other than Equipment provided by the MTCD); (e) all costs of training; (f) all costs
associated with the implementation of the CONTRACTOR’S required plans and programs; (g)
the cost of repairs and parts for vehicle accident damage; (h) all costs associated with the
administration and enforcement of warranties; (j) all costs associated with the removal of
hazardous materials; and (k) all costs of preparing vehicles for donation, disposal or removal
from Revenue Service.

b. Exclusion from Rates. CONTRACTOR shall not be responsible for (a) fuel costs of the
Revenue Vehicles used in providing services under this Contract; and (b) engine and
transmission overhauls as provided in Section 306B(h).

E. Fixed Price Obligations. CONTRACTOR’S Fixed Monthly Fee and Revenue Hour Rates set forth in
Attachment A are firm fixed price amounts that are not subject to increase during the Base
Contract Term or the option years. CONTRACTOR acknowledges and agrees that it assumes the
risk of increases in the cost of doing business over the Base Contract Term and the option years,
subject to any rate adjustments it may seek pursuant to Section 305F. However, in the event of
an unanticipated and exceptional change in applicable law or regulations after the date of
execution of this Contract that directly results in additional costs of providing operations and
maintenance services hereunder, the CONTRACTOR may request that the MTCD allow an
adjustment in its Fixed Monthly Fee or Service Hour Rate. The MTCD is not obligated to agree to
such a request, but will review, discuss, and consider any such request in good faith.

49

ltem 5



98

F. Price Summary. CONTRACTOR'S Fixed Monthly Payment and Revenue Hour Rates are based
upon the CONTRACTOR’S Detailed Base Year and Option Year Price Forms, which shall be
utilized as provided in subsection G hereof.

G. Total Cost Summary Information. The Contractor’s Detailed Base Year and Option Year Price
Forms information may be used by the MTCD and the Contractor for the following purposes: (a)
determination of disputes over costs or invoices; (b) determination of costs associated with
change orders, service changes, or Contract amendments; (c) resolution of claims; (d) audits by
the MTCD or other Federal or State agencies with audit authority; and (e) other Contract
oversight purposes determined appropriate by the MTCD in its discretion.

SEC. 402 INVOICES

A. In General. During the term of the Contract, CONTRACTOR shall submit monthly invoices to the
MCTD’s Accounts Payable office, in the format prescribed by the MCTD, with appropriate
documentation in accordance with this Section.

B. Billing Process.

a. Invoice. CONTRACTOR shall submit an invoice to the MCTD for each month of service by the
10" of the following month. The monthly invoice shall (a) set forth the applicable Fixed
Monthly Fee and Revenue Hour Rate; (b) specify the number of Revenue Hours operated in
the month; (c) attach the monthly TransTrack report showing the specified number of
Revenue Hours operated; and (d) calculate the total amount due.

b. Net Amount Payable. The net amount payable to the CONTRACTOR for a month will be the
total amount due under paragraph (B)(a), less the sum of: (a) any fares collected as required
by Section 313; (b) any liquidated damages assessed by the MTCD for that month under
Section 403 hereof; (c) any fuel charges incurred by the MTCD related to operation of
CONTRACTOR's other operations.

c. Payment. Subject to subsection C hereof, the MTCD shall make payment within thirty (30)
calendar days after each invoice is received and approved.

d. Reservation of Rights. The MTCD reserves the right to obtain from the CONTRACTOR any
information needed to support any charges included in an invoice.

C. MCTD Review. If the MCTD determines, based on its review of an invoice, that payment has
been requested for services that were not provided in accordance with this Contract or that
failed to meet service specifications, or if the MCTD otherwise questions or objects to the
contents of an invoice, MCTD shall so notify CONTRACTOR and give CONTRACTOR the
opportunity to correct the invoice or provide further necessary documentation or explanation
within ten (10) calendar days. If such correction or documentation is not provided to the
satisfaction of the MCTD within the identified time, the MCTD will withhold payment of the
disputed amount and make payment of any undisputed amount due.

D. Audits and Statements.

a. Annual Statement. CONTRACTOR shall have prepared, within ninety (90) calendar days
after each anniversary date of this Contract, an annual financial statement of its
revenues and expenses. MCTD reserves the right to audit CONTRACTOR’s annual
statements.

50

ltem 5



99

b. Discretionary Audits. In addition to any audits of CONTRACTOR's financial statements
performed under paragraph (a.), the MCTD reserves the right to conduct, at any time,
an audit of any records of CONTRACTOR that are related directly or indirectly to the
services provided under this Contract. The cost of any discretionary audit will be paid by
the MCTD.

c. Adjustments. Any overpayment or underpayment uncovered in any audit under
paragraph (a) or (b) may be charged or credited (as the case may be) against future
amounts otherwise due to CONTRACTOR. Appropriate financial adjustments to future
payments shall be made by the MCTD based upon any inconsistency, irregularity,
discrepancy, under-billing, or unsubstantiated billing revealed as a result of any audit.

d. Notice to CONTRACTOR. Prior to withholding payment or deducting amounts from
future invoices, the MCTD will give notice to CONTRACTOR and provide CONTRACTOR
with an opportunity to state its position on the issue presented. Any dispute that cannot
be resolved by CONTRACTOR and the MCTD is subject to resolution under Section 509.

E. Address for Invoices. Invoices for payment shall forwarded to:

Accounts Payable

Marin Transit

711 Grand Avenue #110
San Rafael CA 94901

Invoices shall be accompanied by any reports required by Section 501 of this Contract.

F. Final Month Invoice. The MCTD may, in its discretion, withhold all or any portion of the
amounts due for the final month of service by CONTRACTOR, pending the resolution of any
disputes, the successful completion of all transition requirements under Section 507, and the
completion of the turnover audit process (including the performance of any necessary
maintenance and repairs) under Section 306G hereof.

SEC. 403 LIQUIDATED DAMAGES
A. Notification and Imposition of Liquidated Damages.

a. Notification Steps. The MCTD intends to provide notice to CONTRACTOR for the first
occurrence that can be the basis of the assessment of liquidated damages under subsection
C of this Section. Upon the occurrence of the second violation at any time during the
Contract term, the MCTD intends to provide written notice to CONTRACTOR as a warning
that liquidated damages will be assessed on the occurrence of another violation. A third
violation shall be the basis of the imposition of the liquidated damages at issue.
Notwithstanding the preceding sentence: (a) the MCTD may, in its discretion, impose
liqguidated damages for any violation without following the three-step process described
above; and (b) such three-step process shall not apply to vehicle maintenance liquidated
damages under subsections C (3) and (4).

b. Multiple Assessments. The MCTD does not intend to impose multiple liquidated damages

under this Section for the same incident, occurrence, or other event, but retains the
discretion to do so in appropriate circumstances.

51

ltem 5



100

c. Moratorium. The MCTD shall not impose liquidated damages under this Section for the first
ninety (90) days of the first year of the Base Contract Term, except for any liquidated
damages that relate to violations of safety requirements.

B. Deduction and Assessment of Liquidated Damages.

a. Assessment by MCTD.

Basis of Assessment. The liquidated damages set forth in subsection A shall
be calculated, assessed, and reported by the MCTD to CONTRACTOR on a
monthly basis, in accordance with subparagraph (b) hereof. Liquidated
damages shall be assessed on the basis of the information provided in
CONTRACTOR's invoices, reports, and other documentation as required
under this Contract, as well as through the various reporting mechanisms
available to the MCTD, including Communications System reports, visual
observations, inspections, ride checks, data surveys, passenger comments,
and such other means the MCTD may utilize.

Notice. The MCTD will provide CONTRACTOR with a listing of liquidated
damages assessed each month, itemized by category and dollar amount.
The MCTD will establish appropriate forms for such notification and
assessment.

b. Response by CONTRACTOR.

CONTRACTOR shall respond to the MCTD in writing within five (5) days of
receipt of the notice of assessment of liquidated damages. CONTRACTOR
shall have an opportunity to demonstrate to the MCTD that it made all
reasonable efforts to comply with its contractual obligations and that its
failure to comply was due to circumstances beyond the control of
CONTRACTOR, or any person for whom CONTRACTOR is legally or
contractually responsible, as consistent with the Force Majeure definition
set out in Section 410D. The circumstances beyond CONTRACTOR’s control
do not include delays which may reasonably be anticipated on a daily basis
on any given roadway or in any given area.

On the basis of CONTRACTOR'’s demonstration under subparagraph (a), the
MCTD reserves the right to reduce or waive the liquidated damages at issue.
In the absence of a sufficient demonstration from CONTRACTOR, all
amounts of liquidated damages imposed under this Section shall be
deducted by the MCTD from CONTRACTOR's next monthly invoice.

c. Agreement of CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR understands and agrees that if it fails to meet
the schedule, maintenance, and other performance requirements of this Contract, the
MCTD will suffer damages which cannot be quantified as of the date of execution of this
Contract. CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to have deducted from its invoices, or to pay directly
upon request, the liquidated damages amounts stated in this Section. CONTRACTOR further
agrees that amounts payable under this Section are in the nature of liquidated damages and
are not a penalty, and that such amounts are reasonable in light of the actual or anticipated
harm incurred and the difficulties of proof of actual loss.

52

ltem 5



101

C. Categories of Liquidated Damages. The following liquidated damages shall be assessed by the
MCTD on CONTRACTOR for each failure to perform as described below.

Operating Liquidated Damages

Description of Violation Penalty

1) Early Trips

$500 per occurrence

2) Late Pull Outs (>10 minutes)

$75 per occurrence

3) Missed Trips (>20 minutes) (cost of trip + $200)
4) More than 5 Verified Complaints per Month $75 per additional
complaint

5) Failure to Submit Reports

S75 per report

6) Falsification of Reports

$1,000

7) Failure to Input Data into TransTrack

$100 per occurrence

8) Heating or Air Conditioning Failure in Service

§75

9) Unsafe Operation of Vehicle $100
10) Misuse of Marin Transit Vehicle $1,000
11) Use of Cell Phone during Vehicle Operation $1,000
12) Operator Discourtesy $75
13) Operator not Wearing Seatbelt during Vehicle Operation $100
14) Operators not Adequately Trained or Failing to Properly Operate $100
Fareboxes or Destination signs.

15) Schedules or Complaint Cards Not Available on Vehicles S75
16) Rider Alerts/ Posters not Posted on Vehicles S75

17) Radio Communication Not Maintained

$100 per occurrence
after two warnings

18) ADA Related Operator Error, e.g., Failure to Announce Stops,
Failure to properly secure wheelchair.

$75

19) Failure to Complete Operator Daily Pre-and Post-Trip Inspection

$100

20) Negligence of CONTRACTOR Staff Resulting in Serious Injury to
Passengers

$500

Maintenance Liquidated Damages

Description of Violation Penalty

53

ltem 5



102

1) Failure to Complete Scheduled Inspection/Qil Change/Lube $75
Intervals/Engine Tune-Ups

2) Failure to Maintain Clean Vehicles $100/day
3) Failure to Complete Preventive Maintenance of Air Conditioning $75

4) Insufficient Inventory of Spare Parts

$150 per day bus out
of service

5) Failure to Make Timely Repairs of Accident Damage

$150

6) Failure to Make Timely Repairs of AVL, MDT, APC, or Camera systems

$150 per occurrence

7) Not Maintaining Clear Vehicle Maintenance Records

$500

8) Not Providing Maintenance Reports to Marin Transit $75

9) Failing an Inspection by California Highway Patrol (CHP) $750
10) Safety Violations in Maintenance Yard or Vehicle Condition $500
11) Failure to Keep Wheelchair Lifts in Proper Working Condition $750
12) Failure to Remove Graffiti from Vehicles in a Timely Manner $750
13) Failure to Keep Glass and Windows in Proper Condition $100
14) Failure to Make Timely Repairs of Fareboxes or Clipper Units $500

D. Reservation of Rights. Neither the agreement of the MCTD to accept liquidated damages as
compensation for its damages for CONTRACTOR's failure to perform, nor the imposition or
assessment of any liquidated damages under this Section, shall affect any other rights and
remedies of the MCTD under this Contract, including the right of the MCTD to terminate this
Contract in accordance with the termination provisions hereof. In addition, in the event of a
pattern of repeated failures by CONTRACTOR in any of the liquidated damages categories in
subsection C, the MCTD may in its discretion double or triple the stated liquidated damage

amount.

SEC. 404 RISK OF LOSS OR DAMAGE

CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the Revenue and Support Vehicles, Equipment, tires, supplies, and
Facilities, whether owned by CONTRACTOR or the MCTD, used in the performance of the services under
the Contract, and shall also be responsible for all losses or damages (whether or not the fault of
CONTRACTOR) with respect to any such vehicles, equipment, tires, or supplies, subject to Normal Wear
and Tear. In the event of damage to or loss of a Revenue Vehicle due to an accident, CONTRACTOR shall
be responsible for replacement costs of the vehicle at the depreciated value of said vehicle at the time

of lose.

SEC. 405 INSURANCE

A. Required Insurance. CONTRACTOR shall carry and pay premiums for insurance of the types and
with the limits of liability set forth in this subsection. Such insurance shall be maintained in
effect at all times during the term of the Contract and shall cover all events occurring or arising
during the term of the Contract (commonly known as tail coverage). The insurance required is as

follows:

a. Workers’ Compensation Insurance, including Employers’ Liability, with limits of not less than
$1,000,000, covering all of CONTRACTOR’s employees engaged in work under the Contract
as required under the Workers’ Compensation Act of the State of California.

b. General Liability Insurance covering the occupied and utilized Facilities provided by the
MCTD, other premises used for storage and maintenance of vehicles used in performance of

54

ltem 5



103

the Contract, and bus stops, with limits of liability of not less than $2,000,000 each
occurrence combined single limit and $10,000,000 general policy aggregate if applicable.
Such liability insurance shall also include coverage for Personal Injury Liability, Contractual
Liability, and Liability for Independent CONTRACTOR.

c. Automobile Liability Insurance covering all Revenue Vehicles and Support Vehicles used in
connection with the work performed under the Contract, with limits of not less than
$10,000,000 each occurrence combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage.

d. Automobile Physical Damage Insurance on all MCTD-owned Revenue Vehicles covering
collision and fire, theft, combined additional coverage with limits of liability not less than the
actual cash value of the vehicle at time of loss or the cost to repair or replace with like kind
and quality with deduction for depreciation. Deductibles shall not exceed $50,000 for each
loss, and MCTD shall be named Loss Payee under the policy. CONTRACTOR shall be
responsible for payment of any loss under the deductible amount.

MCTD Coverage. The MCTD (and its Governing Body, officers, employees and agents) shall be
named as an additional insured via additional insured endorsement for all commercial coverage
for all MCTD-owned or leased assets and for all liability coverage.

Notice. All insurance policies required in this Section shall be endorsed to provide a sixty (60)
calendar day written notice of cancellation, renewal, or material change to the MCTD.

Umbrella Policy. The limits of liability as required under this Section may be provided by a single
policy of insurance or a combination of policies including a so-called umbrella liability policy,
subject to prior approval of the MCTD; provided that such umbrella policy provides all of the
coverages required under subsection A.

Self-Insurance. Self-insurance programs are subject to prior approval by the MCTD upon review
of CONTRACTOR's financial capacity to provide such self-insurance. Any self-insurance program
utilized by a CONTRACTOR must provide the MCTD with at least the same coverage, limits of
liability, and protection as would be afforded by first dollar insurance meeting the requirements
of this Section.

Minimum Insurance Requirements. The types of insurance and limits of liability stated in this
Section are the minimum acceptable to the MCTD and shall in no way be construed as a
limitation of CONTRACTOR's liabilities and obligations arising out of the performance of the
Contract.

Subcontractors. CONTRACTOR shall require all subcontractors performing work under the
Contract to carry insurance to the types and with limits of liability as CONTRACTOR shall deem
appropriate and adequate. CONTRACTOR shall obtain and make available for inspection by the
MCTD upon request Certificates of Insurance evidencing insurance coverages carried by such
subcontractors.

MCTD Approval. All insurance required to be maintained or provided by CONTRACTOR and
subcontractors shall be with companies and through policies approved by the MCTD. All such
Insurance Companies shall carry a Best’s rating of A- or better Class VIl and be licensed by the
State of California. The MCTD has the right to inspect in person, prior to commencement of the
work, all of CONTRACTOR’s insurance policies in regard to required insurance coverages.

55

ltem 5



104

I. Certified Copies of Policies. Proof that required insurance coverage exists shall be furnished to
the MCTD in the form of certified copies of insurance policies within seven (7) Days after receipt
of notice of Contract award. Renewal or replacement policies shall be furnished five (5) Days
prior to the expiration date or termination date of any policy furnished in compliance with the
requirements of the Contract.

J. MCTD Purchase of Insurance. If at any time during the Contract term CONTRACTOR fails to
provide the insurance required above, the MCTD reserves the right, but not the obligation, to
purchase other insurance to protect the MCTD’s interests, and to charge CONTRACTOR, or
withhold from CONTRACTOR’s payments, the full cost of such insurance, plus a five percent (5%)
fee.

SEC. 406 INDEMNIFICATION

A. General Requirement. CONTRACTOR agrees to protect, defend, indemnify and hold the MCTD,
its Governing Body, officers, employees and agents, free and harmless from and against any and
all losses, penalties, damages, settlements, costs, charges, professional fees or other expenses
or liabilities of every kind and character arising out of or relating to any and all claims, liens,
demands, obligations, actions, proceedings or causes of action of every kind and character
(hereinafter collectively “claims”) in connection with or arising directly or indirectly out of the
Contract or the performance hereof by CONTRACTOR, any subcontractor of CONTRACTOR, or
any person for whom CONTRACTOR is legally or contractually responsible, whether or not it is
alleged or determined that the action on which the claim was based was caused by the
negligence or willful misconduct of CONTRACTOR, any subcontractor, or any other person for
whom CONTRACTOR is legally or contractually responsible. Without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, any and all such claims, relating to personal injury, any tangible or intangible
property right, or actual or alleged violation of any applicable statute, ordinance, administrative
order, rule or regulation, or decree of any court, shall be included in the indemnity hereunder.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to investigate, handle, respond to, provide defense for and defend
any such claims, at its sole expense and agrees to bear all other costs and expenses related
thereto, whether or not it is alleged or determined that CONTRACTOR was negligent, and
without regard to whether such claim is groundless, false, or fraudulent.

B. Handling of Claims. The MCTD agrees that it will notify CONTRACTOR in writing within ten (10)
Days of receipt or notice of any claim described in subsection A; provided that the failure of the
MCTD to so notify CONTRACTOR shall not relieve CONTRACTOR of any of its obligations under
this Section. CONTRACTOR shall have the right to assume the defense of all claims that might be
threatened or instituted, and agrees that it will assume all responsibility for the investigation,
handling, and defense of such claims unless the MCTD notifies CONTRACTOR that it elects to be
represented by counsel of its own selection in connection with any such claim. If the MCTD
elects to be represented by its own counsel, the MCTD will pay the costs of such representation.
The MCTD shall provide such assistance (except financial) for the defense of any claim as may be
reasonably required by CONTRACTOR. The MCTD shall not make any admission of liability with
respect to a claim or seek to settle or compromise a claim without the prior written consent of
CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR agrees to inform the MCTD as to all correspondence and
proceedings in respect to any claim as to which indemnity is sought and to consult with the
MCTD with respect to all matters relating to any claim.

SEC. 407 DISCLAIMER OF LIABILITY

The MCTD will not hold harmless, defend or indemnify CONTRACTOR for any liability whatsoever.

56

ltem 5



105

SEC. 408 TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE

A.

In General. The performance of work under this Contract may be terminated by the MCTD in
accordance with this Section in whole, or from time to time in part, whenever the MCTD
determines that such termination is in the best interest of the MCTD. Any such termination shall
be effected by delivery to CONTRACTOR of sixty (60) calendar days’ advance written notice of
termination specifying the extent to which performance of work under the Contract is
terminated and the date upon which such termination becomes effective.

Actions Following Termination Notice. Upon receipt of a notice of termination, and except as
otherwise directed by the MCTD, CONTRACTOR shall: (1) stop work under the Contract on the
date and to the extent specified in the notice of termination; (2) place no further orders or
subcontracts for materials, services, or Facilities, except as may be necessary for completion of
such portion of the work under the Contract as is not terminated; (3) terminate all orders and
subcontracts to the extent that they relate to the performance of work terminated by the notice
of termination; (4) assign to the MCTD in the manner, at the times, and to the extent directed by
the MCTD, all of the right, title and interest of CONTRACTOR under the orders and subcontracts
so terminated; (5) settle all outstanding liabilities and all claims arising out of such termination
of orders and subcontracts, with the approval or ratification of the MCTD, to the extent the
MCTD may require, which approval or ratification shall be final for all the purposes of this
Section; (6) transfer title to the MCTD and deliver in the manner, at the times, and to the extent,
if any, directed by the MCTD, supplies, equipment, and other material produced as a part of, or
acquired in connection with the performance of the work terminated, and any information and
other property which, if the Contract had been completed, would have been required to be
furnished to the MCTD; (7) complete any such part of the work as shall not have been
terminated by the notice of termination; and (8) take such action as may be necessary, or as the
MCTD may direct, for the protection and preservation of the property related to the Contract
which is in the possession of CONTRACTOR and in which the MCTD has or may acquire an
interest. Payments by the MCTD to CONTRACTOR shall be made by the date of termination but
not thereafter. Except as otherwise provided, settlement of claims by CONTRACTOR under this
Section shall be in accordance with the provisions set forth in 48 CFR Part 49, as amended from
time to time.

Return of Vehicles. Upon termination or completion of the contract, the CONTRACTOR will be
responsible for returning all vehicles and equipment to Marin Transit in the condition in which
they were received with the exception of normal wear and tear, including, but not limited to,
body condition, system(s) condition and function, all ancillary equipment (intact and functional),
and overall vehicle operation and performance. Ancillary equipment includes: bicycle racks;
fareboxes (installed units, spare units, and parts inventory); farebox portable data units and
audit units; MDT’s, APC'’s, Clipper equipment (installed units and spare units), and any other
Marin Transit provided equipment.

MCTD, at its discretion, may contract with a qualified, third-party vehicle inspection firm to
assist in any return of vehicle turnover inspection process. Such a third-party inspector will
conduct individual inspections on each vehicle (within its last preventive maintenance cycle)
prior to the return of the vehicle to MCTD. Such inspections will ensure that any necessary
repairs are completed and will require the Contractor to conduct any needed repairs. Once the
CONTRACTOR is notified of any deficiencies requiring repair, the CONTRACTOR will have seven
(7) days in which to complete those repairs.

SEC. 409 TERMINATION BY MUTUAL AGREEMENT

57

ltem 5



106

This Contract may be terminated by mutual agreement of the parties. Such termination shall be
effective in accordance with a written agreement by the parties. Any other act of termination shall be in
accordance with the termination by convenience or default provisions contained in Section 408 and
Section 410, respectively.

SEC. 410 TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT

A.

Events of Default. The MCTD may, subject to the provisions of subsection B of this Section, by
thirty (30) calendar days’ advance written notice of default to CONTRACTOR, terminate the
whole or any part of this Contract in any one of the following circumstances:

a. If CONTRACTOR fails to provide the services in the manner required by this Contract or in
accordance with the performance standards articulated herein;

b. If CONTRACTOR fails to perform any of the provisions of this Contract in accordance with its
terms; or

c. If CONTRACTOR fails to make progress in the prosecution of the work under the Contract as
to endanger such performance.

Opportunity to Cure. If the MCTD determines that an event of default has occurred, the MCTD
shall provide CONTRACTOR with the opportunity to cure the default within thirty (30) calendar
days after receipt of the default notice under subsection A; provided that the MCTD may, in its
sole discretion, provide an additional period for cure if CONTRACTOR demonstrates to the
satisfaction of the MCTD that there is a reasonable likelihood that such additional time will allow
CONTRACTOR to effectuate a cure.

Procurement by MCTD. If the MCTD terminates this Contract in whole or in part as provided in
subsection A of this Section, the MCTD may procure, upon such terms and in such manner as the
MCTD may deem appropriate, services similar to those so terminated. CONTRACTOR shall be
liable to the MCTD for costs associated with the termination of this Contract and the
procurement of replacement services by the MCTD, and also for any costs of the replacement
supplies or services that are in excess of what the MCTD would have paid under the Contract in
the absence of default from the date of termination to the expiration date of the Contract.
CONTRACTOR shall continue the performance of this Contract to the extent not terminated
under the provisions of this Section. Any disputes arising under this Section that cannot be
resolved by CONTRACTOR and the MCTD are subject to resolution pursuant to Section 509 of
this Contract.

Force Majeure. CONTRACTOR shall not be liable for any failure to perform if CONTRACTOR
demonstrates to the satisfaction of the MCTD that the failure to perform the Contract was due
to events which were beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of CONTRACTOR
and which could not have been avoided or prevented by due diligence and reasonable efforts of
CONTRACTOR. Examples of such Force Majeure events include acts of God, civil disturbances,
fire, war, floods, or other natural disasters, but do not include labor-related incidents, such as
strikes or work stoppages.

Return of Vehicles. Upon termination of the contract by default, the Contractor will be
responsible for the return of vehicle and ancillary equipment in accordance with the return of
vehicle provisions contained in Section 408.

58

ltem 5



F.

107

Claims. Except as otherwise provided, settlement of claims by CONTRACTOR under this
termination clause shall be in accordance with the provisions set forth in 48 CFR Part 49, as
amended from time to time.

SEC. 411 CANCELLATION OF CONTRACT

In any of the following cases, the MCTD shall have the right to cancel this Contract without expense to
the MCTD: (1) CONTRACTOR is guilty of a knowing or intentional misrepresentation; (2) the Contract is
obtained by fraud, collusion, conspiracy, or other unlawful means; (3) the Contract conflicts with any
statutory or constitutional provision of the State of California or the United States; or (4) there is a
change in ownership or control of CONTRACTOR after the date of Contract Award, and the MCTD has
not approved the assignment of this Contract to the new owner or controlling entity. This section shall
not be construed to limit the MCTD’s right to terminate this Contract for convenience or default, as
provided in Sections 408 and 410.

SEC. 412 SECTION 13(c) OBLIGATIONS

A.

In General. Except as provided in subsection B of this Section, the MCTD shall be
administratively and financially responsible for obligations under Section 13(c) of the Federal
Transit Act (49 U.S.C. §5333(b)) and the MCTD’s July 6, 2000 and March 27, 2003 13(c)
Arrangements.

B. CONTRACTOR Obligations.

Financial Liability. CONTRACTOR shall have financial liability for any 13(c) claims or
obligations that are created by acts or omissions of CONTRACTOR that are not directed by
the MCTD. CONTRACTOR agrees that it is bound to the terms of the July 6, 2000 and March
27,2003 13(c) Arrangements. In addition, CONTRACTOR shall cooperate with the MCTD
(including the provision of payroll records and other information) in the resolution or
defense of any 13(c) claims or disputes, and in the implementation of any 13(c) remedies.

Restrictions on Activities. CONTRACTOR shall not assist or encourage any employee to file or
otherwise pursue a 13(c) claim against the MCTD, or take any action which is contrary to the
interests of the MCTD under 13(c) or its 13(c) arrangements or agreements, relating to the
termination of services under this Contract, any future transition from CONTRACTOR to
another service provider, or any other action or event relating to this Contract. If
CONTRACTOR fails to comply with this obligation, CONTRACTOR shall be financially liable for
all costs incurred by the MCTD (including attorneys’ fees) associated with any 13(c) claims or
delays in the receipt of Federal grants.

ARTICLE 5—ADMINISTRATIVE AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

SEC. 501 REPORTING

A.

CONTRACTOR Obligation. In order to document services provided under the Contract,
CONTRACTOR shall maintain all records requested by the MCTD and as required for good
business practices. CONTRACTOR shall take appropriate steps to ensure the proper monitoring
of service levels, and maintenance and operations activities related to the services provided
under this Contract. CONTRACTOR shall permit authorized representatives of the MCTD to
examine all data and records related to this Contract upon request or according to scheduled
reporting periods.

59

ltem 5



108

B. Management Level Reporting. CONTRACTOR shall provide management level reporting to the
MCTD on a monthly basis that includes detailed information describing and quantifying the level
of service and the quality of the service provided by CONTRACTOR. For specific service issues,
CONTRACTOR shall, upon request of the MCTD, provide additional information. Either party may
recommend, from time to time, additions, modifications, or deletions to the reports and
reasonable requests shall be accommodated by CONTRACTOR.

C. Integrated Data Management System (TransTrack). CONTRACTOR will provide all inputs and
generate all of the reports described below using MCTD’s integrated, web-based data collection
system. The Data Management System is a customized version of the Web-based Transit
Performance Manager™ software package developed by TransTrack Systems, Inc.®.
CONTRACTOR will work with MCTD and their contractor, TransTrack, to ensure the proper data
integration is set-up to automatically transfer data from CONTRACTOR automated reporting
systems (e.g. GFl) on a regular basis to the system. Additional manual inputs such as vehicle
maintenance and customer service records will be added daily by CONTRACTOR.

CONTRACTOR will be issued personalized access to the online system for each staff member
that is assigned to entering and manage data in TransTrack. MCTD will control the permission
levels for each staff member to ensure they have access to edit and review only relevant data to
their function.

The CONTRACTOR is directly responsible for the following manual reporting and follow-up
activities in the TransTrack system:

e Documenting and responding to customer service inquires that area assigned to
Contractor and documenting responses within the system;

e Documenting all daily service disruptions including the type of disruption, any impacts
on service levels (adjustments to number of trips, changes in hours/miles), and any
relevant description of the incident;

e Documenting all relevant information for any accident or safety and security incident;

e Documenting all relevant information for any roadcall or equipment failure that occurs
during revenue service;

e Documenting all vehicle maintenance issues including when vehicles are not available
for service due to maintenance issues, reason for unavailability, and when released for
service, etc.;

e Documenting preventative maintenance by vehicle including type of service performed,
mileage, etc. This report will match the Contractor's maintenance records and will be
audited by Marin Transit on a random announced or unannounced basis.;

e Uploading vehicle fluid sample test results;
e Entering end of year vehicle mileage; and
e Maintaining an updated operator list

D. Required Reports.
CONTRACTOR is required to provide all of the reports described in this section at the frequency
that is specified for each report. Some reporting requirements may change as MCTD’s external

reporting requirements change. These reports will be used to monitor performance along with
MCTD staff field inspections and CONTRACTOR reporting.

60

ltem 5



109

Daily Accident/Incident Report. A daily Accident/incident Report will be e-mailed to MCTD
within 24 hours of each accident/incident occurring on a MCTD route. Any major accident
involving injuries or significant damage to MCTD vehicles will be immediately reported
through direct person-to-person contact, followed by a written summary of the
accident/incident. Contractor is also responsible for inputting accident data into TransTrack.

Passenger Complaints/Commendations. Passenger complaints and commendations will be
entered directly into TransTrack software on an as received basis. In addition, Contractor is
required to follow-up with customer complainant to notify them of complaint receipt and
input at close of investigation input resolution into TransTrack. Monthly, MCTD will review
entries in database and compile a summary report.

Ridership Reports. A summary of actual revenue hours for each month will be included with
the CONTRACTOR’s invoice. This invoice will show schedule revenue Hours by route and
adjustments made to those routes due to added or missed service. This report should be
submitted with ten (10) working days after the end of the month.

Trip and Fare Reports. CONTRACTOR shall submit a Monthly Trip and Fare Report within ten
(10) working days after the end of the month. This report will contain daily ridership by type,
farebox revenue, revenue hours and miles, deadhead hours and miles, and other desired
operating information by route.

Monthly Road Call/Missed Trip/Incident Report. CONTRACTOR shall submit a monthly
report of all road calls, missed trips, and incidents within ten (10) working days after the end
of each month. Missed trips or major incidents shall also be reported to MCTD immediately
via email.

Quarterly Preventive Maintenance and Vehicle Mileage Update Reports. CONTRACTOR shall
submit a Quarterly Preventive Maintenance (PM) Report to MCTD indicating the date and
mileage for when the last PM was performed for each vehicle and the type of PM (e.g., "A",
"B", LOF, Brake Inspection, HVAC Inspection.) that was performed. This report will match
the CONTRACTOR's maintenance records and will be audited by MCTD on a random
announced or unannounced basis.

FTA-National Transit Database (NTD) Reporting. In accordance with the Federal Transit
Administration (FTA) guidelines, CONTRACTOR will be responsible for the tracking,
collecting, and preparation of National Transit Database (NTD) report data. MCTD may also
require passenger mile sampling, as required by NTD every three years. MCTD will work
with CONTRACTOR for developing processes and procedures for collecting and reporting
this data.

Federal Triennial Reviews and NTD Reviews. CONTRACTOR will participate in Federal
Triennial Reviews pertaining to Marin Transit. This will include NTD audits and Drug and
Alcohol Program Reviews.

Annual Drug and Alcohol MIS Report. CONTRACTOR (and any subcontractor(s)) shall prepare
and submit their annual Management Information System (MIS) report online, as required
by the FTA, and shall provide a signed original report to the MCTD no later than March 10
annually for the previous calendar year’s drug and alcohol testing rates. The report must be
in accordance with established Federal guidelines.

61

ltem 5



110

j. Operator List. CONTRACTOR must maintain an updated list of all operators and backup
operators within Marin Transit’s TransTrack system. Any changes to the list (including
reason for change, date of change) must be updated within Marin Transit’s TransTrack
system on a monthly basis.

k. Special Reports. CONTRACTOR shall prepare and provide any special reports, or more
detailed information, requested by the MCTD.

Meetings

CONTRACTOR shall meet with the MCTD Project Manager at least on a monthly basis and more
frequently as necessary. Meetings with other key MCTD and CONTRACTOR staff will be held on a
regular basis, as well as on an as needed basis. The MCTD shall include key CONTRACTOR staff in
appropriate meetings related to service, planning, maintenance, and operations, as well as in
circumstances in which the MCTD is contemplating the purchase of new equipment or systems
or is making significant planning decisions.

SEC. 502 COMPLAINT RESOLUTION

A.

Customer Complaints.

a. Intake of Complaints. CONTRACTOR may be the initial intake of comments from the
customers. In the event that a complaint is lodged through the MCTD administrative office
or the 511 customer service operators, MCTD will provide CONTRACTOR with the complaint
documentation through the TransTrack System.

b. Required CONTRACTOR Process. CONTRACTOR shall establish a process for the thorough
and prompt resolution of all customer complaints, in accordance with this Section. The
process shall be completed and closed out in TransTrack within two (2) business days from
the date of receipt of the complaint, and shall include, at a minimum, the following:

i. contemporaneous documentation of the nature of the complaint;
ii. passenger contact information;
iii. investigation, follow-up, and investigative reports; and
iv. complaint resolution, including any remedial action taken.

c. Complaint Validity. For purposes of this Section MCTD will consider a customer complaint
valid unless MCTD determines that CONTRACTOR has sufficiently documented that the
complaint is not valid.

Title VI and ADA Complaints.

a. Required CONTRACTOR Process. In the event MCTD requires assistance with or
CONTRACTOR directly receives, Title VI or Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) complaint,
CONTRACTOR shall establish a process for the thorough and prompt consideration of all
Title VI and ADA complaints. The MCTD shall be immediately notified of any such complaints
in writing. In addition, at a minimum, the process shall include the following:

i. Intake procedures and complaint evaluation;

62

ltem 5



111

ii. passenger contact information;

iii. investigation, follow-up, and investigative reports (including the information
described below in the description of report evaluation criteria in paragraph
(2)); and

iv. proposed complaint resolution.

b. Complaint Investigation. All Title VI and ADA passenger complaint investigative reports will
be evaluated by the MCTD for compliance with Federal requirements. CONTRACTOR is
responsible for assuring that each completed investigative report provides full and complete
documentation for each of the following requirements;

v. Statement of issues;
vi. Respondent’s reply to each issue; and
vii. Findings of fact.

c. Complaint Resolution Plan. Prior to implementation, CONTRACTOR shall submit its Title VI
and ADA Complaint Resolution Plan to the MCTD for evaluation and approval.

SEC. 503 ACCIDENT AND INCIDENT REPORTING

In the event of an accident involving vehicle damage, property damage, passenger injury or fatality, an
emergency, or other non-routine event, CONTRACTOR shall notify the MCTD Project Manager within
one (1) hour after CONTRACTOR learns of such event. CONTRACTOR shall report all media inquiries or
media on scene to the MCTD’s Project Manager immediately. CONTRACTOR shall, if requested by the
MCTD, follow up with specific details from the accident or incident investigation within three (3) hours
from the time MCTD was originally notified. CONTRACTOR shall prepare all reports required by the
Contract relating to such accident or other non-routine event. CONTRACTOR shall comply with all
applicable laws and regulations in the case of any accident or other non-routine event. In addition, the
Contractor shall be responsible for replacement costs in accordance with Section 404.

SEC. 504 AUDIT AND INSPECTION OF RECORDS

CONTRACTOR agrees that the MCTD, the Comptroller General of the United States, and the U.S.
Secretary of Transportation, or any of their duly authorized representatives, shall, for the purpose of
audit and examination, be permitted to inspect all work, materials, payrolls, and other data and records,
and to audit the books, records, and accounts relating to the performance of the Contract. Further,
CONTRACTOR agrees to maintain all such required books, records, and accounts, at a site in Marin
County, California, in a non-archived status, during the term of this Contract (including any option years)
and for at least three (3) years after the MCTD has made final payment and all other pending matters
are closed. In addition, CONTRACTOR shall assist and cooperate with the MCTD in the audit and
monitoring of all program requirements, including EEO compliance, Drug and Alcohol compliance, and
Safety/Security compliance, and shall permit the MCTD to perform on-site inspections of
CONTRACTOR's procedures and programs.

SEC. 505 OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS

CONTRACTOR agrees that any and all information, in oral or written form, whether obtained from the
MCTD, its agents or assigns, or other sources, or generated by CONTRACTOR pursuant to the Contract,

63

ltem 5



112

shall not be used for any purpose other than fulfilling the requirements of this Contract. Any documents,
reports, or data generated by CONTRACTOR (other than CONTRACTOR’s internal documents) in
connection with the performance of the Contract shall become the sole property of the MCTD, subject
to any rights asserted by the FTA. CONTRACTOR may retain copies of such items for its files.
CONTRACTOR shall not release any documents, reports, or data from this project without prior written
consent of the MCTD.

SEC. 506 REPLACEMENT SERVICES
A. Plan and Response.

a. CONTRACTOR Plan. In the event that CONTRACTOR is unable, due to any event not caused
by the MCTD or not constituting a Force Majeure event under Section 410D of this Contract,
to provide services in full compliance with the requirements of this Contract, CONTRACTOR
shall deliver a plan to the MCTD within twenty-four (24) hours after the event detailing what
actions will be taken and what the schedule will be to resume providing services in full
compliance with the requirements of the Contract.

b. MCTD Response. If CONTRACTOR has not resumed providing services in full compliance with
the requirements of the Contract within fifteen (15) calendar days of the event, then the
MCTD may obtain the services of a replacement operator or provide the services with its
own resources (collectively referred to as “replacement services”). The MCTD may utilize
such replacement services as a substitute for all or any part of CONTRACTOR's services, and
may maintain such replacement services in effect until either: (a) CONTRACTOR is able to
resume performance in full compliance with this Contract; or (b) the MCTD terminates
CONTRACTOR and obtains a permanent replacement contractor.

B. Liability; Limits on Compensation. If the MCTD utilizes replacement services under this Section,
CONTRACTOR shall be liable to the MCTD for (1) the actual amount by which the cost of such
services exceeds the amount that would have been payable under this Contract for comparable
services; plus (2) the administrative costs incurred by the MCTD in obtaining the replacement
services. During the period in which any replacement services are provided, the only
compensation payable to CONTRACTOR shall be for any Revenue Hours CONTRACTOR itself
actually provides.

C. Savings Clause. Any action taken by the MCTD pursuant to this Section in response to
CONTRACTOR's failure to perform shall not preclude the MCTD from subsequently finding
CONTRACTOR in default of this Contract for the same or any related failure to perform.

SEC. 507 CONTINUITY OF SERVICES

A. CONTRACTOR Obligation. CONTRACTOR recognizes that the services under the Contract are
vital to the MCTD and must be continued without interruption and that, upon Contract
expiration or termination, another entity, either the MCTD or another provider, may continue
those services. CONTRACTOR agrees to: (1) fully cooperate in any procurement process
conducted by the MCTD; (2) furnish phase-in training for the new contractor; and (3) exercise its
best efforts and cooperate to effect an orderly and efficient transition to the subsequent
provider (including, the provision of access to Revenue Vehicles and Facilities, and coordination
of equipment transfers, and related actions).

B. Transition Requirements. CONTRACTOR shall, upon the MCTD’s written notice (1) furnish
phase-in, phase-out services for up to ninety (90) calendar days after the Contract expire or

64

ltem 5



113

terminates; and (2) negotiate in good faith a plan with the subsequent provider to determine
the nature and extent of phase-in, phase-out service required. The plan shall specify a training
program and a date for transferring responsibilities for each division of work described in the
plan, and shall be subject to the MCTD’s approval. CONTRACTOR shall provide sufficient
experienced personnel during the phase-in, phase-out period to ensure that the services called
for by the Contract are maintained at the required level of proficiency.

C. Compensation. CONTRACTOR shall be reimbursed for all reasonable phase-in, phase-out costs
that are incurred and not compensated by the MCTD under the method of compensation in this
Contract, within the agreed period after Contract expiration or termination that directly result
from phase-in, phase-out operations. At the end of the Contract Term, the MCTD may, in
accordance with Section 402F, withhold any amount from the final invoice to CONTRACTOR
determined by the MCTD to be due by CONTRACTOR to the MCTD as a result of CONTRACTOR’s
phase out and a subsequent CONTRACTOR’s phase in of contract operations. The MCTD shall
require its subsequent provider to indemnify CONTRACTOR for liability that directly results from
CONTRACTOR's phase-in, phase-out operations during such agreed period, provided that such
indemnification shall not extend to liability that arises out of negligent or willful acts or
omissions of CONTRACTOR. The MCTD shall also require the subsequent provider to name
CONTRACTOR as an additional insured (without exclusions) for purposes of general liability
coverage in the performance of phase-in, phase-out operations.

SEC. 508 EMERGENCIES

A. Emergency Preparedness Plan. CONTRACTOR shall develop, implement, and maintain an
Emergency Preparedness Plan and submit to the MCTD on an annual basis. At a minimum, the
Plan shall address:

Q

The ability to prioritize service requests to manage resources during an emergency.

b. Intra-agency and interagency communication systems. Radio communications during
emergencies. CONTRACTOR shall use landlines or mobile phones as a primary method
of communication with MCTD and the Marin County Emergency Operation Center, as
needed. MCTD has determined that MERA and other radios will be used as a backup
method of communication. CONTRACTOR shall coordinate with MCTD to predetermine
which backup method will be used in case landlines and mobile phones are not
available.

c. Backup capabilities for communications, dispatch, and power supply, and access to fuel
resources.

d. A plan to support staffing demands for expanded operations and identification of
essential personnel.

e. An inventory of vehicles, total seating capacity, maximum number of securement
positions, and personnel available to direct, support, and deliver service and identifies
staff that can perform more than one role.

f. A process to determine staff that will actually report to work during a disaster.

g. Anticipating hours of service rules that apply to drivers holding a commercial driver’s
license.

h. Procedures for complete documentation of services provided.

i.  After action evaluation of CONTRACTOR emergency response and application of lessons

learned.

SEC. 509 DISPUTES

65

ltem 5



114

A. Applicability. Any dispute between CONTRACTOR and the MCTD relating to the implementation
or administration of this Contract shall be resolved in accordance with this Section.

B. Informal Resolution. The Parties shall first attempt to resolve the dispute informally in meetings
or communications between CONTRACTOR and the MCTD Project Manager. If the dispute
remains unresolved fifteen (15) Days after it first arises, CONTRACTOR may request the MCTD
Assistant General Manager to issue a recommended decision on the matter in dispute. The
MCTD Assistant General Manager shall issue the recommended decision in writing within thirty
(30) Days and provide a copy to CONTRACTOR.

C. Interim Review. If CONTRACTOR contests the recommended decision of the MCTD Assistant
General Manager, CONTRACTOR shall provide its reasons for contesting the decision and the
decision shall be reviewed by the Deputy General Manager, who may modify or confirm the
decision. The MCTD General Manager may, upon request of CONTRACTOR, review the action of
the Deputy General Manager and may modify or confirm the Deputy General Manager’s
recommended decision.

D. Review by MCTD Governing Body. The recommended decision of the MCTD shall become final
unless, within fifteen (15) Days of receipt of such recommended decision, CONTRACTOR submits
a written request for review of the decision to the MCTD Governing Body. In connection with
any such review, CONTRACTOR and the MCTD General Manager shall be afforded an
opportunity to be heard and to offer evidence on the issues presented. If the dispute remains
unresolved after review and CONTRACTOR objects to the decision issued by the MCTD
Governing Body, CONTRACTOR may seek judicial resolution of the dispute in the Eighth Judicial
District Court of California. Prior to seeking judicial resolution in the Eighth Judicial District
Court, the parties may mutually agree to mediate the dispute.

E. CONTRACTOR Responsibility. Pending final resolution of a dispute under this Section,
CONTRACTOR shall proceed diligently with performance in accordance with this Contract and
the MCTD’s recommended decision.

SEC. 510 INSPECTION OF WORK

A. Right to Inspect. All work (which term in this Section includes services performed, material
furnished or utilized in the performance of services, and workmanship in the performance of
services) shall be subject to inspection and testing by the MCTD to the extent practicable at all
times and places during the term of this Contract. All inspections by the MCTD shall be made in
such a manner as to not unduly delay the work. The MCTD shall have the right to enter the
premises used by CONTRACTOR for the purpose of inspecting and auditing all data and records
which pertain to CONTRACTOR'’s performance under this Contract, and observing management
and operational practices. The MCTD shall also have the right to enter the premises used by
CONTRACTOR for the purpose of inspecting vehicles that are used to provide services under this
Contract.

B. Corrections and Adjustments. If any work performed is not in conformity with the requirements
of the Contract, the MCTD shall have the right to require CONTRACTOR to perform the work
again in conformity with such requirements at no cost to the MCTD. When the work to be
performed is of such a nature that the defect cannot be corrected by re-performing the work,
the MCTD shall have the right to: (1) require CONTRACTOR to immediately take all necessary
steps to ensure future performance of the work in conformity with the requirements of the
Contract, and (2) reduce the Contract price to reflect the reduced value of the work performed;
or (3) assess appropriate liquidated damages. In the event CONTRACTOR fails promptly to

66

ltem 5



115

perform the work again or take necessary steps to ensure future performance of the work in
conformity with the requirements of the Contract, the MCTD shall have the right to either by
contract or otherwise have the work performed in conformity with the Contract requirements
and charge to CONTRACTOR any costs to the MCTD that are directly related to the performance
of such work, or terminate the Contract for default as provided in Section 410.

SEC. 511 SUBCONTRACTING OF CONTRACT WORK AND TRANSFER OF INTERESTS

A. Requirement for MCTD Approval. CONTRACTOR may not enter into any subcontract without
the prior written approval of the MCTD, which will not be unreasonably withheld. In any case in
which CONTRACTOR desires to subcontract, it shall provide the MCTD with all proposed
subcontracting agreements and documents (including scope of work and terms of
compensation). If permitted to subcontract, CONTRACTOR shall be fully responsible for all work
performed by its subcontractors. Any approval of a subcontract shall not be construed as
making the MCTD a party to such subcontract, giving the subcontractor privity of contract with
the MCTD, or subjecting the MCTD to liability of any kind to any subcontractor. Further, the
entering into of a subcontract shall not, under any circumstances, relieve CONTRACTOR of its
liability and obligations under this Contract and all transactions with the MCTD must be through
CONTRACTOR.

B. Effect of Subcontracting. CONTRACTOR may not, by subcontract, modify its obligation to
perform in full accordance with its Proposal, change its Key Personnel, alter any of its required
programs, or otherwise modify the basis upon which CONTRACTOR was selected and the
Contract award made. Any action of CONTRACTOR in violation of the preceding sentence shall
constitute a breach of the Contract and an act of default.

C. Required Subcontract Terms. CONTRACTOR shall include in each subcontract (at all tiers)
appropriate terms and conditions to ensure that the subcontractor shall have the same duties
and obligations to CONTRACTOR for its work that CONTRACTOR has to the MCTD for such work
under this Contract, that the subcontractors shall perform all of its work in full compliance with
the requirements and standards of this Contract, and that the subcontractor shall comply with
the other applicable provisions of this Contract, including the Federal laws and regulations
identified in Attachment K.

D. Assignment. There shall be no assignment/transfer of interests or delegation of CONTRACTOR's
rights, duties, or responsibilities under this Contract, except at the direction or with the prior
written approval of the MCTD.

SEC. 512 INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Under the terms of the Contract, CONTRACTOR is an independent contractor and has and retains full
control and supervision of the services performed by and full control over the employment and direct
compensation and discharge of all persons, other than MCTD employees, assisting in the performance of
its services. CONTRACTOR agrees to be solely responsible for all matters relating to wages, hours of
work, and working conditions and payment of employees, including compliance with social security, all
payroll taxes and withholdings, unemployment compensation, workers’ compensation, and all other
requirements relating to such matters. CONTRACTOR agrees to be responsible for its own acts and those
of its subordinates, employees, and any and all subcontractors during the term of the Contract.

SEC. 513 LICENSING, PERMITS, AND TAXES

CONTRACTOR shall be appropriately licensed for the work required pursuant to this Contract. The cost
67

ltem 5



116

for any required licenses or permits shall be the responsibility of CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall be
liable for any and all taxes due as a result of the Contract.

SEC. 514 LACK OF FUNDS

A. Funding Requirement. Entering into the Contract is subject to receipt by the MCTD of local and
Federal funds adequate to carry out the provisions in full.

B. Cancellation or Reductions. The MCTD may cancel or reduce the amount of service to be
rendered if the MCTD determines that such action is in the MCTD’s best interests, or there will
be a lack of funding available for the service. In such event, the MCTD will notify CONTRACTOR
in writing thirty (30) calendar days in advance of the date such cancellation or reduction is to be
effective. A cancellation of the Contract for Lack of Funds will be processed in accordance with
the Termination for Convenience provisions of Section 408. If a reduction in Contract services
for Lack of Funds results in a decrease in Revenue Hours in a Contract Year in excess of the
applicable percentage set forth in Section 305F(a)(i), the service change shall be processed in
accordance with subsection F of Section 305, Allowable Service Changes.

SEC. 515 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

A. General Rule for MCTD Employees. No employee, officer, agent, immediate family member or
Board member of the MCTD shall participate in the selection, award, or administration of the
Contract if a conflict of interest, real or apparent, would be involved. Such a conflict would arise
when one of the following has a financial or other interest in any firm proposing on or selected
for the award:

a. The employee, officer, agent or Board member,
b. Any member of the employee’s immediate family;
c. The employee’s business partner; or

d. An organization that employs, or is about to employ, any of the above.

B. Gratuities. The MCTD’s officers, employees, or agents shall neither solicit nor accept gratuities,
favors, or anything of monetary value from contractors, potential contractors, subcontractors,
or other parties to subagreements.

SEC. 516 DEBARRED

CONTRACTOR has provided the MCTD with a certification addressing its debarment and suspension
status and that of its principals. CONTRACTOR shall promptly inform the MCTD of any change in the
suspension or debarment status of CONTRACTOR or its principals during the term of this Contract.

SEC. 517 ANTIDISCRIMINATION AND EEO REQUIREMENTS
A. General Requirements. CONTRACTOR shall not in any way, directly or indirectly, in the
performance of this Contract, discriminate against any person because of age, race, color,

disability, sex, national origin, or religious creed.

B. Compliance with EEO Requirements.

68

ltem 5



117

a. CONTRACTOR Duty. CONTRACTOR shall comply with all EEO Program requirements in FTA
Circular 4704.1, Equal Employment Opportunity Program Guidelines, or any updated version
thereof.

b. Cooperation in Audits. CONTRACTOR shall cooperate in any audits performed by FTA and
shall cooperate with and assist the MCTD in the monitoring and auditing program
requirements including permitting the MCTD to perform onsite inspections for the program
administration/management guidelines, and procedures. This requirement shall include
providing the MCTD with copies of records related to CONTRACTOR’s EEO efforts prior to
each site visit.

c. EEO Plan. CONTRACTOR shall, no later than thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar
year, prepare and submit to the MCTD, an EEO Plan (if applicable) or confirm in writing that
the copy on file with the MCTD is the most active plan. The plan shall be consistent with
established Federal guidelines.

d. Program Amendments. CONTRACTOR shall comply with all program amendments as
required by the FTA and/or the MCTD and all applicable Federal and State mandates.

SEC. 518 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

CONTRACTOR shall give all notices and comply with all Federal, State, and local laws, ordinances, rules,
regulations, and orders of any public authority bearing on the performance of the Contract, including,
but not limited to, the laws referred to in these provisions of this Contract and the Federal laws,
regulations and requirements specified in Attachment J to this Contract. If the Contract documents are
at variance therewith in any respect, any necessary changes shall be incorporated by appropriate
modification. Upon request, CONTRACTOR shall furnish to the MCTD General Manager certificates of
compliance with all such laws, orders, and regulations.

SEC. 519 WAIVER OF TERMS OR CONDITIONS

The failure of the MCTD or CONTRACTOR to enforce one or more of the terms or conditions of this
Contract or to exercise any of its rights or privileges, or the waiver by the MCTD of any breach of such
terms or conditions, shall not be construed as thereafter waiving any such terms, conditions, rights, or
privileges, and the same shall continue and remain in force and effect as if no waiver had occurred.

SEC. 520 INTERPRETATION, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE

All contractual agreements shall be subject to, governed by, and construed and interpreted solely
according to the laws of the State of California. CONTRACTOR hereby consents and submits to the
jurisdiction of the appropriate courts of California or of the United States having jurisdiction in California
for adjudication of any suit or cause of action arising under or in connection with the Contract
documents, or the performance of such Contract, and agrees that any such suit or cause of action may
be brought in any such court.

SEC. 521 CONSTRUCTION

For the purposes of this Contract the use of the words “include” or “including” followed by a list is not
intended to indicate that the list is an all-inclusive list.

SEC. 522 OFFICIAL RECEIPT

69

ltem 5



118

Communications shall be considered received at the time actually received by the addressees or
designated agents. Communications to the MCTD should be addressed to the MCTD Project Manager
and to the Contracting Officer, as follows:

Marin Transit

711 Grand Ave.
San Rafael, California 94901

Communications to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed as follows:
Marin Airporter

8 Lovell Avenue

San Rafael, California 94901

SEC. 523 RESTRICTIONS ON ASSIGNMENT

This Contract or any portion hereof shall not be assigned, nor shall the interests, rights, duties or
responsibilities of CONTRACTOR be transferred or delegated, unless the MCTD in its sole discretion
grants prior written approval thereto. This provision extends to any purchase, merger, or consolidation
(in whole or in part), and to any change in control, which would cause CONTRACTOR’s responsibilities
under this Contract to be transferred to or assumed by a new, different, or restructured entity. This
provision is separate and apart from the provisions concerning subcontracting set forth in Section 511.

SEC. 524 SEVERABILITY

In the event any provision of this Contract is declared or determined to be unlawful, invalid, or
unconstitutional, such declaration shall not affect, in any manner, the legality of the remaining
provisions of the Contract and each provision of the Contract will be and is deemed to be separate and
severable from each other provision.

SEC. 525 ENTIRE AGREEMENT; AMENDMENT REQUIRED

This Contract constitutes the entire agreement between CONTRACTOR and the MCTD, and supersedes
all prior negotiations, agreements, and understandings with respect thereto. No change, modification,
or amendment to the obligations or responsibilities of the parties under the terms of this Contract shall
be effective unless it is made by written Amendment, considered and approved by the MCTD Governing
Body, and duly executed by both parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused these presents to be duly executed with
all the formalities required by law on the respective dates set forth below their endorsements.

MARIN COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT MARIN AIRPORTER
70

ltem 5



By:

By:

119

71

ltem 5



ATTACHMENT A

Marin Transit Price Summary

COMPENSATION

120

Cost per Revenue Hour - Package 1 Base Years Option Years
Service FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 | FY21/22 FY 22/23
Hourly Rate $49.84 $51.34 $52.89 $54.49 $56.13
Fixed Monthly Fee $167,366 $172,387 | $177,558 | $182,885 $188,372
One Time Costs
Start-Up Expense $10,000

72

ltem 5




ATTACHMENT B

Package 1 Contract - Onboard Equipment Inventory

MCTD PROVIDED EQUIPMENT

Automatic Passenger

121

Fare Collection

Mobile Data Terminal Annunciation System Headsigns Cameras .
. Counter Devices
Vehicl B
e# Manufacture Manufacture Manufacture Manufacture fizt Manufacture .
Model Devices
r r r r . r
Device
92 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  1-door system Twinvision USB Front/Side Seon A-camera system+1 Trooper TL4 Cubict36
DVR Odysset Farebox
100 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  1-door system Twinvision PC Card Front/Side Seon A-camera system+1 Trooper TL4 Cubict36
DVR Odysset Farebox
105 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  1-door system Twinvision USB Front/Side Seon A-camera system+1 Trooper TL4 Cubict36
DVR Odysset Farebox
108 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  1-door system Twinvision USB Front/Side Seon A-camera system+1 Trooper TL4 Cubict36
DVR Odysset Farebox
109 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  1-door system Twinvision USB Front/Side Seon A-camera system+1 Trooper TL4 Cubict36
DVR Odysset Farebox
110 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  1-door system Twinvision usB Front/Side Seon A-camera system+1 Trooper TL4 Cubict36
DVR Odysset Farebox
111 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  1-door system Twinvision usB Front/Side Seon A-camera system+1 Trooper TL4 Cubict36
DVR Odysset Farebox
112 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  1-door system Twinvision usB Front/Side Seon A-camera system+1 Trooper TL4 Cubict36
DVR Odysset Farebox
4- t 1T TL4 Cubic+36"
113 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  1-door system Twinvision usB Front/Side Seon camera system+L Trooper ublcr
DVR Odysset Farebox
114 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  1-door system Twinvision usB Front/Side Seon A-camera system+1 Trooper TL4 Cubict36
DVR Odysset Farebox
115 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  1-door system Twinvision usB Front/Side Seon A-camera system+1 Trooper TL4 Cubict36
DVR Odysset Farebox
1501 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  2-door system Hanover KeyLo Front/Side/Rear Seon 7-camera system+TX8 DVR Cubict36
Odysset Farebox
1502 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  2-door system Hanover KeyLo Front/Side/Rear Seon 7-camera system+TX8 DVR Cubict36
Odysset Farebox
1503 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  2-door system Hanover KeyLo Front/Side/Rear Seon 7-camera system+TX8 DVR Cubict36
Odysset Farebox
1504 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  2-door system Hanover KeyLo Front/Side/Rear Seon 7-camera system+TX8 DVR Cubict36
Odysset Farebox
1505 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  2-door system Hanover KeyLo Front/Side/Rear Seon 7-camera system+TX8 DVR Cubict36
Odysset Farebox
1506 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  2-door system Hanover KeyLo Front/Side/Rear Seon 7-camera system+TX8 DVR Cubict36
Odysset Farebox
Cubic+36"
1507 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  2-door system Hanover KeyLo Front/Side/Rear Seon 7-camera system+TX8 DVR uoict

Odysset Farebox

73

ltem 5



122

Mobile Data Terminal Annunciation System Automatic Passenger Headsigns Cameras Fare Co!lectlon
) Counter Devices
Vehicl B
e# Manufacture Manufacture Manufacture Manufacture rogra Manufacture )
Model Type Type m Devices
r r r r ’ r
Device
. . . . Cubic+36"
1508 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  2-door system Hanover KeyLo Front/Side/Rear Seon 7-camera system+TX8 DVR Odysset Farebox
Cubic+36"
1509 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  2-door system Hanover KeyLo Front/Side/Rear Seon 7-camera system+TX8 DVR o dysl;elcc;arebox
1510 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  2-door system Hanover KeyLo Front/Side/Rear Seon 7-camera system+TX8 DVR o d;i:ic::ibox
1511 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  2-door system Hanover KeyLo Front/Side/Rear Seon 7-camera system+TX8 DVR o d;i:ic::ibox
1680 Syncromatics MDT-600  Syncromatics AVAS  Syncromatics  1-door system Hanover USB Front/Side Seon A-camera system+1 Trooper TL4 Cubict36
DVR Odysset Farebox
74

ltem 5



123

ATTACHMENT C FACILITIES

See CONTRACTOR'’s Proposal page 41.

75

ltem 5



ATTACHMENT D

VEHICLES

Package 1 Contract - Vehicle Inventory

Table 1: Vehicle Summary

124

Package  Vehicle # License Subfleet Fuel Type '\(Alizl\?i%e Acqg;iietion In-SD(;;\éice Repl\a;gz;nent
1 92 1FD4E45S58DB59391 1322157 2008 Ford Aerotech 24ft  Gasoline (GA) 352,994 1/29/2009 2015
1 100 1FDFE4FS7BDA34651 1366424 2011 Ford Aerotech 24ft  Gasoline (GA) 276,730  5/5/2011  7/1/2011 2018
1 105 1FDFE4FSODDA72661 1397121 2013 Ford Aerotech 241t Gasoline (GA) 132,723 7/24/2013  8/1/2013 2020
1 108 1FDFE4FS6DDA83875 1397096 2013 Ford Aerotech 24ft  Gasoline (GA) 233,183  7/7/2013  8/1/2013 2020
1 109 1FDFE4FS8DDA83876 1397125 2013 Ford Aerotech 24ft  Gasoline (GA) 238,825  7/24/2013  8/1/2013 2020
1 110 1FDFE4FS9DDA83868 1397097 2013 Ford Aerotech 24ft  Gasoline (GA) 237,745  7/7/2013  8/1/2013 2020
1 111 1FDFE4FS7DDA83870 1397095 2013 Ford Aerotech 24ft  Gasoline (GA) 235425  7/7/2013  7/16/2014 2020
1 112 1FDFE4FS9DDA83871 1397091 2013 Ford Aerotech 24ft  Gasoline (GA) 182,439  8/1/2013  7/16/2014 2020
1 113 1FDFE4FS9DDA83872 1397092 2013 Ford Aerotech 241t Gasoline (GA) 230,237 7/7/2013  8/1/2013 2020
1 114 1FDFE4FS2DDA83873 1397093 2013 Ford Aerotech 24ft  Gasoline (GA) 229,266  7/7/2013  8/1/2013 2020
1 115 1FDFE4FSADDA83874 1397094 2013 Ford Aerotech 24ft  Gasoline (GA) 266,901  7/7/2013  8/1/2013 2020
1 1501 15GGE301XG1092953 1336039 2015 Gillig 30ft Hybrid Diesel (HD) 49,852 2/8/2016  4/13/2016 2027
1 1502 15GGE3011G1092954 1336040 2015 Gillig 30ft Hybrid Diesel (HD) 34,405  2/8/2016  8/12/2016 2027
1 1503 15GGE3013G1092955 1336041 2015 Gillig 30ft Hybrid Diesel (HD) 43,009 2/8/2016  5/16/2016 2027
1 1504 15GGE3015G1092956 1432037 2015 Gillig 30ft Hybrid Diesel (HD) 46,430  2/8/2015  5/9/2016 2027
1 1505 15GGD3012F1181501 1336020 2015 Gillig 40 ft Hybrid Diesel (HD) 58,290  12/7/2015  1/19/2016 2027

Iltem 5

76



Leng

125

Mileage Acquisition In-Service Replacement

Package  Vehicle # License Subfleet th Fuel Type (FY17) Date Date Vear
1 1506 15GGD3012G1181502 1336034 2015 Gillig 40ft Hybrid Diesel (HD) 49,690  2/8/2016  3/9/2016 2027
1 1507 15GGD3014G1181503 1336035 2015 Gillig 40 ft Hybrid Diesel (HD) 59,276  2/8/2016  3/14/2016 2027
1 1508 15GGD3016G1181504 1336036 2015 Gillig 40ft Hybrid Diesel (HD) 50,736  2/8/2016  3/9/2016 2027
1 1509 15GGD3018G1181505 1336037 2015 Gillig 40ft Hybrid Diesel (HD) 47,783 2/8/2016  3/14/2016 2027
1 1510 15GGD301XG1181506 1336038 2015 Gillig 40ft Hybrid Diesel (HD) 56,952 2/8/2016  4/30/2016 2027
1 1511 15GGD3011G1181507 1432036 2015 Gillig 40ft Hybrid Diesel (HD) 47,636  2/8/2016  5/9/2016 2027
1 1680 1FDE4FSOGDC56729 1474532 2016 El Dorado Aerotech 240 24ft  Gasoline (GA) 54,430  8/10/2016  8/11/2016 2023

ltem 5

77



126
ATTACHMENT E TRANSITION AND START-UP PLAN

Pursuant to Section 104 B. of this Contract, the CONTRACTOR will provide this plan
within 45 days of Contract approval.

78

ltem 5



127

ATTACHMENT F STAFFING AND PERSONNEL PLAN

Package 1 — Key Personnel

Staff Member Title % Dedicated to Package 2
Randy Kokke President 30%

Lawrence Forrest Operation Manager 100%

Donald Ambrose Safety and Training Manager 50%

Chris Rardin Maintenance Manager 30%

Package 1 — All Personnel

Vehicle Operators 50-60 Full Time
President 1 Full Time
Operations Manager 1 Full Time

Chief Financial Officer

20% Dedicated

Road Supervisor 2 Full Time
2 Part Time
Safety and Training Manager 1 Full Time

Bookkeeper & HR Manager

35% Dedicated

Maintenance Manager 1 Full Time

. 1 Full Time

A-Level Mechanic 2 Part Time
2-10% Dedicated

Vehicle Service Worker 5 Part Time

79

ltem 5



128

ATTACHMENT G EMPLOYEE TRAINING PROGRAM

Pursuant to Section 104 B. of this Contract, the CONTRACTOR will provide this plan
within 45 days of Contract approval.

80

ltem 5



129
ATTACHMENTH VEHICLE MAINTENANCE PROGRAM

Pursuant to Section 104 B. of this Contract, the CONTRACTOR will provide this plan
within 45 days of Contract approval.

81

ltem 5



130
ATTACHMENT I SAFETY, SECURITY, AND EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PLAN

Pursuant to Section 104 B. of this Contract, the CONTRACTOR will provide this plan
within 90 days of Contract approval.

82

ltem 5



131

ATTACHMENT J FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION REQUIRED CLAUSES

SECTION 1. TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1.

10.

11.

12.
13.

To the extent required by law, Vendor shall be licensed by the State of California to
furnish and deliver all goods and services provided for herein.

The purchase order number and “Invoice To:” name on the face of this form must
appear on all invoices, shipping papers, packages and correspondence.

No charge for packing or drayage will be allowed unless specified in order.

The Marin County Transit District will not be responsible for goods delivered or services
rendered without an order on this form. When this order covers a continuing service
rendered over a stated period of time, a new order must be obtained upon expiration of
the time period to authorize continuance of the service.

Taxes

a. Marin County Transit District is exempt from payment of Federal Excise Tax. No
Federal Tax should be included in price. Exemption certificates will be furnished
when applicable.

b. Where applicable, Vendor shall calculate payment for all sales, unemployment,
old age pension and other taxes imposed by local, city, state or federal law and
shall include such expenses in the total contract price.

Any delivered commodity not meeting required specifications will be returned at
Vendor’s expense. Cost of inspection of deliveries or offers for delivery, which do not
meet specifications, will be a chargeable expense to the Vendor.

Vendor agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold Marin County Transit District harmless
from any and all liabilities including, but not limited to, litigation costs and attorney’s
fees which it may incur as a consequence of this Agreement, and from any and all claims
and losses to anyone who may be injured or damaged by reason of Vendor’s willful
misconduct or negligent performance of this Agreement.

Vendor shall not unlawfully discriminate against any individual based on race, color,
religion, nationality, sex, sexual orientation, age or condition of disability.

Vendor shall comply with any and all federal, state and local laws (including, but not
limited to, Marin County Code Chapters 23.13 — Nuclear Free Zone and 2.50 — Living
Wage) affecting the goods or services covered by this Agreement.

Vendor shall comply with all applicable Federal Contract Clauses as outlined in Section 2,
below.

Vendor has read and understands the foregoing, and agrees to be bound by all of the
included terms and conditions.

This Agreement may be amended or modified only by written Agreement of the parties.

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California,
and the parties hereto agree that the venue shall be in Marin County, California.

83

ltem 5



132
SECTION 2. FEDERAL CONTRACT CLAUSES

1. Access to Records and Reports
The following access to records requirements apply to this Contract:

Record Retention. The Contractor will retain, and will require its subcontractors of all tiers to
retain, complete and readily accessible records related in whole or in part to the contract,
including, but not limited to, data, documents, reports, statistics, sub-agreements, leases,
subcontracts, arrangements, other third-party agreements of any type, and supporting
materials related to those records.

Retention Period. The Contractor agrees to comply with the record retention requirements in
accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.333. The Contractor shall maintain all books, records, accounts
and reports required under this Contract for a period of at not less than three (3) years after
the date of termination or expiration of this Contract, except in the event of litigation or
settlement of claims arising from the performance of this Contract, in which case records shall
be maintained until the disposition of all such litigation, appeals, claims or exceptions related
thereto.

Access to Records. The Contractor agrees to provide sufficient access to FTA and its contractors
to inspect and audit records and information related to performance of this contract as
reasonably may be required.

Access to the Sites of Performance. The Contractor agrees to permit FTA and its contractors
access to the sites of performance under this contract as reasonably may be required.

2. Charter Service

The contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 5323(d) and 49 CFR Part 604, which provides
that Marin Transit and subrecipients of FTA assistance are prohibited from providing charter
service using federally funded equipment or facilities if there is at least one private charter
operator willing and able to provide the service, except under one of the exceptions at 49 CFR
604.9. Any charter service provided under one of the exceptions must be "incidental," i.e., it
must not interfere with or detract from the provision of mass transportation.

3. Clean Air Act and Federal Water Pollution Control Act
The Contractor agrees:

1) It will not use any violating facilities;

2) It will report the use of facilities placed on or likely to be placed on the U.S. EPA “List of
Violating Facilities;”

3) It will report violations of use of prohibited facilities to FTA; and

4) It will comply with the inspection and other requirements of the Clean Air Act, as
amended, (42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 — 7671q); and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act as
amended, (33 U.S.C. §§ 1251-1387).

4. Civil Rights Laws and Regulations

Marin Transit is an Equal Opportunity Employer. As such, Marin Transit agrees to comply with
all applicable Federal civil rights laws and implementing regulations. Apart from

84

ltem 5



133

inconsistent requirements imposed by Federal laws or regulations, Marin Transit agrees to
comply with the requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5323(h) (3) by not using any Federal assistance
awarded by FTA to support procurements using exclusionary or discriminatory specifications.

Under this Agreement, the Contractor shall at all times comply with the following requirements
and shall include these requirements in each subcontract entered into as part thereof:

Nondiscrimination. In accordance with Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Contractor
agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because
of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, disability, or age. In addition, the Contractor agrees
to comply with applicable Federal implementing regulations and other implementing
requirements FTA may issue.

Race, Color, Religion, National Origin, Sex. In accordance with Title VIl of the Civil Rights Act, as
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., and Federal transit laws at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Contractor
agrees to comply with all applicable equal employment opportunity requirements of U.S.
Department of Labor (U.S. DOL) regulations, "Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs,
Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor," 41 C.F.R. chapter 60, and Executive
Order No. 11246, "Equal Employment Opportunity in Federal Employment," September 24,
1965, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note, as amended by any later Executive Order that amends or
supersedes it, referenced in 42

U.S.C. § 2000e note. The Contractor agrees to take affirmative action to ensure that applicants
are employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to their
race, color, religion, national origin, or sex (including sexual orientation and gender identity).
Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following: employment, promotion,
demotion or transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or termination; rates of pay
or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. In
addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with any implementing requirements FTA may issue.

Age. In accordance with the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 621- 634, U.S.
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (U.S. EEOC) regulations, “Age Discrimination in
Employment Act,” 29 C.F.R. part 1625, the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, 42
U.S.C. § 6101 et seq., U.S. Health and Human Services regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the
Basis of Age in Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 45 C.F.R. part 90,
and Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Contractor agrees to refrain from discrimination
against present and prospective employees for reason of age. In addition, the Contractor agrees
to comply with any implementing requirements FTA may issue.

Disabilities. In accordance with section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29
U.S.C. § 794, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.,
the Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §4151 et seq., and Federal transit
law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Contractor agrees that it will not discriminate against individuals on
the basis of disability. In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with any implementing
requirements FTA may issue.

5. Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE)

The contractor, subrecipient or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color,
national origin, or sex in the performance of this contract. The contractor shall carry out
applicable requirements of 49 C.F.R. part 26 in the award and administration of DOT-assisted
contracts. Failure by the contractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this

85

ltem 5



134

contract, which may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as the
recipient deems appropriate, which may include, but is not limited to:
(1) Withholding monthly progress payments;

(2) Assessing sanctions;
(3) Liquidated damages; and/or

(4) Disqualifying the contractor from future bidding as non-responsible. 49 C.F.R. §
26.13(b).

Prime contractors are required to pay subcontractors for satisfactory performance of their
contracts no later than 30 days from receipt of each payment the recipient makes to the prime
contractor. 49 C.F.R. § 26.29(a). The contractor shall utilize the specific DBEs listed unless the
contractor obtains the recipient’s written consent. Unless the recipient’s consent is provided,
the contractor shall not be entitled to any payment for work or material unless it is performed
or supplied by the listed DBE. 49 C.F.R. § 26.53(f) (1).

It is the policy of Marin Transit and the United States Department of Transportation (“DOT”)
that Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (“DBE’s”), as defined herein and in the Federal
regulations published at 49 C.F.R. part 26, shall have an equal opportunity to participate in
DOT-assisted contracts. It is also the policy of Marin Transit to:

1. Ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of DOT-assisted contracts;

2. Create a level playing field on which DBE’s can compete fairly for DOT-assisted
contracts;

3. Ensure that the DBE program is narrowly tailored in accordance with applicable law;

4. Ensure that only firms that fully meet 49 C.F.R. part 26 eligibility standards are
permitted to participate as DBE’s;

5. Help remove barriers to the participation of DBEs in DOT assisted contracts;

6. To promote the use of DBEs in all types of federally assisted contracts and procurement
activities; and

7. Assist in the development of firms that can compete successfully in the marketplace
outside the DBE program.

This Contract is subject to 49 C.F.R. part 26. Therefore, the Contractor must satisfy the
requirements for DBE participation as set forth herein. These requirements are in addition to all
other equal opportunity employment requirements of this Contract. Marin Transit shall make
all determinations with regard to whether or not a Bidder/Offeror is in compliance with the
requirements stated herein. In assessing compliance, Marin Transit may consider during its
review of the Bidder/Offeror’s submission package, the Bidder/Offeror’s documented history of
non-compliance with DBE requirements on previous contracts with Marin Transit.

Contract Assurance. The Contractor, subrecipient or subcontractor shall not discriminate on
the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the performance of this Contract. The
Contractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 C.F.R. part 26 in the award and
administration of DOT-assisted contracts. Failure by the Contractor to carry out these

86

ltem 5



135

requirements is a material breach of this Contract, which may result in the termination of this
Contract or such other remedy as Marin Transit deems appropriate.

DBE Participation. For the purpose of this Contract, Marin Transit will accept only DBE’s who
are:

1. Certified, at the time of bid opening or proposal evaluation, by the [certifying
agency or the Unified Certification Program (UCP)]; or

2. An out-of-state firm who has been certified by either a local government, state
government or Federal government entity authorized to certify DBE status or
an agency whose DBE certification process has received FTA approval; or

3. Certified by another agency approved by Marin Transit.

DBE Participation Goal. The DBE participation goal for this Contract is set at 6%. This goal
represents those elements of work under this Contract performed by qualified Disadvantaged
Business Enterprises for amounts totaling not less than 6% of the total Contract price. Failure
to meet the stated goal at the time of proposal submission may render the Bidder/Offeror non-
responsive.

Proposed Submission. Each Bidder/Offeror, as part of its submission, shall supply the following
information:
1. A completed DBE Utilization Form (see below) that indicates the percentage
and dollar value of the total bid/contract amount to be supplied by
Disadvantaged Business Enterprises under this Contract.

2. A list of those qualified DBE’s with whom the Bidder/Offeror intends to contract
for the performance of portions of the work under the Contract, the agreed
price to be paid to each DBE for work, the Contract items or parts to be
performed by each DBE, a proposed timetable for the performance or delivery
of the Contract item, and other information as required by the DBE
Participation Schedule (see below). No work shall be included in the Schedule
that the Bidder/Offeror has reason to believe the listed DBE will subcontract, at
any tier, to other than another DBE. If awarded the Contract, the
Bidder/Offeror may not deviate from the DBE Participation Schedule submitted
in response to the bid. Any subsequent changes and/or substitutions of DBE
firms will require review and written approval by Marin Transit.

3. An original DBE Letter of Intent (see below) from each DBE listed in the DBE
Participation Schedule.

4, An original DBE Affidavit (see below) from each DBE stating that there has not
been any change in its status since the date of its last certification.

Good Faith Efforts. If the Bidder/Offeror is unable to meet the goal set forth above (DBE
Participation Goal), Marin Transit will consider the Bidder/Offeror’s documented good faith

87

ltem 5



136

efforts to meet the goal in determining responsiveness. The types of actions that Marin Transit
will consider as part of the Bidder/Offeror’s good faith efforts include, but are not limited to,
the following:

1. Documented communication with Marin Transit’s DBE Coordinator (questions of IFB or
RFP requirements, subcontracting opportunities, appropriate certification, will be
addressed in a timely fashion);

2. Pre-bid meeting attendance. At the pre-bid meeting, Marin Transit generally informs
potential Bidder/Offeror’s of DBE subcontracting opportunities;

3. The Bidder/Offeror’s own solicitations to obtain DBE involvement in general circulation
media, trade association publication, minority-focus media and other reasonable and
available means within sufficient time to allow DBEs to respond to the solicitation;

4. Written notification to DBE’s encouraging participation in the proposed Contract; and

5. Efforts made to identify specific portions of the work that might be performed by DBE’s.

The Bidder/Offeror shall provide the following details, at a minimum, of the specific efforts it
made to negotiate in good faith with DBE’s for elements of the Contract:

1. The names, addresses, and telephone numbers of DBE’s that were contacted;

2. A description of the information provided to targeted DBE’s regarding the specifications
and bid proposals for portions of the work;

3. Efforts made to assist DBE’s contacted in obtaining bonding or insurance required by the
Bidder or the Authority.

Further, the documentation of good faith efforts must include copies of each DBE and non-DBE
subcontractor quote submitted when a non-DBE subcontractor was selected over a DBE for
work on the contract. 49 C.F.R. § 26.53(b) (2) (VI). In determining whether a Bidder has made
good faith efforts, the Authority may take into account the performance of other Bidders in
meeting the Contract goals. For example, if the apparent successful Bidder failed to meet the
goal, but meets or exceeds the average DBE participation obtained by other Bidders, the
Authority may view this as evidence of the Bidder having made good faith efforts.

Administrative Reconsideration. Within five (5) business days of being informed by Marin
Transit that it is not responsive or responsible because it has not documented sufficient good
faith efforts, the Bidder/Offeror may request administrative reconsideration. The Bidder should
make this request in writing to Marin Transit’s Director of Policy and Legislative Programs. The
Director of Policy and Legislative Programs will forward the Bidder/Offeror’s request to a
reconsideration official who will not have played any role in the original determination that the
Bidder/Offeror did not document sufficient good faith efforts.

As part of this reconsideration, the Bidder/Offeror will have the opportunity to provide written
documentation or argument concerning the issue of whether it met the goal or made adequate
good faith efforts to do so. The Bidder/Offeror will have the opportunity to meet in person with
the assigned reconsideration official to discuss the issue of whether it met the goal or made
adequate good faith efforts to do so. Marin Transit will send the Bidder/Offeror a written
decision on its reconsideration, explaining the basis for finding that the Bidder/Offeror did or
did not meet the goal or make adequate

88

ltem 5



137

good faith efforts to do so. The result of the reconsideration process is not administratively
appealable to the Department of Transportation.

Termination of DBE Subcontractor. The Contractor shall not terminate the DBE
subcontractor(s) listed in the DBE Participation Schedule (see below) without Marin Transit’s
prior written consent. Marin Transit may provide such written consent only if the Contractor
has good cause to terminate the DBE firm. Before transmitting a request to terminate, the
Contractor shall give notice in writing to the DBE subcontractor of its intent to terminate and
the reason for the request. The Contractor shall give the DBE five days to respond to the notice
and advise of the reasons why it objects to the proposed termination. When a DBE
subcontractor is terminated or fails to complete its work on the Contract for any reason, the
Contractor shall make good faith efforts to find another DBE subcontractor to substitute for the
original DBE and immediately notify Marin Transit in writing of its efforts to replace the original
DBE. These good faith efforts shall be directed at finding another DBE to perform at least the
same amount of work under the Contract as the DBE that was terminated, to the extent
needed to meet the Contract goal established for this procurement. Failure to comply with
these requirements will be in accordance with Section 8 below (Sanctions for Violations).

Continued Compliance. Marin Transit shall monitor the Contractor’s DBE compliance during the
life of the Contract. In the event this procurement exceeds ninety (90) days, it will be the
responsibility of the Contractor to submit quarterly written reports to Marin Transit that
summarize the total DBE value for this Contract. These reports shall provide the following
details:

DBE utilization established for the Contract;

Total value of expenditures with DBE firms for the quarter;

The value of expenditures with each DBE firm for the quarter by race and gender;

Total value of expenditures with DBE firms from inception of the Contract; and

The value of expenditures with each DBE firm from the inception of the Contract by race
and gender.

Reports and other correspondence must be submitted to the DBE Coordinator with copies
provided to Marin Transit. Reports shall continue to be submitted quarterly until final payment
is issued or until DBE participation is completed.

The successful Bidder/Offeror shall permit:

1. Marin Transit to have access to necessary records to examine information as Marin
Transit deems appropriate for the purpose of investigating and determining compliance
with this provision, including, but not limited to, records of expenditures, invoices, and
contract between the successful Bidder/Offeror and other DBE parties entered into
during the life of the Contract.

2. The authorized representative(s) of Marin Transit, the U.S. Department of
Transportation, the Comptroller General of the United States, to inspect and audit all
data and record of the Contractor relating to its performance under the Disadvantaged
Business Enterprise Participation provision of this Contract.

89

ltem 5



138

3. All data/record(s) pertaining to DBE shall be maintained as stated in Section [insert
reference to record keeping requirements for the Project.]

Sanctions for Violations. If at any time Marin Transit has reason to believe that the Contractor
is in violation of its obligations under this Agreement or has otherwise failed to comply with
terms of this Section, Marin Transit may, in addition to pursuing any other available legal
remedy, commence proceedings, which may include but are not limited to, the following:

1. Suspension of any payment or part due the Contractor until such time as the issues
concerning the Contractor’s compliance are resolved; and

2. Termination or cancellation of the Contract, in whole or in part, unless the successful
Contractor is able to demonstrate within a reasonable time that it is in compliance with
the DBE terms stated herein.

90

ltem 5



139

DBE UTILIZATION FORM

The undersigned Bidder/Offeror has satisfied the requirements of the solicitation in the
following manner (please check the appropriate space):

The Bidder/Offer is committed to a minimum of 6% DBE utilization on this contract.

The Bidder/Offeror (if unable to meet the DBE goal of 6%) is committed to a minimum

of % DBE utilization on this contract and submits documentation demonstrating good faith
efforts.

DBE PARTICIPATION SCHEDULE

The Bidder/Offeror shall complete the following information for all DBE’s participating in the
contract that comprises the DBE Utilization percent stated in the DBE Utilization Form. The
Bidder/Offeror shall also furnish the name and telephone number of the appropriate contact
person should the Authority have any questions in relation to the information furnished herein.

DBE IDENTIFICATION AND INFORMATION FORM

Contact Name and [Participation Description of
Name and Address{Telephone Percent (Of Total [Work to Be Race and Gender
Number Contract Value) [Performed of Firm

91

ltem 5



140

6. Employee Protections

Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards for Awards Not Involving Construction-The
Contractor shall comply with all federal laws, regulations, and requirements providing wage

and hour protections for non-construction employees, in accordance with 40 U.S.C. § 3702,
Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, and other relevant parts of that Act, 40 U.S.C. §
3701 et seq., and U.S. DOL regulations, “Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts
Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction (also Labor Standards Provisions
Applicable to Non-Construction Contracts Subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety
Standards Act),” 29 C.F.R. part 5.

The Contractor shall maintain payrolls and basic payroll records during the course of the work
and shall preserve them for a period of three (3) years from the completion of the
contract for all laborers and mechanics, including guards and watchmen, working on the
contract. Such records shall contain the name and address of each such employee, social
security number, correct classifications, hourly rates of wages paid, daily and weekly number
of hours worked, deductions made, and actual wages paid.

Such records maintained under this paragraph shall be made available by the Contractor for
inspection, copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the FTA and the
Department of Labor, and the Contractor will permit such representatives to interview
employees during working hours on the job.

The contractor shall require the inclusion of the language of this clause within subcontracts of all
tiers.

7. Energy Conservation Requirements

The contractor agrees to comply with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy
efficiency which are contained in the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with
the Energy Policy and Conservation Act.

8.Fly America Requirements for Air Transportation

Contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 40118 (the "Fly America" Act) in accordance with
the General Services Administration's regulations at 41 CFR Part 301-10, which provide that
Marin Transit and subrecipients of Federal funds and their contractors are required to use U.S.
Flag air carriers for U.S Government-financed international air travel and transportation of their
personal effects or property, to the extent such service is available, unless travel by foreign air
carrier is a matter of necessity, as defined by the Fly America Act. The Contractor shall submit, if
a foreign air carrier was used, an appropriate certification or memorandum adequately
explaining why service by a U.S. flag air carrier was not available or why it was necessary to use
a foreign air carrier and shall, in any event, provide a certificate of compliance with the Fly
America requirements. The Contractor agrees to include the requirements of this section in all
subcontracts that may involve international air transportation.

9. Government-Wide Debarment and Suspension

Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion. The Contractor shall comply and
facilitate compliance with U.S. DOT regulations, “Nonprocurement Suspension and

92

ltem 5



141

Debarment,” 2 C.F.R. part 1200, which adopts and supplements the U.S. Office of Management
and Budget (U.S. OMB) “Guidelines to Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and
Suspension (Nonprocurement),” 2 C.F.R. part 180. These provisions apply to each contract at
any tier of $25,000 or more, and to each contract at any tier for a federally required audit
(irrespective of the contract amount), and to each contract at any tier that must be approved
by an FTA official irrespective of the contract amount. As such, the Contractor shall verify that
its principals, affiliates, and subcontractors are eligible to participate in this federally funded
contract and are not presently declared by any Federal department or agency to be:

a) Debarred from participation in any federally assisted Award;
b) Suspended from participation in any federally assisted Award;
c) Proposed for debarment from participation in any federally assisted Award;
d) Declared ineligible to participate in any federally assisted Award;
e) Voluntarily excluded from participation in any federally assisted Award; or
f) Disqualified from participation in ay federally assisted Award.

By signing and submitting its bid or proposal, the bidder or proposer certifies as follows:

The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact relied upon by Marin Transit.
If it is later determined by Marin Transit that the bidder or proposer knowingly rendered an
erroneous certification, in addition to remedies available to Marin Transit, the Federal
Government may pursue available remedies, including but not limited to suspension and/or
debarment. The bidder or proposer agrees to comply with the requirements of 2 C.F.R. part
180, subpart C, as supplemented by 2 C.F.R. part 1200, while this offer is valid and throughout
the period of any contract that may arise from this offer. The bidder or proposer further agrees
to include a provision requiring such compliance in its lower tier covered transactions.

10. Lobbying Restrictions.

The lobbying requirements apply to all contracts and subcontracts of $100,000 or more at any
tier under a Federal grant. The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and
belief, that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the
undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or
employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress,
or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any
Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan,
the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation,
renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or
cooperative agreement.

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to
any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any
agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee
of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or
cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form-
LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions.

93

ltem 5



142

3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the
award documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants,
and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all
subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this
transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for
making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any
person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less
than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure.

Signature of Contractor's Authorized Official

Name and Title of Contractor's Authorized Official

Date

11. No Government Obligation to Third Parties

The Marin Transit and Contractor acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding any
concurrence by the Federal Government in or approval of the solicitation or award of the
underlying Contract, absent the express written consent by the Federal Government, the
Federal Government is not a party to this Contract and shall not be subject to any
obligations or liabilities to the Marin Transit, Contractor or any other party (whether or
not a party to that contract) pertaining to any matter resulting from the underlying
Contract. The Contractor agrees to include the above clause in each subcontract financed in
whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by the FT It is further agreed that the
clause shall not be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject to its
provisions.

12. Program Fraud and False or Fraudulent Statements and Related Acts

The Contractor acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of
1986, as amended, 31 U.S.C. § § 3801 et seq . and U.S. DOT regulations, "Program Fraud Civil
Remedies," 49 C.F.R. Part 31, apply to its actions pertaining to this Project. Upon execution of
the underlying contract, the Contractor certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of any
statement it has made, it makes, it may make, or causes to be made, pertaining to the
underlying contract or the FTA assisted project for which this contract work is being performed.
In addition to other penalties that may be applicable, the Contractor further acknowledges that
if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission,
or certification, the Federal Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of the
Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 on the Contractor to the extent the Federal
Government deems appropriate.

The Contractor also acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, or
fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification to the Federal Government under a

94

ltem 5



143

contract connected with a project that is financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance
originally awarded by FTA under the authority of 49 U.S.C. § 5307, the Government reserves
the right to impose the penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and 49 U.S.C. § 5307(n)(1) on the
Contractor, to the extent the Federal Government deems appropriate.

The Contractor agrees to include the above two clauses in each subcontract financed in whole
or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. It is further agreed that the clauses shall not
be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject to the provisions.

13. Public Transportation Employee Protective Arrangements

The Contractor agrees to comply with the following employee protective arrangements of 49
U.S.C. § 5333(b):

U.S. DOL Certification. Under this Contract or any Amendments thereto that involve public
transportation operations that are supported with federal assistance, a certification issued by
U.S. DOL is a condition of the Contract.

Special Warranty. When the Contract involves public transportation operations and is
supported with federal assistance appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C. § 5311, U.S. DOL
will provide a Special Warranty for its Award, including its Award of federal assistance under
the Tribal Transit Program. The U.S. DOL Special Warranty is a condition of the Contract.

Special Arrangements. The conditions of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) do not apply to Contractors
providing public transportation operations pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 5310. FTA reserves the right
to make case-by-case determinations of the applicability of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) for all transfers
of funding authorized under title 23, United States Code (flex funds), and make other
exceptions as it deems appropriate, and, in those instances, any special arrangements required
by FTA will be incorporated herein as required.

14. Recycled Products

The Contractor agrees to provide a preference for those products and services that conserve
natural resources, protect the environment, and are energy efficient by complying with and
facilitating compliance with Section 6002 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6962, and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA),
“Comprehensive Procurement Guideline for Products Containing Recovered Materials,” 40
C.F.R. part 247.

15. Safe Operation of Motor Vehicles

Seat Belt Use. The Contractor is encouraged to adopt and promote on-the-job seat belt use
policies and programs for its employees and other personnel that operate company-owned
vehicles, company- rented vehicles, or personally operated vehicles. The terms “company-
owned” and “company-leased” refer to vehicles owned or leased either by the Contractor or
Marin Transit.

Distracted Driving. The Contractor agrees to adopt and enforce workplace safety policies to
decrease crashes caused by distracted drivers, including policies to ban text messaging while
using an electronic device supplied by an employer, and driving a vehicle the driver owns or

95

ltem 5



144

rents, a vehicle Contactor owns, leases, or rents, or a privately-owned vehicle when on official
business in connection with the work performed under this agreement.

16. School Bus Operations

The contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 5323(f), and 49 C.F.R. part 604, and not engage
in school bus operations using federally funded equipment or facilities in competition with
private operators of school buses, except as permitted under:

a. Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(f);
b. FTA regulations, “School Bus Operations,” 49 C.F.R. part 605;
c. Any other Federal School Bus regulations; or

d. Federal guidance, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing. If Contractor violates
this School Bus Agreement, FTA may:

1. Bar the Contractor from receiving Federal assistance for public transportation;
or

2. Require the contractor to take such remedial measures as FTA considers
appropriate.

When operating exclusive school bus service under an allowable exemption, the contractor may
not use federally funded equipment, vehicles, or facilities.

The Contractor should include the substance of this clause in each subcontract or purchase
under this contract that may operate public transportation services.

17. Substance Abuse Requirements

Substance Abuse Testing. The Contractor agrees to establish and implement a drug and alcohol
testing program that complies with 49 C.F.R. parts 655, produce any documentation necessary
to establish its compliance with part 655, and permit any authorized representative of the
United States Department of Transportation or its operating administrations, the State
Oversight Agency of [name of State], or Marin Transit, to inspect the facilities and records
associated with the implementation of the drug and alcohol testing program as required under
49 C.F.R. part 655 and review the testing process. The Contractor agrees further to certify
annually its compliance with parts 655 before [insert date] and to submit the Management
Information System (MIS) reports before [insert date before March 15] to General Manager,
Marin Transit, 711 Grand Avenue, Ste. 101, San Rafael, CA 94901. To certify compliance, the
Contractor shall use the "Substance Abuse Certifications" in the "Annual List of Certifications
and Assurances for Federal Transit Administration Grants and Cooperative Agreements," which
is published annually in the Federal Register.

18. Termination

Termination for Convenience (General Provision). Marin Transit may terminate this contract,
in whole or in part, at any time by written notice to the Contractor when it is in the
Government's best interest. The Contractor shall be paid its costs, including contract close-out
costs, and profit on work performed up to the time of termination. The Contractor shall
promptly submit its termination claim to Marin Transit to be paid the Contractor. If the

96

ltem 5



145

Contractor has any property in its possession belonging to Marin Transit, the Contractor will
account for the same, and dispose of it in the manner Marin Transit directs.

Termination for Default [Breach or Cause] (General Provision). If the Contractor does not
deliver supplies in accordance with the contract delivery schedule, or, if the contract is for
services, the Contractor fails to perform in the manner called for in the contract, or if the
Contractor fails to comply with any other provisions of the contract, Marin Transit may
terminate this contract for default. Termination shall be effected by serving a notice of
termination on the contractor setting forth the manner in which the Contractor is in default.
The contractor will only be paid the contract price for supplies delivered and accepted, or
services performed in accordance with the manner of performance set forth in the contract.

If it is later determined by Marin Transit that the Contractor had an excusable reason for not
performing, such as a strike, fire, or flood, events which are not the fault of or are beyond the
control of the Contractor, Marin Transit, after setting up a new delivery of performance
schedule, may allow the Contractor to continue work, or treat the termination as a termination
for convenience.

Opportunity to Cure (General Provision). Marin Transit in its sole discretion may, in the case of
a termination for breach or default, allow the Contractor thirty (30) days in which to cure the
defect. In such case, the notice of termination will state the time period in which cure is
permitted and other appropriate conditions

If Contractor fails to remedy to Marin Transit's satisfaction the breach or default of any of the
terms, covenants, or conditions of this Contract within thirty (30) days after receipt by
Contractor of written notice from Marin Transit setting forth the nature of said breach or
default, Marin Transit shall have the right to terminate the Contract without any further
obligation to Contractor. Any such termination for default shall not in any way operate to
preclude Marin Transit from also pursuing all available remedies against Contractor and its
sureties for said breach or default.

Waiver of Remedies for any Breach. In the event that Marin Transit elects to waive its
remedies for any breach by Contractor of any covenant, term or condition of this Contract, such
waiver by Marin Transit shall not limit Marin Transit's remedies for any succeeding breach of
that or of any other term, covenant, or condition of this Contract.

Termination for Convenience (Professional or Transit Service Contracts). Marin Transit, by
written notice, may terminate this contract, in whole or in part, when it is in the Government's
interest. If this contract is terminated, the Marin Transit shall be liable only for payment under
the payment provisions of this contract for services rendered before the effective date of
termination.

Termination for Convenience of Default (Cost-Type Contracts). Marin Transit may terminate
this contract, or any portion of it, by serving a notice or termination on the Contractor. The
notice shall state whether the termination is for convenience of Marin Transit or for the default
of the Contractor. If the termination is for default, the notice shall state the manner in which
the contractor has failed to perform the requirements of the contract. The Contractor shall
account for any property in its possession paid for from funds received from Marin Transit, or
property supplied to the Contractor by Marin Transit. If the termination is for default, Marin
Transit may fix the fee, if the contract provides for a fee, to be paid the contractor in proportion

97

ltem 5



146

to the value, if any, of work performed up to the time of termination. The Contractor shall
promptly submit its termination claim to Marin Transit and the parties shall negotiate the
termination settlement to be paid the Contractor.

If the termination is for the convenience of Marin Transit, the Contractor shall be paid its
contract close-out costs, and a fee, if the contract provided for payment of a fee, in proportion
to the work performed up to the time of termination.

If, after serving a notice of termination for default, Marin Transit determines that the
Contractor has an excusable reason for not performing, Marin Transit, after setting up a new
work schedule, may allow the Contractor to continue work, or treat the termination as a
termination for convenience.

19. Violation and Breach of Contract

Rights and Remedies of Marin Transit. Marin Transit shall have the following rights in the event
that Marin Transit deems the Contractor guilty of a breach of any term under the Contract.

1. The right to take over and complete the work or any part thereof as agency for and at
the expense of the Contractor, either directly or through other contractors;

2. The right to cancel this Contract as to any or all of the work yet to be performed;

3. The right to specific performance, an injunction or any other appropriate equitable
remedy; and

4. The right to money damages.
For purposes of this Contract, Marin Transit shall define breach in the Contract terms.

Rights and Remedies of Contractor. Inasmuch as the Contractor can be adequately
compensated by money damages for any breach of this Contract, which may be committed by
Marin Transit, the Contractor expressly agrees that no default, act or omission of Marin Transit
shall constitute a material breach of this Contract, entitling Contractor to cancel or rescind the
Contract (unless Marin Transit directs Contractor to do so) or to suspend or abandon
performance.

Remedies. Substantial failure of the Contractor to complete the Project in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement will be a default of this Agreement. In the event of a default, Marin
Transit will have all remedies in law and equity, including the right to specific performance,
without further assistance, and the rights to termination or suspension as provided herein. The
Contractor recognizes that in the event of a breach of this Agreement by the Contractor before
Marin Transit takes action contemplated herein, Marin Transit will provide the Contractor with
sixty (60) days written notice that Marin Transit considers that such a breach has occurred and
will provide the Contractor a reasonable period of time to respond and to take necessary
corrective action.

Disputes. Example 1: Disputes arising in the performance of this Contract that are not resolved
by agreement of the parties shall be decided in writing by the authorized representative of
Marin Transit’s General Manager. This decision shall be final and conclusive unless within [10]
days from the date of receipt of its copy, the Contractor mails or otherwise furnishes a written
appeal to the General Manager. In connection with any such appeal, the Contractor shall be
afforded an opportunity to be heard and to offer evidence in support of its position. The

98

ltem 5



147

decision of the General Manager shall be binding upon the Contractor and the Contractor shall
abide be the decision.

Example 2: Marin Transit and the Contractor intend to resolve all disputes under this
Agreement to the best of their abilities in an informal manner. To accomplish this end, the
parties will use an Alternative Dispute Resolution process to resolve disputes in a manner
designed to avoid litigation. In general, the parties contemplate that the Alternative Dispute
Resolution process will include, at a minimum, an attempt to resolve disputes through
communications between their staffs, and, if resolution is not reached at that level, a procedure
for review and action on such disputes by appropriate management level officials within Marin
Transit and the Contractor’s organization.

In the event that a resolution of the dispute is not mutually agreed upon, the parties can agree
to mediate the dispute or proceed with litigation. Notwithstanding any provision of this section,
or any other provision of this Contract, it is expressly agreed and understood that any court
proceeding arising out of a dispute under the Contract shall be heard by a Court de novo and
the court shall not be limited in such proceeding to the issue of whether the Authority acted in
an arbitrary, capricious or grossly erroneous manner.

Pending final settlement of any dispute, the parties shall proceed diligently with the
performance of the Contract, and in accordance with Marin Transit’s direction or decisions
made thereof.

Performance during Dispute. Unless otherwise directed by Marin Transit, Contractor shall
continue performance under this Contract while matters in dispute are being resolved.

Claims for Damages. Should either party to the Contract suffer injury or damage to person or
property because of any act or omission of the party or of any of its employees, agents or
others for whose acts it is legally liable, a claim for damages therefor shall be made in writing to
such other party within a reasonable time after the first observance of such injury or damage.

Remedies. Unless this Contract provides otherwise, all claims, counterclaims, disputes and
other matters in question between Marin Transit and the Contractor arising out of or relating to
this agreement or its breach will be decided by arbitration if the parties mutually agree, orin a
court of competent jurisdiction within the State in which Marin Transit is located.

Rights and Remedies. The duties and obligations imposed by the Contract documents and the
rights and remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to and not a limitation of any
duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. No action or
failure to act by Marin Transit or Contractor shall constitute a waiver of any right or duty
afforded any of them under the Contract, nor shall any such action or failure to act constitute
an approval of or acquiescence in any breach thereunder, except as may be specifically agreed
in writing.

ATTACHMENT K DRUG AND ALCOHOL POLICY PROGRAM

MARIN TRANSIT DRUG & ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM CONTACTS

Any questions regarding Marin Transit’s Drug and Alcohol policy or any other aspect of the
substance abuse policy should be directed to the following individual(s)

99

ltem 5



Marin Transit’s Drug and Alcohol Program Manager

Name: Amy Van Doren
Title: Director of Policy & Legislative Programs
Address: 711 Grand Avenue, Suite 110

San Rafael, CA 94901

Telephone Number: 415-226-0859

Marin Transit’s purchased transportation service contractors will fill out and maintain this

148

staffing plan as a component of Marin Transit’s requirements for their Drug and Alcohol Test

Programs.

Purchased Transportation Contractor Contacts (required)

Drug and Alcohol Program Manager
Name:

Title:

Address:

Telephone Number:

Medical Review Officer
Name:

Title:

Address:

Telephone Number:

Substance Abuse Professional
Name:

Title:

Address:

Telephone Number:

HHS Certified Laboratory Primary Specimen

Name:
Address:
Telephone Number:

HHS Certified Laboratory Split Specimen
Name:

Address:

Telephone Number:

Marin ﬂirpmortcr

8 Lovell Avenue, San Rafael, CA 94901
415.956.8833 » fox 415.256.8839

100

ltem 5



149

MARIN AIRPORTER

DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY

revised 1/25/2018

PREAMBLE 2
PURPOSE 2

APPLICABILITY 2
101

ltem 5



DEFINITIONS

EDUCATION AND TRAINING
PROHIBITED SUBSTANCES
PROHIBITED CONDUCT

DRUG STATUTE CONVICTION
TESTING REQUIREMENTS

DRUG TESTING PROCEDURES
ALCOHOL TESTING PROCEDURES
PRE-EMPLOYMENT TESTING
REASONABLE SUSPICION TESTING
POST ACCIDENT TESTING
RANDOM TESTING
RETURN TO DUTY

FOLLOW UP TESTING

RESULT OF DRUG/ALCOHOL TEST
GRIEVANCE AND APPEAL
PROPER APPLICATION OF POLICY
INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

1. PREAMBLE

© 00 0 Ww

10
10
10
12
13
14
15
16
17
17
18
21
21
21

150

102

ltem 5



151

Marin Airporter is adopting this policy to comply with 49 CFR Parts 653 and 654,
produce any documentation necessary to establish its compliance with Parts 653 and
654, and permit any authorized representative to inspect the facilities and records
associated with the implementation of the drug and alcohol testing program as required
under 49 CFR Parts 653 and 654 and review the testing process.

2. PURPOSE

2.1. Marin Airporter provides transportation services for the residents of Marin County.
Part of our mission is to ensure that this service is delivered safely, efficiently, and
effectively by establishing a drug and alcohol-free work environment, and to ensure that
the workplace remains free from the effects of drugs and alcohol in order to promote the
health and safety of employees and the general public. In keeping with this mission,
Marin Airporter declares that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispense,
possession, or use of controlled substances or misuse of alcohol is prohibited for all
employees.

2.2. Additionally, the purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines to maintain a drug
and alcohol-free workplace in compliance with the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988,
and the Omnibus Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991. This policy is intended
to comply with all applicable Federal regulations governing workplace anti-drug and
alcohol programs in the transit industry. Specifically, the Federal Transit Administration
(FTA) of the U.S. Department of Transportation has published 49 CFR Part 655, as
amended, that mandates urine drug testing and breath alcohol testing for safety-
sensitive positions, and prohibits performance of safety-sensitive functions when there
is a positive test result. The U. S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) has also
published 49 CFR Part 40, as amended, that sets standards for the collection and
testing of urine and breath specimens.

3. APPLICABILITY

3.1. This Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy applies to all safety-sensitive employees (full-
or part-time) when performing safety sensitive duties.

3.2. A safety-sensitive function is operation of transportation services including the
operation of a revenue service vehicle (whether or not the vehicle is in revenue service),
maintenance of a revenue service vehicle or equipment used in revenue service and
any other transportation employee who is required to hold a Commercial Drivers
License. Maintenance functions include the repair, overhaul, and rebuild of engines,
vehicles and/or equipment used in revenue service. A list of safety-sensitive positions
who perform one or more of the above mentioned duties is provided in Attachment A.
Supervisors are only safety sensitive if they perform one of the above functions.
Volunteers are considered safety sensitive and subject to testing if they are required to
hold a CDL, or receive remuneration for service in excess of actual expense.

4. DEFINITIONS
103

ltem 5



152

Accident: An occurrence associated with the operation of a vehicle even when not in
revenue service, if as a result:

a. Anindividual dies;

b. An individual suffers a bodily injury and immediately receives medical treatment
away from the scene of the accident; or,

c. One or more vehicles incur disabling damage as the result of the occurrence and is
transported away from the scene by a tow truck or other vehicle. For purposes of this
definition, disabling damage means damage which precludes departure of any vehicle
from the scene of the occurrence in its usual manner in daylight after simple repairs.
Disabling damage includes damage to vehicles that could have been operated but
would have been further damaged if so operated, but does not include damage which
can be remedied temporarily at the scene of the occurrence without special tools or
parts, tire disablement without other damage even if no spare tire is available, or
damage to headlights, taillights, turn signals, horn, mirrors or windshield wipers that
makes them inoperative.

Adulterated specimen: A specimen that has been altered, as evidence by test
results showing either a substance that is not a normal constituent for that type of
specimen or showing an abnormal concentration of an endogenous substance

Alcohol: The intoxicating agent in beverage alcohol, ethyl alcohol, or other low
molecular weight alcohols contained in any beverage, mixture, mouthwash, candy, food,
preparation or medication.

Alcohol Concentration: Expressed in terms of grams of alcohol per 210 liters of
breath as measured by an evidential breath testing device.

Aliquot: A fractional part of a specimen used for testing, it is taken as a sample
representing the whole specimen.

Canceled Test: A drug test that has been declared invalid by a Medical Review
Officer. A canceled test is neither positive nor negative.

Confirmatory Drug Test: A second analytical procedure performed on a different
aliquot of the original specimen to identify and quantify the presence of a specific drug
or metabolite.

Confirmatory Validity Test: A second test performed on a different aliquot of the
original urine specimen to further support a validity test result.

Covered Employee Under FTA Authority: An employee who performs a safety-sensitive
function including an applicant or transferee who is being considered for hire into a
safety-sensitive function (See Attachment A for a list of covered employees).

Designated Employer Representative (DER): An employee authorized by the
employer to take immediate action to remove employees from safety-sensitive duties
and to make required decisions in testing. The DER also receives test results and other

104

ltem 5



153

communications for the employer, consistent with the requirements of 49 CFR Parts 40
and 655.

Department of Transportation (DOT): Department of the federal government
which includes the Federal Transit Administration, Federal Railroad Administration,
Federal Aviation Administration, Federal Motor Carriers' Safety Administration, Pipeline
& Hazardous Materials Safety Administration, United States Coast Guard, and the
Office of the Secretary of Transportation.

Dilute specimen: A urine specimen with creatinine and specific gravity values that
are lower than expected for human urine.

Disabling damage: Damage which precludes departure of any vehicle from the
scene of the occurrence in its usual manner in daylight after simple repairs. Disabling
damage includes damage to vehicles that could have been operated but would have
been further damaged if so operated, but does not include damage which can be
remedied temporarily at the scene of the occurrence without special tools or parts, tire
disablement without other damage even if no spare tire is available, or damage to
headlights, taillights, turn signals, horn, mirrors or windshield wipers that makes them
inoperative.

Evidentiary Breath Testing Device (EBT): A Device approved by the NHTSA
for the evidential testing of breath at the 0.02 and the 0.04 alcohol concentrations.
Approved devices are listed on the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration
(NHTSA) conforming products list.

Initial Drug Test: (Screening Drug Test) The test used to differentiate a negative
specimen from one that requires further testing for drugs or drug metabolites.

Initial Specimen Validity Test: The first test used to determine if a urine
specimen is adulterated, diluted, substituted, or invalid.

Invalid Result: The result reported by an Department of Health & Human Services
(HHS)-certified laboratory in accordance with the criteria established by the HHS
Mandatory Guidelines when a positive, negative, adulterated, or substituted results
cannot be established for a specific drug or specimen validity test.

Laboratory: Any U.S. laboratory certified by HHS under the National Laboratory
Certification program as meeting standards of Subpart C of the HHS Mandatory
Guidelines for Federal Workplace Drug Testing Programs; or, in the case of foreign
laboratories, a laboratory approved for participation by DOT under this part.

Limit of Detection (LOD): The lowest concentration at which a measurand can be
identified, but (for quantitative assays) the concentration cannot be accurately
calculated.

Limit of Quantitation: For quantitative assays, the lowest concentration at which
the identity and concentration of the measurand can be accurately established.

105

ltem 5



154

Medical Review Officer (MRO): A licensed physician (medical doctor or doctor of
osteopathy) responsible for receiving laboratory results generated by the drug testing
program who has knowledge of substance abuse disorders, and has appropriate
medical training to interpret and evaluate an individual's confirmed positive test result,
together with his/her medical history, and any other relevant bio-medical information.

Negative Dilute: A drug test result which is negative for the five drug/drug
metabolites but has a specific gravity value lower than expected for human urine.

Negative result: The result reported by an HHS-certified laboratory to an MRO
when a specimen contains no drug or the concentration of the drug is less than the
cutoff concentration for the drug or drug class and the specimen is a valid specimen.

Non-negative test result: A urine specimen that is reported as adulterated,
substitute, invalid, or positive for drug/drug metabolites.

Oxidizing Adulterant: A substance that acts alone or in combination with other
substances to oxidize drugs or drug metabolites to prevent the detection of the drug or
metabolites, or affects the reagents in either the initial or confirmatory drug test.

Performing (a safety-sensitive function): A covered employee is considered
to be performing a safety-sensitive function and includes any period in which he or she
is actually performing, ready to perform, or immediately available to perform such
functions.

Positive result: The result reported by an HHS- Certified laboratory when a
specimen contains a drug or drug metabolite equal or greater to the cutoff
concentrations.

Prohibited drug: Identified as marijuana, cocaine, opioids, amphetamines
(including ecstasy), or phencyclidine at levels above the minimum thresholds specified
in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended.

Reconfirmed: The result reported for a split specimen when the second laboratory is
able to corroborate the original result reported for the primary specimen.

Rejected for Testing: The result reported by an HHS- Certified laboratory when no
tests are performed for a specimen because of a fatal flaw or a correctable flaw that has
not been corrected.

Revenue Service Vehicles: All transit vehicles that are used for passenger
transportation service.

Safety-sensitive functions: Employee duties identified as:
a. The operation of a transit revenue service vehicle even when the vehicle is not in

revenue service.
106

ltem 5



155

b. The operation of a non-revenue service vehicle by an employee when the operation
of such a vehicle requires the driver to hold a Commercial Drivers License (CDL).

c. Maintaining a revenue service vehicle or equipment used in revenue service.

d. Controlling the movement of a revenue service vehicle and

e. Carrying a firearm for security purposes.

Split Specimen Collection: A collection in which the urine collected is divided
into two separate bottles, the primary specimen (Bottle A) and the split specimen (Bottle
B).

Substance Abuse Professional (SAP): A licensed physician (medical doctor or
doctor of osteopathy) or licensed or certified psychologist, social worker, employee
assistance professional, state-licensed marriage and family therapist, or addiction
counselor (certified by the National Association of Alcoholism and Drug Abuse
Counselors Certification Commission or by the International Certification Reciprocity
Consortium/Alcohol and other Drug Abuse (ICRC) or by the National Board for Certified
Counselors, Inc. and Affiliates/Master Addictions Counselor (NBCC)) with knowledge of
and clinical experience in the diagnosis and treatment of drug and alcohol related
disorders.

Substituted specimen: A urine specimen with creatinine and specific gravity
values that are so diminished that they are not consistent with normal human urine.

Test Refusal: The following are considered a refusal to test if the employee:

a. Fails to appear for any test (excluding pre-employment) within a reasonable time, as
determined by the employer, after being directed to do so by the employer

b. Fails to remain at the testing site until the testing process is complete

c. Fails to attempt to provide a urine or breath specimen for any drug or alcohol test
required by Part 40 or DOT agency regulations

d. In the case of a directly observed or monitored collection in a drug test, fails to permit
the observation or monitoring of your provision of a specimen

e. Fails to provide a sufficient amount of urine or breath when directed, and it has been
determined, through a required medical evaluation, that there was no adequate medical
explanation for the failure

f. Fails or declines to take a second test the employer or collector has directed you to
take

g. Fails to undergo a medical examination or evaluation, as directed by the MRO as
part of the verification process, or as directed by the DER as part of the "shy bladder” or
"shy lung" procedures

h. Fails to cooperate with any part of the testing process (e.g., refuse to empty pockets
when so directed by the collector, behave in a confrontational way that disrupts the
collection process)

I. If the MRO reports that there is verified adulterated or substituted test result

j. Failure or refusal to sign Step 2 of the alcohol testing form

k. Failure to follow the observer's instructions during an observed collection including
instructions to raise your clothing above the waist, lower clothing and underpants, and
to turn around to permit the observer to determine if you have any type of prosthetic or
other device that could be used to interfere with the collection process.

|. Possess or wear a prosthetic or other device that could be used to interfere with the

107

ltem 5



156

collection process
m. Admit to the collector or MRO that you adulterated or substituted the specimen.

Verified negative test: A drug test result reviewed by a medical review officer and
determined to have no evidence of prohibited drug use above the minimum cutoff levels
established by the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS).

Verified positive test: A drug test result reviewed by a medical review officer and
determined to have evidence of prohibited drug use above the minimum cutoff levels
specified in 49 CFR Part 40 as revised.

Validity testing: The evaluation of the specimen to determine if it is consistent with
normal human urine. Specimen validity testing will be conducted on ail urine specimens
provided for testing under DOT authority. The purpose of validity testing is to determine
whether certain adulterants or foreign substances were added to the urine, if the urine
was diluted, or if the specimen was substituted.

5. EDUCATION AND TRAINING

5.1. Every covered employee will have access to a copy of this policy and will have
ready access to the corresponding federal regulations including 49 CFR Parts 655 and
40, as amended. In addition, all covered employees will undergo a minimum of 60
minutes of training on the signs and symptoms of drug use including the effects and
consequences of drug use on personal health, safety,

and the work environment. The training also includes manifestations and behavioral
cues that may indicate prohibited drug use.

5.2. All supervisory personnel or company officials who are in a position to determine
employee fitness for duty will receive 60 minutes of reasonable suspicion training on the
physical, behavioral, and performance indicators of probable drug use and 60 minutes
of additional reasonable suspicion training on the physical, behavioral, speech, and
performance indicators of probable alcohol misuse.

6. PROHIBITED SUBSTANCES
6.1. Prohibited substances addressed by this policy include the following.

a. lllegally Used Controlled Substance or Drugs Under the Drug-Free Workplace Act of
1988 any drug or any substance identified in Schedule | through V of Section 202 of the
Controlled Substance Act (21 U.S.C. 812), and as further defined by 21 CFR 1300.11
through 1300.15 is prohibited at all times in the workplace unless a legal prescription
has been written for the substance. This includes, but is not limited to: marijuana,
amphetamines (including methamphetamine and ecstasy), opioids (including heroin),
phencyclidine (PCP), and cocaine, as well as any drug not approved for medical use by
the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration or the U.S. Food and Drug Administration.
lllegal use includes use of any illegal drug, misuse of legally prescribed drugs, and use
of illegally obtained prescription drugs. Also, the medical use of marijuana, or the use of

108

ltem 5



157

hemp related products, which cause drug or drug metabolites to be present in the body
above the minimum thresholds is a violation of this policy

Federal Transit Administration drug testing regulations (49 CFR Part 655) require that
all employees covered under FTA Authority be tested for marijuana, cocaine,
amphetamines (including methamphetamine and ecstasy), opioids (including heroin),
and phencyclidine as described in Section 10 of this policy. lllegal use of these five
drugs is prohibited at all times and thus, covered employees may be tested for these
drugs anytime that they are on duty.

b. Legal Drugs: The appropriate use of legally prescribed drugs and nonprescription
medications is not prohibited. However, the use of any substance which carries a
warning label that indicates that mental functioning, motor skills, or judgment may be
adversely affected must be reported to a Marin Airporter supervisor and the employee is
required to provide a written release from his/her doctor or pharmacist indicating that
the employee can perform his/her safety-sensitive functions.

c. Alcohol: The use of beverages containing alcohol (including any mouthwash,
medication, food, candy) or any other substances such that alcohol is present in the
body while performing safety-sensitive job functions is prohibited. An alcohol test can be
performed on a covered employee under 49 CFR Part 655 just before, during, or just
after the performance of safety-sensitive job functions.

7. PROHIBITED CONDUCT

7.1. All covered employees are prohibited from reporting for duty or remaining on duty
any time there is a quantifiable presence of a prohibited drug in the body above the
minimum thresholds defined in 49 CFR PART 40, as amended.

7.2. Each covered employee is prohibited from consuming alcohol while performing
safety-sensitive job functions or while on-call to perform safety-sensitive job functions. If
an on-call employee has consumed alcohol, they must acknowledge the use of alcohol
at the time that they are called to report for duty.

7.3. The Transit Department shall not permit any covered employee to perform or
continue to perform safety-sensitive functions if it has actual knowledge that the
employee is using alcohol.

7.4. Each covered employee is prohibited from reporting to work or remaining on duty
requiring the performance of safety-sensitive functions while having an alcohol
concentration of 0.04 or greater regardless of when the alcohol was consumed.

7.5. No covered employee shall consume alcohol for eight (8) hours following

involvement in an accident or until he/she submits to the post-accident drug/alcohol test,
whichever occurs first.

7.6. No covered employee shall consume alcohol within four (4) hours prior to the
performance of safety-sensitive job functions.

7.7. Marin Airporter under its own authority also prohibits the consumption of alcohol all

109

ltem 5



158
times employee is on duty, or anytime the employee is in uniform.

7.8. Consistent with the Drug-free Workplace Act of 1988, all Marin Airporter
employees are prohibited from engaging in the unlawful manufacture, distribution,
dispensing, possession, or use of prohibited substances in the work place including
transit system premises and transit vehicles.

8. DRUG STATUTE CONVICTION

Consistent with the Drug Free Workplace Act of 1998, all employees are required to
notify the Marin Airporter management of any criminal drug statute conviction for a
violation occurring in the workplace within five days after such conviction. Failure to
comply with this provision shall result in disciplinary action as defined in Section 18.10.
of this policy.

9. TESTING REQUIREMENTS

9.1. Analytical urine drug testing and breath testing for alcohol will be conducted using
the testing methodologies and thresholds defined in 49CFR part 40 as amended. All
employees covered under FTA authority shall be subject to testing prior to performing
safety-sensitive duty, for reasonable suspicion, following an accident, and random as
defined in Section 12, 13, 14, and 15 of this policy, and return to duty/follow-up.

9.2. A drug test can be performed any time a covered employee is on duty. A
reasonable suspicion and random alcohol test can be performed just before, during, or
after the performance of a safety-sensitive job function.

9.3. All employees will be subject to urine drug testing and breath alcohol testing as a
condition of ongoing employment with Marin Airporter. Any safety-sensitive employee
who refuses to comply with a request for testing shall be removed from duty and subject
to discipline as defined in Section 18 of this policy.

10. DRUG TESTING PROCEDURES

10.1. Testing shall be conducted in a manner to assure a high degree of accuracy and
reliability and using techniques, equipment, and laboratory facilities which have been
approved by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Service (HHS). All testing will
be conducted consistent with the procedures set forth in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended.
The procedures will be performed in a private, confidential manner and every effort will
be made to protect the employee, the integrity of the drug testing procedure, and the
validity of the test result.

10.2. The drugs that will be tested for include marijuana, cocaine, opioids (including
heroin), amphetamines (including methamphetamine and ecstasy), and phencyclidine.
After the identity of the donor is checked using picture identification, a urine specimen
will be collected using the split specimen collection method described in 49 CFR Part

110

ltem 5



159

40, as amended. Each specimen will be accompanied by a DOT Chain of Custody and
Control Form and identified using a unique identification number that attributes the
specimen to the correct individual. The specimen analysis will be conducted at a HHS
certified laboratory. An initial drug screen and validity test will be conducted on the
primary urine specimen. For those specimens that are not negative, a confirmatory Gas
Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS) test will be performed. The test will be
considered positive if the amounts of the drug(s) and/or its metabolites identified by the
GC/MS test are above the minimum thresholds established in 49 CFR Part 40, as
amended.

10.3. The test results from the HHS certified laboratory will be reported to a Medical
Review Officer. A Medical Review Officer (MRO) is a licensed physician with detailed
knowledge of substance abuse disorders and drug testing. The MRO will review the test
results to ensure the scientific validity of the test and to determine whether there is a
legitimate medical explanation for a confirmed positive, substitute, or adulterated test
result. The MRO will attempt to contact the employee to notify the employee of the non-
negative laboratory result, and provide the employee with an opportunity to explain the
confirmed laboratory test result. The MRO will subsequently review the employee's
medical history/medical records as appropriate to determine whether there is a
legitimate medical explanation for a non-negative laboratory result. If no legitimate
medical explanation is found, the test will be verified positive or refusal to test and
reported to the Marin Airporter Drug and Alcohol Program Manager (DAPM). If a
legitimate explanation is found, the MRO will report the test result as negative to the
DAPM.

10.4. If the test is invalid without a medical explanation, a retest will be conducted
under direct observation. Employees do not have access to a test of their split specimen
following an invalid result.

10.5. Any covered employee who questions the results of a required drug test under
paragraphs 13 through 17 of this policy may request that the split sample be tested. The
test must be conducted on the split sample that was provided by the employee at the
same time as the primary sample. The method of collecting, storing, and testing the split
sample will be consistent with the procedures set forth in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended.
The employee's request for a split sample test must be made to the Medical Review
Officer within 72 hours of notice of the original sample verified test result. Requests after
72 hours will only be accepted at the discretion of the MRO if the delay was due to
documentable facts that were beyond the control of the employee. Marin Airporter will
ensure that the cost for the split specimen are covered in order for a timely analysis of
the sample, however Marin Airporter will seek reimbursement for the split sample test
from the employee.

10.6. If the analysis of the split specimen fails to confirm the presence of the drug(s)
detected in the primary specimen, if the split specimen is not able to be analyzed, or if
the results of the split specimen are not scientifically adequate or is invalid, the MRO will
declare the original test to be canceled. If the split specimen is not available to be
analyzed or is invalid the MRO will direct Marin Airporter to immediately retest the
employee under direct observation.

10.7. The split specimen will be stored at the initial laboratory until the analysis of the
111

ltem 5



160

primary specimen is completed. If the primary specimen is negative, the split will be
discarded. If the primary is positive, the split will be retained for testing if so requested
by the employee through the Medical Review Officer. If the primary specimen is
positive, it will be retained in frozen storage for one year and the split specimen will also
be retained for one year.

10.8. Observed collections
Consistent with 49 CFR part 40, as amended, collection under direct observation (by a
person of the same gender) with no advance notice will occur if:

a. The laboratory reports to the MRO that a specimen is invalid, and the MRO reports to
Marin Transit that there was not an adequate medical explanation for the result;

- The MRO reports to Marin Airporter that the original positive, adulterated, or
substituted test result had to be cancelled because the test of the split specimen could
not be performed;

- The laboratory reported to the MRO that the specimen was negative-dilute with a
creatinine concentration greater than or equal to 2 mg/dL but less than or equal to 5
mg/dL, and the MRO reported the specimen to you as negative-dilute and that a second
collection must take place under direct observation (see 840.197(b)(1)).

- The collector observes materials brought to the collection site or the employee's
conduct clearly indicates an attempt to tamper with a specimen;

- The temperature on the original specimen was out of range;

- Anytime the employee is directed to provide another specimen because the original
specimen appeared to have been tampered with.

- All follow-up-tests; or

- All return-to-duty tests

11. ALCOHOL TESTING PROCEDURES

11.1. Tests for breath alcohol concentration will be conducted utilizing a National
Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA)-approved Evidential Breath Testing
device (EBT) operated by a trained Breath Alcohol Technician (BAT). Alcohol screening
tests may be performed using a non-evidential testing device which is also approved by
NHSTA. if the initial test indicates an alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater, a second
test will be performed to confirm the results of the initial test. The confirmatory test must
occur on an EBT. The confirmatory test will be conducted no sooner than fifteen
minutes after the completion of the initial test. The confirmatory test will be performed
using a NHTSA-approved EBT operated by a trained BAT. The EBT will identify each
test by a unique sequential identification number. This number, time, and unit identifier
will be provided on each EBT printout. The EBT printout, along with an approved
alcohol testing form, will be used to document the test, the subsequent results, and to
attribute the test to the correct employee. The test will be performed in a private,
confidential manner as required by 49 CFR Part 40, as amended. The procedure will be
followed as prescribed to protect the employee and to maintain the integrity of the
alcohol testing procedures and validity of the test result.

11.2. An employee who has a confirmed alcohol concentration of 0.04 or greater will be

112

ltem 5



161

considered a positive alcohol test and in violation of this policy. The consequences of a
positive alcohol test are described in Section 18. of this policy. Even though an
employee who has a confirmed alcohol concentration of 0.02 to 0.039 is not
considered positive, the employee shall still be removed from duty for at least
eight hours or for the duration of the work day whichever is longer and will be
subject to the consequences described in Section 18 of this policy. An alcohol
concentration of less than 0.02 will be considered a negative test.

11.3. Marin Airporter affirms the need to protect individual dignity, privacy, and
confidentiality throughout the testing process. If at any time the integrity of the testing
procedures or the validity of the test results is compromised, the test will be canceled.
Minor inconsistencies or procedural flaws that do not impact the test result will not result
in a cancelled test.

11.4. The alcohol testing form (ATF) required by 49 CFR Part 40 as amended, shall be
used for all FTA required testing. Failure of an employee to sign step 2 of the ATF will
be considered a refusal to submit to testing.

12. PRE-EMPLOYMENT TESTING

12.1. All applicants for covered transportation positions shall undergo urine drug testing
prior to performance of a safety-sensitive function.

a. All offers of employment for covered positions shall be extended conditional upon the
applicant passing a drug test. An applicant will not be allowed to perform safety-
sensitive functions unless the applicant takes a drug test with verified negative results.
b. An employee shall not be placed, transferred or promoted into a position covered
under FTA or company authority until the employee takes a drug test with verified
negative results.
c. If an applicant fails a pre-employment drug test, the conditional offer of employment
shall be rescinded and the applicant will be referred to a SAP. Before being considered
for future employment the applicant must provide the employer proof of having
successfully completed a referral, evaluation and treatment plan as described in section
655.62 of subpart G. The cost for the assessment and any subsequent treatment will be
the sole responsibility of the applicant.
d. When an employee being placed, transferred, or promoted from a non-covered
position to a position covered under FTA or company authority submits a drug test with
a verified positive result, the employee shall be subject to disciplinary action in
accordance with Section 18 herein.
e. If a pre-employment test is canceled, Marin Airporter will require the applicant to take
and pass another pre-employment drug test.
f. Ininstances where a FTA covered employee is on extended leave for a period of 90
consecutive days or more regardless of reason, and is not in the random testing pool
the employee will be required to take a pre-employment drug test under 49 CFR Part
655 and have negative test results prior to the conduct of safety-sensitive job functions.
g. Following a negative dilute the employee will be required to undergo another test.
Should this second test result in a negative dilute result, the test will be considered a
negative and no additional testing will be required unless directed to do so by the MRO.
h. Applicants are required (even if ultimately not hired) to provide Marin Airporter with
113

ltem 5



162

signed written releases requesting DOT drug and alcohol records from all previous,
DOT-covered safety-sensitive work, employers that the applicant has worked for within
the last two years. Failure to do so will result in the employment offer being rescinded.
Marin Airporter is required to ask all applicants (even if ultimately not hired) if they have
tested positive or refused to test on a pre-employment test for a DOT covered employer
within the last two years. If the applicant has tested positive or refused to test on a pre-
employment test for a DOT covered employer, the applicant must provide Marin
Airporter proof of having successfully completed a referral, evaluation and treatment
plan as described in section 655.62 of subpart G.

13. REASONABLE SUSPICION TESTING

All Marin Airporter covered employees will be subject to a reasonable suspicion drug
and/or alcohol test when the employer has reasonable suspicion to believe that the
covered employee has used a prohibited drug and/or engaged in alcohol misuse.
Reasonable suspicion shall mean that there is objective evidence, based upon specific,
contemporaneous, articulable observations of the employee's appearance, behavior,
speech or body odor that are consistent with possible drug use and/or alcohol misuse.
Reasonable suspicion referrals must be made by one or more supervisors who are
trained to detect the signs and symptoms of drug and alcohol use, and who reasonably
concludes that an employee may be adversely affected or impaired in his/her work
performance due to possible prohibited substance abuse or alcohol misuse. A
reasonable suspicion alcohol test can only be conducted just before, during, or just after
the performance of a safety-sensitive job function. However, under Marin Airporter's
authority, a reasonable suspicion drug/alcohol test may be performed any time the
covered employee is on duty. If the employee is not reporting for, performing or has just
performed a safety-sensitive job function the reasonable suspicion alcohol testing will
be done on non-DOT forms with no DOT consequences (no SAP referral) for non-
negative results.

Marin Airporter shall be responsible for transporting the employee to the testing site.
Supervisors should avoid placing themselves and/or others into a situation which might
endanger the physical safety of those present. The employee shall be placed on
administrative leave pending disciplinary action described in Section 18 of this policy.
An employee who refuses an instruction to submit to a drug/alcohol test shall not be
permitted to finish his or her shift and shall immediately be placed on administrative
leave pending disciplinary action as specified in Section 18 of this policy.

13.3. A written record of the observations which led to a drug/alcohol test based on
reasonable suspicion shall be prepared and signed by the supervisor making the
observation. This written record shall be submitted to the Marin Airporter management.
When there are no specific, contemporaneous, articulable objective facts that indicate
current drug or alcohol use, but the employee (who is not already a participant in a
treatment program) admits the abuse of alcohol or other substances to a supervisor in
his/her chain of command, the employee shall be referred for assessment and
treatment consistent with Section 18 of this policy. Marin Airporter shall place the
employee on administrative leave in accordance with the provisions set forth under
Section 18 of this policy. Testing in this circumstance would be performed under the
direct authority of the Marin Airporter. Since the employee self-referred to management,

114

ltem 5



163

testing under this circumstance would not be considered a violation of this policy or a
positive test result under Federal authority. However, self-referral does not exempt the
covered employee from testing under Federal authority as specified in Sections 13
through 15 of this policy or the associated consequences as specified in Section 18.

14. POST ACCIDENT TESTING

14.1. All employees covered under FTA authority will be required to undergo urine and
breath testing if they are involved in an accident with a public transportation vehicle
regardless of whether or not the vehicle is in revenue service that results in a fatality.
This includes all surviving covered employees that are operating the vehicle at the time
of the accident and any other whose performance cannot be completely discounted as a
contributing factor to the accident.

14.2. In addition, a post-accident test will be conducted if an accident results in injuries
requiring immediate transportation to a medical treatment facility; or one or more
vehicles incurs disabling damage, unless the operators performance can be completely
discounted as a contributing factor to the accident.

a. As soon as practicable following an accident, as defined in this policy, the supervisor
investigating the accident will notify the employee operating the vehicle and all other
covered employees whose performance could have contributed to the accident of the
need for the test. The supervisor will make the determination using the best information
available at the time of the decision.

b. The appropriate supervisor shall ensure that an employee, required to be tested
under this section, is tested as soon as practicable, but no longer than eight (8) hours of
the accident for alcohol, and no longer than 32 hours for drugs. If an alcohol test is not
performed within two hours of the accident, the

Supervisor will document the reason(s) for the delay. If the alcohol test is not conducted
within (8) eight hours, or the drug test within 32 hours, attempts to conduct the test must
cease and the reasons for the failure to test documented.

c. Any covered employee involved in an accident must refrain from alcohol use for eight
(8) hours following the accident, or until he/she undergoes a post-accident alcohol test.
d. An employee who is subject to post-accident testing who fails to remain readily
available for such testing, including notifying a supervisor of his or her location if he or
she leaves the scene of the accident prior to submission to such test, may be deemed
to have refused to submit to testing.

e. Nothing in this section shall be construed to require the delay of necessary medical
attention for the injured following an accident, or to prohibit an employee from leaving
the scene of an accident for the period necessary to obtain assistance in responding to
the accident, or to obtain necessary emergency medical care.

f. In the rare event that Marin Airporter is unable to perform an FTA drug and alcohol
test (i.e., employee is unconscious, employee is detained by law enforcement agency),
Marin Airporter may use drug and alcohol post-accident test results administered by
local law enforcement officials in lieu of the FTA test. The local law enforcement officials
must have independent authority for the test and the employer must obtain the results in
conformance with local law.

115

ltem 5



164

15.RANDOM TESTING

15.1. All covered employees will be subjected to random, unannounced testing.
Employees covered under FTA authority will be selected from a pool of DOT-covered
safety-sensitive employees. The selection of employees shall be made by a
scientifically valid method of randomly generating an employee identifier from the
appropriate pool of employees.

15.2. The dates for administering unannounced testing of randomly selected
employees shall be spread reasonably throughout the calendar year, day of the week
and hours of the day.

15.3. The number of employees randomly selected for drug/alcohol testing during the
calendar year shall be not less than the percentage rates established by Federal
regulations for those safety-sensitive employees subject to random testing by Federal
regulations. The current random testing rate for drugs established by FTA equals
twenty-five percent of the number of covered employees in the pool and the
random testing rate for alcohol established by FTA equals ten percent of the
number of covered employees in the pool.

15.4. Each covered employee shall be in a pool from which the random selection is
made. Each covered employee in the pool shall have an equal chance of selection each
time the selections are made. Employees will remain in the pool and subject to
selection, whether or not the employee has been

previously tested. There is no discretion on the part of management in the selection.

15.5. Covered employees that fall under the Federal Transit Administration regulations
will be included in one random pool.

15.6. Random tests can be conducted at any time during an employee's shift for drug
testing. Alcohol random tests can be performed just before, during, or just after the
performance of a safety sensitive duty.

15.7. Employees are required to proceed immediately to the collection site upon
notification of their random selection.

16. RETURN TO DUTY

All covered employees who previously tested positive on a drug or alcohol test or
refused a test, must test negative for drugs, alcohol (below 0.02 for alcohol), or both and
be evaluated and released by the Substance Abuse Professional before returning to
work. For an initial positive drug test a Return-to-Duty drug test is required and an
alcohol test is allowed. For an initial positive alcohol test a Return-to-Duty alcohol test is
required and a drug test is allowed. Following the initial assessment, the SAP will
recommend a course of rehabilitation unique to the individual. The SAP will recommend
the return-to-duty test only when the employee has successfully completed the
treatment requirement and is known to be drug and alcohol-free and there are no undo

116

ltem 5



165

concerns for public safety.

17. FOLLOW UP TESTING

Covered employees will be required to undergo frequent, unannounced drug and/or
alcohol testing following their return-to-duty. The follow-up testing will be performed for
a period of one to five years with a minimum of six tests to be performed the first year.
The frequency and duration of the follow-up tests (beyond the minimums) will be
determined by the SAP reflecting the SAP's assessment of the employee's unique
situation and recovery progress. Follow-up testing should be frequent enough to deter
and/or detect a relapse. Follow-up testing is separate and in addition to the random,
post-accident, reasonable suspicion and return-to-duty testing.

18. RESULT OF DRUG/ALCOHOL TEST

18.1 Any covered employee that has a verified positive drug or alcohol test will be
removed from his/her safety-sensitive position, informed of educational and
rehabilitation programs available, and referred to a Substance Abuse
Professional (SAP) for assessment. No employee will be allowed to return to duty
requiring the performance of safety-sensitive job functions without the approval of the
SAP and the employer.

18.2. Following a negative dilute the employee will be required to undergo
another test. Should this second test result in a negative dilute result, the test will be
considered a negative and no additional testing will be required unless directed to do so
by the MRO.

18.3. A positive drug and/or alcohol test will also result in disciplinary action as
specified herein.

a. After receiving notice of a verified positive drug test result, a confirmed alcohol test
result, or a test refusal, the Marin Airporter Drug and Alcohol Program Manager will
contact the employee's supervisor to have the employee cease performing any safety-
sensitive function.

b. The employee shall be referred to a Substance Abuse Professional for an
assessment. The SAP will evaluate each employee to determine what assistance the
employee needs in resolving problems associated with prohibited drug use or alcohol
misuse.

18.4. Refusal to submit to a drug/alcohol test shall be considered a positive test result
and a direct act of insubordination and shall result in termination and referral to an SAP.
A test refusal includes the following circumstances:

a. Fails to appear for any test (excluding pre-employment) within a reasonable time, as
determined by the employer, after being directed to do so by the employer

b. Fails to remain at the testing site until the testing process is complete

c. Fails to attempt to provide a urine or breath specimen for any drug or alcohol test
required by Part 40 or DOT agency regulations

117

ltem 5



166

d. In the case of a directly observed or monitored collection in a drug test, fails to permit
the observation or monitoring of your provision of a specimen.

e. Fails to provide a sufficient amount of urine or breath when directed, and it has been
determined, through a required medical evaluation, that there was no adequate medical
explanation for the failure

f. Fails or declines to take a second test the employer or collector has directed you to
take.

g. Fails to undergo a medical examination or evaluation, as directed by the MRO as
part of the verification process, or as directed by the DER as part of the "shy bladder" or
"shy lung" procedures

h. Fails to cooperate with any part of the testing process (e.g., refuse to empty pockets
when so directed by the collector, behave in a confrontational way that disrupts the
collection process)

i. If the MRO reports that there is verified adulterated or substituted test result

J. Failure or refusal to sign Step 2 of the alcohol testing form

k. Failure to follow the observer's instructions during an observed collection including
instructions to raise your clothing above the waist, lower clothing and underpants, and
to turn around to permit the observer to determine if you have

any type of prosthetic or other device that could be used to interfere with the collection
process.

|. Possess or wear a prosthetic or other device that could be used to interfere with the
collection process

m. Admit to the collector or MRO that you adulterated or substituted the specimen.

18.5. For the first instance of a verified positive test from a sample submitted as the
result of a random, drug/alcohol test (> 0.04 BAC), disciplinary action against the
employee shall include:

a. Mandatory referral to Substance Abuse Professional for assessment, formulation of
a treatment plan, and execution of a return to work agreement;

b. Failure to execute, or remain compliant with the return-to-work agreement shall
result in termination from Marin Airporter employment.

c. Compliance with the return-to-work agreement means that the employee has
submitted to a drug/alcohol test immediately prior to returning to work; the result of that
test is negative; in the judgment of the SAP the employee is cooperating with his/her
SAP recommended treatment program; and, the employee has agreed to periodic
unannounced follow-up testing as defined in Section 17 of this policy.

d. Refusal to submit to a periodic unannounced follow-up drug/alcohol test shall be
considered a direct act of insubordination and shall result in termination.

e. A periodic unannounced follow-up drug/alcohol test which results in a verified
positive shall result in termination from Marin Airporter employment.

18.6. The second instance of a verified positive drug or alcohol (> 0.04 BAC) test result
including a sample submitted under the random, reasonable suspicion, return-to-duty,
or follow-up drug/alcohol test provisions herein shall result in termination from Marin
Airporter employment.

18.7. A verified positive post-accident, or reasonable suspicion drug and/or alcohol (>
0.04) test shall result in termination.

18.8. An alcohol test result of > or equal to 0.02 to < or equal to 0.039 BAC shall result
118

ltem 5



167

in the removal of the employee from duty for eight hours or the remainder or the work
day whichever is longer The employee will not be allowed to return to safety-sensitive
duty for his/her next shift until he/she submits to an alcohol test with a result of less than
0.02 BAC. If the employee has an alcohol test result of > or equal to 0.02 to < or equal
to 0.039 two or more times within a six month period, the employee will be removed
from duty and referred for assessment and treatment consistent with Section 18.9-18.10
of this policy.

18.9. The cost of any treatment or rehabilitation services will be paid directly by the
employee or their insurance provider. The employee will be permitted to take accrued
sick leave or administrative leave to participate in the prescribed treatment program. If
the employee has insufficient accrued leave, the employee shall be placed on leave
without pay until the employee has successfully completed the required treatment
program and has been released to return-to-duty. Any leave taken, either paid or
unpaid, shall be considered leave taken under the Family and Medical Leave Act.

18.10. In the instance of a self-referral or a management referral, disciplinary action
against the employee shall include:

a. Mandatory referral for an assessment by an employer approved substance abuse
counselor or EAP (employee assistance program), formulation of a treatment plan, and
execution of a return to work agreement;

b. Failure to execute, or remain compliant with the return-to-work agreement shall
result in termination from Marin Airporter employment.

c. Compliance with the return-to-work agreement means that the employee has
submitted to a drug/alcohol test immediately prior to returning to work; the result of that
test is negative; the employee is cooperating with his/her recommended treatment
program; and, the employee has agreed to periodic unannounced follow-up testing as
defined in Section 17 of this policy.

d. Refusal to submit to a periodic unannounced follow-up drug/alcohol test shall be
considered a direct act of insubordination and shall result in termination. All tests
conducted as part of the return to work agreement will be conducted under company
authority and will be performed using non-DOT testing forms.

e. A self-referral or management referral to the employer's approved substance abuse
counselor or EAP that was not precipitated by a positive test result does not constitute a
violation of the Federal regulations and will not be considered as a positive test result in
relation to the progressive discipline defined in Section 18.4-18.5 of this policy.

f. Periodic unannounced follow-up drug/alcohol test conducted as a result of a self-
referral or management referral which results in a verified positive shall be considered a
positive test result in relation to the progressive discipline defined in Section 18.4-18.5
of this policy.

g. A Voluntary Referral does not shield an employee from disciplinary action or
guarantee employment with Marin Airporter.

h. A Voluntary Referral does not shield an employee from the requirement to

comply with drug and alcohol testing.

18.11. Failure of an employee to report within five days a criminal drug statute
conviction for a violation occurring in the workplace shall result in termination.

119

ltem 5



168

19. GRIEVANCE AND APPEAL
The consequences specified by 49 CFR Part 40.149 (c) for a positive test or test refusal
is not subject to arbitration.

20. PROPER APPLICATION OF POLICY

Marin Airporter is dedicated to assuring fair and equitable application of this substance
abuse policy. Therefore, supervisors/managers are required to use and apply all
aspects of this policy in an unbiased and impartial manner. Any

supervisor/manager who knowingly disregards the requirements of this policy, or who is
found to deliberately misuse the policy in regard to subordinates, shall be subject to
disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

21. INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

21.1. Drug/alcohol testing records shall be maintained by the Marin Airporter Drug and
Alcohol Program Manager and, except as provided below or by law, the results of any
drug/alcohol test shall not be disclosed without express written consent of the tested
employee.

21.2. The employee, upon written request, is entitled to obtain copies of any records
pertaining to their use of prohibited drugs or misuse of alcohol including any drug or
alcohol testing records. Covered employees have the right to gain access to any
pertinent records such as equipment calibration records, and records of laboratory
certifications. Employees may not have access to SAP follow-up testing plans.

21.3. Records of a verified positive drug/alcohol test result shall be released to the
Drug and Alcohol Program Manager, and other transportation system management
personnel on a need to know basis.

21.4. Records will be released to a subsequent employer only upon receipt of a written
request from the employee.

21.5. Records of an employee's drug/alcohol tests shall be released to the adjudicator
in a grievance, lawsuit, or other proceeding initiated by or on behalf of the tested
individual arising from the results of the drug/alcohol test. The records will be released
to the decision maker in the preceding.

21.6. Records will be released to the National Transportation Safety Board during an
accident investigation.

21.7. Information will be released in a criminal or civil action resulting from an
employee's performance of safety-sensitive duties, in which a court of competent
jurisdiction determines that the drug or alcohol test information is relevant to the case
and issues an order to the employer to release the information. The employer will
release the information to the decision maker in the proceeding with a binding
stipulation that it will only be released to parties of the proceeding.

120

ltem 5



169

21.8. Records will be released to the DOT or any DOT agency with regulatory authority
over the employer or any of its employees.

21.9. Records will be released if requested by a Federal, state or local safety agency
with regulatory authority over Marin Airporter or the employee.

21.10. If a party seeks a court order to release a specimen or part of a specimen
contrary to any provision of Part 40 as amended, necessary legal steps to contest the
issuance of the order will be taken.

21.11. In cases of a contractor or sub-recipient of a state department of transportation,
records will be released when requested by such agencies that must certify compliance
with the regulation to the FTA.

21.12. Any questions regarding this policy or any other aspect of the substance abuse
policy should be directed to the following Marin Airporter individuals:

Drug and Alcohol Program Manager (Donald Ambrose)
Safety Officer (DER) (Donald Ambrose)
President (DER) (Randy Kokke)

121

ltem 5



170

ATTACHMENT L SAFETY PROGRAM

Pursuant to Section 104 B. of this Contract, the CONTRACTOR will provide this plan within
45 days of Contract approval.

122

ltem 5



171

ATTACHMENT M EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS PLAN

Pursuant to Section 104 of this Contract, the CONTRACTOR will provide this plan within
90 days of Contract approval.

123

ltem 5



172

124

ltem 5



transit

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

board of directors

stephanie moulton-peters
president
city of mill valley

damon connolly
vice president
supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni
2nd vice president
supervisor district 4

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin
director
city of san rafael

kathrin sears
director
supervisor district 3

katie rice
director
supervisor district 2

173

March 5, 2018

Honorable Board of Directors
Marin County Transit District
3501 Civic Center Drive

San Rafael, CA 94903

SUBJECT: Award of Contract for Operations and Maintenance of
Fixed Route Package 2 Services to MV Transportation

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATION: Award contract for operation and
maintenance of Marin Transit Fixed Route Package 2 service to MV
Transportation for an initial three-year term with two additional option
years, and direct General Manager to negotiate final contract terms
for service beginning on July 1, 2018

SUMMARY: On November 17, 2017 Marin Transit issued a Request
for Proposal (RFP) for the operation and maintenance of Package 1
and 2 services. The RFP provided an option to propose a
consolidated single contract, as Package 3, that would include all the
services under Packages 1 and 2. The Package 1 services consist of
eight Marin Transit Local Connector and Local Basic routes (22, 49,
219, 228, 233, 245, 251, and 257) and an estimated 74,950 revenue
hours annually. Package 2 services consist of 13 of Marin Transit’'s
Rural, Supplemental School, Recreational, and Partnership Routes
(61, 66, 68, 113, 115, 117, 119, 122, 125, 139, 145, 151, and 154)
and an estimated 30,000 revenue hours annually.

Marin Transit currently provides Package 2 services under contract
with MV Transportation. As part of the RFP design, the Route 49 was
shifted from Package 2 to Package 1 for continuity of service and
equipment utilization. All other Package 1 services are currently
provided under contract with Marin Airporter.

The Package 1 and 2 contracts will end on June 30, 2018. Marin
Transit is required to competitively procure goods and services under
the District’s Procurement Policy and as a recipient of federal funds.

Through the RFP solicitation, three proposals were received by the
deadline of January 12, 2018. However, one proposal was deemed
non-responsive. The two responsive proposers and their submittals
are as follows:

= Marin Airporter - Proposed Package 1

Iltem 6



174

= MV Transportation - Proposed Packages 1, 2, and 3

Each proposal was thoroughly reviewed and both responsive firms were invited to interview with
a technical panel made up of Marin Transit staff and outside agency staff. The technical panel
scored the proposals based on the following criteria identified in the RFP:

Criteria Pts.
Cover Letter 0
Project Understanding 5
Corporate Capabilities, Experience, Past Performance 14
Key Personnel Qualifications and Experience 13
Organization, Workforce and Staffing 13
Mobilization Plan 5
Facility 5
Vehicle Maintenance 10
Customer Service 5
Intelligent Transportation Technology Plan 5
Field Operations/Road Supervision Plan 5
Reporting Plan 5
Employee Training 5
Safety and Security Plan 5
Cost p_roposal (in a separate envelope) _ _ 50
(Must include completed Cost Proposal Forms, provided in Attachment A)
Preference for complying with Labor Code 1072 Blo?:ﬁ)s
Required Forms 0

To ensure that the technical evaluation was independent of cost considerations, the technical
panel was not provided with the proposal pricing sheets. Price points were awarded separately
based on the total proposal costs over the possible five-year term. The lowest priced proposal
received the maximum points, and the other proposals received points based on their price
relative to the low price.

Based on the proposals submitted and the proposer interviews, the technical panel qualitatively
reviewed and ranked the proposals under the only two possible award scenarios:

Iltem 6



175

= Scenario One: an award to MV Transportation for Package 2 and Marin Airporter for
Package 1

= Scenario Two: an award to MV Transportation for Package 3

Based on the results of the technical panel’s initial review, Marin Transit issued a request for a
Best and Final offer from MV Transportation on February 5, 2018. The request letter identified
areas of discrepancy, requested further information, and asked for reconsideration of specific
items. Below is a summary of the final scoring of the Best and Final offer for Scenario One
(Package 1 and 2) and Scenario Two (Package 3 only).

Scenario One Scenario Two
Package 1 Marin Airporter MV Transportation
Package 2 MV Transportation MV Transportation
Technical Score 82.67 67.67
Price Score 44.40 50.00
Overall Score 127.07 117.67

Based on the above technical and price scoring, Scenario 1 was ranked higher than Scenario 2
and staff recommends MV Transportation for the award of the Package 2 service contract.

This award provides an opportunity for continued success with a valued incumbent contractor,
and positions the agency to take advantage of service improvements MV Transportation
presented in their proposal. With your Board’s approval of this award Marin Transit will negotiate
final contract terms with MV Transportation, Inc. and return to the Board for contract approval at
your April meeting.

FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT:
The MV Transportation Package 2 summary pricing proposal is shown below:

Cost per Revenue Hour - Package 2 Service

Base Years Option Years

FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 FY 21/22 FY 22/23

Hourly Rate $ 56.59 $57.00 $59.16 $ 60.26 $62.20

Fixed Monthly Fee $ 112,143 $115,617 $120,302 $123,377 $ 126,570

The total cost of this contract over the possible five-year time frame is $16,032,412 for Package
2 service. This is based on the RFP Package 2 forecast of 30,000 revenue hours annually.

Iltem 6



176

The contract allows Marin Transit to increase or decrease the forecast revenue hours by 20
percent without renegotiating. Option years and expanded revenue hours will be authorized as
needed subject to approval of the Board and available funding.

The effective contract hourly rate for these services in FY18/19, is $101.45 per revenue hour.
Many of the services in Package 2 are peak period services with significant deadhead hours
that are costly to provide. In the District's 10-year financial plan for the recent Short Range
Transit Plan (SRTP), the contract rates for the services in Package 1 and Package 2 included
10 percent and 20 percent escalations, respectively, to account for potential price increases in
the new contracts. The effective contract hourly rate is 17 percent above the SRTP estimate.
While the costs of Package 2 are above SRTP projections, this package accounts for only 36
percent of the combined service hours. The cost for Package 1 is below SRTP projections.
Combined, both packages are within one percent of the SRTP projections and provide for 700
additional service hours.

Respectfully submitted,

%é.zdw.,\

Nancy Whelan
General Manager

Iltem 6



transit

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

board of directors

stephanie moulton-peters
president
city of mill valley

damon connolly
vice president
supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni

2nd vice president
supervisor district 4

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin
director
city of san rafael

kathrin sears
director
supervisor district 3

katie rice
director
supervisor district 2

177

March 5, 2018

Honorable Board of Directors
Marin County Transit District
3501 Civic Center Drive

San Rafael, CA 94903

SUBJECT: The Greening of Marin Transit’s Fleet
Dear Board Members:
RECOMMENDATION: Information only

SUMMARY:

Marin Transit’'s Short Range Transit Plan (SRTP) states that the
District is committed to reducing emissions and to the use alternative
fuels. Marin Transit purchased its first hybrid electric buses in 2010.
Forty percent of Marin Transit’s fixed route fleet consists of 28
hybrid-electric buses. When preparing to purchase vehicles, Marin
Transit continues to evaluate the capability of new and emerging
technologies. In December 2016, your Board approved the
purchase of two zero-emission battery electric buses as a pilot
project. These vehicles are in production, and staff anticipates their
delivery in the first half of 2018.

Public transportation displaces emissions from personal vehicles,
reduces congestion, and can have a net positive effect on lowering
greenhouse gas emissions. Public transit is a leader in adopting
new vehicle technologies, and the California Air Resource Board
(CARB) is developing rules to require every transit vehicle to have
zero tailpipe emissions by the year 2040. In 2017, Marin Transit’s
fixed route fleet produced an estimated 1,622 tons of CO; annually
from tailpipe emissions, but displaced an estimated 1,652 tons from
private autos. This was calculated using engine emissions
standards for Heavy Duty Vehicles and Emission factor tables from
the California Air Resources Board and information. The displaced
emissions were calculated using the American Public Transportation
Association’s (APTA) recommended practice for quantifying transit
sustainability metrics and assumes that one third of passenger miles
traveled would have been completed in a single occupancy vehicle.

In addition to the District’s investments in hybrid electric technology,
82 percent of Marin Transit’s diesel fleet, including hybrid diesel-
electric, uses renewable diesel (RD99). This form of diesel can
reduce carbon dioxide (CO.) emissions by 65 to 90 percent
according to Golden Gate Petroleum. Marin Transit will continue to

Item 7



178

monitor emerging technologies and evaluate alternative fuel technologies for all future vehicle
purchases. The District’'s next major vehicle procurement will replace ten articulated diesel
buses in FY 2019/20.

This report provides information to assist your Board with evaluating the District’'s progress on
implementing alternative fuel technologies, including:
= The air quality benefits of public transit;
= A recent draft California Air Resources Board rule to require agencies to adopt electric
vehicles;
= Current zero-emission technologies and their use in public transit;
= Marin Transit’s current investments in alternative fuels; and
= Opportunities for additional investments in alternative fuels within Marin Transit’s fleet
replacement plan.

Public Transportation Emissions at a Glance
Transportation overall accounts for nearly 30 percent of GHGs in the U.S., with just one percent
from public transit. More than half of transportation emissions come from personal automobiles.

In calculating public transit emissions, modelers generally consider “displaced emissions” that
result from bus passengers who are not driving their own cars. Also, more people riding public
transit reduces congestion and reduces automobile idling, thereby increasing the fuel efficiency
of other vehicles on the road.

Figure 1 is a Federal Transit Administration chart of the estimated pounds per mile of CO; for

different modes of transportation. The estimate for bus transit assumes 10 passengers per
vehicle, and more people riding together increases the CO- efficiency per person.

Item 7



179

Figure 1 - Estimated CO2 Emissions per Passenger Mile for Transit and Private Autos

0.96
0.64
0.45
0.36
0.33
0.22 I I 0.22

Private Auto Bus Transit Heavy Rail Light Rail Commuter Rail Van Pool Transit Average
(Sov) Transit Transit

Pounds CO2 per Passenger Mile

Source: “Public Transportation’s Role in Responding to Climate Change.” U.S. Department of
Transportation, Federal Transit Administration, 2010.
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/PublicTransportationsRolelnRespondingToClim
ateChange2010.pdf. Accessed 3 Jan. 2018.

The term Zero Emission Buses (ZEB) usually refers to zero-tailpipe emissions vehicles. These
vehicles can still have indirect emissions based on how their fuel is produced. For example,
electricity to power a bus may be generated from fossil fuels such as coal, natural gas, or
petroleum. The following is a chart of emissions for different fuels types.

Item 7



180

Figure 2 — Estimated GHG Emissions of Fuel Types

9.00
8.00 - \/ \/ \/
7.00 +—
6.00 +— Marin Transit
Vehicles fueled
500 —— by this source?
400 +— CO2 Ibs/mile
3.00 4 H NOx g/mile
2.00 +——
1.00 +— r ———
s I = = B i B
Diesel Renewable Renewable Compressed Battery Gasoline
Diesel Diesel/Hybrid Natural Gas Electric
(CNG)
Notes:

(1) Calculated using data from US Energy Information Administration(USEIA)

(2) Only fixed route vehicles included

(3) Includes 5 Hybrids that currently run on Diesel and are planned to be fueled with renewable
diesel in the future

CARB'’s Draft Innovative Clean Transit Rule

In late 2017, CARB released a draft Innovative Clean Transit Rule that states that all public
transit fleets will consist of zero-emission vehicles by 2040. The draft rule would require a
percentage of all new transit vehicle purchases to have zero tailpipe emissions. Smaller
agencies, such as Marin Transit, will be required to make 50 percent of new vehicle purchases
be zero emission buses (ZEB) beginning in 2023. ZEBs purchased before 2023 will be credited
toward the goal and will be eligible for the Hybrid and Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher
Incentive Project (HVIP) voucher to reduce purchase cost. ZEBs purchased to meet
compliance requirements during or after 2023 would not be eligible for the voucher or funding
from CARB to help reduce the cost of the advanced technology. The initial public comment
deadline on the draft rule was January 12, 2018. CARB is preparing an Environmental Analysis
of potentially significant adverse and indirect impacts from actions stemming from the proposed
rule and convened a Transit agency subcommittee workgroup meeting in January. The Air
Resources Board will hold statewide workshops on the draft regulation in the Spring and hold a
hearing to consider the regulation in June 2018.

Table 1 provides an example of how the proposed Innovative Clean Transit Rule will impact
Marin Transit’s vehicle replacements.

Item 7



181

Table 1 — Impact of draft Innovative Clean Transit Rule on Marin Transit

Percentage of Purchase Marin Transit Vehicle purchases
Required to be ZEB Planned # of Replacements  # ZEB Purchases Required

2023 9 5
2024 50% of Purchase 3 2
2025 - -
2026 7 5
2027 75% of Purchase - 0
2028 11 8
2029 100% of Purchase 10 10

All transit buses must go through federal Altoona testing for structural safety before they can be
purchased with federal dollars. CARB proposes to exempt transit vehicles types that do not
have a federally-approved ZEB option from the requirement until there is an option available.
Currently, there is no eligible zero-emission cutaway vehicle. Until such a vehicle is approved,
Marin Transit shuttle and paratransit vehicle replacements will be exempt from this requirement.

Transit agencies have expressed concerns about the draft rule regarding the availability of
funding to cover the higher cost of these vehicles and the required infrastructure improvements
required to deploy zero-emission technologies.

Zero-Emission Vehicle Technology
There are two main technologies of zero tailpipe emission vehicles that are prominent in the
transit industry: Fuel Cell Electric Buses (FCEB), and Battery Electric Buses (BEB).

Fuel Cell Electric

FCEBs can work well in daily transit operations. They are capable of replacing traditional diesel
buses on a one for one basis due to the number of miles (range) they can travel in a day.
Instead of gasoline or diesel, these buses use hydrogen fuel. They are significantly more
expensive - over a million dollars per bus or almost three times the cost of a diesel bus - and the
fuel can be three times as expensive as diesel. FCEBs require agencies to install special
hydrogen fueling stations.

Agencies often need to upgrade their maintenance and storage facilities because hydrogen is
highly combustible. The vehicle’s hydrogen fuel storage is on the roof to minimize leaks. As a

result, maintenance facilities often need to be retrofitted with higher ceilings to provide for safe
clearance.

Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District (AC Transit) led a demonstration of this technology in
partnership with four large Bay Area transit agencies, including Golden Gate Transit. Through
this project, Golden Gate has operated FCEBs on Marin Transit local routes. Seeking to reduce
the cost of the fuel, AC Transit has built a facility to generate hydrogen for their buses.

Battery Electric

Most transit agencies, including Marin Transit, are investing in Battery Electric Buses (BEBs).
BEBs have batteries that are charged via the electric grid either overnight or while on-route.
The benefits and disadvantages to each charging method are described in Attachment A. On-
route charging enables a bus to operate more miles in a day because the bus is charging
throughout its run. As electricity is in high demand during the day, electricity pricing structures

Item 7



182

makes these quick charges in the middle of the day extremely expensive. The industry has
gravitated towards the slow-charging, overnight option due to this cost premium and the
infrastructure required to install quick-charge stations. The overnight option takes advantage of
lower electricity rates and utilizes more affordable infrastructure that can be secured within a
gated facility.

As technology improves, the price of a BEB is decreasing, and the distance that a BEB can
travel on a single charge is increasing. Howevers, it is still not feasible for a BEB to replace the
daily operation of a diesel bus. Temperature, grade of route, speed, and passenger load all
affect the performance. Marin Transit’s purchase of two all-electric buses will inform staff about
the technology, its capabilities, and the actual cost to operate them.

The most significant uncertainty in deploying BEBs is the cost of electricity. Rate structures
change, and there is no good model to predict future costs. Organizations such as the
California Transit Association are working with utility companies to create Electric Vehicle Rates
for Transportation Agencies. Many vehicle manufacturers are beginning to develop products to
capture and store energy through solar and on-site batteries. Golden Gate Transit will install
solar panels in their parking lot over the next few years. Marin Transit is also considering the
infrastructure required to support electric buses in a future Operations and Maintenance facility.

Figure 3 — Base Vehicle Cost for Different Technologies
$1,600,000.00

$1,400,000.00
$1,200,000.00
$1,000,000.00
$800,000.00
$600,000.00
$400,000.00
$200,000.00

$-
Standard Clean Hybrid Diesel Battery Electric  Fuel Cell Electric
Diesel

1. Infrastructure improvements only assume installation of fueling equipment, and do not include other
facility updates that significantly increase the cost.

Clean Diesel

Diesel technology has improved significantly in recent years. Today’s diesel fuel contains 97
percent less sulfur than before 2006, and this substantially decreases soot in the air. Advanced
engine technologies make diesel a more fuel-efficient option than other fuel types, and this is
the reason buses and large trucks run on diesel and not gasoline. New technologies have
further increased this efficiency, and diesel engines have become cleaner and more powerful.
Emissions controls have improved with better filters and technologies such as recirculating
exhaust gas back into the engine. This technology reduces the amount of oxygen entering the
engine and lowers the combustion temperature. As a result, less nitrogen oxide (NOXx) is

Item 7



183

created. These improvements mean that today’s diesel-powered vehicles have reduced the
particulate emissions to nearly zero parts per million. Diesel particulate emissions have been
identified as a human health risk.

Renewable Diesel Fuel (RD99, NexGen Diesel)

Renewable diesel, or RD99, is made from vegetable oils, animal fats, and other organic waste
through a hydrogenation process. It is chemically indistinguishable from petroleum diesel, and
can be used in regular diesel engines without modifications. Unlike biodiesel, renewable diesel
does not need to be mixed with petroleum diesel. RD99 burns cleaner than petroleum diesel
because it contains no aromatics, oxygen, or sulfur and significantly reduces emissions. For
example, CO, emissions are reduced by 65-90 percent.

The County of Marin switched to using renewable diesel in 2016 as did Golden Gate Transit.
Currently, 83 percent of Marin Transit’s diesel fleet is fueled with renewable diesel at one of
these locations. The District is working to bring renewable diesel to one additional fueling
location.

Marin Transit Fleet Figure 4
Marin Transit uses a variety of vehicle types ) )
specific to the services that they provide. Marin Transit Fleet Fuel Type

Paratransit vehicles are the smallest, with the
shortest lifespan. Cutaway shuttles provide
service on the local routes where ridership
levels do not require a larger vehicle. XHF
buses are used for the Stagecoach, Muir Woods
Shuttle, and Supplemental School service.
Articulated buses run on Marin Transit’s highest
ridership routes, and the 28 hybrid buses are
used for the remaining local service routes.
Each vehicle type is described in Table 2 below.

Initially, the most promising technological
advances have been limited to traditional 35-
40ft transit vehicles. As the most common
transit bus size, their higher purchase prices and widespread use increases the commercial
viability of new technologies.

Hybrid Diesel = Gasoline

New technologies for other less traditional vehicle types are advancing at a slower pace. Marin
Transit operates specialized vehicles for which alternative fuel technologies are not available.
These include narrow XHF buses that meet rural roadway topography and size restrictions and
paratransit and community shuttles that are smaller, less expensive cutaways (Table 2).
Markets for new alternative fuel vehicles types are developing more slowly due the combination
of smaller markets, lower vehicle purchase prices, and shorter vehicle lifespans.

Historically, federal funding pays for 82 percent of Marin Transit’s vehicle replacements and

requires that all vehicles have completed Altoona testing. Most vehicle types do not have an
approved zero-emission equivalent.

Item 7



184

Table 2 — Marin Transit Fleet By Fuel Type and Available Alternatives
Approved Zero Vehicle

Vehicle Type Fuel Type Emission Life
Equivalent? (VIED)
30ft, 35ft, 40ft 28 Renewable Yes (FCEB and 12 All District-owned Vehicles are
Low Floor Bus Diesel (Hybrid) BEB) Hybrid Buses
60ft Articulated Renewable Upcoming replacement in
Bus 10 Diesel ves (BEB) 12 FY2019/20

Narrow buses needed for rural

30ft / 35ft XHF 13 Diesel' No 12 roads,_ challenging topography
(narrow) Bus - a unique vehicle type not
available with alternative fuel
Manufacturers have not
Shuttles / identified a cost-effective
Stagecoach 18 Gasoline No 7 means to build this size
Cutaways vehicle due to low vehicle cost

and short lifespan

Manufacturers have not
identified a cost-effective

32 Gasoline No 5 means to build this size
vehicle due to low vehicle cost
and short lifespan

Paratransit
Cutaways

Notes:
(1) Working with final contractor to move to renewable diesel July 1, 2018

Due to its commitment to alternative fuel technologies, Marin Transit has a more diverse fleet
than many other Bay Area transit agencies. Figure 5 shows the fleet makeup of several nearby
transit agencies by fuel type. Marin Transit was an early adopter of hybrid electric buses and
acquired its first New Flyer Hybrid buses in 2010. This was a year before SolTrans purchased
hybrids and five years before Fairfield-Suisun Transit purchased hybrids. Golden Gate Transit
operates 17 of Marin Transit's current fleet of hybrid buses and will take delivery of 67 hybrid
buses for their regional service in 2019. Marin Transit was one of the first agencies in the Bay
Area to order Battery Electric Buses once staff determined the technology was advanced
enough for testing.

Item 7



Figure 5

200

180

160

140

120

100

80

60

40

20

Notes:

Fleet Makeup by Fuel Type for Local Transit Agencies

Marin Transit ~ SolTrans City of Napa Vine(1) Santa Rosa Petaluma GGT(2)
(1) Fairfield(1)

Diesel ™ Gasoline BCNG Hybrid ® Battery Electric

(1) Has placed an order for Battery Electric Vehicles
(2) Has placed an order for Hybrid Buses
(3) Data collected from 2016 Agency Short Range Transit Plans

Upcoming Vehicle Replacements
The District’s next vehicle replacement project will consist of four vehicles to be operated on

Stagecoach routes. Staff will bring a recommendation for this procurement to your Board at the
April or May meeting. Marin Transit will replace the ten articulated buses in FY2019/20, and will
evaluate available fuel options including all-electric and hybrid technology.

185

SMART

Marin Transit evaluates alternative fuel types for each vehicle purchase based on the following
criteria: Cost of vehicle and infrastructure; Operating costs; Vehicle range; Fit with service type;
and Whether peer agencies have tested that vehicle type. Table 3 is from the Short Range
Transit Plan’s Capital Plan and identifies the District’s vehicle replacements over the next ten

years.

Item 7



Table 3 — Marin Transit Fleet Rep

lacement Needs

186

Figeel Ygar Replacements  Total Cost Local Share LEilED Seathg Sewlc(:1<)e
(In service) Type Capacity Type
10 $7,710,000  $1,387,800  40ft hybrid 39 LB
FY 2017/18 35t
2 $1,662,000 $332,404 . 32 LB
Electric
1 $125,000 $22,500 24ft 20 SH
FY 2018/19
4 $1,600,000 §$1,004,880 2ot XHF 22 SG
(upgrade)
FY 2019/20 10 $8,940,000 $1,609,200 60ft 63 LB
8 $1,032,000 $185,760 241t 20 SH
FY 2020/21
2 $850,000 $153,000 35ft XHF 37 MW
7 $5,584,578  $1,005,224  35ft hybrid 32 LB
FY 2022/23
2 $874,182  $599,81  2oMXHF 22 SG
(upgrade)
FY2024/25 3 $1,393,227 $250,781 35ft XHF 37 MW
2 $299,093 $53,837 24ft 20 SH
2025/26
5 $2,391,706 $430,507 35ft XHF 37 MW
FY 2026/27 - - - - - -
Notes:

(1) Service Types: LB — Big Bus, SH — Shuttle, SG — Rural Stagecoach, MW — Seasonal Muir Woods
and School

Barriers to Implementing Zero-Emission Vehicle Technology
The lack of a Marin Transit-owned operations and maintenance and/or parking facility is a
significant challenge to the ability to invest further in Zero Emission Buses. Both ZEB charging
technologies require infrastructure improvements. While the District has willing and capable

partners and contractors, Marin Transit cannot justify significant investment in capital

improvements on properties it does not own or lease.

While most transit agencies are investing in Battery Electric Buses, the pricing structure for
electricity remains a concern for them. Transit agencies are subject to the same electricity

pricing rates as any other customer, including peak pricing and demand charges.

Peak pricing is charged based on time of day or season when the power grid is most strained
and can be two to three times the base power rate. Demand charges are also placed on top of
regular usage charges usually during peak periods and are five to ten dollars for each kilowatt of
energy pulled during a period - usually over an hour. A bus charger pulling 80 kilowatts of
power over four hours during a peak period could incur demand charges of up to $3,600. This
amount is in addition to the base electric rate and results in a significantly higher price than the
cost of diesel or gasoline. This is made even more complicated because buses are not charged
in isolation. They are on the same electric account as the whole facility on which they are
placed. These types of utility charges are designed to reduce strain on the grid yet make it

difficult for transit agencies to predict the true cost of operating all-electric vehicles.

Item 7



187

The District is purchasing only two vehicles at this time to ensure that costs and impacts are
fully understood before deploying additional vehicles. Southern California Edison is working
with transit agencies in its service area to develop an Electric Bus rate. While this may help
mitigate the cost risk, they are the only energy company in California to offer this. The
California Transit Association (CTA) Zero Emission Bus Working Group has been urging energy
companies across the state to help reduce this barrier and develop new rates for battery-electric
buses.

The second implementation barrier is that long range BEBs do not yet have the capacity to
replace a diesel vehicle one for one. There are many factors that impact the range of a BEB,
including weight, inclines, and use of heat or air-conditioning. An empty BEB that can travel 145
miles on a full charge on flat road on a 70-degree day will not be able to travel the same
distance filled with passengers, on an incline, on a day where heat or air conditioning is needed.
The District needs to better understand how the technology will work on our roads and in our
climate.

Fortunately, battery ranges are increasing. When the District submitted the purchase order for
the two BYD Electric buses, 145 miles was a top range for a BEB. Our longest block of work for
a bus in local service is currently 285 miles. Recently, electric bus companies have advertised
ranges of up to 426 miles for 35 and 40-foot buses under ideal conditions. As technology
improves and prices decrease, this technology will be deployed on smaller vehicles.

The third barrier is that reliance on FTA Section 5307 funds restricts the District’s options for
replacing vehicles. In addition to Altoona testing, Marin Transit is required to buy vehicles that
are made in America with components that are made in America. This eliminates many
European and Asian vendors that sell BEBs that may be suitable for our services.

Finally, capital costs for infrastructure needed to operate BEBs are potentially significant and
represent another barrier to converting to a BEB fleet. New sources of funding and incentives
are emerging, but funding is scarce relative to costs. Capital costs may decline with technology

advancements over time; however, in the near term the infrastructure costs for currently
available charging options appear to be substantial.

Respectfully submitted,

/t/vﬁa/

Anna Penoyar
Capital Analyst

Attachment A — Battery Electric Bus Charging Technology Comparison

Item 7



Attachment A: Fast Charge vs. Slow Charge

Fast Charging

Advantages

- Battery can be fully recharged in 5 minutes
- Buses can be used for longer periods of time with constant
charging en-route

Challenges

- Buses have shorter ranges (~50 miles)

- High voltage charging, resulting in demand charges and high
electricity costs

- Additional infrastructure needs to be installed on a route

a

S

\w,transit
A\ 4

188

Slow Charging

Advantages

- Buses have a longer ranges (>100 miles)

- Charging can be planned for off-peak times when electricity
pricing is lower

- Less electricity is pulled at one time, reducing electricity
charges

Challenges

- Limited to how long a bus can run on one charge

ltem 7



189

Marin Transit — Greening the Fleet

7 )

@transit

Board Meeting — March 5, 2018 . -

i Y
Overview - <

* Air Quality benefits of Public Transit
* Alternative Fuels

* Zero Emission Bus Technologies
* CARB's Innovative Clean Transit Rule

L * Barriers to Zero Emission Bus
Technology Adoption

Pl

March 5, 2018
Item 7



March 5, 2018

Total U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Economic Sector in 2015

Commercial &

Residentia
12% ~—

Industry
21%

X Public Transportation
Agriculture 1%

9%

Transportation

Electricity A

30%

Source: U.S. EPA

e-

e

Public Transportation Emissions = Bus emissions — Displaced Emissions

* Displaced emissions are transit passengers who would otherwise
be driving their own cars

* Marin Transit 2017 Emissions ~ 1,622 tons (0,
* MarinTransit 2017 Displaced Emissions - 1,652 tons (O,
-30 tons €0,

190

Item 7



March 5, 2018

Estimated CO, Emissions per Passenger Mile for Transit and Private Autos

0.96
0.64
045
036
033
o‘n I I 011

Light Rail Transit Commuter Rail

Pounds C02 per Passenger Mile

Private Auto (S0V)

Heavy Rail Transit

Transit Average

“Public Transportation’s Role in Responding to Climate Change.” U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration, 2010.
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/PublicTransportationsRolelnRespondingToClim ateChange2010.pdf. Accessed 3 Jan. 2018.

2010

2016

N

2017

191

Item 7



March 5, 2018

\\

Coming Soon — Two Battery Electric Buses

@

* Marin Transit’s first two Battery Electric Buses are in production!

transit.org

At

3

transit

Marin Transit Fleet Summary &..

Vehicle Type Vehicle Contractor Service

10 Amlculated Golden Gate Transit ~ [Fixed Route Local 60.7 ft 63
Vehicles
2 |H0ftVehides Golden Gate Transit ~ [Fixed Route Local 40ft 40
17 |40ft Hybrid Vehicles MV Transportation 40ft 38
7 |35ft Hybrid Vehicles Golden Gate Transit  [Fixed Route Local 35.8ft 29
4 |30ft Hybrid Vehicles Marin Airporter 30ft 26
MuirWoods Shuttle . MuirWoods
13 YHF MV Transportation Supplemental Schocl 35ft 37
. 28ft
6 |Stagecoach Shuttles MV Transportation West Marin 29t 2
Stagecoach 30
321t
12 |Community Shuttles Marin Airporter Local Shuttle 241t 20
. . . 20ft 8
32 |Paratransit Vehicles Whistlestop Paratransit 0t 2

192

Item 7



March 5, 2018

Traditional Diesel Improvements e

* Fuel-efficient

* Ultra Low Sulfur Diesel (USLD) is now the standard diesel fuel
— Low sulfur decreases the amount of soot produced and emitted

* Diesel Particulate Filters (DPFs) eliminate almost all of the rest
* QOther technologies

Exhaust gas

=
S
5
S
H
|2
s
E
2
E
g
g
I
g
£

w.researchgate.net/figure/Diesel-Particulate-Filter-
I led-at-the-inlet-i

a_fig2_269632291

https://wwi
DPF-ted

12/13_dpf_-_300_-_mg_2-1400x600.jpg

http://web.bankspower.col

Alternative Fuels - Renewable Diesel @

* Made from renewable sources like vegetable oils, animal fats, other
organic waste

e (Chemically indistinguishable from traditional diesel

Diesel Molecular Structure C,, H,,

00000000000000
0000000000000000
00000000000000

193

Item 7



March 5, 2018

Hydrogen Fuel Cell Electric (FCEB)
=k No range issues
== 3x the cost of a diesel bus
== [yel can also be 3x as expensive
== Facility upgrades
Battery Electric (BEB)
o Closerto cost of Hybrid "~
== Wider Transit Adoption

$600,000.00

$1,600,000.00
$1,400,000.00

$1,200,000.00

== | imited range per charge

$400,000.00

== Flectricity cost uncertainty o

5

e-

Standard Clean Diesel

Hybrid Diesel

Battery Electrc

Fuel Cell Electric

* 100% Zero Emission Bus fleets by 2040

* Draftimplementation plan:

tobe ZEB

— Percentage of each bus purchase will be Zero Emission

— ZEBs purchased before requirements will be eligible for Hybrid and
Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher Incentive Program (HVIP)

Year Percentage of Purchase Required Marin Transit Vehicle purchases

Planned # of Replacements # ZEB Purchases Required

2023 9 5
2024 50% of Purchase 3 2
2025 -
2026 7 5
2027 75% of Purchase - 0
2028 il 8
2029 100% of Purchase 10 10

194

Item 7



March 5, 2018

i i D
Barriers to Adoption e
* Range
* Facility
* Uncertainty of Fuel Costs
* FTA restrictions

i i D
Marin Transit Fleet @ .......

10

28

13

18
Indicates availability
of a federally-

32 approved zero

emission alternative

195

Item 7



196

* 10— 2007 Articulated Vehicles up for Replacement in 2019
* Largest vehicle type, oldest engine

* Replacing these vehicles will make a huge impact on Marin
Transit’s carbon footprint

Questions?

Anna Penoyar
Capital Analyst, Marin Transit

March 5, 2018
ltem 7



transit

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

board of directors

stephanie moulton-peters
president
city of mill valley

damon connolly
vice president
supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni
2nd vice president
supervisor district 4

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin
director
city of san rafael

kathrin sears
director
supervisor district 3

katie rice
director
supervisor district 2

197

March 5, 2018

Honorable Board of Directors
Marin County Transit District
3501 Civic Center Drive

San Rafael, CA 94903

SUBJECT: Demonstration of Marin Transit’s New Website
Dear Board Members:
RECOMMENDATION: Discussion only.

SUMMARY: On November 21, 2016 your Board approved a contract
with BlinkTag to design, develop, and implement a new Marin Transit
website. This new website updates the current marintransit.org site
and integrates the marinaccess.org site into one site. The District
launched the new site on February 23, 2018 and has been collecting
feedback from users and peers. Incremental updates and
improvements have been made since the launch.

Staff will provide a demonstration of the new website
(www.marintransit.org) at your March 5, 2018 Board of Directors
meeting. The demonstration will highlight new features and
navigation and provide an opportunity for your Board to ask questions
and provide feedback.

FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT: There are no fiscal impacts associated
with this item.

Respectfully submitted,

Robert Betts
Director of Operations and Planning

Iltem 8


http://www.marintransit.org/

transit

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

board of directors

stephanie moulton-peters
president
city of mill valley

damon connolly
vice president
supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni
2nd vice president
supervisor district 4

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin
director
city of san rafael

kathrin sears
director
supervisor district 3

katie rice
director
supervisor district 2

198

March 5, 2018

Honorable Board of Directors
Marin County Transit District
3501 Civic Center Drive

San Rafael, CA 94903

SUBJECT: Agreement for Sharing State Transit Assistance
Population-Based Funds

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATION: Approve the agreement between Marin
County Transit District, Golden Gate Bridge Highway and
Transportation District, and Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
for sharing State Transit Assistance population-based funds.

SUMMARY:

State Transit Assistance (STA) population-based funds are provided
to eligible transit operators for transit operating or capital purposes.
These funds are generated by the sales tax on diesel fuel. With the
passage of SB 1, the Road Repair and Rehabilitation Act, an
increase in diesel fuel tax has increased the amount of STA
population-based funds available to transit operators throughout the
state.

Since 2008, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) has
distributed STA population-based funds by formula to four programs:
Northern Counties/Small Operators Program, a Regional Paratransit
Program, the Lifeline Program, and the MTC Regional Coordination
Program. This formula provides a relatively stable and reliable source
of operating revenue for transit operators in the region. In Marin
County, Marin Transit and Golden Gate Transit share the Northern
Counties/Small Operators and Regional Paratransit funds using an
agreed upon formula included in the intergovernmental agreement
between the two agencies for many years.

In September 2017, MTC began discussing revisions to its policy for
distributing STA population-based funds. The proposed new
framework replaces the distribution of funds by formula to transit
operators with 70 percent of all STA population-based funds MTC wiill
distribute to county Congestion Management Agencies on a block
grant basis. MTC calculated the county shares based on each
county’s share of STA population-based funds from the existing
formula. Marin County’s share of existing (pre-SB 1) and new (with

Iltem 9



199

SB 1) funds is calculated to be 6 percent of total available funds in the region, or $2.13 million
annually.

In addition to changing the methodology for the distributing the funds from formula to block
grant, MTC adds several policy conditions aimed at improving transit coordination and
efficiency. For example, the county Congestion Management Agencies (e.g., Transportation
Authority of Marin - TAM) will be responsible for reporting on the distribution of funds and
specifically on the amount of funds benefitting Communities of Concern. The CMAs will also be
expected to coordinate applications for STA population-based funds (claims) from eligible transit
operators. Small- and medium-sized operators will be required to meet Transit Sustainability
Project (TSP) performance requirements previously imposed only on large operators.

The MTC Commission adopted the new framework on February 28, 2018. A copy of the item
that went before MTC'’s Programming and Allocations Committee on February 14, 2018 is
attached.

With the initiation of SMART train service in mid-2017, Marin County now has three transit
operators potentially eligible to apply for STA population-based funds. Marin Transit, Golden
Gate Transit, and SMART will all be required to meet the new conditions MTC is placing on
these funds. The General Managers of Marin Transit, Golden Gate Transit, and SMART met to
develop the attached agreement. This new agreement builds upon the existing Marin Transit
and Golden Gate Transit agreement for sharing funds and addresses the new STA population-
based funds requirements. Key elements of the agreement are:

= A formula successfully used in the past by Marin Transit and Golden Gate Transit that
can readily be applied to SMART for annual distribution of STA population-based funds
among the three agencies

= Agreed upon data and application of the formula to be reviewed by staff of the three
agencies annually

= Marin Transit to prepare the coordinated claim and agreed upon amounts to be claimed
by each operator for TAM

= Marin Transit to report to TAM on the distribution of funds and the amounts benefitting
Communities of Concern

To address ongoing needs in Communities of Concern, staff will continue to participate in the
development and update of Community Based Transportation Plans and meet with TAM staff to
discuss any remaining unmet local transit needs of these communities. If there are unmet local
transit needs that have not been identified in the Short Range Transit Plan (SRTP), staff will
determine how they can be addressed and recommend that they be incorporated into future
SRTPs, as appropriate.

This agreement will continue to provide a stable source of operating funds for the county’s
transit operators while addressing the new MTC requirements. The GGBHTD Board of Directors
approved this agreement on February 23, 2018. The SMART Board of Directors is scheduled to
consider this agreement at their meeting on March 7, 2018.

FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT: STA population-based funds to Marin County, historically shared
by Marin Transit and Golden Gate Transit, are increasing significantly with SB 1. At the same
time, SMART has become eligible to receive these funds. Although funds available to the
County are increasing by about 85 percent, the policy changes proposed by MTC and the
addition of SMART service result in a 10-25 percent increase in revenue for Marin Transit under

Iltem 9



200

this proposed agreement. Staff will report estimated and actual amounts in the Marin Transit
annual budget and quarterly financial reports to the Board. Additionally, this agreement and
formula helps avoid funding uncertainties that would accompany renegotiating amounts
annually or applying for grants annually or biannually.

Respectfully submitted,

%é.zl,lw&,\

Nancy Whelan
General Manager

Attachments: A. MTC Resolution No. 4321 - State Transit Assistance (STA) Population-Based
Funds Distribution Policy
B. Agreement between Marin County Transit District, Golden Gate Bridge
Highway and Transportation District, and Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
for sharing State Transit Assistance population-based funds

Iltem 9



201
COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM 9b.ii.

Metropolitan Transportation Commission

Programming and Allocations Committee

February 14, 2018 Agenda Item 3b. ii.

MTC Resolution No. 4321
State Transit Assistance (STA) Population-Based Funds Distribution Policy

Subject: A proposed new policy framework for State Transit Assistance (STA) Population-Based
funds, which have been augmented with new funding through SB 1.

Background: State Transit Assistance: STA is the state’s flexible transit funding program which may
be used for capital or operating purposes. STA provides an important source of
operations funding for the Bay Area’s transit operators and is a key funding source for
regional priorities such as Clipper® and 511.

Senate Bill (SB) 1 provided a significant infusion of funding for public transit through
several programs including an augmentation of the existing STA program. MTC
estimates the Bay Area would receive approximately $99 million per year from this
augmentation of the STA program.

Revenue derived from a new Transportation Improvement Fee (TIF) is used to establish
a new State of Good Repair (SGR) Program which will be distributed using the STA
formulas, but is targeted at capital improvements focused on modernizing transit vehicles
and facilities. The Bay Area will receive approximately $37 million per year from the
SGR Program.

This item was presented for information and discussion at the January 10, 2018
Programming and Allocations Committee meeting.

STA and SGR Program Population-Based Funds in the Bay Area: The table below
shows new STA funding expected to flow to the Bay Area as a result of SB 1.

Estimated Estimated Estimated %

Funding Program FY2018-19 FY2018-19 |FY2018-19 |Increase

($ in Millions) Pre-SB1 |SB 1 Increment'| Total

STA Revenue-Based $72.1 $72.1 $144.2) 100%

STA Population-Based $27.0 $27.0 $54.1) 100%

Total State Transit Assistance

(STA) $99.1 $99.1 $198.3] 100%

SGR Program Revenue-Based $0.0 $27.3 $27.3

SGR Program Population-Based $0.0 $10.3 $10.3 N/A

Total State of Good Repair (SGR) $0.0 $37.6 $37.6

Program

Total STA + SGR Program $99.1 $136.7 $235.9| 138%
'FY 2018-19 SB 1 increment uses Caltrans’ assumption that 50% of STA and SGR Program revenue is derived

from SB 1.

MTC Resolution No. 3837, Revised established MTC’s policy for allocating funds from
the Population-Based program. Resolution 3837 was originally adopted in January 2008
and designated four major programs as recipients of the Population-Based funding.
Coincidentally, Resolution 3837 called for revaluating the STA Population-Based
distribution in 2017.

Iltem 9



202

Programming and Allocations Committee Agenda Item 3b. ii.

February 14, 2018

Page 2

Issue:

Recommendation:

Attachments:

Proposed Framework: The proposed framework detailed in Attachment 1 would
replace MTC Resolution 3837 with a new transit-focused, OBAG-style STA County
Block Grant for STA Population-Based funds (70%), with funds continuing for the
Regional Program (30%). The policy is also proposed to be accompanied by several
policy conditions, largely aimed at improving transit coordination and efficiency while
stabilizing funding. Staff will return to the Commission to re-evaluate the proposed
policy should there be a major change in the availability of SB 1 funds in the future. For
SGR Program funds the proposed framework would dedicate 100% of the funds to the
development and deployment of the Clipper® 2.0 system as the first priority for use of
the funds with a second priority use to support the incremental cost of replacing the
region’s bus fleet with zero emission buses (ZEBs). This item is being presented jointly
with adoption of the FY2018-19 Fund Estimate.

The proposed framework provides 30% to a Regional Program. In addition to on-going
Clipper®, 511, and transit coordination programs, this funding is also intended to support
the administrative costs and partially offset revenue losses for a means-based fare
program. The Committee asked for more information and alternatives at the January
meeting. Staff is working with the operators to ensure comprehensive responses and will
return at a future meeting with a recommended approach for the means-based program.

Refer MTC Resolution No. 4321 to the Commission for approval.

Attachment 1 — MTC Resolution 4321

Attachment 2 — January 3, 2018 Memo on SB 1 and STA Pop.-Based Funds from
Executive Director

Attachment 3 — Comparison of STA Population-Based County Distribution
Existing Framework vs. Proposed Framework

Presentation Slides (see Agenda Item 3b.i.)

JA\SECTION\ALLSTAFF\Resolution\TEMP-RES\MTC\February PAC\tmp-4321.docx

Iltem 9



203

Date: February 28, 2018
W.I: 1511
Referred By: PAC

ABSTRACT
Resolution No. 4321

This resolution establishes a policy for the programming and allocation of State Transit
Assistance (STA) funds and State of Good Repair Program funds, made available under the
provisions of Public Utilities Code Sections 99312.1, 99313, and 99314.

This resolution supersedes Resolution No. 3837.

Further discussion of this action is contained in the Executive Director’s Memorandum to the

Programming and Allocations Committee dated January 3, 2018 and the MTC Programming and
Allocations Committee Summary Sheet dated February 14, 2018.

Iltem 9



204

Date: February 28, 2018
W.I: 1511
Referred By: PAC

Re: Adoption of MTC's State Transit Assistance (STA) and State of Good Repair Program
Programming and Allocation Policy.

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

RESOLUTION NO. 4321

WHEREAS, State Transit Assistance (STA) funds are to be used to enhance public
transportation service, including community transit service, and to meet high priority regional

transportation needs; and

WHEREAS, Senate Bill (SB) 1 (Chapter 5, Statutes of 2017), known as the Road Repair
and Accountability Act of 2017, establishes the State of Good Repair Program (SGR Program);
and

WHEREAS, both STA and SGR Program funds are distributed by the State Controller’s
Office pursuant to Public Utilities Code § 99313 and 99314, a Population-Based and Revenue-

Based program, respectively; and

WHEREAS, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC), as the Regional
Transportation Planning Agency for the San Francisco Bay Area, is responsible for the allocation

of STA and SGR Program funds available to eligible claimants in this region; and

WHEREAS, MTC adopted an STA Allocation Policy in Resolution No. 3837 in 2008;
and

WHEREAS, SB 1 significantly increased the amount of funding to the STA program and
established the SGR Program; and

WHEREAS, in order to align the allocation of STA and SGR Program funding with the

Bay Area’s most pressing transportation needs; now, therefore, be it
RESOLVED, that MTC adopts its State Transit Assistance and State of Good Repair

Program Programming and Allocation Policy described in Attachment A, attached hereto and

incorporated by reference, for guidance to eligible claimants in the preparation of their

Iltem 9



205

MTC Resolution No. 4321
Page 2

applications for STA and SGR Program funds and to staff for reviewing such applications; and
be it further

RESOLVED, that the prior policy governing allocation of State Transit Assistance Funds
contained in Resolution No. 3837 is superseded by this resolution.

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Jake Mackenzie, Chair

The above resolution was entered

into by the Metropolitan Transportation
Commission at a regular meeting of
the Commission held in San Francisco,
California, on February 28, 2018.

Iltem 9



206

Date: February 28, 2018

W.I: 1511
Referred By: PAC

Attachment A

Resolution No. 4321
Page l of 6

STATE TRANSIT ASSISTANCE AND STATE OF GOOD REPAIR PROGRAM
PROGRAMMING AND ALLOCATION POLICY
Exhibit 1

This policy affects all allocations by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) of
STA and SGR Program funds, made available under the provisions of Public Utilities Code
Sections 99312.1, 99313 and 99314 and relevant subsections.

I. STA Population-Based Funds (PUC Code 99313) Including Interest Earnings

1.  STA Population-Based County Block Grant

Commencing with Fiscal Year 2018-19 70% of the STA Population-Based funds and

interest is reserved for programming to STA-eligible operators by Congestion Management
Agencies (CMAs) in each of the nine Bay Area counties as part of a STA Population-Based

County Block Grant (County Block Grant). The County Block Grant will allow each
county to determine how best to invest in transit operating needs, including providing

lifeline transit services. The funds reserved for the County Block Grant shall be distributed
amongst the nine counties according to the percentages shown in Table 1. Each county’s

share in Table 1 was calculated based on the county’s share of STA funds from the

Resolution 3837 formula, totaled across all categories (Northern Counties/Small Operators

Program, Regional Paratransit Program, and the Lifeline Transportation Program).

Table 1. Distribution of STA Population-Based County Block Grant, by County

Alameda 17.68%
Contra Costa 22.18%
Marin 5.71%
Napa 3.49%
San Francisco 8.46%
San Mateo 5.06%
Santa Clara 14.09%
Solano 10.50%
Sonoma 12.83%

Iltem 9



207

Attachment A
Resolution No. 4321
Page 2 of 6

Within Alameda and Contra Costa Counties a minimum amount of County Block Grant
funds shall be programmed amongst the transit operators detailed in Table 2.

Table 2. Alameda and Contra Costa County Small Operator Minimum

Minimum % of Block Grant to be

County Allocated Annually Amongst Eligible Small Operators
Eligible Small Operators
Alameda County 24% LAVTA and Union City
Transit
Contra Costa County 60% CCCTA, ECCTA, WestCAT

The following program conditions apply to the County Block Grant:

Reporting: Each CMA must submit to MTC by May 1st of each year, a report
including the following information about the previous, completed, fiscal year: 1) the
county’s programming distribution of STA Population-Based funds amongst STA-
eligible operators and; 2) the estimated amount of STA Population-Based funding that
will be spent within or benefiting Communities of Concern.

Fund Swaps: Each CMA is required to seek approval from MTC before requesting that
a STA-eligible operator recipient of STA Population-Based funds perform a fund swap
involving STA Population-Based funds. The CMA must notify all STA-eligible
operators within their county of the request to swap funds before seeking approval from
MTC. The swaps will be limited to transit-eligible activities unless there is concurrence
from the transit operators.

Coordinated Claim/Submission Deadline: Each CMA must play a coordinating role
in the development of STA Population-Based claims from STA-eligible operators
within their county. Each CMA must also submit to MTC by May 1st of each year a
governing board-approved resolution listing the distribution policy for STA Population-
Based funds amongst the STA-eligible operators for the subsequent fiscal year.
Operators will continue to submit their own claims, if desired.

Performance Measures: All small and medium sized operators shall meet Transit
Sustainability Project (TSP) performance requirements similar to the large operators
and achieve a 5% real reduction in cost per service hour, cost per passenger, or cost per
passenger mile by Fiscal Year 2022-23. For operators that have already achieved a 5%
real reduction in one of the above performance measures by FY 2017-18 no further
reduction is required. Operators may substitute TSP performance measures for a similar
local voter approved or CMA adopted performance measure, subject to MTC
concurrence. Once the 5% reduction is achieved transit operators are expected to keep
future cost increases to no higher than the San Francisco Area Consumer Price Index as
defined by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Beginning in Fiscal Year 2023-24 MTC
may link existing and new operating and capital funds administered by MTC to
progress towards achieving the performance target. Staff will work with the small
operators and CMAs to evaluate whether an alternate performance framework or
metrics are more appropriate for the small operators. Staff will return within one year to

Iltem 9




208

Attachment A
Resolution No. 4321
Page 3 of 6

report on whether to retain the current framework or adjust the performance
requirements.

e Operator Consolidation Planning Efforts: In the Northern Counties (Marin, Napa,
Solano, and Sonoma) as an alternative to meeting TSP performance requirements,
counties and transit operators may develop a plan to consolidate into a single county
operator.

e Mobility Management: In the five other counties (Alameda, Contra Costa, San
Francisco, San Mateo, and Santa Clara) each county must establish or enhance mobility
management programs to help provide equitable and effective access to transportation.

MTC Regional Program

Commencing with Fiscal Year 2018-19 30% of the STA Population-Based funds and
interest is reserved for projects and programs that improve regional coordination, including
but not limited to:

e Clipper®
e 511
e Transit connectivity

In addition, a portion of the Regional Program funding (approximately $8 million in the
first year based on the estimated Senate Bill 1 increment for Fiscal Year 2018-19) will be
used to pay for the administrative costs and to help offset transit fare revenue loss for a
regional means-based fare program.

MTC will develop an annual MTC Regional Coordination program. All final programming
will be reviewed and approved by the MTC Programming and Allocations Committee
(PAC).

Transit Emergency Service Contingency Fund

The Transit Emergency Service Contingency Fund shall be used to provide assistance for
an emergency response to a qualifying incident or event, under specific circumstances as
described in MTC Resolution No. 4171.

The fund shall not exceed a total balance of $1 million of STA Population-Based funds. In
any individual fiscal year no more than $333,333 of STA Populated-Based funds and
interest shall be apportioned to the fund. Interest accrued to the fund shall not count
towards the $1 million total balance limit and interest can continue to accrue once the fund
has reached $1 million. Beginning in Fiscal Year (FY) 2015-16, $333,333 in STA
Population-Based funds, taken “off the top” from estimated STA Population-Based
revenues for the fiscal year, will be apportioned to the fund. Apportionments will continue
in subsequent fiscal years until the fund reaches a total of $1 million. In future years should

Iltem 9



I1.

I11.

Iv.

209

Attachment A
Resolution No. 4321
Page 4 of 6

the balance of the fund fall below $1 million, funds shall be apportioned in the next fiscal
year to restore the full balance of the fund, subject to the annual apportionment limit.

STA Revenue-Based Funds (PUC Code 99314)

Funds apportioned to the region based on revenues generated by the transit operators will
be allocated to each STA-eligible operator for the support of fixed route and paratransit
operations, for inter-operator coordination, including the cost of interoperator transfers,
joint fare subsidies, integrated fares etc., and for capital projects consistent with the
adopted long-range plan.

SGR Program Population-Based Funds (PUC Code 99312.1, distributed via PUC
99313)

MTC will develop an annual investment program for SGR Program Population-Based
Funds through the annual Fund Estimate. All final programming will be reviewed and
approved by the MTC Programming and Allocations Committee (PAC) and will be
consistent with the below priorities. All proposed programming actions will be submitted
to Caltrans for approval, consistent with SGR Program Guidelines.

Priority 1: Clipper® 2.0

Invest in the development and deployment of the Bay Area’s next generation transit fare
payment system, Clipper® 2.0.

Priority 2: Green Transit Capital Priorities

If not needed for Clipper® 2.0, program SGR Program Population-Based funds to the
acquisition of zero emission buses (ZEB) by the Bay Area’s transit operators. SGR
Program funds are intended to pay for the cost increment of ZEBs over diesel or hybrid
vehicles or for charging or hydrogen infrastructure to support ZEBs. MTC staff will work
to secure a 1:1 match commitment from the Bay Area Air Quality Management District to
expand and accelerate the deployment of ZEBs in the region.

SGR Program Revenue-Based Funds (PUC Code 99312.1, distributed via PUC 99314)

Funds apportioned to the region based on revenues generated by the transit operators will
be allocated to each respective STA-eligible operator for state of good repair projects,
preventative maintenance, and other projects approved by the California Department of
Transportation (Caltrans) as eligible for SGR Program expenditure.

Iltem 9



210

Attachment A
Resolution No. 4321
Page 5 of 6

State Transit Assistance (STA)
Rules and Regulations
for the MTC Region
Exhibit 2

These Rules and Regulations cover the eligibility requirements and the rules for a full or partial
allocation of these funds.

Eligibility Requirements

To be eligible for any STA funds in the MTC region, an operator must comply with all
SB 602 fare and schedule coordination requirements for the fiscal year. The
evaluation of operator's compliance with the SB 602 program is made annually.

An operator’s requested STA allocation may also be partially or fully reduced if the
operator did not make satisfactory progress in meeting its Productivity Improvement
Program (PIP) and/or the Regional Coordination projects for which each operator is a
participant.

SB 602 Requirements/California Government Code Section 66516

Fare coordination revenue-sharing agreements, must be fully executed by all
participating operators and provisions of the agreement(s) must be in compliance with
MTC rules and regulations.

MTC Res. 3866 (Transit Coordination Implementation Plan) documents coordination
requirements for Bay Area transit operators to improve the transit customer experience
when transferring between transit operators and in support of regional transit projects
such as Clipper. If a transit operator fails to comply with the requirements of Res.
3866 or its successor, MTC may withhold, restrict or reprogram funds or allocations.

PIP Projects

PIP projects are a requirement of STA funding. Failure by operators to make a
reasonable effort to implement their PIP projects may affect the allocation of these
funds. Projects will be evaluated based on actual progress as compared to scheduled.
STA funds may be reduced proportionate to the failure of the operator to implement
the PIP project/s. Progress in meeting the milestones identified for a project may be
used as the basis for assessing reasonable effort.

The amount withheld will be reviewed with the affected operator. Partial funds
withheld may be held by MTC up to two years to allow an operator to comply with its
PIP as required by statute.

Iltem 9



211

Attachment A
Resolution No. 4321
Page 6 of 6

After two years, funds withheld under this section may also be re-allocated to any
eligible operator for purposes of improving coordination, according to the unfunded
coordination projects in the Regional Coordination Plan (MTC Res. 3866 or its
successor). MTC may also allocate these funds to any operator whose increase in total
operating cost per revenue vehicle hour is less than the increase in the CPI.

Iltem 9



212

Agenda Item 3b. ii. — Attachment 2

METROPOLITAN Bay Area Metro Center

375 Beale Stree
MM T TRANSPORTATION 7 DeneSuest

San Francisco, CA 94105

COMMISSION TFEL 415.778.6700
WEB www.mtc.ca.gov

Memorandum
TO: Programming and Allocations Committee DATE:  January 3, 2018

FR: Executive Director

RE: SB 1 and State Transit Assistance (STA) Population-Based Funds

State Transit Assistance (STA)

STA is the state’s flexible transit funding program which may be used for capital or operating
purposes. STA provides an important source of operations funding for the Bay Area’s transit
operators and is a key funding source for regional priorities such as Clipper®.

The statewide STA program is split equally between a Revenue-Based program (Public Utilities
Code 99314) and a Population-Based program (Public Utilities Code 99313). The Revenue-Based
program distributes funds directly to transit operators based on each transit operator’s share of
statewide qualifying revenues used for transit operations, while the Population-Based program
distributes funds to regional transportation planning agencies (such as MTC) based on their share of
California’s population.

SB 1’s Impact
Senate Bill (SB) 1 provided a significant infusion of funding for public transit through several

programs. Among these, the State Transit Assistance (STA) program will be boosted by
approximately $250 million per year from the increase in the diesel sales tax rate of 3.5 percent.
These funds would augment the existing STA program (around $294 million statewide, pre-SB 1).
MTC estimates the Bay Area would receive approximately $94 million per year from this
augmentation of the STA program.

Another $105 million per year derived from a new Transportation Improvement Fee (TIF) is used to
establish a new State of Good Repair (SGR) Program which will be distributed using the STA
Revenue-Based and Population-Based formulas but is targeted at capital improvements focused on
modernizing transit vehicles and facilities. The Bay Area will receive approximately $39 million per
year from the SGR Program.

STA Population-Based Funds in the Bay Area

Of the new STA funding expected to flow to the Bay Area as a result of SB 1, approximately $34
million per year ($24 million through existing STA program and $10 million through the new SGR
Program program) will flow through the Population-Based program which is subject to MTC’s
discretion. The STA Revenue-Based funds, which flows directly to the transit operators, will grow
by an estimated $66 million per year (starting in FY2019) as well.

Iltem 9



213

Programming and Allocations Committee Agenda Item 3b. ii. — Attachment 2
February 14, 2018

Page 2

MTC Resolution No. 3837, Revised established MTC’s policy for allocating funds from the
Population-Based program. Resolution 3837 was originally adopted in January 2008 and designated

four major programs as recipients of the Population-Based funding: a Northern Counties/Small
Operators Program (28.3% of funds), a Regional Paratransit Program (15.6% of funds), the Lifeline
Transportation Program (29.2% of funds), and the MTC Regional Coordination Program (26.9% of
funds). Coincidentally, Resolution 3837 called for revaluating the STA Population-Based distribution

in 2017.

Proposed Framework

The below table illustrates a proposal for a new distribution framework for STA Population-Based

funds.
Table 1. STA Population-Based Distributed Through a County Block Grant Program
Est. FY 2018.—19 Est. FY 2017.—18 Percent
STA Population STA Population Increase Increase
Based Based (pre-SB 1)
Alameda 18% $6,546,447 $3,651,329 $2,895,118
Contra Costa 22% $8,262,187 $4,608,294 $3,653,892
Napa 4% $1,300,377 $725,295 $575,082
Marin 6% $2,129,276 $1,187,619 $941,657
Local 70% San Francisco 8% $3,109,937 $1,734,590 $1,375,347 79%
Program San Mateo 5% $1,866,459 $1,041,031 $825,428
Santa Clara 14% $5,193,795 $2,896,877 $2,296,918
Solano 11% $3,913,788 $2,182,944 $1,730,844
Sonoma 13% $4,777,734 $2,664,816 $2,112,918
Subtotal $37,100,000 $20,692,795 | $16,407,205
Regional | 350, | Subtotal $15,900,000 $7,598,638 | $8,301,362 | 109%
Program
g‘({)%glf - $53,000,000 $28,291,433 | $24,708,567 | 87%

Staff proposes a new framework which would replace MTC Resolution 3837 with a new transit-
focused, OBAG-style STA County Block Grant for STA Population-Based funds. Funds would be
distributed into a Local Program (70%) and a Regional Program (30%). Within the Local Program,
each county CMA would receive a specified share (see Table 1) of STA Population-Based funds each
year which could be prioritized by the CMA for use by transit operators within their county or in
coordination with other counties/the region. This would allow each county to determine how best to
invest in paratransit, transit operating, and lifeline needs and it is MTC’s expectation that the funds

will continue to support similar needs overall as are funded in the current policy. Each county’s share
in Table 1 was calculated based on the county’s share of STA funds from the current Resolution 3837
formula, totaled across all categories (Northern Counties/Small Operators Program, Regional
Paratransit Program, and the Lifeline Transportation Program).

The Regional Program would continue to support existing regional programs like Clipper ® 2.0 and
could provide seed funding for a regional means-based fare program (see agenda item 5a on today’s
agenda). The local and regional shares allow significant funding increases for local programs while
providing roughly $8 million annually for the regional contribution to the Means-Based program.

Iltem 9



214

Programming and Allocations Committee Agenda Item 3b. ii. — Attachment 2
February 14, 2018

Page 3

Similar to OBAG, the additional funding and flexibility would be accompanied by policy conditions:
County Block Grant Program Conditions:

1.

Each CMA must submit to MTC by May 1* of each year a report including the following: 1)
the county’s programming distribution of STA Population-Based funds amongst STA-eligible
operators and; 2) the anticipated amount of STA population-Based funding that will be spent
within or benefitting Communities of Concern.

With this information from the CMAs MTC staff will prepare an annual STA Population-
Based “Snapshot” report to ensure transparency for the new SB 1 funds.

To respond to comments and concerns raised and ensure that small bus operators in Alameda
and Contra Costa counties continue to receive adequate funding from a County Block Grant
Program, this proposal would include a minimum amount of funding to be allocated on an
annual basis amongst eligible small operators in each county. Based on the share of small
operator funding out of the total STA Population-Based funds allocated to Alameda and
Contra Costa counties under the current framework, Table 2 below contains the percentage
shares which would be required to flow to each county’s eligible small operators.

Table 2: Alameda and Contra Costa County Small Operator Minimum

Minimum % of Block Grant to be
County Allocated Annually Amongst Eligible Small Operators
Eligible Small Operators

Alameda County 24% LAVTA and Union City
Transit
Contra Costa County 60% CCCTA, ECCTA, WestCAT

3. CMAs in all counties would be required to seek approval from MTC before requesting that a

STA-eligible operator recipient of STA Population-Based funds perform a fund swap
involving STA Population-Based funds. The swaps will be limited to transit-eligible activities
unless there is concurrence from the transit operators. In addition, the CMA must notify all
STA-eligible operators within their county of the request to swap funds before seeking
approval from MTC.

Direct CMAs and transit operators to coordinate STA Population-Based fund distribution in
their county.
= The CMAs would be expected to play a role in coordinating STA Population-Based

claims from operators. CMAs, in cooperation with transit operators, could also
consider whether to extend their coordination role in the claims process beyond STA
Population-Based funds to include TDA Local Transportation Fund and STA
Revenue-Based funds but this would not be required. MTC would still determine the
amounts available for TDA and STA Revenue-Based funds through the annual Fund
Estimate process.

= A fully coordinated claim, already in use in Sonoma and Solano Counties, allows for
all transit operators in a county to jointly plan their annual operations budgets and

Iltem 9



215

Programming and Allocations Committee Agenda Item 3b. ii. — Attachment 2
February 14, 2018

Page 4

coordinate investments of TDA Local Transportation Fund %4 cent sales tax revenues
and STA Revenue and Population-Based funds.

5. All small and medium sized operators to meet Transit Sustainability Project (TSP)
performance requirements similar to the large operators (cost efficiency/effectiveness)

The TSP was intended to identify strategies to enable transit operators to remain
financially viable so that they can continue to provide service to the public. The
performance measures requiring a 5% real reduction in cost per service hour, cost per
passenger, or cost per passenger mile currently only apply to the region’s larger transit
operators.

This proposal would extend the requirement to small and medium-sized operators to
further incentivize financial sustainability. For operators already meeting a TSP
performance measure as shown in Table 3, the requirement would be to keep future
operating cost increases at a level not higher than inflation; no further reduction in
costs would be required for these operators. For operators that have not already
achieved a TSP performance measure they, would have until FY 2022-2023 to do so.
Operators would be able to decide which base year to use in calculating their TSP
performance measures, similar to the discretion given to large operators.

Similar to the TSP requirement for large operators (MTC Resolution No. 4060),
starting in FY2023-24, “MTC will link existing and new operating and capital funds
administered by MTC to progress towards achieving the performance target.”

If a CMA already has locally voter or board approved transit operator financial
performance requirements in place, these measures may be substituted for TSP
performance requirements, subject to concurrence from MTC.

Given that most small operators have a lower cost per hour and different cost
pressures than the large operators, staff will work with the small operators and CMAs
to evaluate whether an alternate performance framework or metrics are more
appropriate for the small operators. It is worth mentioning, however, that the majority
of small operators have already met one of the TSP metrics (as discussed further
below). Staff will return within one year to report on whether to retain the current
framework or adjust the performance requirements.

Table 3 below provides preliminary information on which small and medium sized operators are
already achieving at least one of the TSP performance measures as of FY 2016. If this policy is
adopted, MTC would work with operators to confirm the data, select baseline years, and establish a
process for monitoring into the future.

Iltem 9



216

Programming and Allocations Committee Agenda Item 3b. ii. — Attachment 2
February 14, 2018
Page 5

Table 3: Small Operator TSP Performance Measures Comparison, Data for Fixed-Route
Service Only. (In Constant FY 2012 §)

Overator Achieved Cost Reduction of Overator Achieved Cost Reduction of
P >5% from FY 2012 to FY 2016 P > 5% from FY 2012 to FY 2016
County Connection | Yes |-11% Cost per Passenger SolTrans Yes | -11% Cost per Passenger
FAST Yes | -15% Cost per Passenger Sonoma County Transit | No | -3% Cost per Service Hour
LAVTA No | -4% Cost per Service Hour Tri Delta Transit Yes | -18% Cost per Passenger
Marin Transit Yes | -6% Cost per Service Hour | Union City Transit No | +20% Cost per Service Hour
Napa Vine Yes | -49% Cost per Passenger Vacaville City Coach Yes | -8% Cost per Passenger
Petaluma Transit Yes | -12% Cost per Service Hour | WETA Yes | -31% Cost per Passenger
Rio Vista No | +13% Cost per Service Hour .
- - WestCAT No | +1% Cost per Service Hour
Santa Rosa CityBus | No | +13% Cost per Service Hour

Source: FY 2011-12 Through 2015-16 Transit Statistical Summary (Note: data is preliminary)

6. In the Northern Counties (Marin, Napa, Solano, and Sonoma) as an alternative to meeting
TSP performance requirements shown above, develop a plan to consolidate into a single
county operator (e.g. Napa).

= Sonoma and Solano Counties have already expressed interest in pursuing
consolidation and this initiative would support those efforts and encourage other
counties to investigate consolidation.

7. In the five other counties (Alameda, Contra Costa, San Francisco, San Mateo, and Santa
Clara) in addition to meeting the TSP performance requirements shown on page 3, establish
or enhance mobility management programs.

= Each CMA/county, working with the transit operators, should establish or enhance
mobility management programs within their county to help provide equitable and
effective access to transportation.

SGR Program

As noted on page 1 of this memo, the Bay Area can expect to receive approximately $39 million per
year from a new SGR Program, $10.2 million of which will be Population-Based funds. The
following priorities are proposed to inform how to invest these SGR Program Population-Based
funds.

State of Good Repair Program Priority 1: Clipper® 2.0

State of Good Repair priority 1 would allow MTC to invest in the development and deployment of
the Bay Area’s next generation transit fare payment system, Clipper® 2.0. Clipper® is funded jointly
by MTC and transit operators, however there are significant unfunded anticipated capital and
operating costs associated with Clipper® 2.0 which will need to be funded to ensure a successful
deployment. If Regional Measure 3 is approved by the voters, all these funds may not be needed to
support the development and deployment of Clipper® 2.0.

Iltem 9



217

Programming and Allocations Committee Agenda Item 3b. ii. — Attachment 2
February 14, 2018
Page 6

State of Good Repair Program Priority 2: Green Transit Capital Priorities

If not needed for Clipper® 2.0, the Population-Based funds from the new STA State of Good Repair
program could fund the acquisition of zero emission buses (ZEB) by the Bay Area’s transit operators.

The STA State of Good Repair funds would be used to pay for the cost increment of ZEBs over
diesel or hybrid vehicles or for charging or hydrogen infrastructure to support ZEBs. Staff is working
with the Air District in an effort to leverage this investment with their funding to be able to accelerate
the conversion of the transit fleet toward zero emission. With a 1:1 leverage, the region could replace
roughly 65 buses with ZEBs annually based on current ZEB costs.

JASECTION\ALLSTAFF\Resolution\TEMP-RES\MTC\February PAC\tmp-4321.docx

Iltem 9



Comparison of STA Population-Based County Distribution
Existing Framework vs. Proposed Framework

Estimated Base FY 2018-19 STA Population-Based Funds

Estimated SB 1 Increment FY 2018-19 STA Population-Based Funds

Total Estimated FY 2018-19 STA Population-Based Funds

$27,035,119
$27,035,119

$54,070,237 (106% increase from FY 2016-17 to FY 2018-19)

Exsiting STA Population-Based Framework
Resolution 3837, Revised
Estimated FY 2018-19

Proposed STA Population-Based Framework
Resolution 4321
Estimated FY 2018-19
70% County Block Grant Distribution

Northern Counties/Small Operators - 28%
Marin $1,615,908
Napa $873,258
Solano $2,629,875
Sonoma $3,090,592,
CCCTA $3,063,285
ECCTA $1,850,361
LAVTA $1,265,910
Union City $443,167
WCCTA $408,113
SUBTOTAL $15,240,469
Regional Paratransit - 16% County Block Grant - 70%
Alameda $1,673,411 Alameda $6,650,479
Contra Costa $1,184,578 Contra Costa $8,343,192
Marin $228,560 Marin $2,147,864
Napa $185,360 Napa $1,312,793
San Francisco $1,327,716 San Francisco $3,182,299
San Mateo $654,628 San Mateo $1,903,361
Santa Clara $1,874,928 Santa Clara $5,300,071
Solano $511,869 Solano $3,949,662
Sonoma $733,171 Sonoma $4,826,111
SUBTOTAL $8,374,220
Lifeline - 29%
Alameda $3,552,865
Contra Costa $2,246,683
Marin $411,303
Napa $319,011
San Francisco $1,966,974
San Mateo $1,322,712
Santa Clara $3,627,417
Solano $1,004,551,
Sonoma $1,237,804
SUBTOTAL $15,689,320

J:\SECTION\ALLSTAFF\Resolution\TEMP-RES\MTC\February PAC\tmp-4321_ATT 3.xlsx

218
Agenda Item 3b.ii. — Attachment 3

Iltem 9



ALAMEDA

" b

Iy

Programming and Allocations Committeg
HANDOUT - Agenda Item 3b.ii.

County Transportation
Commission

U

’I
&
-
1
!

Commission Chair
Supervisor Richard Valle, District 2

Commission Vice Chair
Mayor Pauline Cutter,
City of San Leandro

AC Transit
Board President Elsa Ortiz

Aloameda County

Supervisor Scott Haggerty, District 1
Supervisor Wiimma Chan, District 3
Supervisor Nate Miley, District 4
Supervisor Keith Carson, District &

BART
Director Rebecca Salizman

Cily of Akameda
Mayor Trish Spencer

City of Albany
Counclmember Peter Maass

City of Berkeley
Councilmember Krlss Worthington

City of Dublin
Mayor David Haubert

City of Emeryville
Mayor John Bauters

City of Fremont
Mayor Ly Mei

City of Hayward
Mayor Barbara Halliday

City of Livermore
Mayor John Marchand

City of Newark
Counclimember Luis Freitas

City of Ocakland
Counclimember At-Large
Rebecca Kaplan

Counclimember Dan Kalb

City of Piedmont
Vice Mayor Teddy Gray King

City of Pleasanton

Mayor Jerry Thome

City of Union City

Mayor Carol Duira-Vernaci

Executive Director
Arthur L. Dao

1111 Broadway, Suite 800, OQakland, CA 94607 510.208.7400 www.AlamedaCTC.org

February 12, 2018

Mr. Steve Heminger

Executive Director

Metropolitan Transportation Commission
The Bay Area Metro Center

375 Beale Street, Suite 800

San Francisco, CA 94105

Subject: State Transit Assistance (STA) Population-Based Program

MTC’s Revised Programming Framework

Dear Mr. Heﬁger,

Over the past several months, MTC has been developing draft policies related to
the revised programming framework for State Transit Assistance (STA)
population based funds which have been presented to various working groups
and committees. The Alameda County Transportation Commission (Alameda
CTC) appreciates your efforts thus far in reaching out to the Bay Area congestion
management agencies (CMAs) and transit operators on this matter. These timely
and inclusive discussions on a critical regional policy have been helpful and
productive and we support its continuance moving forward.

Through this letter, the Alameda CTC would like to provide comments on MTC’s
revised approach as well as relay our expectations based on the memo presented
to the Programming and Allocations Committee on January 10, 2018. These
comments are based upon coordination with our local transit operators in
Alameda County:

Block Grant Approach:

Alameda CTC and Alameda County transit operators support the following
elements of MTC’s revised proposal:

e Subvention of the programming of STA Population based funds to the
county level. This approach enables transit priorities to be addressed and
focused at a local level.

e “Block Grant” model and flexibility provided at a CMA level to
assign/allocate funds within various program categories.

e Minimum funding guarantee of 24% of funds to Alameda County small
operators (LAVTA and Union City Transit)

Iltem 9



220
Steve Heminger, MTC
February 12, 2018
Page 2

While we agree with several elements of the proposal, we also have some concerns and recommendations on
other aspects of the proposal as noted below:

Transit Sustainability Proiject (TSP) performance requirements:

Alameda County has diverse transit needs and our transit operators deliver services to various parts of the
county to meet those particular needs. Unfortunately, MTC’s Transit Sustainability Project (TSP) performance
requirements treats all operators similarly and fails to recognize specific contracting, staffing and delivery
challenges of each individual operator. Although the memo states that MTC staff will work with CMAs and
small operators to evaluate more appropriate metrics that suit small operators, to date no such discussions
have been initiated by MTC staff, which is of concern, considering this proposal is due for approval later this
month. Per the STA proposal regarding performance measures, Alameda CTC has adopted performance
measures in our funding agreements for Measure BB transit operations. Therefore, Alameda CTC and transit
operators in Alameda County expect to use the Alameda CTC adopted transit performance measures to fulfill
this requirement. Regarding reporting we have concerns about the lack of clarity on the deliverables and
reporting requirements expected from the CMAs.

Regional Means Based Program:

Alameda CTC has been successful in implementing the Measure BB funded Affordable Student Transit Pass
Program, a means based fare program for students, in selected parts of Alameda County in conjunction with
our various transit operators. We have completed almost two years of implementation and are embarking on
the final year of this 3-year Pilot. In anticipation of launching this much needed program countywide, we are
requesting MTC to designate the Alameda County Affordable Student Pass Program as a qualifying county
means based program so that funds from MTC’s contribution to a regional program are set aside and directed
towards this program.

Alameda CTC appreciates MTC consideration on this proposal which supports transit needs in Alameda
County. If you have any questions or need additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me at (510)
208-7400.

Sincerely,

ARTHUR L. DAO
Executive Director

cc: Alix Bockelman, Deputy Executive Director, Policy, MTC
Anne Richman, Director of Programming and Allocation, MTC
Tess Lengyel, Deputy Executive Director of Planning and Policy, Alameda CTC
Vivek Bhat, Director of Programming and Project Controls, Alameda CTC
Grace Crunican, General Manager, BART
Michael Hursh, General Manager, AC Transit
Michael Tree, Executive Director, LAVTA
Wilson Lee, Transit Manager, Union City Transit

Iltem 9



221

AGREEMENT

BY AND BETWEEN THE

MARIN COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT AND GOLDEN GATE BRIDGE, HIGHWAY AND
TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT AND SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT TO SHARE
STATE TRANSIT ASSISTANCE POPULATION-BASED FUNDS IN MARIN COUNTY

This AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of this ___ day of 2018, by and
between the MARIN COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT, a political subdivision of the State of
California (hereinafter referred to as "MCTD"), the Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and
Transportation District (hereinafter referred to as the "GGBHTD"), and Sonoma-Marin Area
Rail Transit (hereinafter referred to as “SMART”) to share State Transit Assistance population-
based funds made available for transit purposes in Marin County.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, State Transit Assistance funds provide an ongoing source of operating
funds for transit operators to sustain public transit services in the North Bay and throughout
California; and

WHEREAS, in April 2017 the Legislature enacted Senate Bill 1 (SB 1), the Road Repair
and Accountability Act which significantly increases funding for highways, local streets and
roads, and transit operations in the State; and

WHEREAS, SB 1 increases State Transit Assistance (STA) population-based funding
beginning in FY2017/18; and

WHEREAS, California Public Utilities Code 99313 stipulates that STA population-based
funds are available to eligible transit operators for eligible transit purposes; and

WHEREAS, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) has historically
distributed STA population-based funds on a formula to transit operators in the region per MTC
Resolution 3837, providing a reliable ongoing source of operating funds for transit services; and

WHEREAS, MCTD and GGBHTD have a long-standing agreement for sharing STA
population-based revenues using a formula based on coverage (represented by service hours)
and benefits (represented by unlinked passenger trips); and

WHEREAS, SMART began operating commuter rail service in Sonoma and Marin
Counties in June 2017 and is an eligible recipient of STA population-based funds; and

WHEREAS, MTC has proposed a new policy framework for the distribution of existing
and recently augmented STA population-based funds and proposes new requirements of
Congestion Management Agencies and transit operators under this policy; and

Iltem 9



222

WHEREAS, MCTD, GGBHTD and SMART have worked cooperatively to address
MTC'’s proposed new policy regarding STA population-based funds;

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED:

1. MCTD, GGBHTD, and SMART agree to the following rules and principles regarding the
sharing of STA population- based funds.

2. All STA population-based funds made available in Marin County will be shared, using
prior year data, 50% based on hours of service and 50% based on passengers served in
Marin County.

a. For this formula, hours of service are bus, ferry and train hours operated for local and
regional service, excluding train hours that operate outside Marin County and
excluding bus hours operated “closed door” through Marin County.

b. For this formula, passengers exclude passengers without an origin or destination in
Marin County.

c. For this formula, until SMART passengers and train hours data within Marin County
is available, 50% of train hours are assumed to be attributed to Marin County and
80% of SMART passengers are assumed to have one or more trip ends in Marin
County.

d. MCTD, GGBHTD, and SMART shall meet annually to review the baseline data and
application of the formula.

e. The formula shall be applied beginning in FY2018/19 using MCTD and GGBHTD
FY2016/17 actual data and using SMART FY2017/18 estimated actual data. For all
subsequent years, SMART prior year actual data shall be applied in the formula,
consistent with the methodology currently in place with MCTD and GGBHTD.

3. MCTD, GGBHTD, and SMART will coordinate their claims for STA population-based
funds in Marin County by applying the formula described in item 2 to the MTC annual
Fund Estimate for Marin County STA population-based funds. MCTD shall be
responsible for submitting the agreed upon amounts annually to the Transportation
Authority of Marin (TAM) and to MTC prior to MCTD, GGBHTD, and SMART submitting
their annual STA claims, and no later than April 15th.

4. To meet MTC’s new requirement, MCTD shall coordinate a report from MCTD,
GGBHTD, and SMART on the anticipated amount of STA population-based funding that
will be spent within or benefitting Communities of Concern in Marin County. MCTD shall
submit this report annually to TAM no later than April 15",

5. MCTD and GGBHTD agree that the provisions of Section 402.6 of the Operations and
Maintenance Contract between MCTD and GGBHTD, dated May 19, 2015, are
superceded by this Agreement, with respect to the assignment of STA population based
funds.

Iltem 9



223

6. MCTD, GGBHTD, and SMART agree that this agreement shall be applicable for the
allocation of STA population-based funds made available in Marin County for the
FY2018/19, FY2019/20 and FY2020/21 fiscal years.

Iltem 9



224

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Agreement on the date above

written.

MARIN COUNTY MCTD

By:

Stephanie Moulton-Peters
President of the Board

Approved as to form:

By:

Brian Case
Deputy County Counsel

SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT

By:

Deborah Fudge
Chair, Board of Directors

By:

Tom Lyons
General Counsel to SMART

GOLDEN GATE BRIDGE, HIGHWAY AND
TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT

By:

Denis J. Mulligan
General Manager

ATTEST:

By:

Amorette M. Ko-Wong
Secretary of the District

Approved as to form:

By:

Kimon Manolius
Attorney for the GGBHTD

Iltem 9



	030518 Agenda
	AGENDA

	Item 3b-Monthly Monitoring January 2018
	January2018_Monthly_Monitoring.pdf
	Monthly Monitoring Report


	Item 4-Drug & Alcohol Policy Update
	ADPE9C2.tmp
	PREAMBLE
	A. PURPOSE
	B. APPLICABILITY
	C. DEFINITIONS
	D. EDUCATION AND TRAINING
	E. PROHIBITED SUBSTANCES
	F. PROHIBITED CONDUCT
	G. DRUG STATUTE CONVICTION
	H. TESTING REQUIREMENTS
	I. DRUG TESTING PROCEDURES
	J. ALCOHOL TESTING PROCEDURES
	K. PRE-EMPLOYMENT TESTING
	L. REASONABLE SUSPICION TESTING
	M. POST-ACCIDENT TESTING
	N. RANDOM TESTING
	O. RETURN-TO-DUTY TESTING
	P. FOLLOW-UP TESTING
	Q. RESULT OF DRUG/ALCOHOL TEST
	Q.1 Marin Transit

	R. GRIEVANCE AND APPEAL
	S. PROPER APPLICATION OF THE POLICY
	T. INFORMATION DISCLOSURE
	Attachment A - Staffing Plan for Implementing Marin Transit’s Drug & Alcohol Testing Programs
	Job Title   Job Duties   Testing Authority

	Attachment B – Marin Transit Drug & Alcohol Testing Program Contacts


	Item 5-O&M Contract-Marin Airporter
	Draft Final O & M Contract-Marin  Airporter v1.pdf
	ARTICLE 1—DEFINITIONS AND INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS
	SEC. 101 DEFINITIONS
	SEC. 102 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES
	SEC. 103 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND STANDARD OF PERFORMANCE
	SEC. 104 NOTICES AND TERM OF CONTRACT
	SEC. 105 TRANSITION AND START-UP

	ARTICLE 2—PERSONNEL REQUIREMENTS
	SEC. 201 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTOR PERSONNEL
	SEC. 202 PERSONNEL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS
	SEC. 203 VEHICLE OPERATORS
	SEC. 204 DISPATCHERS
	SEC. 206 ROAD SUPERVISORS
	SEC. 207 MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL

	ARTICLE 3 -- OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES
	SEC. 301 VEHICLES
	SEC. 302 OPERATING PERFORMANCE STANDARDS
	SEC. 303 SCHEDULES
	SEC. 304 ALLOWABLE SERVICE CHANGES
	SEC. 306 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE
	SEC. 307 VEHICLES – CLEANING AND APPEARANCE
	SEC. 309 EQUIPMENT
	SEC. 310 VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT INVENTORY
	SEC. 311 FAREBOXES AND FAREBOX MAINTENANCE
	SEC. 312 INTELLIGENT TRANSPORTATION TECHNOLOGY
	SEC. 313 FARE STRUCTURE
	SEC. 314 FARE COLLECTION
	SEC. 315 FUEL
	SEC. 316 SAFETY, SECURITY, AND EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM
	SEC. 317 ADVERTISING

	ARTICLE 4—COMPENSATION AND COMMERCIAL TERMS
	SEC. 401 COMPENSATION TO CONTRACTOR
	SEC. 402 INVOICES
	SEC. 403 LIQUIDATED DAMAGES
	SEC. 404 RISK OF LOSS OR DAMAGE
	SEC. 405 INSURANCE
	SEC. 406 INDEMNIFICATION
	SEC. 407 DISCLAIMER OF LIABILITY
	SEC. 408 TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE
	SEC. 409 TERMINATION BY MUTUAL AGREEMENT
	SEC. 410 TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT
	SEC. 411 CANCELLATION OF CONTRACT
	SEC. 412 SECTION 13(c) OBLIGATIONS

	ARTICLE 5—ADMINISTRATIVE AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
	SEC. 501 REPORTING
	SEC. 502 COMPLAINT RESOLUTION
	SEC. 503 ACCIDENT AND INCIDENT REPORTING
	SEC. 504 AUDIT AND INSPECTION OF RECORDS
	SEC. 505 OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS
	SEC. 506 REPLACEMENT SERVICES
	SEC. 507 CONTINUITY OF SERVICES
	SEC. 508 EMERGENCIES
	SEC. 509 DISPUTES
	SEC. 510 INSPECTION OF WORK
	SEC. 511 SUBCONTRACTING OF CONTRACT WORK AND TRANSFER OF INTERESTS
	SEC. 512 INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR
	SEC. 513 LICENSING, PERMITS, AND TAXES
	SEC. 514 LACK OF FUNDS
	SEC. 515 CONFLICT OF INTEREST
	SEC. 516 DEBARRED
	SEC. 517 ANTIDISCRIMINATION AND EEO REQUIREMENTS
	SEC. 518 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
	SEC. 519 WAIVER OF TERMS OR CONDITIONS
	SEC. 520 INTERPRETATION, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE
	SEC. 521 CONSTRUCTION
	SEC. 522 OFFICIAL RECEIPT
	SEC. 523 RESTRICTIONS ON ASSIGNMENT
	SEC. 524 SEVERABILITY
	SEC. 525 ENTIRE AGREEMENT; AMENDMENT REQUIRED
	ATTACHMENT A COMPENSATION
	ATTACHMENT B MCTD PROVIDED EQUIPMENT
	See CONTRACTOR’s Proposal page 41.
	ATTACHMENT D VEHICLES
	ATTACHMENT E TRANSITION AND START-UP PLAN
	ATTACHMENT H  VEHICLE MAINTENANCE PROGRAM
	ATTACHMENT I  SAFETY, SECURITY, AND EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PLAN
	ATTACHMENT J  FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION REQUIRED CLAUSES
	Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards for Awards Not Involving Construction-The Contractor shall comply with all federal laws, regulations, and requirements providing wage and hour protections for non-construction employees, in accordance with 40 U...
	The Contractor shall maintain payrolls and basic payroll records during the course of the work and shall preserve them for a period of three (3) years from the completion of the contract for all laborers and mechanics, including guards and watchmen, w...
	Such records maintained under this paragraph shall be made available by the Contractor for inspection, copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the FTA and the Department of Labor, and the Contractor will permit such representatives ...
	The contractor shall require the inclusion of the language of this clause within subcontracts of all tiers.
	ATTACHMENT K  DRUG AND ALCOHOL POLICY PROGRAM

	Marin Transit Drug & Alcohol Testing Program Contacts
	ATTACHMENT M  EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS PLAN



	Item 6-O&M Contract-MV Transportation
	Item 7-Greening of the Fleet
	Item 8-Website Demo
	Item 9-STA Pop Share Agreement
	9bii_PAC_3bii_MTC_ResNo_4321_STA_Pop-Based_Funds (1).pdf
	9bii_PAC_3bii_HANDOUT_ResolutionNo4321
	9bii_PAC_3bii_MTC_ResNo_4321_STA_Pop-Based_Funds
	3bii_tmp-4321
	3bii_tmp-4321_ATT 3

	9bii_PAC_3bii_HANDOUT_AlamedaCTC_STA_Letter_to_MTC_20180212

	ADPA21C.tmp
	BY AND BETWEEN THE





